
Lloyd White
Head of Democratic Services
London Borough of Hillingdon,
Phase II, Civic Centre, High Street, Uxbridge, UB8 1UW

Putting our residents first

Annual
Council
Date: THURSDAY, 12 MAY 2022

Time: 7.30 PM

Venue: COUNCIL CHAMBER - 
CIVIC CENTRE, HIGH 
STREET, UXBRIDGE

Meeting 
Details:

Members of the Public and 
Press are welcome to attend 
this meeting 

To all 
Members of 
the Council

Published: Wednesday, 4 May 2022

View the agenda online at 
www.hillingdon.gov.uk 

Alternatively, use a smart phone camera 
and scan the code shown below:

Contact:  Lloyd White, Head of 
Democratic Services
Tel: 01895 556743
Email: lwhite@hillingdon.gov.uk

 

Public Document Pack

http://www.hillingdon.gov.uk/


Useful information for 
residents and visitors

Watching & recording this meeting

You can watch this meeting on the Council's 
YouTube channel, live or archived.

Residents and the media are also welcome to 
attend in person, and if they wish, report on the 
public part of the meeting. Any individual or 
organisation may record or film proceedings as 
long as it does not disrupt proceedings. 

It is recommended to give advance notice of filming to ensure any particular requirements can be 
met. The Council will provide seating areas for residents/public, high speed WiFi access to all 
attending and an area for the media to report. When present in the room, silent mode should be 
enabled for all mobile devices.

Travel and parking

Bus routes 427, U1, U3, U4 and U7 all stop at the 
Civic Centre. Uxbridge underground station, with the 
Piccadilly and Metropolitan lines, is a short walk 
away. Limited parking is available at the Civic 
Centre. For details on availability and how to book a 
parking space, please contact Democratic Services. 

Please enter via main reception and visit the 
security desk to sign-in and collect a visitors pass. 
You will then be directed to the Chamber.

Accessibility

For accessibility options regarding this agenda 
please contact Democratic Services.  For those 
hard of hearing an Induction Loop System is 
available for use. 

Emergency procedures

If there is a FIRE, you will hear a continuous alarm. Please follow the signs to the nearest FIRE 
EXIT and assemble on the Civic Centre forecourt. Lifts must not be used unless instructed by a 
Fire Marshal or Security Officer. In the event of a SECURITY INCIDENT, follow instructions issued 
via the tannoy, a Fire Marshal or a Security Officer. Those unable to evacuate using the stairs, 
should make their way to the signed refuge locations.



Agenda

Prayers

To be said by Minister of Religion, Shree Chetan Joshi

1 Apologies for Absence

2 Declarations of Interest 1 - 2
To note any declarations of interest in any matter before the Council.
Please see the attached guidance note.

3 Election Results 2022, Political Groups on the Council and Calculation 
of Political Balance 

3 - 10

To note the results of the recent elections and resulting political balance of 
the Council.

4 Election of Mayor 2022/2023 
To elect a Mayor of the London Borough of Hillingdon to hold office from 12 
May 2022 until his or her successor becomes entitled to act as Mayor.

i) The retiring Mayor, Councillor Chamdal, to provide a summary of his 
year in office.

ii) Nominations for Mayor invited by the retiring Mayor - election (if 
necessary).

iii) Retiring Mayor declares the result.

Adjournment for the robing of the new Mayor
5 Acceptance of Office by the Mayor 

i) The newly elected Mayor to make and sign the declaration of 
acceptance of office.

ii) The Head of Democratic Services to declare the election of the Mayor 
to be complete.

6 Appointment of Deputy Mayor 
To receive the Mayor's appointment in writing of a Councillor of the Borough 
to serve as Deputy Mayor for the coming year.

7 New Mayor's Announcements 
To receive announcements from the new Mayor.



8 Vote of Thanks to Outgoing Mayor 
i) Vote of thanks to the outgoing Mayor to be moved and seconded.
ii) Presentation of Past Mayor's and Past Mayor's Escort's badges.

9 Report of the Head of Democratic Services 11 - 288

10 Committee Allocations and Membership 2022/2023 289 - 294
To determine the number and size of Council committees and allocate 
Members to serve on those committees based on the political balance of the 
Council where required.

11 Select Committees' Annual Report 295 - 342
To receive the annual report.

12 Statement by the Leader of the Council 
In accordance with the provisions of the Constitution, to receive, without 
comment, a statement from the Leader of the Council.

On the rising of the Annual Meeting of the Council, The Head of 
Democratic Services will convene special meetings of Committees for 
the purpose of appointing Chairmen, Vice Chairmen and Sub-
Committees, where appropriate.



Annual Council Meeting – 12 May 2022

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST

Reporting Officers: Head of Democratic Services and Borough Solicitor

SUMMARY

When the Mayor asks at item 2 if any Member has any interest to declare you must consider the 
items on the agenda and declare if you feel you have either:

a) a Pecuniary interest (that you have not already declared to the Monitoring Officer and is 
therefore included in the General Register of Members’ Interests) or

b) a Non-Pecuniary interest.

Pecuniary and Non-Pecuniary interests are covered by Part 2 of the Code of Conduct.

What is a Pecuniary interest and what should I do if one arises?

A Member’s pecuniary interests are their business interests (or those of their spouse or civil 
partner, or person with whom they are living as if spouse or civil partner). This would include 
their employment, trade, profession, contracts, or any company with which they are associated - 
and wider financial interests they might have (for example trust funds, investments, and assets 
including land and property).

If you consider that you have a Pecuniary interest in any item on the agenda and that interest 
has not already been entered onto the authority's General Register of Members’ Interests, then 
you must disclose the interest under item 2 (or as it becomes apparent) as long as the matter is 
not a 'sensitive interest'. A ‘Sensitive Interest’ is one where disclosure of the details of the 
interest could lead to the Member or a person connected with the Member, being subject to 
violence or intimidation.

Unless dispensation has been granted, you must leave the Chamber when any item is being 
considered in which you have declared a Pecuniary Interest (whether already on the General 
Register or declared at the meeting) and may not participate in any discussion of, vote on, or 
discharge any function related to any matter in which you have a pecuniary interest.

What should I do if a Non-Pecuniary interest arises?

Any other type of interest is defined as Non-Pecuniary and must, similarly be disclosed under 
item 2 (or as it becomes apparent).

In declaring a Non-Pecuniary interest, a Member must consider if the extent of that interest will 
be such that it would reasonably be considered by a member of the public, in possession of the 
full facts, to be so significant as to prejudice the Member’s judgement of the public interest in the 
matter under consideration.

If you consider the Non-Pecuniary interest to be prejudicial, in that it would affect your impartial 
judgement on the matter under consideration, then you must leave the Chamber and may not 
participate in any discussion of, vote on, or discharge any function related to any matter in which 
you have such an interest.

If you do not consider the Non-Pecuniary interest you have declared to be prejudicial, then you 
may remain in the Chamber, participate in any discussion of and vote on the item in question.

Page 1

Agenda Item 2



This page is intentionally left blank



Annual Council – 12 May 2022

ELECTION RESULTS 2022, POLITICAL GROUPS ON THE COUNCIL 
AND CALCULATION OF POLITICAL BALANCE

Reporting Officer: Head of Democratic Services

1. The Borough Council elections were held on 5 May 2022. The results of the 
elections for all 21 wards are attached for information at Appendix A.

2. The Local Government and Housing Act 1989 provides a statutory basis for the 
rights of political groups to secure representation upon Council Committee and 
Sub-Committee meetings in proportion to their respective political strengths within 
the Council.

RECOMMENDATION: That the election results, the formation of political groups 
and the subsequent political balance of the Council be noted.

INFORMATION

3. A ‘political group’ is one which has been constituted in accordance with Regulation 
8 of the Local Government (Committees and Political Groups) Regulations 1990 
and consists of at least two Members. It is therefore separate from the concept of 
a political party, although it may well consist of Members of the same political 
persuasion.

4. By definition a political group needs to be comprised of two or more Members who 
have indicated by notice to the Head of Democratic Services, that they wish to 
constitute a named group, such notice also to indicate the identity of the Leader of 
the Group. The notice must be signed by all Members who wish to form the Group.

5. Changes in political groups can affect the calculation of the political balance on 
particular Council bodies. If the membership of a political group drops below two, 
the group ceases to exist. A councillor will cease to be a member of a political 
group if they are no longer a councillor.

LONDON BOROUGH OF HILLINGDON POLITICAL GROUPS

6. The Head of Democratic Services has been notified of 2 political Groups on the 
Council:
 The Conservative Group with 30 members and Councillor Ian Edwards as 

Group Leader,
 The Labour Group with 23 Members and Councillor Peter Curling as Group 

Leader

7. The political balance calculation below is based on these submissions and the 
number of Council and Committee places to be determined elsewhere on this 
agenda:

Page 3

Agenda Item 3



Annual Council – 12 May 2022

group seats %
Conservative 30 56.60
Labour 23 43.40
Total 53

Conservative Labour
Committee size % actual % actual

3 1.70 2 1.30 1
4 2.26 2 1.74 2
5 2.83 3 2.17 2
6 3.40 3 2.60 3
7 3.96 4 3.04 3
8 4.53 5 3.47 3
9 5.09 5 3.91 4

10 5.66 6 4.34 4
11 6.23 6 4.77 5
12 6.79 7 5.21 5
13 7.36 7 5.64 6
14 7.92 8 6.08 6
15 8.49 8 6.51 7

Conservative Labour
notional actual notional actual
    

Major Applications Planning Committee 7 3.96 4 3.04 3
Borough Applications Planning Ctte 7 3.96 4 3.04 3
Registration & Appeals Committee 5 2.83 3 2.17 2
Pensions Committee 5 2.83 3 2.17 2
Appointments Committee 5 2.83 3 2.17 2
Health & Social Care Select Committee (SC) 7 3.96 4 3.04 3
Children, Families & Education SC 7 3.96 4 3.04 3
Residents' Services SC 7 3.96 4 3.04 3
Property, Highways & Transport SC 7 3.96 4 3.04 3
Finance & Corporate Services SC 7 3.96 4 3.04 3
Total 64 36.23 37 27.77 27

NB: The total number of seats must relate back to the overall political balance on 
the Council. In this instance, therefore, the Labour Group are entitled to an 
additional seat which, it has been agreed will be on the Pensions Committee. This 
body will, therefore, have a membership of 2 Con’ and 3 Lab’.

Page 4



Annual Council – 12 May 2022

Appendix A

London Borough of Hillingdon election results
05 May 2022

Belmore
Name of

Candidate
Description

(if any)
Number of

Votes
Labina Basit Labour Party 2421 Elected
Cameron Bell Conservative Party Candidate 923
Narinder Garg Labour Party 2368 Elected
Andrew Gibbs Green Party 252
Katherine Lee Green Party 268
John Morgan Conservative Party Candidate 824
Isabel Rodrigues Conservative Party Candidate 795
Jagjit Singh Labour Party 2421 Elected

Charville
Name of

Candidate
Description

(if any)
Number of

Votes
Teji Barnes Conservative Party Candidate 1396
Darran Davies Conservative Party Candidate 1447
Barry Nelson-West Labour Party 1481
Sumen Starr Labour Party 1398

Colham & Cowley
Name of

Candidate
Description

(if any)
Number of

Votes
Shehryar Ahmad-Wallana Conservative Party Candidate 1851
Roy Chamdal Conservative Party Candidate 1822
Geoff Courtenay UK Independence Party 199
Nicole Crook Green Party 296
Tony Eginton Labour Party 1572
Alastair Fischer National Health Action Party 219
Steve Garelick Labour Party 1455
Ekta Gohil Conservative Party Candidate 1703
Karina Marqvardt Jorgart Labour Party 1394
Valerie Mcdonnell Green Party 289
Lucy West Green Party 266

Eastcote
Name of

Candidate
Description

(if any)
Number of

Votes
Tom Cottew Liberal Democrats 542
Robert Cowlin Labour Party 1201
Nick Denys Conservative Party Candidate 3369 Elected
Ian Edwards Conservative Party Candidate 3227 Elected
Becky Haggar Conservative Party Candidate 3272 Elected
Tim Henry Trade Unionist and Socialist Coalition 72
Andrew Kennedy Green Party 495
David Keys Labour Party 1256
Rachel Ross Green Party 611
David Stephens Green Party 304
Joanne Tapper Labour Party 1190

Page 5



Annual Council – 12 May 2022

Harefield Village
Name of

Candidate
Description

(if any)
Number of

Votes
Mohinder Birah Labour Party 179
Jane Palmer Conservative Party Candidate 929 Elected
Niki Samuel Green Party 524

Hayes Town
Name of

Candidate
Description

(if any)
Number of

Votes
Peter Curling Labour Party 1906 Elected
Lauren Davies Conservative Party Candidate 593
Janet Gardner Labour Party 1844 Elected
Hazel Gillender Let London Live 212
Tristan Pahl Conservative Party Candidate 454
Raju Sansarpuri Labour Party 1812 Elected
Taf Sowe Conservative Party Candidate 463

Heathrow Villages
Name of

Candidate
Description

(if any)
Number of

Votes
Alice Greenham Green Party 227
Zahid Khan Green Party 146
Peter Money Labour Party 1274 Elected
June Nelson Labour Party 1336 Elected
Daniel Sydenham Conservative Party Candidate 886
Christine Taylor Conservative Party Candidate 943

Hillingdon East
Name of

Candidate
Description

(if any)
Number of

Votes
Jagdeep Brar Labour Party 1311
Wayne Bridges Conservative Party Candidate 2097 Elected
Alan Chapman Conservative Party Candidate 2066 Elected
Steve Gardner Social Democratic Party 239
Gregory Goonesekera Labour Party 1231
Colleen Sullivan Conservative Party Candidate 2104 Elected
Gurmeet Virk Labour Party 1194

Hillingdon West
Name of

Candidate
Description

(if any)
Number of

Votes
David Allam Green Party 184
Adam Bennett Conservative Party Candidate 1124 Elected
Reeta Chamdal Conservative Party Candidate 1014 Elected
Margaret McDonald Labour Party 704
Ray Meen Labour Party 688
Christine Pratt Green Party 213

Page 6



Annual Council – 12 May 2022

Ickenham & South Harefield
Name of

Candidate
Description

(if any)
Number of

Votes
Rose-Marie Adams Green Party 1061
Kaushik Banerjee Conservative Party Candidate 2537 Elected
John Campbell Labour Party 1111
Paul Espley Labour Party 997
Martin Goddard Conservative Party Candidate 2734 Elected
Sarah Green Green Party 1246
Eddie Lavery Conservative Party Candidate 2681 Elected
Kevin McDonald Labour Party 938
Zena Wigram Green Party 817

Northwood
Name of

Candidate
Description

(if any)
Number of

Votes
Jonathan Banks Liberal Democrats 557
Henry Higgins Conservative Party Candidate 1823 Elected
Fiona Holding Green Party 288
Jonathan Hutchins Labour Party 630
Richard Lewis Conservative Party Candidate 1783 Elected
Scott Miles Green Party 170
David Miller Liberal Democrats 455
John Oswell Labour Party 186

Northwood Hills
Name of

Candidate
Description

(if any)
Number of

Votes
Kishan Bhatt Conservative Party Candidate 1627 Elected
Jonathan Bianco Conservative Party Candidate 1686 Elected
Peter Dollimore Liberal Democrats 359
Stephen Edmeades Green Party 319
Kerri Prince Labour Party 754
Andrew Ross Green Party 310
Shabbar Sachedina Labour Party 640

Pinkwell
Name of

Candidate
Description

(if any)
Number of

Votes
Rosie Giddings Conservative Party Candidate 692
Tony Gill Labour Party 2314 Elected
Allan Kauffman Conservative Party Candidate 635
Kuldeep Lakhmana Labour Party 2214 Elected
Gursharan Mand Labour Party 2154 Elected
Darren Upjohn Conservative Party Candidate 669

Page 7



Annual Council – 12 May 2022

Ruislip
Name of

Candidate
Description

(if any)
Number of

Votes
Andrew Blakie Green Party 625
Philip Corthorne Conservative Party Candidate 3242 Elected
Alexander Cunliffe Liberal Democrats 546
John Morse Labour Party 986
Shivalee Patel Green Party 411
John Riley Conservative Party Candidate 3115 Elected
Peter Smallwood Conservative Party Candidate 3103 Elected
Andrew Smith Labour Party 808
Jane Smith Labour Party 892
Jaishiva Virdee Green Party 374

Ruislip Manor
Name of

Candidate
Description

(if any)
Number of

Votes
Roshan Ghei Labour Party 782
Graham lee Green Party 291
Douglas Mills Conservative Party Candidate 1951 Elected
Norrette Moore Labour Party 806
Susan O’Brien Conservative Party Candidate 1976 Elected
Geoffrey Wilkinson Green Party 228
Melanie Winterbotham Liberal Democrats 268

South Ruislip
Name of

Candidate
Description

(if any)
Number of

Votes
Sandra Baynton Green Party 385
Peter Crook Green Party 271
Deborah Howes Green Party 365
Connor Liberty Labour Party 1195
Heena Makwana Conservative Party Candidate 2343 Elected
Richard Mills Conservative Party Candidate 2373 Elected
Tiffany Rytter Independent 298
Mohan Sharma Labour Party 1077
Alexander Sim Labour Party 1176
Steve Tuckwell Conservative Party Candidate 2356 Elected

Uxbridge
Name of

Candidate
Description

(if any)
Number of

Votes
Tony Burles Labour Party 1764 Elected
Keith Burrows Conservative Party Candidate 1971 Elected
Farhad Choubedar Conservative Party Candidate 1740 Elected
Jagdip Gill Labour Party 1575
Gary Harbord Trade Unionist and Socialist Coalition 129
Andronikos Panayiotou Green Party 342
Ranjeet Rathore Conservative Party Candidate 1719
Michael Ray-Howett Green Party 306
Jess Thurgur Labour Party 1572
Christine West Green Party 452

Page 8



Annual Council – 12 May 2022

West Drayton
Name of

Candidate
Description

(if any)
Number of

Votes
Hanna Ali Conservative Party Candidate 1296
Carlos Barros Trade Unionist and Socialist Coalition 154
Sanjiv Bisnauthsing Conservative Party Candidate 1312
Iain Bruce Green Party 272
Scott Farley Labour Party 1968 Elected
Mohammed Islam Labour Party 1911 Elected
Martin Kelly Conservative Party Candidate 1428
Marcus Smith Green Party 209
Jan Sweeting Labour Party 2111 Elected
Sarah West Green Party 315

Wood End
Name of

Candidate
Description

(if any)
Number of

Votes
Nicola Brightman Conservative Party Candidate 969
Jason Buck Trade Unionist and Socialist Coalition 137
Elizabeth Garelick Labour Party 2133 Elected
Reva Gudi Conservative Party Candidate 886
Chris Hooper Liberal Democrats 236
Kamal Kaur Labour Party 2073 Elected
Stuart Mathers Labour Party 1978 Elected
David Yarrow Conservative Party Candidate 823

Yeading
Name of

Candidate
Description

(if any)
Number of

Votes
Kelly Bridges Conservative Party Candidate 711
Jas Dhot Labour Party 1553 Elected
Rita Judge Dhot Labour Party 1511 Elected
Christopher Smallwood Conservative Party Candidate 633

Yiewsley
Name of

Candidate
Description

(if any)
Number of

Votes
Naser Abby Labour Party 1361 Elected
John Bowman Green Party 205
James Cantwell Conservative Party Candidate 861
Alan Deville Conservative Party Candidate 842
Stephen Goss Green Party 170
Sital Punja Labour Party 1120 Elected

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



Annual Council Meeting – 12 May 2022

REPORT OF THE HEAD OF DEMOCRATIC SERVICES 

9.1 APPOINTMENT OF LEADER OF THE COUNCIL

The Council Constitution stipulates that the Leader of the Council will be a 
Councillor elected at the annual meeting immediately following the ordinary election 
of Councillors. The Leader holds office for a four-year period or until:

 he or she resigns from office or
 he or she is suspended from being a councillor under Part III of the Local 

Government Act 2000 (as amended) or
 he or she is no longer a councillor or
 upon expiry date of the fixed term save that the full Council may, by resolution, 

remove the Leader from office at an earlier date.

The Head of Democratic Services has been notified by the majority Group, the 
Conservative Group, that Councillor Edwards will be nominated as Leader of the 
Council.

RECOMMENDATION: That Councillor Edwards be appointed as Leader of the 
Council for the next four-year period (until the Annual Meeting immediately 
following the ordinary election of Councillors).

9.2 APPOINTMENT OF CABINET

Subject to the approval of i) above, Members are asked to note the appointment by 
the Leader of the Council of the Deputy Leader and Cabinet for 2022/23 as follows:

Position/Portfolio Councillor
Deputy Leader, Property, Highways & Transport Bianco
Finance Goddard
Children, Families and Education O’Brien
Health & Social Care Palmer
Residents’ Services Lavery
Corporate Services D.Mills

9.3 MEMBERS’ ALLOWANCES 2022/23

1. The Council is required to undertake an annual re-adoption of its Allowances 
Scheme and, in doing so give due regard to the recommendations made by the 
report of the Independent Panel on the Remuneration of Councillors in London. 

2. Having given due regard to the latest report, Council, at the meeting in February 
2022, adopted a Scheme for 2022/23 in which the level of the annual Basic 
Allowance paid to elected Members was approved at £12,014 and no change 
was made to the levels of the Special Responsibility Allowances.

3. The 2022/23 Scheme commenced on 1 April 2022 and this report proposes 
some amendments to that Scheme for adoption by Council.

RECOMMENDATION: That the Members’ Allowances Scheme 2022/23 be 
amended as shown in the proposal below:

Page 11

Agenda Item 9



Annual Council Meeting – 12 May 2022

INFORMATION

4. Regulation 10 of the Local Authorities (Members’ Allowances) (England) 
Regulations 2003 required the adoption of a scheme of Members’ allowances 
by 31 March 2022. Thereafter the scheme may be amended at any time.

5. Before making or amending its allowances scheme, the Council is required, by 
virtue of Regulation 19, to have regard to the recommendations of an 
Independent Remuneration Panel (IRP). The key findings of that report have 
been considered when making these recommendations.

PROPOSAL

6. Having reviewed the Special Responsibility Allowances within the approved 
Members’ Allowances Scheme for 2022/23 the following changes are 
proposed:

Special 
Responsibility 
Allowances:

(£) Proposed Change

1. Mayor 23,725.26

The IRP recognised that the allowance for the Mayor and 
Deputy Mayor serve a different purpose from the ‘ordinary’ 
Members’ allowances, since they are intended to enable the 
civic heads to perform a ceremonial role.

There are separate statutory provisions (ss 3 and 5 of the 
Local Government Act 1972) for such allowances, and it is 
therefore recommended that these allowances be removed 
from the Scheme and those provisions be used instead to 
incorporate the allowances into the overall Mayoral budget.

2. Deputy Mayor 9,252.71 See above

3. Leader of the 
Council 58,700.29 No change

4. Deputy Leader 
of the Council 49,447.58 No change

5. Chief Whip of 
Largest Party 23,725.26 No change

6. Cabinet Member 41,351.55 No change

7.
Chairman of 
Select 
Committee 

23,725.26 No change

8.
Chairman of 
Planning 
Committee

23,725.26 No change

9.
Chairman of 
Licensing 
Committee 

23,725.26 
(10,030.32)

In recognition of the increasing role and responsibility of 
this position it is recommended that this SRA be 
increased to the same amount as a Planning / Select 
Committee Chairman

10.
Vice Chairman 
of Licensing 
Committee

6,686.93

In light of the increased remuneration of the Chairman 
of the Licensing Committee above, it is recommended 
to delete this SRA – in line with the amount paid to 
other Vice-Chairmen.

11.
Chairman of 
Standards 
Committee

3,343.46 No change

Page 12



Annual Council Meeting – 12 May 2022

Special 
Responsibility 
Allowances:

(£) Proposed Change

12.

Standards 
Committee 
Independent 
Person

£500 SRA 
per meeting

(1,674.73)

Recommended – delete the annual allowance and replace 
with a SRA to be paid per meeting required and attended.

13. Chairman of 
Audit Committee 3,180.83 No change

14. Champion 6,101.08 No change

15.
Adoption and 
Permanency 
Panel Rep’

13,373.87 No change

16. Cabinet 
Assistant 9,252.71 No change

17. Leader of 2nd 
Party 23,725.26 No change

18. Deputy Leader 
of 2nd Party 6,101.08

The IRP emphasises that SRAs should only be paid to 
positions where there are significant differences in the time 
requirements and levels of responsibility from those 
generally expected of a councillor. It is recommended that 
this position does not meet those criteria and should, 
therefore, be deleted.

19. Chief Whip of 
2nd Party 6,101.08 No change

20.
2nd Party Lead 
on Select 
Committee 

6,101.08 No change

21.
Party Lead on 
Planning 
Committee 

6,101.08

The IRP emphasises that SRAs should only be paid to 
positions where there are significant differences in the time 
requirements and levels of responsibility from those 
generally expected of a councillor. It is recommended that 
this position does not meet those criteria and should, 
therefore, be deleted.

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

7. Provision has been made in the 2022/23 budget for Members’ Allowances, 
although it is important to note this is based upon current posts being held by 
Members. These proposals may result in a slight reduction to the budget, 
although it is difficult to accurately estimate the true cost until Members are 
confirmed into posts receiving a Special Responsibility Allowance.

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS

8. The current Scheme was made in accordance with the 2003 Regulations and 
Council may choose to amend it at any time.

Background Papers: Report of the Independent Panel on the Remuneration of Councillors in London, January 
2022

Page 13



Annual Council Meeting – 12 May 2022

9.4 REVIEW OF COUNCIL CONSTITUTION

1. Background

1.1 The Constitution of the London Borough of Hillingdon sets out how the 
Council is governed and operates, the various roles of the elected Members, 
how decisions are made and the procedures which are followed to ensure 
that everything the Council does is efficient, transparent, accountable, done 
with integrity and engages residents in the way it does business.

1.2 The Constitution helps set the tone in which the Administration seeks to run 
the Council, embodying an effective governance framework to deliver its 
manifesto policies, services, projects and to put Hillingdon residents first. 

1.3 As such, at the heart of the Constitution is how the Cabinet and Select 
Committees operate, where Councillors both make decisions and review 
responsibilities in order to deliver first class services to residents each and 
every day.

1.4 Many of the Council’s constitutional procedures are required by law, whilst 
others are a matter of local choice. Council regularly reviews the Constitution 
to ensure it meets local priorities and legislative changes. In 2022, a major 
review and remodelling of the current constitution has taken place.

RECOMMENDATIONS: That the remodelled Constitution of the London 
Borough of Hillingdon be adopted with immediate effect, subject to:

1) the proposed amendment to Standing Order 15 in the Council 
Procedure Rules regarding Adjournment debates which, in 
accordance with Council SO 26.2, will stand adjourned to be 
considered at the next ordinary Council meeting, and;

2) the updated Petition Scheme, where changes to the validity of 
petitions, will come into effect from 1 July 2022.

2. Proposed Remodelled Constitution

2.1 For the 2022/23 Municipal Year and beyond, the opportunity has been taken 
to rationalise and re-order the Council’s Constitution to ensure it is fit for 
purpose for the Council moving forward and to ensure its contents are easily 
accessible and set out in a logical and efficient manner.

2.2 20 years on from the adoption of the Council’s first Constitution, officers in 
consultation with the Leader of the Council, have undertaken a 
comprehensive remodelling including looking at best practice in other local 
authority constitutions. The previous interrelated Articles, Codes, Rules, 
Standing Orders and Parts are proposed to be replaced with 26 functional 
Chapters, divided into 3 main parts called:

i) Governance and Local Democracy
ii) How Decisions are made and scrutinised
iii) How the Council operates and is accountable.

Page 14



Annual Council Meeting – 12 May 2022

2.3 The proposed remodelled Constitution contains the new top-level officer 
management structure along with refreshed governance arrangements as 
proposed by the Leader of the Council following the local elections. Cabinet 
portfolios and delegations have been updated (which the Leader of the 
Council can authorise) and there are changes to select committees, so that 
they and Cabinet are further aligned (see structure chart below). It is also 
proposed that the statutory health and crime and disorder scrutiny functions 
be taken on by two of the proposed new select committees.

2.4 A key part of this constitutional review has been to streamline content and 
avoid duplication. Whilst the vast majority of the proposed remodelled 
Constitution contains the same specific policy content as the currently 
adopted one in order to comply with legislation, the review of has highlighted 
some local choice aspects where some modernisation is required, and 
additions or amendments are needed to fortify governance and democratic 
processes. These are set out, and referenced below, for Members’ 
information:

i) New Foreword
ii) New detailed contents pages for improved navigation online
iii) Ward map, and updated diagrammatic structure charts added 

(Chapter 1)
iv) Provision for written representations to planning committees, in lieu 

of speaking rights, now added (Chapter 3)
v) Removal of referral of petitions by Cabinet Members to Cabinet, as 

petition hearings are the most effective method of engagement 
(Chapter 3)

vi) New section on digital engagement to reflect modern democracy 
(Chapter 3);

vii) Updated petition scheme wording to change signatory thresholds 
for petitions, based not on whether it is an electronic or paper 
based petition, but, rather, on whether it is a local or borough-wide 
matter (20 signatures local, 200 borough-wide) along with a 
requirement for petitions to be on a single issue. The aim of this is 
to further strengthen the Council’s responsiveness on 

Page 15



Annual Council Meeting – 12 May 2022

neighbourhood issues raised by residents, whilst requiring a higher 
level of baseline support for more significant borough-wide 
changes. It is also proposed to change the time-scale for 
completion of electronic petitions on the Council’s facility, to a 
maximum of 1 month. If the Council agrees the remodelled 
Constitution, it is proposed that changes to the petition scheme 
come into effect for petitions received from 1 July 2022 onwards, in 
order to publicise the changes to residents (Chapter 3).

viii) A change to the Council Procedure Rules, regarding Adjournment 
Debate provision. If the Council agrees the remodelled Constitution, 
this provision (as proposed by the Leader of the Council and 
seconded) will stand adjourned until the next ordinary Council 
meeting in July to be formally approved. This is because any 
amendments to the Council Procedure Rules require this (Chapter 
4).

ix) For noting only: updates to the Cabinet and Cabinet Member 
delegations and portfolios by the Leader of the Council (Chapter 4)

x) Corporate Parenting Panel Terms of Reference added (Chapter 6)
xi) Section added to add the law around the attendance and 

information from partners, e.g., health agencies, as part of the 
Council’s statutory external scrutiny (Chapter 6)

xii) Added in the Northwest London Joint Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee, of which the Council is a member (Chapter 6)

xiii) Reduction in the number of minority scrutiny review reports, where 
agreed by the Committee, from 2 to 1 as these stemmed from 
previous hung council arrangements in 2002. (Chapter 6)

xiv) New section added to clarify the select committees’ role in 
providing comments to Cabinet before decisions are made 
(Chapter 6)

xv) New section added to detail those executive decisions that cannot 
be called-in by a select committee (Chapter 6)

xvi) Update of the exceptional procedure for referring a call-in by a 
select committee to Full Council (not Cabinet) where a decision is 
contrary to the Policy Framework or Budget or not treated as a Key 
Decision. This has been updated to also require the parallel 
agreement of the Monitoring or Chief Finance Officer as required 
(Chapter 6).

xvii) Update of the procedure to cancel meetings, where required, as 
this stemmed from previous hung council arrangements in 2002. 
(Chapters 6 & 16)

xviii) New tables added to ensure all licensing function delegations are in 
one place and reference to licensing protocols and recent changes 
to adjournments and remote licensing hearings agreed (Chapter 8)

xix) Removal of the Investigating & Disciplinary Sub-Committee 
(Chapter 10)

xx) As requested by the Audit Committee, a new provision is added to 
provide a formal duty for senior officers to attend, similar to the 
provision for select committees (Chapter 10)

xxi) Reduction in the high quorum required for the Audit Committee 
from 4 to the standard 3, to provide attendance flexibility as with 
other similar committees (Chapter 10)

Page 16



Annual Council Meeting – 12 May 2022

xxii) Updated officer responsibilities based on new management 
structure and statutory and proper officer functions (Chapter 12)

xxiii) Updated section on decision-making with external bodies to provide 
a definitive list (Chapter 13)

xxiv) Removal of payment for non-Council use of computers in the 
Members ICT Code of Practice (Chapter 25)

xxv) A new Annex A is proposed at the end which will set out the 
detailed Officer Scheme of Delegations. Given the recent changes 
in the officer management structure, it is proposed that this is 
brought to a subsequent Council meeting for formal approval.

2.5 The complete version of the proposed Constitution can be found online here 
on the Council agenda and, if agreed by Council, a revised hard copy of the 
Council’s Constitution will be made available to all Councillors in Political 
Group Offices, published online for residents and officers.

3. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS

There are no direct financial implications arising directly out of this report.

4. LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

4.1 The Borough Solicitor has checked the proposed amendments to the 
Constitution and confirms that they are compliant not only with the provisions 
of the Local Government Act 2000 and Regulations issued and Statutory 
Guidance made pursuant to it.

4.2 Under the terms of the Constitution, it is for full Council to decide whether to 
approve the proposed Constitution.

BACKGROUND PAPERS: Council constitution and delegations - Hillingdon Council

Page 17

https://modgov.hillingdon.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=117&MId=3976
https://modgov.hillingdon.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=117&MId=3976
https://www.hillingdon.gov.uk/constitutionanddelegations
https://www.hillingdon.gov.uk/constitutionanddelegations


Annual Council Meeting – 12 May 2022

9.5 COUNCIL APPOINTMENTS TO OUTSIDE BODIES

Background

1.1 At the Annual Council meeting held on 21 May 2021, the Head of 
Democratic Services was authorised to undertake a review of outside bodies 
to which the Council makes appointments and submit a report, first to the 
Whips Committee and then to this Council meeting regarding future 
appointments.

RECOMMENDATION: That the Council appoint representatives to those bodies 
indicated in the Appendix and the Head of Democratic Services be authorised 
to make the appropriate appointments based upon nominations provided the 
Chief Whips of the relevant political groups.

Information

1.2 Members will be aware that the review of the Council structure carried out by 
the Local Government Boundary Commission in 2019 has resulted in a 
reduction in the number of elected Members by 12.

1.3 One of the areas of Member activity to be looked at as a consequence was 
representation on Outside Bodies and it was agreed to carry out a review of 
all the outside organisations to determine which ones the Council should 
continue to appoint to, using a broad range of criteria as follows:

a) The organisation is in receipt of significant funding from the Council.
b) The organisation has a pan-London or national membership which it 

would benefit the Council to be a part of.
c) The organisation is of significant local interest.
d) The organisation has other benefits to the Council (e.g., information 

gathering).
e) It is a statutory requirement for the Council to be a member of the 

organisation.

1.4 In carrying out their duties as a Trustee, Director or Management Committee 
member, Councillors must take decisions without being influenced by the fact 
that they are a Councillor. Their primary duty in acting as a representative 
making management decisions for the outside body is to make these 
decisions in the interests of the organisation. 

1.5 In considering the recommendations, it is important for Members to be aware 
that organisations can continue to appoint Members to their governing 
bodies themselves, should the Council choose to no longer formally appoint 
a representative.

Financial & Legal Implications

1.6 There are no financial or legal implications arising from this report.

Background Papers: Consultation responses

Page 18



Annual Council Meeting – 12 May 2022

9.6 APPOINTMENT OF STATUTORY OFFICERS

Background

1.1 The Monitoring Officer and Section 151 Officer, along with the Head of Paid 
Service combine to form the Council’s Statutory Officer functions. These 
roles are key to ensuring lawfulness, fairness, probity and general good 
governance that supports the Council in achieving its aims. It is important 
that they work effectively together yet maintain appropriate independence 
and that the roles are undertaken by adequately skilled and experienced 
staff supported by appropriate resources.

RECOMMENDATIONS: That:

a) Mr Andy Evans be appointed to the role of Section 151 Officer of the 
Council upon departure of the current S151 Officer and;

b) Mr Glen Egan be appointed as interim Monitoring Officer of the Council 
w.e.f. 21 May 2022

Information

1.2 Section 151 Officer: 

Section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972 requires local authorities to 
make arrangements for the proper administration of their financial affairs and 
appoint a S151 Officer, also known as a Chief Financial Officer (CFO), 
whose roles and responsibilities are defined in the Constitution.

1.3 As such, the CFO must lead on a local authority’s financial functions and 
ensure they are fit for purpose. The CFO must be professionally qualified 
and suitably experienced. In correspondence with the Local Government 
Finance Act 1988, the CFO must be a member of one of the following bodies 
in order to qualify as a responsible officer: 
(a) the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales, 
(b) the Institute of Chartered Accountants of Scotland, 
(c) the Chartered Association of Certified Accountants, 
(d) the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy, 
(e) the Institute of Chartered Accountants in Ireland, 
(f) the Chartered Institute of Management Accountants, and 
(g) any other body of accountants established in the United Kingdom and 

for the time being approved by the Secretary of State for the purposes 
of this section.

1.4 The Appointments Committee held on 28 April 2022 appointed Mr Andy 
Evans to the role of Corporate Director of Finance, to take effect upon the 
departure from the authority of the existing S151 Officer, Paul Whaymand. In 
light of this appointment, it is recommended that Mr Evans be appointed to 
the role of S151 Officer to take effect on the same date.

Page 19



Annual Council Meeting – 12 May 2022

1.5 Monitoring Officer

The appointment of a Monitoring Officer is a statutory requirement under 
Section 5, Local Government & Housing Act 1989. The Monitoring Officer’s 
role and responsibilities are also defined within the Council’s Constitution. 
These include ensuring lawfulness and fairness of decision making, 
receiving reports, conducting investigations, ensuring access to information, 
advising whether executive decisions are within the budget and policy 
framework and maintaining the Constitution.

1.6 In light of the impending departure from the authority of the current Borough 
Solicitor and existing Monitoring Officer, Raj Alagh, it is vital to ensure interim 
arrangements are maintained to meet statutory requirements, whilst options 
for permanent recruitment are explored. Mr Alagh’s effective last day of 
service is 20 May and it is recommended that Mr Glen Egan, the interim 
Head of Legal, be appointed to the role of Monitoring Officer on an interim 
basis.

1.7 The Deputy Monitoring Officer is the Head of Democratic Services.

Financial Implications

The cost of these appointments will be contained within existing budgets.

Legal Implications

The appointment of a Monitoring Officer and a Section 151 Officer are statutory 
requirements whose appointments are reserved to Full Council.

Background papers: none

Page 20



Annual Council Meeting – 12 May 2022

Appendix Outside Bodies

Section A – Organisations to which the Council will continue to appoint representatives:

ORGANISATION SUPPORTING INFORMATION

BID BOARD OF DIRECTORS (INTU) Is in receipt of significant funding from LBH and has benefits 
to LBH

BRUNEL UNIVERSITY LIAISION GROUP Is in receipt of significant funding from LBH and has benefits 
to LBH

CENTRAL AND NORTHWEST LONDON NHS FOUNDATION TRUST Is in receipt of significant funding from LBH
FOSTERING & PERMANENCE PANEL Statutory requirement for the Council to be a member
HEATHROW COMMUNITY ENGAGEMENT BOARD Significant local interest and has benefits to LBH
HILLINGDON DOMESTIC ABUSE STEERING EXECUTIVE Statutory requirement for the Council to be a member
HILLINGDON FIRST LIMITED SHAREHOLDER COMMITTEE Statutory requirement for the Council to be a member
HILLINGDON HOSPITAL NHS FOUNDATION TRUST COUNCIL OF 
GOVERNORS

Is in receipt of significant funding from LBH and has benefits 
to LBH

HILLINGDON SAFER NEIGHBOURHOOD BOARD (SNB) Benefits to LBH and statutory requirement for the Council to 
be a member

HILLINGDON STANDING ADVISORY COUNCIL ON RELIGIOUS 
EDUCATION (SACRE)

Is in receipt of significant funding from LBH and statutory 
requirement for the Council to be a member

LHC (Formerly London Housing Consortium) Membership of this joint committee will cease in 2023
LOCAL AUTHORITIES' AIRCRAFT NOISE COUNCIL Is in receipt of significant funding from LBH

LOCAL GOVERNMENT ASSOCIATION (LGA)

Is in receipt of significant funding from LBH, benefits to LBH, 
statutory requirement for the Council to be a member & 
national organisation.

LONDON COUNCILS:
1. ARTS, CULTURE, TOURISM, SPORT & LEISURE LEAD MEMBER
2. CHILDREN & YOUNG PEOPLE / SAFEGUARDING AND SCHOOLS 

LEAD MEMBER

Is in receipt of significant funding from LBH, Pan-London 
membership, Benefits to LBH & statutory requirement for the 
Council to be a member

P
age 21



Annual Council Meeting – 12 May 2022

ORGANISATION SUPPORTING INFORMATION
3. CRIME AND PUBLIC PROTECTION LEAD MEMBER
4. ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT / BUSINESS LEAD MEMBER
5. FINANCE & CORPORATE SERVICES LEAD MEMBER
6. GRANTS COMMITTEE (ASSOCIATED JOINT COMMITTEE)
7. GREATER LONDON EMPLOYMENT FORUM
8. HEALTH, SOCIAL CARE AND ADULT SERVICES LEAD MEMBER
9. HOUSING AND REGENERATION LEAD MEMBER
10. LEADERS' COMMITTEE (S101 JOINT COMMITTEE)
11. PLANNING / INFRASTRUCTURE / DEVELOPMENT LEAD MEMBER
12. SKILLS & EMPLOYMENT LEAD MEMBER
13. TRANSPORT & ENVIRONMENT COMMITTEE (formerly Transport 

Committee for London (Associated S101 Joint Committee))

LONDON LGPS CIV LTD
Is in receipt of significant funding from LBH, Pan-London 
membership & statutory requirement for the Council to be a 
member

LONDON ROAD SAFETY COUNCIL Is in receipt of significant funding from LBH & pan-London 
membership

NORTHWEST LONDON JOINT HEALTH OVERVIEW & SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE

Pan-Area membership, benefits to LBH
Council appointed to this outside body in 2021

SOUTHWEST MIDDLESEX CREMATORIUM BOARD Pan-Area membership & benefits to LBH
THE POLISH AIRFORCE MEMORIAL COMMITTEE Significant local interest

WEST LONDON WASTE AUTHORITY Is in receipt of significant funding from LBH & statutory 
requirement for the Council to be a member

P
age 22



Annual Council Meeting – 12 May 2022

Section B – Organisations which did not meet the criteria and to which the Council will no longer appoint 
representatives.

Each organisation will be reminded that they can request a Councillor to be a member in their own right.

ORGANISATION COMMENTS

CHARITY OF CHARLOTTE GELL FOR THE RELIEF IN NEED

Very small charity set up by Charlotte Gel in the 
Victorian era, meeting once a year to consider 
donations to be made. It benefits a few people with a 
contribution towards heating their homes.

CRANFORD COTTAGE HOMES & CRANFORD COMBINED CHARITIES

Has commenced discussions with an alternative 
Charity regarding the possible taking over of the 
Cranford Cottage Homes & Cranford Combined 
Charities.

DENHAM AERODROME CONSULTATIVE COMMITTEE  

FASSNIDGE MEMORIAL TRUST The position of Council nominated trustees to be 
dissolved

FRIENDS OF EASTCOTE HOUSE GARDENS MANAGEMENT ADVISORY GROUP 
(MAG)  

GUYS & ST THOMAS' TRUST (GSTT) incorporating Royal Brompton & Harefield 
Hospital
HAREFIELD PAROCHIAL CHARITIES  
HAYES TOWN PARTNERSHIP  
HEATHROW SPECIAL NEEDS CENTRE (FORMERLY HEATHROW SPECIAL NEEDS 
FARM)  

CARERS TRUST HILLINGDON (FORMERLY HILLINGDON CARERS)  
HILLINGDON CITIZENS ADVICE BUREAU  
HILLINGDON INTER FAITH NETWORK
HILLINGDON OUTDOOR ACTIVITIES CENTRE  
HILLINGDON PARENT-CARER SUPPORT GROUP No longer active
LAKE FARM MANAGEMENT ADVISORY GROUP (MAG)  

P
age 23



Annual Council Meeting – 12 May 2022

ORGANISATION COMMENTS
LEARNING DISABILITY PARTNERSHIP BOARD  
LONDON YOUTH GAMES LIMITED
MINET MANAGEMENT ADVISORY GROUP (MAG)  
MUSIC ADVISORY GROUP  
RELATE LONDON NORTHWEST  
RESERVE FORCES' AND CADETS' ASSOCIATION FOR LONDON
RUISLIP COMBINED CHARITIES  
RUISLIP LIDO MANAGEMENT ADVISORY GROUP (MAG) No longer active
RUISLIP NORTHWOOD OLD FOLK'S ASSOCIATION  
RUISLIP WOODS MANAGEMENT ADVISORY GROUP (MAG)  
STRATEGIC AVIATION SPECIAL INTEREST GROUP OF THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT 
ASSOCIATION (SASIG)  

WEST DRAYTON & YIEWSLEY SENIOR CITIZENS WELFARE ASSOCIATION No longer listed as a charity
YEADING VALLEY WORKING PARTY No longer active
YIEWSLEY & WEST DRAYTON COMMUNITY ASSOCIATION  

P
age 24



PROPOSED

Page 25



Page 26



 
 
 

 
 
Foreword 
 
The London Borough of Hillingdon is committed to strong political 
leadership, sound decision-making, effective scrutiny and good 
governance. The Council’s Constitution provides the framework to 
deliver this in a robust way across the whole organisation. 

Owned by all 53 Elected Councillors, the Constitution is, therefore, the 
Council’s most significant document. Externally, the Constitution 
enshrines the rights of Hillingdon residents and their participation in the 
democratic process. 

Internally, the Constitution assures consistency and compliance in 
everything the Council does, from how it makes decisions to how its 
services and finances are managed. It also sets out the high standards 
expected of those in public office. 

The Council’s first constitution came into effect on 2 May 2002. It is 
modernised to meet changing needs locally, and to also encompass new 
national legislation. This revised Constitution reflects these principles, 
and it was agreed by full Council at its AGM on 12 May 2022. 

London Borough of Hillingdon 

 

 

 

 

 
Page 27



Page 1 

Summary of contents 
 

Page 

Part 1 – Governance & Local Democracy      12 
 

Chapter 1  About the Constitution      13 
Chapter 2 Democratic Governance      14 
Chapter 3  Resident Participation      22 
 

Part 2 – How decisions are made & scrutinised    33 
 

Chapter 4 Full Council        34 
Chapter 5 Executive decision-making      54 
Chapter 6 Select Committee arrangements     81 
Chapter 7 Planning Decisions       99 
Chapter 8 Licensing Decisions       107 
Chapter 9 Pensions Decisions       114 
Chapter 10 Administrative Decisions      117 
Chapter 11 Health & Wellbeing Board      139 
Chapter 12 Responsibilities and Delegations to Officers   142 
Chapter 13 Decision-making with external bodies    159 
 

Part 3 – How the Council operates & is accountable    161 
 

Chapter 14 Rules relating to this Constitution     162 
Chapter 15 Rules when making decisions     164 
Chapter 16 Rules for committee meetings     167 
Chapter 17 Rules on access to information     175 
Chapter 18 Rules on procurement      183 
Chapter 19 Rules on land and property      196 
Chapter 20 Rules on financial matters      201 
Chapter 21 Members’  Code of Conduct      214 
Chapter 22 Protocol on good Member and Officer relations  218 
Chapter 23 Officers’ Code of Conduct      224 
Chapter 24 Planning Code of Conduct      233 
Chapter 25 Members’ ICT Code of Practice     244 
Chapter 26 Members Allowances Scheme     253 

 
Glossary            257 
Officer Scheme of Delegations – Annex      259 

Page 28



Page 2 

Detailed contents & online navigation 
Click on the relevant section below to go to it 
 

PART 1 – Governance & Local Democracy ............. 12 
 

Chapter 1 - About the Constitution ................................................................ 13 
Purpose of the Constitution .......................................................................................... 13 

 
Chapter 2 – Democratic Governance............................................................ 14 

Electoral arrangements .................................................................................................. 14 
Elections and Councillors’ Term of Office ....................................................................... 14 
Electoral Wards and Names of Councillors elected ........................................................ 14 
Eligibility to stand as a Councillor .................................................................................. 15 
Political Control and Administration .............................................................................. 15 

Elected Councillors ......................................................................................................... 16 
Roles of councillors ....................................................................................................... 16 
Councillors Rights, Conduct and Responsibilities........................................................... 16 
Councillor membership and attendance at committees ................................................. 16 
Restrictions on membership of committees .................................................................. 17 
Champions .................................................................................................................... 17 

Council governance and meetings ................................................................................. 18 
Open local government .................................................................................................. 18 
The Full Council ............................................................................................................. 18 
The Leader and Cabinet ................................................................................................ 18 
Council Committees ...................................................................................................... 18 
Health and Wellbeing Board ........................................................................................... 18 
Other bodies ................................................................................................................. 19 
Current governance structure of the Council ................................................................. 19 

The Mayor ....................................................................................................................... 20 
Election of Mayor ......................................................................................................... 20 
Chairing meetings of Full Council ................................................................................. 20 
Appointment of Deputy Mayor ...................................................................................... 20 
Mayor and Deputy Mayor on committees ....................................................................... 20 

Council Staff ................................................................................................................... 21 
Management Structure ................................................................................................. 21 

 
Chapter 3 - Resident participation ............................................................... 22 

Rights and responsibilities ............................................................................................ 22 
Residents’ rights & participation in democracy ............................................................. 22 
Complaints................................................................................................................... 22 
Residents’ responsibilities............................................................................................ 23 

Resident Petitions (Petition Scheme) ........................................................................... 23 
Introduction ................................................................................................................. 23 
What is a petition and who can submit one? .................................................................. 23 
Personal data in petitions ............................................................................................. 24 
What is a valid petition? ................................................................................................ 24 
What information should be in a petition? ..................................................................... 25 

Page 29



Page 3 

Petitions received under the valid number .................................................................... 26 
Paper petitions ............................................................................................................ 26 
Electronic Petitions ..................................................................................................... 26 
Combining paper and electronic petitions .................................................................... 27 
Multiple Petitions on the same topic ............................................................................. 27 
Petitions received during an Election Period ................................................................ 27 
How the Council responds to a valid petition ................................................................. 27 
Cabinet Member Petitions ............................................................................................ 28 
Planning Petitions & Speaking Rights ........................................................................... 29 
Licensing Petitions ...................................................................................................... 30 
Petitions to another appropriate Council Committee .................................................... 30 
Petitions requesting a referendum ................................................................................ 31 

Public Question Time ...................................................................................................... 31 
Reporting & digital engagement at meetings ................................................................ 31 

Reporting on proceedings ............................................................................................. 31 
Press and Media attending ............................................................................................ 31 
Attending remotely to speak ........................................................................................ 32 
Broadcasting of meetings ............................................................................................ 32 

 
 

PART 2 - How decisions are made & scrutinised . 33 
 

Chapter 4 - Full Council ................................................................................ 34 

About the Full Council .................................................................................................... 34 
Decisions to be made by the Full Council ...................................................................... 34 

Budget and policy framework documents ..................................................................... 34 
Other decisions reserved to the Full Council ................................................................. 35 

Budget and Policy Framework Procedure Rules ........................................................... 36 
Consideration of budget and policy framework documents ........................................... 36 
Amendments to the Council budget mid-year ............................................................... 37 
Conflict Resolution Procedure - policy framework documents & budget proposals ....... 38 

Council Procedure Rules & Standing Orders ................................................................. 39 
SO 1 - Annual Meeting of the Council ............................................................................. 39 
SO 2- Ordinary Meetings ............................................................................................... 40 
SO 3 - Extraordinary Meetings ...................................................................................... 40 
SO 4 - Appointment of Substitute Members of Committees ........................................... 41 
SO 5 - Time and Place of Meetings ................................................................................. 41 
SO 6 - Notice of and Summons to meetings ................................................................... 41 
SO 7 - Chairman of meeting .......................................................................................... 42 
SO 8 - Quorum of Full Council ........................................................................................ 42 
SO 9 - Duration of meeting ............................................................................................ 42 
SO 10 - Questions from the Public ................................................................................. 42 
SO 11 - Questions by Members ....................................................................................... 44 
SO 12 - Motions on Notice ............................................................................................. 45 
SO 13 - Motions without Notice ..................................................................................... 45 
SO 14 - Rules of Debate ................................................................................................. 46 
SO 15 - Adjournment Debate ......................................................................................... 49 
SO 16 - Call-in of decisions contrary to budget and policy framework ............................ 49 
SO 17 - Conflict Resolution Procedure ........................................................................... 49 

Page 30



Page 4 

SO 18 - Previous Decisions and Motions ........................................................................ 49 
SO 19 - Voting ............................................................................................................... 50 
SO 20 - Minutes ............................................................................................................. 51 
SO 21 - Discussion of Officers and matters affecting persons employed ......................... 51 
SO 22 - Record of Attendance........................................................................................ 51 
SO 23 - Exclusion of the Public ..................................................................................... 52 
SO 24 - Members Conduct during Council meetings ...................................................... 52 
SO 25 - Disturbance by the Public ................................................................................. 52 
SO 26 - Suspension and amendment of these Council procedure rules .......................... 53 
SO 27 - Remote or virtual meetings ............................................................................... 53 

 
Chapter 5 – Executive decision-making ....................................................... 54 

About the Leader and Cabinet ....................................................................................... 54 
Election of Leader ........................................................................................................ 54 
Appointment or dismissal of Cabinet Members ............................................................. 54 
Appointment of Cabinet Assistants .............................................................................. 55 
Size of the Cabinet ....................................................................................................... 55 
Current Cabinet membership, names and portfolios assigned....................................... 55 
Restrictions on other Councillors ................................................................................. 55 

Principles of executive decision-making ...................................................................... 56 
Delegation of executive functions ................................................................................ 56 
Changes to executive powers ....................................................................................... 56 
Acting within the Policy and Budget Framework ........................................................... 57 
Officer Advice, Reports and Briefings ........................................................................... 57 
Consultation ................................................................................................................ 57 
Conflicts of Interest ..................................................................................................... 57 
Local choice functions delegated to the Executive ....................................................... 58 

How Cabinet meetings operate ..................................................................................... 59 
Where and where?........................................................................................................ 59 
Attendance at and speaking at Cabinet meetings ......................................................... 59 
Quorum of a Cabinet meeting ....................................................................................... 60 
The Chairman ............................................................................................................... 60 
The agenda .................................................................................................................. 60 

Key decisions & Public Notice of them (Forward Plan) .................................................. 61 
Definition of Key decisions ............................................................................................ 61 

Cabinet decision-making ............................................................................................... 62 
Responsibilities of the Cabinet ..................................................................................... 62 
How Cabinet decisions are made .................................................................................. 62 
Decisions to be taken by the Cabinet collectively .......................................................... 63 
Limits on Cabinet decision-making .............................................................................. 63 

Cabinet Member decision-making ................................................................................. 64 
Budget ......................................................................................................................... 64 
Service Planning and Delivery ....................................................................................... 64 
Land and Property ........................................................................................................ 65 
Tenders and Contracts ................................................................................................. 65 
Partnerships and Consultation ..................................................................................... 65 
Miscellaneous .............................................................................................................. 65 
How decision-making by Cabinet Members operates .................................................... 66 

Leader of the Council ...................................................................................................... 67 
Service portfolio .......................................................................................................... 67 

Page 31



Page 5 

Strategy and policy ...................................................................................................... 67 
Decision-making powers .............................................................................................. 67 
Urgent decision-making ............................................................................................... 68 
Leader’s Emergency Power .......................................................................................... 68 
Civic and Ceremonial .................................................................................................... 69 
Leader’s appointments & Borough Advocates............................................................... 69 

Deputy Leader of the Council ........................................................................................ 69 
Cabinet Member for Finance .......................................................................................... 70 
Cabinet Member for Property, Highways & Transport .................................................. 72 
Cabinet Member for Children, Families and Education ................................................. 74 
Cabinet Member for Health & Social Care ...................................................................... 76 
Cabinet Member for Residents’ Services ....................................................................... 77 
Cabinet Member for Corporate Services ........................................................................ 79 

 
Chapter 6 – Select Committee arrangements ............................................... 81 

About the Select Committees ........................................................................................ 81 
Councillor Membership and attendance ........................................................................ 82 
Co-opted Members & Education Representatives ......................................................... 82 
Quorum ........................................................................................................................ 82 
Chairmen and Vice-Chairman ....................................................................................... 82 

Role and Remit ............................................................................................................... 83 
General Terms of Reference ......................................................................................... 83 
Councillor Call for Actions ............................................................................................ 83 
Finance & Corporate Services Select Committee.......................................................... 84 
Residents Services’ Services Select Committee ........................................................... 85 
Property, Highways & Transport Select Committee ...................................................... 86 
Health & Social Care Select Committee ........................................................................ 86 
Children, Families, & Education Select Committee ....................................................... 87 
Corporate Parenting Panel ........................................................................................... 88 
Task and Finish Review Panels ..................................................................................... 90 
North West London Joint Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee ............................. 90 

How Select Committees operate .................................................................................... 91 
Meetings and Multi-Year Work Programmes .................................................................. 91 
Special meetings and cancellation of meetings ............................................................. 91 
Requests from Council / Cabinet to review specific matters .......................................... 91 
Policy Review and Development .................................................................................... 91 
Principles of undertaking reviews ................................................................................. 92 
Reporting to Cabinet (or Council) .................................................................................. 92 
Formal comments to Cabinet and consultations ........................................................... 93 
Additional rights to information .................................................................................... 93 
Informal attendance at meetings .................................................................................. 94 
Formal duty to attend by officers .................................................................................. 94 
Officer Support ............................................................................................................ 95 

Call-in Procedure Rules.................................................................................................. 95 
Referral of call-in to Full Council ................................................................................... 96 
Waiver of call-in period for urgent or special urgency decisions .................................... 96 
Matters that cannot be called-in ................................................................................... 97 

Protocol on Overview & Scrutiny and Cabinet Relations ............................................... 97 
 
 

Page 32



Page 6 

Chapter 7 - Planning Decisions ..................................................................... 99 

Planning Committees ..................................................................................................... 99 
Borough Planning Committee ....................................................................................... 99 
Major Applications Planning Committee ....................................................................... 99 
Membership, Training & Conduct .................................................................................100 
Quorum .......................................................................................................................100 

Decisions by Planning Committees ............................................................................... 101 
Ward Councillor Call-in to Planning Committee: ........................................................... 101 
Decisions not reported to a planning committee .......................................................... 102 

Decisions made by Planning Officers ........................................................................... 103 
Decisions on High Speed 2 (HS2) .................................................................................. 104 

 
Chapter 8 - Licensing Decisions .................................................................. 107 

Licensing Committee .................................................................................................... 107 
Terms of Reference .................................................................................................... 107 
Membership, Training and Frequency .......................................................................... 107 
Quorum ....................................................................................................................... 108 

Licensing sub-committee ............................................................................................. 108 
Membership ................................................................................................................ 108 
Quorum ....................................................................................................................... 108 
Operation and Protocols .............................................................................................. 108 

Delegation of Licensing Functions ............................................................................... 108 
Licensing Act 2003 – Ward Councillor Call-in ............................................................... 109 
Gambling Act 2005 ...................................................................................................... 110 
Gambling Act 2005 – Ward Councillor Call-in ................................................................. 111 
Other licensing functions exercised ............................................................................. 111 

 
Chapter 9 - Pensions decisions ................................................................... 114 

Pensions Committee ...................................................................................................... 114 
Membership ................................................................................................................ 114 
Quorum ....................................................................................................................... 114 
Terms of Reference .................................................................................................... 114 

Pensions Board .............................................................................................................. 115 
Membership ................................................................................................................ 115 
Terms of Reference .................................................................................................... 115 

Officer pensions delegations......................................................................................... 116 
 

Chapter 10 - Administrative Decisions ........................................................ 117 

Registration and Appeals Committee ........................................................................... 117 
Membership ................................................................................................................. 117 
Quorum ........................................................................................................................ 117 
Terms of Reference ..................................................................................................... 117 
Related registration and Appeals decisions taken by officers ...................................... 118 

Appointments Committee ............................................................................................. 118 
Membership ................................................................................................................ 118 
Quorum ....................................................................................................................... 118 
Terms of Reference .................................................................................................... 118 
Appointments Sub-Committee .................................................................................... 118 

Page 33



Page 7 

Procedure to appoint and dismiss senior officers ........................................................ 119 
Staffing decisions by the Chief Executive .................................................................... 124 

Audit Committee ........................................................................................................... 125 
Membership ................................................................................................................ 125 
Quorum ....................................................................................................................... 125 
Terms of Reference .................................................................................................... 125 
Formal duty of senior officers to attend....................................................................... 127 

Standards Committee ................................................................................................... 128 
Membership ................................................................................................................ 128 
Terms of Reference .................................................................................................... 128 
Quorum ....................................................................................................................... 128 
Complaints against Councillors ................................................................................... 128 
Standards Committee Procedure Rules ....................................................................... 128 
Hearing Procedure ...................................................................................................... 136 

 
Chapter 11 - Health and Wellbeing Board ..................................................... 139 

Membership ................................................................................................................ 139 
Operation .................................................................................................................... 140 
Sub-Committees and Working Groups ......................................................................... 140 
Quorum ....................................................................................................................... 140 
Terms of Reference .................................................................................................... 140 
Additional Rules for Board meetings ............................................................................ 141 

 
Chapter 12 – Responsibilities and Delegations to Officers ......................... 142 

Head of Paid Service & Chief Executive ....................................................................... 142 
Chief Financial Officer & Corporate Director of Finance ............................................. 144 

Deputy Chief Finance Officer ....................................................................................... 146 
Duty to Provide Sufficient Resources to Chief Financial Officer ................................... 146 

Corporate Director of Place .......................................................................................... 147 
Corporate Director of Central Services ........................................................................ 147 
Executive Director of Adult Services & Health ............................................................ 148 

Director of Public Health ............................................................................................. 149 
Executive Director of Children & Young People’s Services ......................................... 149 
Executive Director of Education & SEND ..................................................................... 150 
General Delegations to Chief Executive and Corporate / Executive Directors ............ 151 
Monitoring Officer ......................................................................................................... 152 

Deputy Monitoring Officer ........................................................................................... 154 
Duty to Provide Sufficient Resources to Monitoring Officer.......................................... 154 

Head of Democratic Services ....................................................................................... 154 
Head of Human Resources ............................................................................................ 156 
Other Statutory Officers ............................................................................................... 157 

Data Protection Officer ............................................................................................... 157 
Senior Information Risk Owner (SIRO) .......................................................................... 157 
Scrutiny Officer ........................................................................................................... 157 

Exercising officer delegations ..................................................................................... 158 
 

Chapter 13 - decision-making with external bodies .................................... 159 

Arrangements to Promote Well-Being ......................................................................... 159 
Joint arrangements .................................................................................................... 159 

Page 34



Page 8 

Transfer of non-executive functions to another body .................................................. 159 
Contracting Out........................................................................................................... 160 
Delegation to and from other Local Authorities ............................................................ 160 

 
 

PART 3 - How the Council operates & is accountable 161 
 

Chapter 14 - Rules relating to this Constitution ..........................................162 

Reviewing and revising the Constitution ...................................................................... 162 
Duty to Monitor and Review the Constitution ............................................................... 162 
How to make changes to the Constitution ................................................................... 162 
Interpretation of the Constitution ................................................................................ 162 
Publication of the Constitution .................................................................................... 162 
Change in the form of executive arrangements ............................................................ 162 

Suspension of the Constitution .................................................................................... 163 
Limit to Suspension .................................................................................................... 163 
Rules Capable of Suspension ....................................................................................... 163 
Procedure to suspend Rules ........................................................................................ 163 

 
Chapter 15 - Rules when making decisions ................................................ 164 

Principles of Decision-making ...................................................................................... 164 
Decision-Making Functions & Responsibilities ............................................................ 164 

Decisions reserved to the Full Council ......................................................................... 164 
Executive Decisions and Key Decisions ....................................................................... 164 
Decision Making by Select Committees ....................................................................... 164 
Decision-making by Council officers ........................................................................... 165 
Bodies that are non-decision making and with no delegated powers ............................ 165 

Execution of decisions ................................................................................................. 165 
Financial, Contract and Property decisions .................................................................. 165 
Authentication of Documents ...................................................................................... 165 
Common Seal of the Council ........................................................................................ 166 

 
Chapter 16 - Rules for committee meetings ................................................ 167 

SO 1 - Chairmen and Vice-Chairmen ............................................................................. 167 
SO 2 - Appointment of Sub-Committees ...................................................................... 167 
SO 3- Order of Business ............................................................................................... 167 
SO 4 - Adjournment ..................................................................................................... 168 
SO 5 - Quorum ............................................................................................................. 168 
SO 6 - Record of Attendance........................................................................................ 168 
SO 7 - Attendance and councillors speaking at meetings.............................................. 168 
SO 8 - Reports, supplementary reports or addendums ................................................. 169 
SO 9 - Voting ............................................................................................................... 169 
SO 10 - Special meetings, cancellations and arrangements .......................................... 169 
SO 11 - Rules of debate ................................................................................................. 170 
SO 12 - Proceedings of committees ............................................................................. 172 
SO 13 - Closure of meetings / time limit ........................................................................ 172 
SO 14 - Disturbance at meetings .................................................................................. 172 
SO 15 - Suspension of Standing Orders......................................................................... 173 

Page 35



Page 9 

SO 16 - Resignation from committees .......................................................................... 173 
SO 17 - Any Other Business .......................................................................................... 173 
SO 18 - Remote or virtual meetings .............................................................................. 174 

 
Chapter 17 - Rules on access to information ............................................... 175 

Scope ......................................................................................................................... 175 
Additional rights to information ................................................................................... 175 
Rights to attend meetings ........................................................................................... 175 
Notice of meetings ...................................................................................................... 175 
Access to agenda and reports before a meeting .......................................................... 175 
Supply of documents................................................................................................... 175 
Access to minutes and other reports after a meeting................................................... 176 
Background papers ..................................................................................................... 176 
Summary of the public’s rights .................................................................................... 177 
Exclusion of Access by the Press and Public to meetings ............................................. 177 
Exclusion of Access by the Public to Reports ............................................................... 178 
Application of these rules to the Cabinet ..................................................................... 178 
Procedure before Taking Key Decisions ...................................................................... 179 
Private meetings of the Cabinet .................................................................................. 179 
General Exception to give advance notice of key decision ............................................ 180 
Special Urgency procedure ......................................................................................... 180 
Reporting to Council on decisions ............................................................................... 180 
Record of Cabinet & Cabinet Member decisions ........................................................... 181 
Decisions that are not key decisions ............................................................................ 181 
Select Committee Access to Documents ..................................................................... 182 
Additional rights of access to Members ....................................................................... 182 

 
Chapter 18 - Rules on procurement ............................................................. 183 

SO 1 - Compliance ........................................................................................................ 183 
SO 2 - Ethics & Probity ................................................................................................ 184 
SO 3 - Decision-making process .................................................................................. 184 
SO 4 - Invitations to Tender ......................................................................................... 186 
SO 5 - Custody, Receipt & Opening of Tenders ............................................................. 187 
SO 6 - Acceptance of tenders and approval of them ..................................................... 189 
SO 7 - Execution of Contracts ...................................................................................... 191 
SO 8 - Contract Extension and Variation ...................................................................... 192 
SO 9 - Purchase Orders & Government Procurement Cards .......................................... 192 
SO 10 - Local Authority Maintained School Procurement .............................................. 193 
SO 11 - Exemptions from these Rules ........................................................................... 194 
Emergency Contract Delegation .................................................................................. 194 

 
Chapter 19 - Rules on land and property ...................................................... 196 

SO 1 - Compliance ........................................................................................................ 196 
SO 2 - Approval of Major Disposals ............................................................................... 196 
SO 3 - Dealing with tenders and offers ......................................................................... 197 
SO 4 - Disposals and Acquisitions by Auction ............................................................... 197 
SO 5 - Approval of Property Transactions other than major disposals ........................... 198 
SO 6 - Approval of land and property matters ............................................................... 198 
SO 7 - Exemptions to these Rules ................................................................................ 199 

Page 36



Page 10 

SO 8 - Execution of property matters .......................................................................... 200 
Emergency Land & Property Delegation ..................................................................... 200 

 
Chapter 20 - Rules on financial matters ..................................................... 201 

Compliance & Status ................................................................................................... 201 
Financial Management ............................................................................................... 202 
Financial Planning ...................................................................................................... 206 
Risk Management and Control of Resources ............................................................... 208 
Systems and Procedures ............................................................................................. 211 
External Arrangements ............................................................................................... 212 

 
Chapter 21 - Members’ Code of Conduct .................................................... 214 

General Provisions ...................................................................................................... 214 
Registering and declaring pecuniary and non-pecuniary interests ............................... 215 

 
Chapter 22 - Protocol on good Member and Officer relations ................... 218 

Roles, responsibilities and expectations ...................................................................... 218 
The working relationship ............................................................................................. 219 
Visits to front-line services ........................................................................................ 220 
Requests and Members’ Enquiries .............................................................................. 220 
Correspondence ......................................................................................................... 221 
Officers attending Party Group meetings and advice ................................................... 221 
Employment matters .................................................................................................. 221 
Raising a matter on behalf of a family member ............................................................ 222 
Social contact ............................................................................................................ 222 
Close personal relationships ...................................................................................... 222 
Conduct and performance .......................................................................................... 222 
Support Services and ICT to Members ........................................................................ 223 

 
Chapter 23 - Officers’ Code of Conduct .....................................................224 

Principals of Behaviour .............................................................................................. 224 
Code of Conduct ........................................................................................................ 225 
Disciplinary Code for Employees ................................................................................. 231 

 
Chapter 24 - Planning Code of Conduct ..................................................... 233 

Relationship to Members’ Code of Conduct ................................................................. 233 
Development proposals and interests ........................................................................ 234 
Pecuniary Interests .................................................................................................... 234 
General roles of Members and officers ........................................................................ 235 
Fettering discretion in the planning process ............................................................... 236 
The party whip ........................................................................................................... 236 
Contact with developers, applicants and objectors ..................................................... 237 
Access to planning officers ........................................................................................ 237 
Material considerations .............................................................................................. 238 
Lobbying of and by Members ...................................................................................... 239 
Applications submitted by Members or officers .......................................................... 240 
Applications submitted by the Council ........................................................................ 240 
Site visits ................................................................................................................... 240 

Page 37



Page 11 

Public speaking at meetings ........................................................................................ 241 
Pre-application discussions ........................................................................................ 241 
Decision making at Planning Committees ................................................................... 242 
Planning appeals ........................................................................................................ 243 
Member training on planning ...................................................................................... 243 

 
Chapter 25 - Members’ ICT Code of Practice ............................................ 244 

Use of Council resources ............................................................................................ 244 
ICT Policy ................................................................................................................... 245 
Access to the Council’s Computer Systems ................................................................ 246 
Authority to Express Views ......................................................................................... 246 
Monitoring Computer and Telephone Usage ............................................................... 246 
Confidentiality, Security and Accuracy of Data ........................................................... 247 
Copyright, Legal and Contractual Issues ..................................................................... 248 
Network Efficiency .................................................................................................... 249 
Personal Use .............................................................................................................. 249 
Inappropriate Use, Prohibited Sites and Offensive Material ......................................... 249 
Other use ................................................................................................................... 250 
ICT Equipment provided to Members .......................................................................... 250 
E-Mail Guidelines for Members .................................................................................... 251 

 
Chapter 26 - Members Allowance Scheme ................................................ 253 

Basic Allowance ......................................................................................................... 253 
Special Responsibility Allowances .............................................................................. 253 
Limit on Payment of Special Responsibility Allowances .............................................. 254 
Renunciation.............................................................................................................. 254 
Part-Year Entitlements .............................................................................................. 254 
Out of Borough Travelling and Subsistence Allowances .............................................. 255 
Dependent / Carers Allowance ................................................................................... 255 
Co-optees’ Allowances ............................................................................................... 255 
Claims and Payments ................................................................................................. 255 
Withholding Members’ Allowances .............................................................................. 256 
Records of Allowances and Publicity .......................................................................... 256 
Independent Remuneration Panel .............................................................................. 256 

 
 

Glossary .............................................................. 257 
 
 

Officer Scheme of Delegations – Annex ............ 259 

 
 
 

 
 

Page 38



Page 12 

 
 

PART 1 – Governance & Local 
Democracy 
 
How the Council governs and how the public engage in its 
democratic processes. 
 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 39



Page 13 

 

Chapter 1 - About the Constitution 
 
The London Borough of Hillingdon, also known as Hillingdon Council, was created 
in 1965 under the Local Government Act 1963. It was formed by joining the Borough 
of Uxbridge and the three urban districts of Ruislip-Northwood, Hayes and 
Harlington, and Yiewsley and West Drayton. 
 
On 2 May 2002, the Council adopted its first Constitution and approved a 
Leader/Cabinet model form of governance. The Constitution is divided into three 
parts: 

 
1. Governance & Local Democracy – how the Council governs and how the 

public engage in its democratic processes 
2. How the Council make decisions & the scrutiny of them – the different 

governance bodies, their powers and how they operate 
3. How the Council operates & is accountable – the rules the Council 

operates under that ensures good governance and accountability 

 
 
 

Purpose of the Constitution 
 

The Council will exercise all its powers and duties in accordance with the law and this 
Constitution. The Constitution, and all its appendices, is by name the Constitution of the Council 
of the London Borough of Hillingdon. Its purpose is to:  

 
• provide a means of improving the delivery of services to the community; 
• enable the Council to provide clear leadership to the community in partnership with 

citizens, businesses and other organisations; 
• support the active involvement of citizens in the process of decision making; 
• help Councillors represent their constituents more effectively; 
• enable decisions to be taken efficiently, effectively and lawfully; 
• create a powerful and effective means of holding decision-makers to public account; 
• ensure that no one will review or scrutinise a decision in which they were directly 

involved; 
• ensure that those responsible for decision making are clearly identifiable to local people 

and that they explain the reasons for decisions. 
 

Where the Constitution permits the Council to choose between different courses of action, the 
Council will always choose that option which it thinks is closest to the purposes stated above. 
The Council will monitor and evaluate the operation of the Constitution as set out in Part 3. 
 

Page 40



Page 14 

Chapter 2 – Democratic Governance 
 
This Chapter of the Constitution sets out the electoral process and cycle. It explains 
the roles of elected Councillors and how they come together to govern the Council in 
different ways, along with the Council officers that support and advise them.  
 
Electoral arrangements 

 
Central to the Council’s Constitution and how the Council is governed are elected councillors. The 
Council is composed of 53 councillors representing 21 Electoral Wards. They are all elected every 
four years at elections or individually at by-elections should a particular councillor resign, be 
disqualified or become deceased creating a vacancy.  
 
Elections and Councillors’ Term of Office 
 
The regular election of Councillors will be held on the first Thursday in May every four years. The 
terms of office of Councillors will start on the fourth day after being elected and will finish at the 
end of the third day after the date of the next regular election. 

 
Electoral Wards and Names of Councillors elected 
 
The current electoral wards and elected councillors are shown below: 
 

Ward No of 
Councillors 

Names of Elected Councillor(s) 

Belmore 3 Labina Basit, Narinder Garg, Jagjit Singh 
Charville 2 Darran Davies, Barry Nelson-West 
Colham and Cowley 3 Shehryar Ahmad-Wallana, Roy Chamdal, Ekta Gohil 
Eastcote 3 Nick Denys, Ian Edwards, Becky Haggar 
Harefield Village 1 Jane Palmer 
Hayes Town 3 Peter Curling, Janet Gardner, Raju Sansarpuri 
Heathrow Villages 2 Peter Money, June Nelson 
Hillingdon East 3 Wayne Bridges, Alan Chapman, Colleen Sullivan 
Hillingdon West 2 Adam Bennett, Reeta Chamdal 
Ickenham & South Harefield 3 Kaushik Banerjee, Martin Goddard, Eddie Lavery 
Northwood 2 Henry Higgins, Richard Lewis 
Northwood Hills 2 Kishan Bhatt, Jonathan Bianco 
Pinkwell 3 Tony Gill, Kuldeep Lakhmana, Gursharan Mand 
Ruislip 3 Philip Corthorne, John Riley, Peter Smallwood 
Ruislip Manor 2 Douglas Mills, Susan O’Brien 
South Ruislip 3 Heena Makwana, Richard Mills, Steve  Tuckwell 
Uxbridge 3 Tony Burles, Keith Burrows, Farhad Choubedar 
West Drayton 3 Scott Farley, Mohammed Islam, Jan Sweeting 
Wood End 3 Elizabeth Garelick, Kamal Preet Kaur, Stuart Mathers 
Yeading 2 Jas Dhot, Rita Judge Dhot 
Yiewsley 2 Naser Mohammed Issa Abby, Sital Punja 
 53 seats  

Page 41



Page 15 

Eligibility to stand as a Councillor 
 

To be eligible to hold the office of a Councillor, a person must be a British subject or a citizen of 
the Republic of Ireland or a relevant citizen of the European Union who has attained the age of 18 
years and: 

 
1) is and continues to be a local government elector for the area of the Authority; or 
2) has during the whole of the twelve months preceding occupied as owner or tenant any land 

or other premises in that area; or 
3) whose principal or only place of work during that twelve months has been in that area; or 
4) has during the whole of those twelve months resided in that area. 

 
Political Control and Administration 
 
Councillors form political groups on the 
Council, with the majority political group 
usually forming the Council’s 
Administration and, thereby, control over 
its governance and operation. Following 
the 5 May 2022 Borough elections, the 
Conservative Group retained control of the 
Council and formed its Administration. The 
Cabinet is therefore made up of 
councillors from the Conservative Group. 
There is an opposition Labour Group. The 
split of the 53 seats on the Council by 
political groups is shown below: 

 
Conservative: 30 

Labour: 23 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 42



Page 16 

Elected Councillors 
 

Councillors (who are also referred to as ‘Members’ within the Council) are 
democratically accountable to residents of their ward. The overriding duty of 
Councillors is to the whole community, but they have a special duty to their 
constituents, including those who did not vote for them.  

 
Roles of councillors 

 
The roles of Councillors is to: 

 
• effectively represent the interests of their ward and of individual constituents and 

respond to constituents’ enquiries and representations, fairly and impartially; 
• be the responsible policy-makers in adopting key plans and approving motions, 

participating in the governance and management of the Council; 
• actively encourage community participation and resident involvement in decision-

making and represent the Council on other outside bodies; 
 
Councillors Rights, Conduct and Responsibilities 
 
Councillors have rights of access to such documents, information, land and buildings of the 
Council as are necessary for the proper discharge of their functions and in accordance with the 
law. The Council’s various Rules and Standing Orders in Part 3 of the Constitution provide further 
details on these rights. 
 
Councillors will not make public information that is confidential or exempt without the consent of 
the Council or an authorised official of the Council or divulge information given in confidence to 
anyone other than a councillor or officer entitled to know it. For these purposes, “confidential” 
and “exempt” information are defined in the Rules on access to information as set out in Part 3 of 
this Constitution. Councillors must not use resident personal information gained through official 
Council work for party political use.  
 
Councillors will at all times observe the Members’ Code of Conduct and the Protocol on Good 
Member / Officer Relations set out in Part 3 of this Constitution.  
 
Councillors are entitled to receive allowances in accordance with the Members’ Allowance 
Scheme set out in set out in Chapter 26 of this Constitution. 
 
Councillor membership and attendance at committees 

 
Councillors who are appointed as members of a particular committee hold office until they resign, 
are removed from office or their successors are appointed. 
 
Where they have been appointed to any committee, advisory group or subsidiary forum, 
Councillors can attend meetings of these groups unless they have been removed from 
membership.  
 
If Councillors (including a co-opted member) fail to attend any meeting of the committee or 
advisory group to which they are appointed/co-opted throughout a period of six consecutive 

Page 43



Page 17 

months, they will cease to be a member of that committee or group unless their absence is due 
to a reason which has been previously approved by the Head of Democratic Services in 
consultation with the relevant Group Leader and/or Chief Whip. 
 
However, this is without prejudice to the fact that if a Member fails throughout a period of six 
consecutive months from the date of his/her last attendance to attend any meeting of the 
Council, he/she shall, unless the failure was due to some reason approved by the Council before 
the expiry of that period, cease to be a Member of the Council. 

If a Member of the Cabinet fails for six months to attend any meeting of the executive, or any 
Committee of the executive or, acting alone, to discharge any functions which are the 
responsibility of the executive, then unless the failure was due to some reason pre-approved by 
the Council, he or she shall cease to be a Member of the Council.  

Restrictions on membership of committees 
 
Under regulations, including those relating to functions and responsibilities, or as agreed locally, 
certain councillors may not sit on certain bodies. Councillors in the Cabinet are not permitted to 
be a member of any select committee, planning committee or licensing committee (or its sub-
committee) or be appointed to the Council’s Audit Committee. The Leader of the Council may not 
be a member of the Standards Committee. This ensures the correct separation of powers 
between the executive of the Council (Cabinet) and other non-executive decision-making bodies 
and for other reasons of probity. 
 
Champions 
 
The Council may appoint  Councillors as Champions to better represent particular interests within 
the Council and across the Borough. Champions are paid a small Special Responsibility Allowance 
to undertake this task and operate under a locally agreed protocol.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 44



Page 18 

Council governance and meetings 
 

Open local government 
 
As a local authority, the Council ensures transparency in how it is governed and how meetings are 
held that make decisions and consider matters of local importance. Council meetings are held in 
public except where confidential or exempt information is likely to be disclosed and public 
reports and decisions are published on the Council’s website. Members of the public attend 
council meetings and to make the Council more accessible, public meetings are broadcast live 
for wider democratic engagement.  
 
The Full Council 
 
All 53 Councillors come together as the Full Council, which meets on a regular basis to make 
decisions on key strategies and also agree the Council’s budget. It is the Borough’s political forum 
for debate. The Council also agrees changes to this Constitution. The Council will ultimately 
determine the Council’s governance structure and it will appoint Councillors to various 
committees to discharge specific and statutory duties. The Full Council’s role and powers are set 
out in Part 2, Chapter 4. 
 
The Leader and Cabinet 

 
The Council appoints a Leader, who appoints a Cabinet to govern the Council’s executive 
functions which set the overall direction and management of the Council. The Cabinet may 
comprise up to 10 Cabinet Members, including the Leader, who can make decisions individually 
or collectively. The Leader and Cabinet’s role and powers are set out in more detail in Part 2, 
Chapter 5. 

 
Council Committees 

 
The Council will establish formal committees to determine those functions of the Council that are 
not within the remit of the Leader and Cabinet in accordance with section 101 of the Local 
Government Act 1972. These committees may establish sub-committees.  
 
This will include regulatory and administrative committees which make decisions on local 
planning applications, licensing matters, staffing, audit and standards. Other committees 
discharge the Council’s statutory functions in relation to overview and scrutiny and are known as 
select committees.  

 
All committees will have powers delegated to them from Full Council and will report to the Council 
from time to time upon the exercise of their functions and, where appropriate, make 
recommendations.  The committees currently established are set out in the diagram overleaf. 
The role and functions of these Council committees are set out in Part 2 of the Constitution. 
 
Health and Wellbeing Board 
 
The Council has established a Health and Wellbeing Board, in accordance with the Health and 
Social Care Act 2012, to improve the quality of life of the local population and provide high-level 
collaboration between the Council and promotes joint working with health partners.  

Page 45



Page 19 

Other bodies 
 
The Council may appoint other bodies – and Councillors to them – for advisory purposes. These 
may be called advisory panels, steering groups or meetings of a similar termed nature and may 
operate across partnerships and with other external bodies. These do not operate in accordance 
with section 101 of the Local Government Act 1972, are informal in nature and do not have any 
formal powers, on behalf of the Council, delegated to them.  
 
Current governance structure of the Council 
 
The current governance structure of the Council is set out in diagrammatic format below. More 
details on the individual bodies and committees shown, including their purpose, responsibilities, 
terms of reference and any standing order governing their proceedings are set out further in this 
Constitution. 

 

 

Page 46



Page 20 

The Mayor 
 
Each municipal year, one councillor is elected as Mayor of Hillingdon for that year and leads the 
Borough’s ceremonial and civic duties.  
 
The Mayor is a symbol of the authority of the Council, and of an open and cohesive borough. The 
Mayor is the Borough’s First Citizen and has precedence unless the Monarch or their direct 
representative is visiting the Borough. The Mayor will attend such civic and ceremonial functions 
as he or she or the Council decides are appropriate. The Mayor gives recognition, appreciation 
and encouragement to all groups and individuals who contribute to the life of the Borough and 
seeks to promote public involvement in the Council’s activities. 
 
Appropriate officer support, facilities and training and an appropriate budget are provided to 
enable the Mayor and Deputy Mayor to discharge their responsibilities. 

 
Election of Mayor 
 
The Council will appoint/elect the Mayor annually from amongst the Councillors.  The Mayor shall, 
unless he or she resigns or becomes disqualified, continue in office until his or her successor 
becomes entitled to act as Mayor. 
 
Chairing meetings of Full Council 
 

The Mayor chairs meetings of the Full Council and in that role will: 
 

• Uphold and promote the purposes of the Constitution and interpret the Constitution 
when necessary; 

• Preside impartially and uncontroversially over meetings of the Council so that its 
business can be carried out efficiently and with regard to the rights of councillors and 
the interests of the community;  

• Rule on points of order and have the casting vote; 
• Ensure that the Council meeting is a forum for the debate of matters of concern to 

the local community and the place at which Members who are not on the Cabinet can 
hold the Cabinet to account. 

 
Appointment of Deputy Mayor 
 
The Mayor may appoint a Councillor to be Deputy Mayor and the person so appointed shall, unless 
he or she resigns or becomes disqualified, hold office until a newly elected Mayor becomes 
entitled to act as Mayor (whether or not he or she continues until that time to be a Councillor). The 
appointment of a Deputy Mayor shall be notified to the Council in writing and be recorded in the 
minutes of the Council. The Deputy Mayor may, if for any reason the Mayor is unable to act or the 
office of Mayor is vacant, discharge all functions which the Mayor as such might discharge. 

 
Mayor and Deputy Mayor on committees 
 
The Mayor and Deputy Mayor are ex-officio, non-voting members of every committee of the 
Council but the Deputy Mayor may be appointed as a voting member of any committee of the 
Council. 

Page 47



Page 21 

Council Staff 
 
The Council will engage such staff (known as officers) as it considers necessary to carry out its 
functions. Officers support Councillors and give advice, implement decisions and manage the 
day-to-day delivery of its services. Some officers have a specific duty as set out in Chapter 12 to 
ensure that the Council acts within the law and uses its resources wisely. Officers will comply with 
their own Officers’ Code of Conduct and a Member/Officer Protocol which governs the 
relationship between officers and Members of the Council. Officers also have authority delegated 
to them either by the Council or the Cabinet to make decisions on routine matters. There are also 
rules for the recruitment, selection and dismissal of officers. These protocols, codes, rules and 
delegations referred to above are all set out in this Constitution. 

 
Management Structure 
 
The Council has structured itself into directorates each headed by a Corporate Director or 
Executive Director. 

 
These Chief Officers, together with the Chief Executive, come together to form the top officer 
tier in the Council, which is called the Corporate Management Team, working closely with the 
Leader and Cabinet Members. 
 
The directorate service areas each Corporate or Executive Director are responsible for, including 
their delegations, are set out in more detail in Part 2, Chapter 12. The table below sets out the 
management structure in diagrammatic form: 

 
 

 
 
 

Page 48



Page 22 

Chapter 3 - Resident participation 
 
Residents and citizens of the Borough, have a number of rights, along with 
responsibilities, in their participation with the Council and elected councillors and via 
its governance structure setting out the democratic and decision-making processes. 
This includes direct democratic engagement using the Council’s valued Petition 
Scheme. 

 

Rights and responsibilities 
 
Residents’ rights & participation in democracy 
 
Residents have the right to: 

 
• Vote in elections and petition to request a referendum for an elected mayor form of 

Constitution (if registered on the electoral roll for the area); 
• Attend public meetings of the Council, its committees and the Cabinet; 
• Present petitions to the Council and elected councillors via the petition scheme which is 

set out below; 
• Know what key decisions will be taken by the Cabinet and when; 
• See public reports and background papers, and any records of decisions made by the 

Council and the Cabinet;  
• Inspect the Council's accounts and make their views known to the External Auditor; 
• Know how to contact all councillors; 
• Know the name, email and telephone number of the senior officer responsible for 

managing a Council service; 
• Enquire whether the Council is holding any personal data on them under Data Protection 

legislation; 
• Submit a Freedom of Information Request about Council services; 
• Obtain a copy of this Constitution; 
• Address a planning committee, subject to a valid petition being received; 
• Address a licensing sub-committee, subject to a representation being received in 

accordance with statutory consultation; 
• Ask questions at meetings of the Full Council to the Leader and Cabinet Members as part 

of Public Question Time. 
• Participate in Council consultations on services 
• Attend Council, Cabinet and other committee meetings to observe the public part of 

proceedings or watch them online. 
 
Residents may also participate by giving evidence to select committees when requested to do 
so or by being appointed as a permanent or temporary co-opted member to a committee to give 
advice and vote, where required under the law. 
 

Complaints 
 
Residents and members of the public have the right to complain to: 

 
• The Council under its Complaints Scheme; 

Page 49



Page 23 

• The Monitoring Officer about an alleged breach of the Councillors Code of Conduct.  
• The Local Government & Social Care Ombudsman. 

 
Residents’ responsibilities 
 
With rights come responsibilities. The Council expects its resident Council Tax-payers, and any 
person who uses a Council service for which there is a charge, to pay promptly. When exercising 
their rights to attend meetings, residents have the responsibility to ensure that their behaviour 
does not disrupt the conduct of the meeting and that the business being discussed can be carried 
out. They must not be violent, abusive or threatening to Councillors or officers, and must not 
wilfully harm property owned by the Council, Councillors or officers. 
 

 
 

Resident Petitions (Petition Scheme) 
 

Introduction 
 
Hillingdon Council’s petition process enjoys high resident participation and satisfaction and, as a 
part of that process, the Council promises to: 

 
• Value all petitions – residents’ views are important 
• Give friendly advice – how to best pursue the issue that residents have 
• Make it easy – different ways to submit a petition 
• Keep you informed – update the petition organiser about a petition’s progress 
• Let you have your say – enable residents to speak to and directly influence Council 

decision-makers 
 
The petition process allows the residents of Hillingdon to have direct influence on the decision-
making process and to raise concerns that are important to them. All petitions sent or presented 
to the Council will receive a written acknowledgement within 5 working days of receipt. This 
acknowledgement will set out what the Council plans to do with the petition and when the petition 
organiser can expect to hear from the Council again.  More than one petition can be received on 
a particular issue, whether for or against that issue.  
 
What is a petition and who can submit one? 
 
Petitions are a formal written request, typically one signed by many people, asking the Council to 
consider a particular issue. Petitions can be either paper or electronic. For the purposes of this 
scheme, the Council will treat as a petition anything which identifies itself as a petition, or which 
a reasonable person would regard as a petition, and which is signed by people that live within the 
Borough.  
 
Anyone who lives in the Borough, including under 18 years of age, can sign or organise a paper or 
electronic petition. They are known as the lead petitioner. The lead petitioner must, therefore, 
live within the Borough. If they do not, they may choose another representative who lives in the 
Borough to lead their petition. 
 

Page 50



Page 24 

Before submitting a petition, lead petitioners are advised to first check with their Ward 
Councillors or with the Council to see if the Council is already acting on the concerns raised.  
 
Personal data in petitions 
 
By signing a petition, every signatory provides the Council with their name, address and signature 
(and sometimes their contact details) in order to demonstrate support for an issue and influence 
the decisions the Council makes. The Council will ensure the personal data within a petition is not 
released for any purpose other than to consider the petition as set out in this Petition Scheme 
and the associated public-facing democratic process. The handling of petitions falls under the 
“public task” legal requirement for processing personal data under the GDPR and Data Protection 
Act 2018, necessary for activities that support or promote democratic engagement. Details of the 
signatories to a petition will not be available for public inspection by any third party outside the 
Council or published on the Council website. 
  
Should someone signing a petition wish for their name and address to be removed from a petition 
either a) because they no longer support it or b) wish for their personal details to be removed for 
privacy reasons, then this will be done upon receipt of a request in writing to the Head of 
Democratic Services. 
 
What is a valid petition?  
  
The Council will treat a paper or electronic petition as valid if:  
 

1. It relates to a single issue within the Council’s responsibilities, e.g. a planning application, 
road traffic calming, change in a policy or a new community facility.  

 
2. It reaches the required number of signatories of residents in the Borough based on 

whether it relates to a local or borough-wide issue as set out below:  
 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 

3. The lead petitioner also lives in the Borough.  
 
A petition will not be valid, and thereby not accepted, if it falls into one of the categories below 
in the Table below, in the opinion of the Head of Democratic Services that it:   
 

Table – Petitions not accepted  
Is not within the direct responsibility of the 
Council’s services;  
  

Does not contain specific proposals for action or 
relates to multiple different issues  

Is received within six months of another 
petition having already been considered by 
the authority on the same matter.  
  

Relates to proposals that are not legal, 
operationally feasible or financially affordable 
within the Council’s approved service 
programmes or budget;  

Type of petition (issue)  Minimum number 
of signatories   

Local petitions - those relating to a planning / licensing application 
or a specific issue in your street or neighbourhood.   

20  

Borough-wide petitions - those relating to Council services, policies 
or Council matters that are not local and apply across Hillingdon.   

100  

Page 51



Page 25 

Upon receipt, directly seeks to overturn a 
democratically approved decision within the 
last year by the Council upon which statutory 
and/or local public consultation has already 
taken place, as determined by the Head of 
Democratic Services.  

Where the specific matter requested has already 
been agreed to be implemented within the 
Council’s approved budget to the benefit of the 
petitioners, e.g. bowls club refurbishment in the 
capital programme;  

A matter whereby there is an existing 
statutory process, appeals or higher 
complaints process, e.g., ombudsman, 
planning inspectorate  
  

The matter would be considered through 
established alternative resident engagement 
programmes of the Council, e.g. Chrysalis or 
Ward Budget Scheme [unless these programmes 
have already been exhausted].  

Requires the disclosure of personal data, 
exempt or confidential information or relate 
to any specific council employee(s) or 
contracted member of staff.  
  

Where the petition (including any adaptations 
made to it) has originated from international, 
national or regional bodies and organisations for 
their own promotional purposes to canvass 
support for an issue that is not specific to 
Hillingdon.  

Petitions, that in the opinion of the Head of 
Democratic Services, are vexatious, frivolous, 
abusive, illegal or otherwise inappropriate.   
  

Raises issues of alleged Member misconduct 
which will instead be taken as a complaint arising 
under the Local Government Act 2000 and the 
Localism Act 2011 and, where appropriate, will be 
reported to the Council’s Monitoring Officer.  

  
If a petition is deemed unacceptable, the petition organiser will be contacted with an explanation 
as to why the petition will not be accepted or by what alternative route the matter will be 
considered. If a petition is about something over which the Council has no direct control (for 
example the local railway or hospital) for which another authority is responsible, the lead 
petitioner will be provided with the necessary information and advice to refer their petition 
directly to the relevant authority concerned. Where petitions span multiple issues or services, 
the petitioner organiser will be contacted appropriately for clarification about which single 
matter they wish the Council address as part of their active petition.  
 
A certain number of signatories to any petition will be validated to ensure that they live in the 
Borough by comparing the names and addresses with records held by the Council. For electronic 
petitions, the Council requires a name, valid email address and an indication of residency in the 
Borough as part of the electronic petition system being used.   
 
The Head of Democratic Services will ultimately determine the validity of any petition in 
accordance with this Petition Scheme and also signatories to any petition.  
 
What information should be in a petition?  
  
Petitions submitted to the Council must include a clear and concise statement covering the 
subject of the petition and should also state what action the petitioners wish the Council to take. 
If about a planning application, it should state the application number. Petitions should be 
accompanied by contact details for the petition organiser (including an address in the Borough 
and, where possible, a contact telephone number and/or email address). This is the person that 
will be contacted to explain how the petition will be responded to. If a paper petition does not 
identify a petition organiser, normally only the first person on the petition will be contacted.   

Page 52



Page 26 

Petitions received under the valid number  
  
If a petition is under the required number of signatories, it will be treated as a  service request or 
representation, e.g. on a planning application, whichever is appropriate, and will be passed to the 
appropriate department to take forward and respond.  
 
The appropriate Ward Councillors will also be notified of these petitions and may, in the case of 
petitions about council services (not planning or licensing applications), request that the relevant 
Cabinet Member treat such petitions as valid. Upon their agreement, the petition will become 
valid and proceed forward through the democratic process.  
 
As an alternative route to raise issues in petitions under 20 signatures on planning applications, 
ward councillors may exercise their right to call-in the application with valid material planning 
reasons to Committee and speak on behalf of residents, though speaking rights for the petitioner 
will not apply.   
 
Paper petitions  
  
The Council provides a template for paper petitions on its website which residents can use, 
though other forms are accepted. Paper petitions can be sent by post, hand delivered or scanned 
and emailed to:  
 

Head of Democratic Services  
London Borough of Hillingdon   
Civic Centre  
High Street  
Uxbridge   
Middlesex UB8 1UW   
Email: petitions@hillingdon.gov.uk  

  
Electronic Petitions  
  
Electronic petitions may be submitted through the Council’s website (www.hillingdon.gov.uk), 
although it is recognised that other online electronic petition facilities are available and the 
Council is happy to accept these where it can be identified that the people signing the petition 
live in the Borough. You can send these to the email address petitions@hillingdon.gov.uk  
 
When an electronic petition is created using the Council facility, it may take up to 7 working days 
before it is published on the Council’s website. This is because of the need to check the content 
of the petition before it is made public and available for people to sign. If the Council considers 
that it cannot publish and must reject a petition, the petition organiser will be contacted within 
this period to explain why. Where possible, the petition organiser will have the opportunity to 
change and resubmit the petition within 15 working days, otherwise it may be rejected.   
 
Once an electronic petition is accepted, the petition organiser will need to decide how long they 
want their petition to be open for signatories. Most petitions will run for a few weeks but the 
petition organiser can choose a shorter or longer timeframe, up to a maximum of 1 month. If no 
time is selected, the petition will automatically be kept active for 1 month. The Council will advise 
further on timings in the case of electronic petitions on current planning applications so that they 
can be submitted before determining the matter.  

Page 53

mailto:petitions@hillingdon.gov.uk
http://www.hillingdon.gov.uk/
mailto:petitions@hillingdon.gov.uk


Page 27 

When a resident wishes to sign an electronic petition using the Council facility, they will be asked 
to provide their name, address and a valid email address. Once this information has been 
validated, the petitioner’s signature will be added to the petition.   
 
Completed electronic petitions using an alternative system to the Council’s facility can also be 
printed off, posted, hand delivered or scanned and emailed.  
 
Combining paper and electronic petitions  
  
If deemed appropriate by the Head of Democratic Services, a paper petition and an electronic 
petition that are on the same subject from the same petition organiser may be combined as a 
single petition and the lead petitioner will be advised accordingly.  
 
Multiple Petitions on the same topic 
 
For issues of practicality, where the Council receives more than one petition in relation to the 
same issue (e.g., a planning application), the Cabinet Member / Chairman of the relevant 
Committee will have discretion to amend the speaking rights, the number of speakers and 
speaking timings. Please note that it is not an automatic right that each petition organiser will get 
5 minutes to speak if there is more than one petition. 
 
Petitions received during an Election Period 
 
Due to restrictions imposed in the period immediately before any election or referendum, the 
Council may need to deal with petitions differently. If this is the case, the petition organiser will 
be contacted to explain the reasons and discuss the revised timescale that will apply.  
 
How the Council responds to a valid petition 
 
A written acknowledgement will be sent to the petition organiser within 5 working days of 
receiving the petition. This acknowledgement will let the petition organiser know what the 
Council plans to do with the petition and when they can expect to hear from the Council again.  
 
The Council’s response to a valid petition will depend on what the petition asks for and how many 
people have signed it, but may include one or more of the following: 
 
• Taking the action requested in the petition 
• Considering the petition at an appropriate Cabinet Member petition hearing or Committee 

meeting enabling the lead petitioner to speak or address councillors on the matter before a 
decision is made 

• Hold an investigation into the matter 
• Undertaking research into the matter 
• Considering the petition at a Petition Hearing with the relevant Cabinet Member, enabling 

the lead petitioner to speak directly to the decision-maker 
• Carrying out a consultation 
• Holding an informal meeting with the petition organiser 
• Writing to the petition organiser setting out the Council’s views about the request in the 

petition and what the Council can or cannot do about it 
 

Page 54



Page 28 

In addition to these steps, the Council will consider all the specific actions it can potentially take 
with regard to the issues highlighted in a petition. 
 
In considering a valid petition, it will usually fall into one of the four categories below and the 
process for how the Council responds to it will be slightly different:  
 

a. Cabinet Member Petitions 
b. Planning Petitions 
c. Licensing Petitions 
d. Petitions to be considered at another Council committee. 

 
Cabinet Member Petitions 
 
Such petitions are on matters relating to Council services within the remit of the Cabinet or 
relevant Cabinet Member.  
 
If the petition needs more investigation, the Council will tell the petition organiser what steps the 
Council plans to take and how the matter can be resolved. The lead petitioner will be asked if they 
are satisfied with the proposed action or outcome and whether they would like to close their 
petition. If the lead petitioner is not satisfied, the Council will hold a petition hearing with the 
Cabinet Member at the earliest opportunity. 
 
In the majority of cases, valid petitions will be considered by the relevant Cabinet Member at a 
Petition Hearing where s/he will decide what action (if any) will be taken. At that hearing  the lead 
petitioner has the right to argue their case or promote a particular issue to the Cabinet Member 
and the following procedures shall apply: 
 

a) A written report from officers must be published at least 5 clear working days before the 
meeting; 

b) The meeting shall normally take place at the Civic Centre, unless the Cabinet Member 
decides otherwise; 

c) The meeting shall be open to the public and press (subject to the Access to Information Act 
rules); 

d) The meeting shall be attended by officers from the appropriate service area and by a 
representative of Democratic Services; 

e) The appropriate Ward Councillors shall be informed of the date and time of the meeting and 
may attend and have the right to speak at the meeting for up to 3 minutes; 

f) The lead petitioner or their nominated representative, where they have been either invited 
to attend by the Cabinet Member or where they have the right to attend, shall have the right 
to speak about the matter raised in the petition for a maximum of 5 minutes* and the 
Cabinet Member may ask them questions about the petition. Where it is a single petition, 
the time limit may be extended with the consent of the Cabinet Member; 

g) The Cabinet Member shall either announce their decision once they have heard the 
petitioner (and this decision shall be recorded and published), or they may decide that they 
wish to consider the matter and make a decision at a later date. Where the Cabinet Member 
decides to make a decision at a later date, the Member shall inform the Head of Democratic 
Services as soon as they have made a decision and this shall be recorded and published. 
There shall be no further right for a petition organiser to meet with the Cabinet Member; 

h) The petition organiser will be informed of the decision in writing, and if their request is 
agreed, subsequently kept informed of progress in implementing the matter. 

Page 55



Page 29 

* Please note that the Cabinet Member has ultimate discretion on speaking rights and reserves the 
right to vary all speaking time limits if there is more than one petition in relation to one issue. 
 
Planning Petitions & Speaking Rights 
 
A valid petition on planning application will entitle the lead petitioner to speak directly to the 
relevant Planning Committee considering the application.  
 

a) Speaking rights in relation to petitions 
Where a lead petitioner is invited to a Planning Committee to speak, they will be contacted 
a week before date of the relevant Planning Committee meeting about participating in the 
democratic process.  

 
The petitioner organiser (or their nominated representative) will be invited to attend and 
speak for up to 5 minutes in relation to that matter at the meeting at which the application 
will be considered.  

 
The applicant (or their agent) will also get the opportunity to speak for 5 minutes where a 
valid petition has been accepted by the Council in relation to their application.  

 
Notification of the intention to speak and the name of the speaker must be supplied to the 
Head of Democratic Services at least 24 hours before the meeting. 

 
Members of the Committee will also be able to ask questions of the petitioners.  
 

b) Other speaking rights 
Ward Councillors will be permitted to speak for up to 3 minutes in relation to an application 
if they have notified their intention to do so in advance to the Committee Chairman.  
Additionally, under general committee speaking rules in this Constitution, any Councillor 
may also speak at a committee meeting, but only with the permission of the Chairman. 

 
When a proposed development falling within a Conservation Area is considered by a 
Planning Committee, a representative of the relevant Area Panel will be entitled to attend 
and address the committee for a maximum of five minutes. Notification of the intention 
to speak and the name of the speaker must be supplied to the Head of Democratic 
Services prior to the meeting. 

 
c) Chairman’s discretion on speaking times 

The Committee Chairman reserves the right to vary all speaking time limits if there is more 
than one petition in relation to one issue. 

 
d) Where speaking rights do not apply 

Speaking rights do not apply where a petition or Councillor request has been received 
requesting refusal of a householder application and where the officer recommendation is 
to refuse consent and the reasons for refusal align with those requested by the petition or 
Councillor. For 42-day and 56-day prior approval applications, petitions may not 
necessarily be referred to a planning committee enabling speaking rights and instead may 
be considered by the relevant planning officer instead. However, speaking rights will be 
permitted if time constraints allow for a referral to the committee and the petitioner’s 

Page 56



Page 30 

request is contrary to the officer recommendation on the application. More detailed rules 
on this are set out in Part 2, Chapter 7 – Planning Decisions, of this Constitution. 
 

e) Receipt of petitions 
Any valid petitions in relation to Planning Committees should be received by the Head of 
Democratic Services no later than 48 hours prior to the meeting. Discretion to allow 
petitions after this deadline can only be approved by the Chairman of the relevant Planning 
Committee.  

 
f) Supplementary information submitted 

Any supplementary information to be presented by the petitioner, applicant or agent at 
the meeting should be provided to Democratic Services no later than 48 hours prior to the 
meeting, unless the Chairman of the Committee agrees otherwise in exceptional 
circumstances. 

 
g) Second opportunity to speak 

 
If the organiser of a petition, having exercised their right to speak at a planning committee, 
would like to address a second or subsequent meeting which is to consider the issue which 
gives rise to their petition (e.g. if the matter is deferred), they will need to organise a new 
valid petition. 

 
h) Written representations in lieu of speaking 

 
A Planning Committee may resolve for any person entitled to speak to instead submit a 
written representation to be read out. This would be in lieu of speaking directly to the 
committee. Planning Committees may jointly agree a local protocol for this and, similarly, 
any such representation or supplementary supporting information should be received 48 
hours prior to the meeting. 

 
Licensing Petitions 
 
Such petitions would be on matters, for example, in relation to street trading, entertainment, 
alcohol or premises related licensing, sex establishments, scrap metal or gambling.  In such 
cases, petitions may only be submitted to the Licensing Authority or Licensing Team as relevant 
representations and, if applicable, during any statutory consultation period on the matter. The 
lead petitioner / applicant (or their nominated representative) will then have the opportunity to 
address a Licensing Sub-Committee on the matter as set out in the relevant hearing protocol or 
legislation. The Council will advise the lead petitioner further on this different process upon 
receipt of such a petition. 
 
Petitions to another appropriate Council Committee 
 
In the case of petitions concerning subjects which would normally fall to be considered by a 
Council body other than those above, the Head of Democratic Services, in consultation with the 
Leader of the Council, will determine which Council decision making body should hear and 
determine the petition. The petitioner organiser (or their representative) will be invited to attend 
and speak for up to 5 minutes* in relation to that matter at the meeting at which the application 
will be considered. 
 

Page 57



Page 31 

Petitions requesting a referendum 
 
For further information on the submission of petitions to the Council requesting a referendum, 
please contact the Democratic Services Team at petitions@hillingdon.gov.uk or by calling 01895 
250636. 
 
 

Public Question Time 
 
 
Another feature of direct democratic engagement at the London Borough of Hillingdon, is the 
right for residents of the Borough to ask questions to decision-makers  (the Leader of the Council 
or a Cabinet Member) at ordinary meetings of the Council. The process for this is set out in the 
Council’s Procedure Rules and Standing Order 10, set out in Part 2, Chapter 4. 
 
 

 

Reporting & digital engagement at meetings 
 
 

Reporting on proceedings 
 
Members of the public are entitled to report on meetings of Council, Committees and Cabinet, 
except in circumstances where the public have been excluded as permitted by law. Reporting 
means:- 
 
• filming, photographing or making an audio recording of the proceedings of the meeting; 
• using any other means for enabling persons not present to see or hear proceedings at a 

meeting as it takes place or later; or 
• reporting or providing commentary on proceedings at a meeting, orally or in writing, so that 

the report or commentary is available as the meeting takes place or later if the person is not 
present. 

 
Anyone present at a meeting as it takes place, is not permitted to carry out an oral commentary 
or report and must remain seated throughout the meeting. This is to prevent the business of the 
meeting being disrupted. Anyone attending a meeting is asked to advise the Head of Democratic 
Services that they wish to report on the meeting and how they wish to do so. This is to enable 
Democratic Services staff to guide anyone choosing to report on proceedings to an appropriate 
place from which to be able to report effectively. Any person present to film the proceedings of a 
meeting must respect the wishes of members of the public who do not wish to have their image 
recorded. For meetings held at the Civic Centre, members of the public are welcome to use the 
Council’s public Wi-Fi facilities. Occasionally, meetings take place in venues not run by the 
Council and in such circumstances members of the public are advised to check with the venue 
whether Wi-Fi is available. 
 
Press and Media attending 
 
The Press and Media are welcome to attend to report on meetings, except those where the public 
have been excluded in law. Dedicated facilities will be provided as appropriate. 

Page 58

mailto:democratic@hillingdon.gov.uk


Page 32 

 
Attending remotely to speak 
 
Where permitted to speak at meetings, and subject to agreement from the relevant Chairman or 
the Mayor, the Council may provide for members of the public to attend virtually or remotely.  
 
Broadcasting of meetings 
 
The Council reserves the right to film, record and broadcast any public meetings for broader 
resident digital engagement in democracy. These will usually be in the Council Chamber or a 
committee room at the Civic Centre in Uxbridge but may be at other locations. For those 
attending to speak at any meeting, any statements made will be recorded, filmed and broadcast 
to the general public and also later archived for public use.  
 
The public attending to observe proceedings may be captured on video, but the Council will, as 
far as practicable, ensure camera used are pointed away from general public seating areas. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 59



Page 60



Page 33 

PART 2 - How decisions are 
made & scrutinised 
 

The different governance bodies, their powers and how 
they operate 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 61



Page 34 

Chapter 4 - Full Council  
 
About the Full Council 
 
The role of Full Council is to act as a forum where all Members meet on a regular basis, 
act as a focus for the Authority, discuss and debate issues of importance to the 
Borough, decide the Council’s budgetary and policy framework and make 
constitutional decisions. 
 
There are four types of Council Meeting: 
 

a) the annual meeting; 
b) the budget setting meeting; 
c) ordinary meetings; 
d) extraordinary meetings: 

 
Membership are all 53 Members of the Council and meetings will be conducted in 
accordance with the Council’s Procedure Rules set out in this part of the Constitution. 
 
 

Decisions to be made by the Full Council 
 

Budget and policy framework documents 
 

The Full Council is required to approve and adopt the following plans and strategies, or their 
successors, which together make up the Council’s budget and policy framework: 

 
1. Budget1 and Council Tax including Council tax base 
2. Council Plan 
3. Community Safety Strategy 
4. Development Plan Documents 
5. Youth Justice Plan (if required) 
6. Housing Strategy 
7. Statement of Licensing Policy 
8. Statement of Gambling Policy 
 

These will be approved according to the procedures for Budget and Policy Framework Documents 
set out in this Chapter. In addition, the Full Council will consider at its annual meeting whether 
any additional plans or strategies, both statutory or non-statutory, should be adopted or 
approved. 
 
 

 
1 The budget includes the allocation of financial resources to different services and projects, proposed contingency funds, the council tax 
base, setting the Council Tax, controlling the Council’s borrowing requirement and capital expenditure in line with CIPFA’s “Prudential Code 
for Capital Finance in Local Authorities”, and the setting of virement limits. 

Page 62



Page 35 

Other decisions reserved to the Full Council 
 

1) To adopt and change the Constitution. Full Council will define the key decisions and 
financial thresholds set out in the Constitution and also the limits for virement or other 
Budget changes by the Leader, the Cabinet, Cabinet Members, Committees or officers.  

2) To approve any application to the Secretary of State in respect of any housing land 
transfer; (Housing Land Transfer means the approval or adoption of applications 
(whether in draft form or not) to the Secretary of State for approval of a programme of 
disposal of 500 or more properties to a person or to dispose of land used for residential 
purposes where approval is required under relevant legislation) 

3) At the annual meeting immediately following the ordinary election of Councillors to 
appoint the Leader of the Council; 

4) To consider a resolution to remove the Leader from office and appoint a replacement 
Leader; 

5) To appoint annually the Mayor and Deputy Mayor of the Borough; 
6) To agree and/or amend the terms of reference for committees, deciding on their 

composition and making appointments to them; 
7) To appoint representatives to outside bodies unless the appointment is an executive 

function or has been delegated by the Council; 
8) To adopt an allowances scheme under Part 3 of the Constitution; 
9) To determine any changes to the name of the area, to confer the title of Honorary 

Alderman or Freedom of the Borough, to confer Civic Honours and Adopted Status to 
units of Her Majesty’s Armed Forces and to confer Freedom of Entry to the Borough; 

10) To confirm the appointment and the dismissal of the Head of the Paid Service; 
11) To confirm the dismissal of the Monitoring Officer and the Chief Finance Officer; 
12) To make, amend, revoke, re-enact or adopt bye laws and to promote or oppose the 

making of local legislation or personal bills; 
13) To consider those matters referred to it from time to time by the Cabinet, Select 

Committees and by other Council committees; 
14) To exercise all local choice functions which the Council decides should be undertaken 

by itself rather than the Cabinet2; 
15) To receive and consider reports from the Council’s three statutory officers; 
16) To permit members of the public to ask questions of the Leader and Cabinet members; 
17) To consider Members’ Questions to the Leader/Cabinet Member and debate motions 

raised by Councillors, the process of which is to be set out in the Council’s Procedure 
Rules in this Chapter; 

18) To appoint Champions, upon the recommendation of the Leader, for better 
representation of particular groups or issues both within the Council and community and 
agree their terms of reference. 

19) To consider all other matters which, by law, must be reserved to Council. 

 
2 The Council will exercise those residual local choice functions (except for the conducting of best value reviews) as set out in Schedule 2 to 
the Local Authorities (Functions and Responsibilities) (England) Regulations 2000 as amended insofar as they apply to the Borough and 
have not been reserved to the Cabinet.  The Cabinet has reserved responsibility for exercising those local choice functions set out in Part 2, 
Chapter 5 of the Constitution.. 

Page 63



Page 36 

Budget and Policy Framework Procedure Rules 
 

Consideration of budget and policy framework documents 
 

These rules set out the procedure to be followed for consultation and decision-making of the 
Council’s budget and policy framework documents set out in this part of the Constitution. 

 
1) The Cabinet and/or individual Cabinet Members are responsible for the preparation of the 

Council’s budget and the various plans and strategies that constitute the Council’s 
strategic framework. 

 
2) In preparing the budget and the strategic plans, the Cabinet consults with relevant 

stakeholders and partner agencies in the local community. 
 

3) The Cabinet will publicise a timetable for making proposals to the Council for the adoption 
of any plan, strategy or budget that forms part of the policy framework, and its 
arrangements for consultation after publication of its initial proposals. The timetable will 
normally3 allow a six-week period for consultation on those initial proposals.  Select 
Committee chairmen will be notified of the timetable and will have the opportunity to 
investigate, research or report in detail on the Cabinet's proposals before the end of the 
consultation period.   

 
4) The Cabinet will consider any responses from Select Committees and other consultees 

and take them into account in drawing up firm proposals for submission to the Council.  Its 
report to Council will reflect the comments made by consultees and its response to them. 

 
5) Once the Cabinet has approved firm proposals, the proper officer will refer them at the 

earliest opportunity to the Council for decision. 
 

6) The Council may adopt the Cabinet's proposals, amend them, refer them back to the 
Cabinet for further consideration, or substitute its own proposals. Any decision will be 
made on the basis of a simple majority of votes cast at the meeting.  

 
7) If Council accepts the Cabinet proposals without amendment, the Council's decision has 

immediate effect. If not, the Council's decision is made "in principle" and is subject to the 
Conflict Resolution Procedure, as set out in this Chapter. 

 
8) Once the decision has been taken by the Council it will be publicised and implemented. 

 
9) Once plans or strategies have been adopted by the Council, they may be amended by the 

Cabinet only in the following circumstances- 
 

a) Where it is necessary to comply with the law or Government guidance. 
b) Where the modification is assessed, on the advice of officers, to be of a minor nature 

and will not effect a significant or fundamental change to the policy. 
 
 
 

 
3 Exceptions may be required where legislative timetables or Government requirements limit the time available. 

Page 64



Page 37 

Amendments to the Council budget mid-year 
 

Full Council agrees the Council’s budget each year. This section sets out the rules on when the 
budget may be amended in-year by the Cabinet, Cabinet Members or Officers. Any amendment to 
the approved budget outside these rules can only be made by the Full Council. The Council's 
budgets include the General Fund Revenue Budget, the Housing Revenue Account Budget and 
the Capital Budget. These budgets once agreed, may only be amended in accordance with the 
following Virement Scheme: 
 

1. The Cabinet may authorise: 
a) Virements within or between service budgets in excess of the delegated authority of a 

Corporate / Executive Director or Cabinet Members (or where the Corporate / 
Executive Director or Cabinet Member does not wish to utilise such authority). 

b) Virements between budgets managed by more than one Corporate / Executive 
Director or within more than one portfolio area above £250,000. 

c) The release of specific contingency provisions. 
d) The release of general contingency provisions to meet unavoidable increases in the 

net cost of existing services or capital schemes or to meet new costs not otherwise 
provided for.  

e) Virements that may result in the reduction of a service, if this is required to ensure that 
the budget is not overspent. 

f) Virement between service programmes in the Capital Budget. 
g) Virements that increase commitments in future years, irrespective of value. 

 
2. Cabinet Members may authorise (within their portfolio areas): 

a) Virements within a service budget from £50,000 to £250,000 
b) Virements between service budgets from £10,000 to £250,000  
c) Virements within a service capital programme from £10,000 to £250,000 

 
Cabinet Members should consult the Cabinet Member for Finance and the use of these 
delegations is to be reported to the Cabinet in writing. 

 
3. A Corporate / Executive Director may authorise (within their service areas): 

a) Virements within a service budget up to £50,000  
b) Virements between service budgets up to £10,000  
c) Virements within a service capital programme up to £10,000  

 
Use of these delegations is to be reported to the relevant Cabinet Member. 

 
4. The Corporate Director of Finance may authorise: 

a) The allocation of sums from the inflation provision on the basis of actual inflation, e.g. 
pay awards, contract price increases. 

b) Virements between budget heads for technical reasons e.g. arising from redistribution 
of the impact of capital financing, central support cost allocations, accounting 
changes or changes of service groupings.  

 
All virements are subject to the agreement of the Corporate Director of Finance. 
 
Use of the Council's general reserves or balances is reserved to the Full Council, as is any virement 
between the General Fund Revenue Budget, the Housing Revenue Account Budget and the 

Page 65



Page 38 

Capital Budget. The Full Council may, by way of a resolution, allow the Cabinet to use the general 
reserves or balances during a financial year in support of functions designated to the Cabinet. 
 
Where a Select Committee consider that a Cabinet decision is contrary to the framework, it must 
seek advice from the Monitoring Officer or the Chief Financial Officer. Regardless of delegations 
to the Cabinet, if it is concluded by the officers that it is a departure, the matter must be referred 
to the Full Council to endorse, amend or ask the Cabinet to reconsider in the light of the officers 
advice. The procedure for call-in is set out in the Select Committee Call-in Procedure Rules which 
are in Part 2 of the Constitution. 
 
Conflict Resolution Procedure - policy framework documents & budget proposals  
 
This procedure sets out the steps to be taken to resolve a conflict between the Council and the 
Cabinet on a proposed plan, strategy or budget that is reserved to the Full Council.  
 

1. The Cabinet shall submit draft plans, strategies and budget to the Council for 
adoption required under the arrangements for the approval of the budget and policy 
framework. 

 
2. After consideration of the draft plan, strategy or budget the Council may take one 

of the following courses of action: 
a) Adopt the plan or strategy or 
b) Submit objections to the Cabinet, or 
c) Invite the Cabinet to make amendments specified by the Council.  

 
3. If the Council decides to take course b) or c) it must inform the Leader of the Council 

of its objections or proposed amendments together with its reasons and instruct 
the Cabinet to reconsider the plan or strategy. 

 
4. The Head of Democratic Services must submit the Council’s objections or 

amendments to a strategy or plan within 10 working days and to a budget proposal 
within 2 working days to a meeting of the Cabinet on receipt of the instruction to 
the Leader and must arrange a special meeting of the Cabinet if one is not 
programmed within this period. 

 
5. In considering the Council’s objections or proposed amendments the Cabinet may 

take one of the following courses of action: 
a) Agree a revised draft plan or strategy for submission to the Council. 
b) Set out the reasons it disagrees with the Council’s objections or proposed 

amendments. 
 
6. Within 10 working days of the meeting of the Cabinet in the case of plans or 

strategies or 7 working days for the budget, the Head of Democratic Services shall 
submit the revised draft plan, strategy or budget or the statement of reasons for 
disagreeing with the Council’s objections or proposed amendments to either: 

 
a) an adjourned meeting of the Council; 
b) the next ordinary meeting or; 
c) a special meeting called by the Mayor for the purpose. 

 

Page 66



Page 39 

 
7. At the Council meeting the Leader or some other member of the Cabinet shall 

propose the revised draft plan ,strategy or budget or state the reasons the Cabinet 
disagrees with the Council’s objections or proposed amendments. No seconder 
shall be required 

 
8. The Council shall consider the reaction of the Cabinet to its previous objections or 

amendments and after debate shall make a final decision on the basis of a simple 
majority. 

 
In arranging meetings of the Council, the statutory deadlines shall be borne in mind and must be 
complied with unless the Monitoring Officer advises the Mayor that to do so will not enable the 
Council to meet its statutory obligations to set a budget.  
 

Council Procedure Rules & Standing Orders 
 
These rules set out the procedures for Council meetings and debate. They are also 
referred to as the Council Meeting Standing Orders or (SO) as set out below: 
 
 SO 1 - Annual Meeting of the Council 
 

1.1 Timing and business 
 

In a year when there is an ordinary election of Councillors, the annual meeting will take 
place within 21 days of the retirement of the outgoing Councillors. In any other year, the 
annual meeting will take place in May. 
 
The annual meeting will: 
 
(i) elect a person to preside if the Mayor is not present; 
(ii) elect the Mayor; 
(iii) note the appointment of the Deputy Mayor;  
(iv) receive any announcements from the Mayor and/or Head of Democratic Services 
(v) elect the Leader (at the annual meeting immediately following the elections) 
(vi) note the appointment by the Leader of the Deputy Leader; 
(vii) note the Members to be appointed to the Cabinet by the Leader;  
(viii) appoint at least one select committee, a Standards Committee and such other 

Committees as the Council considers appropriate to deal with matters which are 
neither reserved to the Council nor are Cabinet functions (as set out in Part 2 of this 
Constitution); 

(ix) agree the scheme of delegation or such part of it as the Constitution determines it 
is for the Council to agree (as set out in Part 2 of this Constitution); 

(x) approve a programme of ordinary meetings of the Council for the year (if not 
previously approved);  

(xi) review the operation of the Constitution: 
(xii) receive [without comment] a statement by the Leader of the Council; and 
(xiii) consider any business set out in the notice convening the meeting. 

 
 

Page 67



Page 40 

1.2 Selection of Councillors on Committees and Outside Bodies  
 
 At the annual meeting, the Council will: 
 

(i) decide which Committees to establish for the municipal year; 
(ii) decide the size and terms of reference for those Committees; 
(iii) decide the allocation of seats to political groups in accordance with the political 

balance rules; 
(iv) receive nominations of Councillors and any independent co-opted Members, to 

serve on each Committee and outside body. 
(v) receive nominations of Councillors to act as substitute members of Committees; 

and 
(vi) appoint to those Committees and outside bodies except where appointment to 

those bodies has been delegated by the Council or is exercisable only by the 
Cabinet. 

 
 SO 2- Ordinary Meetings 
 
 Ordinary meetings of the Council will take place at 7.30pm at the Civic Centre, in 

accordance with the programme decided by the Council, unless agreed otherwise by the 
Mayor. Ordinary meetings will: 

 
 (i) elect a person to preside if the Mayor and Deputy Mayor are not present; 
 (ii) approve the minutes of the last meeting; 
 (iii) receive any declarations of interest from Members; 
 (iv) receive any announcements from the Mayor; 
 (v) (with the exception of the Budget setting meeting) take questions from, and 

provide answers to, the public in relation to matters which in the opinion of the 
person presiding at the meeting are relevant to the business of the meeting; 

 (vi) deal with any business from the last Council meeting; 
 (vii) receive reports from the Cabinet, Select Committees and the Council’s other 

Committees and take questions and answers on any of those reports; 
 (viii) receive reports about and take questions and answers on the business of joint 

arrangements and external organisations; 
 (ix) consider motions;  
 (x) hear adjournment debates 
 (xi) consider any other business specified in the summons to the meeting, including 

consideration of proposals from the Cabinet in relation to the Council’s budget and 
policy framework and reports of the Select Committees for debate. 

 
 SO 3 - Extraordinary Meetings 
 

3.1 Calling Extraordinary Meetings 
 

Those listed below may request the proper officer to call Council meetings in addition to 
ordinary meetings: 
 
(i) the Council by resolution; 
(ii) the Mayor; 
(iii) the Monitoring Officer 

Page 68



Page 41 

(iv) the Chief Finance Officer; and 
(v) any five Members of the Council if they have signed a requisition presented to the 

Mayor and he/she has refused to call a meeting or has failed to call a meeting within 
seven days of the presentation of the requisition.  

 
3.2 Business 

 
At an extraordinary meeting, the scope of questions and motions shall be limited to 
matters arising for consideration at that meeting. 

 
 SO 4 - Appointment of Substitute Members of Committees 
 

Substitute members will have all the powers and duties of any ordinary member of the 
Committee but will not be able to exercise any special powers or duties exercisable by the 
person they are substituting. 

 
 Substitute members may attend meetings in that capacity only: 
 
 (i) to take the place of the ordinary member for whom they are the designated 

substitute; 
(ii) where the ordinary member will be absent for the whole of the meeting;  

 
 SO 5 - Time and Place of Meetings 
 

The time and place of meetings will be determined by the Head of Democratic Services in 
consultation with the Chief Whips and notified in the summons. 

 
The Mayor (or in his/her absence the Deputy Mayor) may in consultation with the Chief 
Whips take the following action in relation to meetings:- 
 
(a) Call a special meeting and determine a date and time. 
(b) Determine a date and time for an adjourned meeting. 
(c) Vary the date or time of a meeting. 
(d) Vary the venue of a meeting. 
 
Provided that in the event of a disagreement between the Chief Whips the views of the 
Chief Whip of the largest Party Group shall prevail. 

 
 SO 6 - Notice of and Summons to meetings 
 
 The Head of Democratic Services will give notice to the public of the time and place of any 

meeting in accordance with the Local Government Act 1972 and the Access to Information 
Rules. At least five clear days before a meeting, the Head of Democratic Services will send 
a summons signed by him or her by post or electronic mail to every Member of the Council 
or leave it at their usual place of residence or other specified address. The summons will 
give the date, time and place of each meeting and specify the business to be transacted, 
and will be accompanied by such reports as are available.  

 
 

Page 69



Page 42 

 SO 7 - Chairman of meeting 
 
 The person presiding at the meeting may exercise any power or duty of the Mayor.  
 
 SO 8 - Quorum of Full Council 
 

The quorum of a meeting will be one quarter of the whole number of Members (14). During 
any meeting if the Mayor counts the number of Members present and declares there is not 
a quorum present, then the meeting will adjourn immediately. Remaining business will be 
considered at a time and date fixed by the Mayor. If he/she does not fix a date, the 
remaining business will be considered at the next ordinary meeting. 
 

 SO 9 - Duration of meeting 
 

If a meeting of the Council continues until 10.30pm the Mayor shall invite a Member to 
propose that the meeting should continue, and to specify how the remaining business 
shall be dealt with, and in what order. This motion shall be moved, seconded and put to the 
vote, without debate. 
 
Remaining business will be considered at a time and date fixed by the Mayor. If he/she 
does not fix a date, the remaining business will be considered at the next ordinary meeting. 

 
 SO 10 - Questions from the Public 
 
 10.1  Procedure 
 

Residents of the Borough may ask questions of the Leader of the Council or a Member of 
the Cabinet at ordinary meetings of the Council (not including the Annual meeting or the 
budget setting meeting), subject to the requirements set out below.  

 
Public Question time will be limited to 30 minutes. Questions will be asked in the order 
notice of them was received, except that the Mayor may group together similar questions. 

 
The Head of Democratic Services will enter each question in a register open to public 
inspection during normal office hours and will immediately send a copy of the question to 
the member to whom it is to be put. Rejected questions will include reasons for rejection. 

 
Copies of all accepted questions will be circulated to all members at the meeting and will 
be made available to the public attending the meeting. 

 
 10.2  Submitting a question 
 

At any one meeting no person may submit more than 1 question and no more than 2 such 
questions may be asked on behalf of one organisation. 

 
A background information document (maximum length 1 typed side A4) can be submitted 
at the same time as the question for circulation with the agenda. 

 
A question may only be asked if notice has been given in writing or by electronic mail to 
the Head of Democratic Services and received no later than midday, 7 working days before 

Page 70



Page 43 

the day of the meeting. In the case of a bank holiday falling in this period, that day shall 
count as a ‘working day’.  

 
Each question must give the name and address of the questioner 

 
 10.3  Questions that may not be accepted 

 
The Head of Democratic Services may amend or reject a question if it: 

 
• is not from a resident of the Borough; 
• is not about a matter for which the local authority has a responsibility, or which 

affects the Borough;  
• is defamatory, frivolous or offensive; 
• does not contain sufficient detail or information to allow for an informed and 

detailed answer to be given or, if local authority resources are referred to, does not 
provide sufficient detail to allow them to be accurately quantified; 

• appears to be overtly ‘political’ in nature / part of or related to a party political / 
election campaign;  

• is substantially the same, similar in nature or concerning the same subject matter 
as a question which has been put at a meeting of the Council in the past six months; 
or 

• requires the disclosure of confidential or exempt information as defined in the 
Access to Information Rules. 

 
 10.3  Asking the question at the meeting 

 
The Mayor will invite the questioner to put the question to the Member named in the notice. 
If a questioner who has submitted a written question is unable to be present, they may ask 
the Mayor to put the question on their behalf. The Mayor may ask the question on the 
questioner’s behalf, indicate that a written reply will be given or decide, in the absence of 
the questioner, that the question will not be dealt with. There is no right for a member of 
the public present to ask a supplementary question. 

 
 10.4  Written answers 

 
Any question which cannot be dealt with during public question time, either because of 
lack of time or because of the non-attendance of the member to whom it was to be put, 
will be dealt with by a written answer within 5 working days of the meeting. 

 
 10.5  Reference of question to the Cabinet or a committee 

 
Unless the Mayor decides otherwise, no discussion will take place on any question, but any 
member may move that a matter raised by a question be referred to the Cabinet or the 
appropriate Committee or Sub-Committee. Once seconded, such a motion will be voted 
on without discussion. 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 71



Page 44 

  SO 11 - Questions by Members 
 

 11.1   On Reports of the Cabinet or Committees 
 
A Member of the Council may ask the Leader or a Member of the Cabinet any question 
without notice upon an item of the report of the Cabinet or a Committee when that item is 
being received or under consideration by the Council. 
 
11.2 Questions on Notice at Full Council 
 
Subject to Rule 11.3, a Member of the Council may ask a Member of the Cabinet a question 
on any matter in relation to which the Council has powers or duties or which affects the 
Borough. 
 
11.3 Notice of Questions 
 
At ordinary meetings (not including the Annual meeting or the budget setting meeting) of 
the Council each Member shall be entitled to ask one question under Rule 11.2 if either: 
 
(a) they have given notice in writing or by email of the question to the Head of 

Democratic Services by midday, 7 working days before the day of the meeting. In the 
case of a bank holiday falling in this period, that day shall count as a ‘working day’; or 

(b) the question relates to urgent matters, they have the consent of the Mayor about the 
question and the content of the question is given to Head of Democratic Services by 
noon on the day of the meeting. 

 
 11.4 Order of Questions 
 

The order of business for Council meetings will list questions in the priority notified to the 
Head of Democratic Services by the Chief Whip of the relevant Group. Each Group be 
entitled to ask a question in turn, beginning with the largest Group followed by the second 
and third Groups. 

 
 11.5  Response and Time Limit for Questions 
 

An answer may take the form of: 
(a) a direct oral answer; 
(b) where the desired information is in a publication of the Council or other published 

work, a reference to that publication; or 
(c) there will be a time limit of 45 minutes at each Council meeting for questions asked 

under the provision of Rule 11.2. Any questions not reached shall be answered in 
writing within 5 working days of the meeting. 

 
 11.6  Supplementary Question 
 

A Member asking a question under Rule 11.2 may ask one supplementary question without 
notice of the Member to whom the first question was asked. The supplementary question 
must arise directly out of the original question or the reply. 

 

Page 72



Page 45 

 SO 12 - Motions on Notice 
 

12.1 Notice 
 
Except for motions which can be moved without notice under Rule 13, each Member shall 
be entitled to give written or email notice of one motion for each Ordinary Council meeting 
(not including the Annual meeting or the budget setting meeting) which must be signed by 
the Member concerned and delivered to the Head of Democratic Services not later than 
midday, 7 working days before the day of the meeting. In the case of a bank holiday falling 
in this period, that day shall count as a ‘working day’. These will be entered in a register 
open to public inspection. 
 
12.2 Motion Set Out in Agenda 
 
Motions for which notice has been given will be listed on the agenda in the order in which 
notice was received, unless the Member giving notice states, in writing, that they propose 
to move it to a later meeting or withdraw it.  
 
12.3 Order of Motions 
 
The order of business for Council meetings will list motions in the priority order notified to 
the Head of Democratic Services by the Chief Whip of the relevant Group.  Each Group is 
entitled to ask a motion in turn, beginning with the largest Group followed by the second 
and third Groups. 
 
12.4 Scope 
 
Motions must be about matters for which the Council has a responsibility or which affect 
the Borough. 
 
12.5 Insufficient Information 
 
The Council will not make a decision on a motion if, in the opinion of the Mayor, there is 
insufficient information. Such a motion shall be referred without further debate to the 
appropriate decision making body for consideration of a detailed report. 

 
 SO 13 - Motions without Notice 
 
 The following motions may be moved without notice: 
 
 (a) to appoint a Chairman of the meeting at which the motion is moved; 
 (b) in relation to the accuracy of the minutes; 
 (c) to change the order of business in the agenda;  
 (d) to refer something to an appropriate body or individual; 
 (e) to appoint a Committee or Member arising from an item on the summons for the 

meeting; 
 (f) to receive reports or adoption of recommendations of Committees or officers and 

any resolutions following from them; 
 (g) to withdraw a motion; 
 (h) to amend a motion; 

Page 73



Page 46 

 (i) to proceed to the next business; 
 (j) that the question be now put; 
 (k) to adjourn a debate; 
 (l) to adjourn a meeting; 
 (m) that the meeting continue beyond 3 hours in duration; 
 (n) to suspend a particular Council procedure rule; 
 (o) to exclude the public and press in accordance with the Access to Information 

Rules; 
 (p) to not hear further a Member named under Rule 24.3 or to exclude them from the 

meeting under Rule 24.4; and 
 (q) to give the consent of the Council where its consent is required by this 

Constitution. 
 
 
 SO 14 - Rules of Debate 
 

14.1 No Speeches until Motion Seconded 
 

No speeches may be made after the mover has moved a proposal and explained the 
purpose of it until the motion has been seconded. 
 
14.2 Right to Require Motion in Writing 
 
Unless notice of the motion has already been given, the Mayor may require it to be written 
down and handed to him/her before it is discussed. 
 
14.3 Seconder’s Speech 
 
When seconding a motion or amendment, a Member may reserve their speech until later 
in the debate. 
 
14.4 Content and length of speeches 
 
A speech must be relevant to the question under discussion. Except by consent of the 
Council the speech of a member moving a motion under Rule 12 shall not exceed five 
minutes and other speeches shall not exceed three minutes.   
 
14.5 When a Member may Speak Again 
 
A Member who has spoken on a motion may not speak again whilst it is the subject of 
debate, except: 
 
(a) to speak once on an amendment moved by another Member; 
(b) to move a further amendment if the motion has been amended since he/she last 

spoke; 
(c) if his/her first speech was on an amendment moved by another member, to speak on 

the main issue (whether or not the amendment on which he/she spoke was carried); 
(d) in exercise of a right of reply;  
(e) on a point of order; and 
(f) by way of personal explanation.  

Page 74



Page 47 

 14.6 Amendments to Motions 
 

(a) An amendment to a motion must be relevant to the motion and will either be: 
 
(i) to refer the matter to an appropriate body or individual for consideration or 

reconsideration;  
(ii) to leave out words; 
(iii) to leave out words and insert or add others; or 
(iv) to insert or add words. 
as long as the effect of (ii) to (iv) is not to negate the motion. 
 

(b) Only one amendment may be moved and discussed at any one time. No further 
amendment may be moved until the amendment under discussion has been disposed 
of. 

(c) If an amendment is not carried, other amendments to the original motion may be 
moved. 

(d) If an amendment is carried, the motion as amended takes the place of the original 
motion. This becomes the substantive motion to which any further amendments are 
moved. 

(e) After an amendment has been carried, the Mayor will read out the amended motion 
before accepting any further amendments, or if there are none, put it to the vote. 

 
14.7 Alteration of Motion 
 
(a) A Member may alter a motion of which he/she has given notice with the consent of 

the meeting. The meeting’s consent will be signified without discussion.  
(b) A Member may alter a motion which he/she has moved without notice with the 

consent of both the meeting and the seconder. The meeting’s consent will be 
signified without discussion. 

(c) Only alterations which could be made as an amendment may be made. 
 
14.8 Withdrawal of Motion 

 
A Member may withdraw a motion which he/she has moved with the consent of both the 
meeting and the seconder. The meeting’s consent will be signified without discussion. No 
Member may speak on the motion after the mover has asked permission to withdraw it 
unless permission is refused. 

 
 14.9 Right of Reply 
 

(a) The mover of a motion has a right to reply at the end of the debate on the motion, 
immediately before it is put to the vote. 

(b) If an amendment is moved, the mover of an amendment shall have a right of reply to 
a debate on the amendment.  

(c) The mover of the original motion shall also have a right of reply at the close of the 
debate on the amendment but shall not otherwise speak on the amendment. This 
right of reply shall be exercised immediately before the reply by the mover of the 
amendment. 

 

Page 75



Page 48 

 14.10 Motions which may be moved during debate 
 

When a motion is under debate, no other motion may be moved except the following 
procedural motions: 

 
(a) to withdraw a motion; 
(b) to amend a motion; 
(c) to proceed to the next business; 
(d) that the question be now put; 
(e) to adjourn a debate; 
(f) to adjourn a meeting; 
(g) that the meeting continue beyond 3 hours in duration; 
(h) to exclude the public and press in accordance with the Access to Information Rules; 

and 
(i) to not hear further a Member named under Rule 24.3 or to exclude them from the 

meeting under Rule 24.4. 
 
 14.11 Closure Motions 
 

(a) A Member who has not spoken in the debate may move, without comment, the 
following motions at the end of a speech of another Member: 

 
(i) to proceed to the next business; 
(ii) that the question be now put; 
(iii) to adjourn a debate; or 
(iv) to adjourn a meeting. 

 
(b) If seconded, and provided that all political groups have had the opportunity to speak 

and, in the Mayor’s opinion, there has been sufficient debate, the following shall 
apply: 
(i) on a motion to proceed to next business, the mover of the original motion 

and/or amendment under discussion will be given the right of reply and a vote 
will then be taken. 

(ii) on a motion that the question be now put, a vote will be taken immediately and 
if it is passed the mover of the original motion and/or amendment will then be 
given the right of reply before a vote on the motion or amendment 

(iii) on a motion to adjourn the meeting or the debate a vote will be taken 
immediately. 

 
 14.12 Point of Order 
 

A Member may raise a point of order at any time. The Mayor will hear them immediately. A 
point of order may only relate to an alleged breach of these Council Rules of Procedure or 
the law. The Member must indicate the rule or law and the way in which he/she considers 
it has been broken. The ruling of the Mayor on the matter will be final. 
 

 14.13 Personal Explanation 
 
 A Member may make a personal explanation at any time. A personal explanation may only 

relate to some material part of an earlier speech by the Member which may appear to have 

Page 76



Page 49 

been misunderstood in the present debate. The ruling of the Mayor on the admissibility of 
a personal explanation will be final. 

 
 SO 15 - Adjournment Debate 
 

15.1 Number and Scope 
 

At each ordinary Council Meeting the Mayor may permit not more than two adjournments 
debates on pressing issues for which the Council has a responsibility or which affect the 
Borough. It will not be the intention of an adjournment debate to seek a decision of Council 
nor to replace the purpose of Select Committees. 
 
15.2 Right to Raise an Issue 
 
The right to propose an issue for debate shall be open to non-Cabinet Councillors, subject 
to notification to the Head of Democratic Services not later than midday, 7 working days 
before the day of the meeting. The Mayor shall determine if the matter is appropriate for 
debate or should be considered by other means. 
 
15.3 Length of Debate and Speeches 
 
Each debate will be of up to fifteen minutes duration and there shall be up to five speakers 
with each speech not exceeding three minutes. 

 
 SO 16 - Call-in of decisions contrary to budget and policy framework 
 
 When a decision of the Cabinet, Cabinet Committee or individual Cabinet member has 

been called in as being contrary to the Policy Framework or Budget, or because it is a Key 
Decision that was not dealt with as such by the Cabinet the procedure as set out in the  
Select Committee Procedure Rules, Part 2, Chapter 6 will apply. The Head of Democratic 
Services will consult with the Mayor and Chief Whips and agree a date and time for a 
Council meeting to be called.  When considering the date the Mayor, Chief Whips and Head 
of Democratic Services would consider any advice from the Monitoring Officer or Chief 
Financial Officer about timeliness in calling the meeting to comply with statutory or other 
deadlines. In any event the meeting will be called as soon as is reasonably practicable. 

 
 SO 17 - Conflict Resolution Procedure 
 
 In the event that there is a conflict between the Council and the Cabinet in relation to the 

Budget and Policy Framework, the relevant Conflict Resolution Procedure as set out in this 
part of the Constitution, Part 2, Chapter 4 will apply. 

 
 SO 18 - Previous Decisions and Motions 
 

18.1 Motion to Rescind a Previous Decision 
 

A motion or amendment to rescind a decision made at a meeting of Council within the past 
six months cannot be moved unless the notice of motion is signed by at least 17 Members.  
 
 

Page 77



Page 50 

18.2 Motion Similar to One Previously Rejected 
 
A motion or amendment which, in the Mayor’s judgement, is in similar terms to one that 
has been rejected at a meeting of Council in the past six months cannot be moved unless 
the notice of motion or amendment is signed by at least 17 Members. Once the motion or 
amendment is dealt with, no one can propose a similar motion or amendment for six 
months.  

 
 SO 19 - Voting 
 

19.1 Majority 
 

Unless this Constitution provides otherwise, any matter will be decided by a simple 
majority of those Members voting and present in the Council Chamber at the time the 
question was put. 
 
19.2 Mayor’s Casting Vote 
 
If there are equal numbers of votes for and against, the Mayor will have a second or casting 
vote. There will be no restriction on how the Mayor chooses to exercise a casting vote. 
 
19.3 Show of Hands 
 
Unless a recorded vote is demanded under Rule 19.4, the Mayor will take the vote by show 
of hands, or if there is no dissent, by the affirmation of the meeting. 
 
19.4 Recorded Vote 
 
If 7 members present at the meeting demand it, the names for and against the Motion or 
amendment or abstaining from voting will be taken by roll call and entered into the 
minutes.  
 
19.5 Recorded Vote on the Annual Budget Debate 
 
In accordance with the Local Authorities (Standing Orders) (England) (Amendment) 
Regulations 2014, recorded votes will be taken at the annual budget setting meeting on 
any motion, amendment to motion or substantive motion regarding the General Fund 
Revenue Budget, Housing Revenue Account and Capital Programme. 
 
19.6 Right to Require Individual Vote to be Recorded 
 
Where any Member requests it immediately after the vote is taken, their vote will be so 
recorded in the minutes to show whether they voted for or against the motion or abstained 
from voting but reasons will not be given. 
 
19.7 Voting on Appointments 
 
If there are more than two people nominated for any position to be filled and there is not a 
clear majority of votes in favour of one person, then the name of the person with the least 

Page 78



Page 51 

number of votes will be taken off the list and a new vote taken. The process will continue 
until there is a majority of votes for one person.  

 
 SO 20 - Minutes 

 
20.1 Signing the Minutes 
 
The Mayor will sign the minutes of the proceedings at the next available ordinary meeting. 
The Mayor will move that the minutes of the previous meeting be signed as a correct 
record. The only part of the minutes that can be discussed is their accuracy.  
 
20.2 No Requirement to Sign Minutes of Previous Meeting at Extraordinary Meeting  
 
Where in relation to any meeting, the next meeting for the purpose of signing the minutes 
is a meeting called under paragraph 3 of schedule 12 to the Local Government Act 1972 (an 
Extraordinary Meeting), then the next following meeting (being a meeting called otherwise 
than under that paragraph) will be treated as a suitable meeting for the purposes of 
paragraph 41(1) and (2) of schedule 12 relating to signing of minutes.  
 
20.3 Form of Minutes 
 
Minutes will contain all motions and amendments in the exact form and order the Mayor 
put them. 

 
 SO 21 - Discussion of Officers and matters affecting persons employed 
 
 If any question arises at a meeting relating to an employee's salary or conditions of service 

or disciplinary action taken against an employee such question shall not be the subject of 
discussion until it has been decided whether to exclude the press and public.  No question 
relating to the conduct of an employee shall be considered by the Council unless such 
question has first been considered by the decision-making body having primary 
responsibility and upon such question first being raised by a member at a meeting of the 
Council it shall immediately stand referred to the body having primary responsibility for 
consideration and report.  The employee concerned shall have the right, should such 
employee so desire, to attend and be represented before a body considering the matter to 
state the employee's case. 

 
 SO 22 - Record of Attendance 
 

22.1 Signing In 
 
All Members present during the whole or part of a meeting must sign their names on the 
attendance sheets before the conclusion of every meeting to assist with the record of 
attendance. 
 
22.2 Valid Attendance 
 
For an attendance to be considered valid the Member: 
• must be a Member of the committee, sub-committee, panel, working group etc that 

they are attending 

Page 79



Page 52 

• must be present for at least 50% of the items on the agenda, (excluding standard items 
such as ‘Apologies’, ‘Minutes’ and ‘Declarations of Interest’), unless given leave to depart 
earlier by the Chairman of the meeting. 

 
 SO 23 - Exclusion of the Public 
 
 Members of the public and press may only be excluded either in accordance with the 

Access to Information Rules in this Constitution or the Standing Order 25 below 
(Disturbance by the Public). 

 
 SO 24 - Members Conduct during Council meetings 
 

24.1 Standing to Speak 
 

When a member speaks at Full Council they must stand and address the meeting through 
the Mayor, unless he/she is given dispensation by reason of special circumstances. If more 
than one Member stands, the Mayor will ask one to speak and the others must sit. Other 
members must remain seated whilst a Member is speaking unless they wish to make a 
point of order or a point of personal explanation. 
 
24.2 Mayor Standing 
 
When the Mayor stands during a debate, any Member speaking at the time must stop and 
sit down. The meeting must be silent.  
 
24.3 Member Not to be Heard Further 
 
If a Member persistently disregards the ruling of the Mayor by behaving improperly or 
offensively or deliberately obstructs business, the Mayor may move that the member be 
not heard further. If seconded, the motion will be voted on without discussion.  

 
24.4 Member to Leave the Meeting 
 
If the Member continues to behave improperly after such a motion is carried, the Mayor 
may move that either the Member leaves the meeting or that the meeting is adjourned for 
a specified period. If seconded, the motion will be voted on without discussion.  
 
24.5 General Disturbance 
 
If there is a general disturbance making orderly business impossible, the Mayor may 
adjourn the meeting for as long as he/she thinks necessary. 

 
 SO 25 - Disturbance by the Public 
 

25.1 Removal of Member of the Public 
 

If a member of the public interrupts proceedings, the Mayor will warn the person 
concerned. If they continue to interrupt, the Mayor will order their removal from the 
meeting room.  
 

Page 80



Page 53 

25.2 Clearance of Part of Meeting Room 
 
If there is a general disturbance in any part of the meeting room open to the public, the 
Mayor may call for that part to be cleared.  
 

 SO 26 - Suspension and amendment of these Council procedure rules 
 
26.1 Suspension 
 
All of these Council Rules of Procedure except Rule 19.6 and 20.2 may be suspended by 
motion on notice or without notice if at least one half of the whole number of members of 
the Council are present. Suspension can only be for the duration of the meeting. 
 
26.2 Amendment 
 
Any motion to add to, vary or revoke these Council Rules of Procedure will, when proposed 
and seconded, stand adjourned without discussion to the next ordinary meeting of the 
Council. 

 
 SO 27 - Remote or virtual meetings 
 

In respect of remote meetings where provided for by law, the Council may pass a 
continuing motion to vary, revoke or update these Standing Orders to facilitate the remote 
transaction of any business and voting. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 81



Page 54 

Chapter 5 – Executive decision-making 
 
The Cabinet is the Council’s top leadership team, making the key decisions on Council 
services, finances, council projects and policies. It comprises the Leader of the 
Council and individual Cabinet Members, who may also make decisions. This part of 
the Constitution is also known as the Cabinet Scheme of Delegations.  
 

About the Leader and Cabinet 
 
The Leader and Cabinet Members comprising the Cabinet are the Council’s Executive. The 
Executive is responsible for undertaking all of the Council’s functions, except for those functions 
(specified in Part 2, Chapters 6-13) that are reserved to the Council and that are undertaken by the 
Full Council or delegated to committees, sub-committees, other bodies or officers. When the 
Executive meet collectively, it is known as “the Cabinet”. Individual councillors that are members 
of the Executive are known as “Cabinet Members”.  
 
In practice, this means that all major service, financial, contract and policy related decisions by 
the London Borough of Hillingdon are taken by the Cabinet and/or Cabinet Members. 
 
Election of Leader  

The Leader will be a Councillor elected at the annual meeting immediately following the ordinary 
election of Councillors every 4 years to the position of Leader of the Council. The Leader holds 
office until:  

1. he or she resigns from office; or  
2. he or she is suspended from being a councillor under Part III of the Local Government Act 

2000 (although he or she may resume office at the end of the period of suspension); or  
3. he or she is no longer a councillor; or  
4. he or she is removed from office by a resolution of the Full Council: or  

Any Leader appointed other than at the Annual Meeting immediately following the ordinary 
election of Councillors shall hold office until the next Annual Meeting immediately following the 
ordinary election of Councillors.  

Appointment or dismissal of Cabinet Members  

(a) The Leader shall appoint other Cabinet Members. Cabinet Members hold office until:  

1. they resign from office; or  
2. they are suspended from being councillors under Part III of the Local Government Act 2000 

(although they may resume office at the end of the period of suspension); or  
3. they are no longer Councillors; or  
4. they are removed from office by the Leader. 

(b)  As circumstances require and to cover planned and unplanned absences, the Leader may 
assign Cabinet portfolio responsibilities from one Cabinet Member to another and will notify the 

Page 82



Page 55 

Head of Democratic Services where this arrangement is intended to last for more than four 
weeks.  

(c)  The Leader will designate one of the Cabinet Members to be the Deputy Leader.  

Appointment of Cabinet Assistants  

Other Members of the Council may, from time to time, be designated by the Leader and notified 
as such to the Head of Democratic Services as a Cabinet Assistant for a particular activity or 
range of activities. Such a Member will not be a Cabinet Member and cannot make executive 
decisions, but will work with the relevant Cabinet Member. The Leader of the Council will make 
arrangements for, determine and review from time to time a protocol relating to the roles and 
responsibilities of Cabinet Assistants. 

Size of the Cabinet 

The Cabinet may comprise  a minimum of 3 Councillors and a maximum of 10 Councillors including 
the Leader of the  Council  (these are the minimum and maximum requirements in law). The Leader 
may vary the number of Cabinet Members within these parameters at any time.   

Current Cabinet membership, names and portfolios assigned 

The Leader of the Council is Councillor Ian Edwards. The following Councillors have been 
appointed by the Leader to be Deputy Leader and also Cabinet Members with their respective 
portfolio responsibilities:  

 NAME CABINET PORTFOLIO 

1 Councillor Ian Edwards  Leader of the Council, Chairman of the Cabinet 

2 Councillor Jonathan Bianco Deputy Leader of the Council, Vice-Chairman of the 
Cabinet & Cabinet Member for Property, Highways & 
Transport 

3 Councillor Martin Goddard Cabinet Member for Finance 

4 Councillor Susan O’Brien Cabinet Member for Children, Families & Education 

5 Councillor Jane Palmer Cabinet Member for Health & Social Care 

6 Councillor Eddie Lavery Cabinet Member for Residents’ Services 

7 Councillor Douglas Mills Cabinet Member for Corporate Services 

 
Restrictions on other Councillors 

Councillors who are not members of the Cabinet cannot make any executive decisions, nor can 
they act as substitute or deputy Cabinet members. In the absence of Cabinet Members, the 
Leader and/or Deputy Leader will act on their behalf or determine which Cabinet Member will 
cover an absent colleague’s responsibilities.  

Page 83



Page 56 

Principles of executive decision-making 
 
The arrangements for the discharge of executive functions are set out in this part of the  
Constitution which is also known as the Cabinet Scheme of Delegations. To underpin the 
principles of greater accountability and transparency in decision-making, all currently known 
delegations to the Cabinet and Cabinet Members are set out in this section. All anticipated key 
decisions and other decisions where practicable, following from these delegations, will be set out 
in the Council’s Forward Plan for public notice. 
 
Delegation of executive functions 
 
Executive functions may be discharged by: 
 

1) the Cabinet as a whole; 
2) a committee of the Cabinet (Cabinet sub-committee); 
3) an individual member of the Cabinet; 
4) an officer; 
5) joint arrangements; or 
6) another local authority. 

If any arrangements for the discharge of executive functions are not set out within this 
Constitution, then the Leader may decide how they are to be exercised and who they are 
delegated to. Where the Leader seeks to withdraw delegation from a committee of the Cabinet, 
notice will be deemed to be served on that committee when he/she has served it on its chair. 

Cabinet, as a whole, may also delegate its functions to: 

1) a committee of the Cabinet (Cabinet sub-committee); 
2) an individual member of the Cabinet; 
3) an officer; 
4) joint arrangements; or 
5) another local authority 

 
Even where executive functions have been delegated, that fact does not prevent the discharge 
of delegated functions by the person or body who delegated. 
 
Changes to executive powers 

The Leader may review and make new arrangements for the discharge of the executive functions 
at any time. This may, for example, include changes to Cabinet portfolios and the decisions the 
Cabinet Members can make. 

However, the Leader cannot approve alterations to the definition of key decisions, key financial 
decisions and any financial thresholds in the Council’s Constitution, of which any decision to 
change is reserved by Full Council. The Leader cannot approve any decision, including those that 
are statutory and legislative, which fall within the remit of Full Council.  

Where the Leader makes any new arrangements for executive functions, either a temporary or 
permanent basis, the Leader will notify the Head of Legal Services and Head of Democratic 
Services in advance of any proposed changes made. This will ensure that:  

Page 84



Page 57 

1) All Councillors are informed of those alterations;  
2) The Constitution is amended accordingly;  
3) The alterations are published; and 
4) A report is made annually to the Full Council on the changes that have been made during 

the previous twelve months.  

Acting within the Policy and Budget Framework 

As set out in the Budget and Policy Framework Procedure Rules set out in the Constitution.  

1) The Cabinet and/or individual Cabinet Members are responsible for the preparation of the 
Council’s budget and the various plans and strategies that constitute the Council’s 
strategic framework.  

2) In preparing the budget and the strategic plans, the Cabinet consults with relevant 
stakeholders and partner agencies in the local community.  

3) The Cabinet is also required to consult with the relevant Select Committee at appropriate 
stages in the formulation of budgetary and strategic plans, and to give proper 
consideration to the Select Committee responses. In this respect, the Cabinet needs to 
give advance notification to Select Committees to allow the consideration of draft plans 
and strategies to be built into their scrutiny work programme.  

4) Having considered the views and recommendations of the relevant Select Committee (and 
also outside stakeholders and agencies), the Cabinet will then present the budget, plans 
and/or strategies to the Full Council for adoption.  

Officer Advice, Reports and Briefings  
 
Officers are responsible for providing professional advice to the Cabinet and or Cabinet members 
who will be taking a decision. This may take the form of a report setting out the issue, policy 
context, options available, results of consultation, any legal or financial considerations, and 
professional advice. It may be a briefing giving more detailed background information. All such 
written material is made available to public inspection, as long as it is not confidential or exempt 
under Access to Information provisions.  
 
Consultation 
 
All reports to the Cabinet from any member of the Cabinet or an officer on proposals relating to 
the budget and policy framework must contain details of the nature and extent of consultation 
with stakeholders and relevant Select Committee, and the outcome of that consultation. Reports 
about other matters will set out the details and outcome of consultation as appropriate. The level 
of consultation required will be appropriate to the nature of the matter under consideration. 
 
Conflicts of Interest 
 
Where the Leader has a conflict of interest this should be dealt with as set out in the Council’s 
Code of Conduct for Members in this Constitution. 
 
If every member of the Cabinet has a conflict of interest this should be dealt with as set out in the 
Council’s Code of Conduct for Members in this Constitution. 
 

Page 85



Page 58 

If the exercise of a Cabinet function has been delegated to a committee of the Cabinet, an 
individual member or an officer, and should a conflict of interest arise, then the function will be 
exercised in the first instance by the person or body by whom the delegation was made and 
otherwise as set out in the Council’s Code of Conduct for Members in this Constitution. 
 
Local choice functions delegated to the Executive 
 
Some responsibilities of the Council set out in law may be discharged by different bodies of the 
Council. In Hillingdon, it agreed that the following local choice functions should be the 
responsibility of its Cabinet or delegated accordingly:- 
 

1) Any function under a local Act unless the Act in question specifies that the function must 
be discharged by the Full Council or the function is a licensing, consent, permission or 
registration function. 

 
2) The determination of an appeal against any decision made by or on behalf of Hillingdon 

provided that it does not relate to an application for a licence, approval, consent, 
permission or registration. (Hillingdon has an existing Registration and Appeals 
Committee which determines both statutory and non-statutory appeals).  

 
3) The making of arrangements to hear appeals against the exclusion of pupils. 

 
4) The making of arrangements for appeals by governing bodies. 

 
5) The following functions involve a combination of delivery and implementation of 

Hillingdon's policy, direct regulation of persons and policy and strategy development; 
 

(a) Any function relating to contaminated land 
 

(b) The discharge of any function relating to the control of pollution or the management of 
air quality 

 
(c) The service of an Abatement Notice in respect of a statutory nuisance 
(d) The passing of a resolution that Schedule 2 to the Noise and Statutory Nuisance Act 

1993 should apply in Hillingdon 
 

(e) The inspection of Hillingdon to detect any statutory nuisance 
 

(f) The investigation of any complaint as to the existence of a statutory nuisance. 
 

6) These functions are to be the responsibility of Hillingdon's Cabinet unless they involve: 
 

(a) determining an application from a person for a licence, approval, consent, permission 
or registration; 

 
(b) direct regulation of a person (which would for example, encompass the service of an 

Abatement Notice in respect of a statutory nuisance); 
 

(c) enforcement of any licence, approval, consent, permission, or registration. 
 

Page 86



Page 59 

7) The obtaining of information under Section 330 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 
as a preliminary to the exercise of powers to make a compulsory purchase order. 
 

8) The obtaining of particulars of persons interested in land under Section 16 of the Local 
Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 as a preliminary to the exercise of powers 
to make a compulsory purchase order. 
 

9) The making of agreements for the execution of highway works. 
 

10) The following appeals functions, to be determined by the relevant Cabinet portfolio holder:  
 

(a) appeals against decisions to charge for home care and day care services.  
(b) appeals against decisions to refuse student awards.  
(c) appeals against decisions to refuse free travel from home to school or college.  
(d) appeals in relation to the amount of discretionary rate relief and/or the reduction or 

remission of rates. 
 
 
 

How Cabinet meetings operate 
 
Executive decisions which have been delegated to the Cabinet as a whole will be taken at a 
Cabinet meeting convened in accordance with the Rules on Access to Information in Chapter 17  
of the Constitution. Where Cabinet decisions are delegated to a committee of the Cabinet, the 
rules applying to Cabinet decisions taken by them shall be the same as those applying to those 
taken by the Cabinet as a whole. The following rules apply equally to meetings of the Cabinet or a 
sub-committee of the Cabinet. 
 
Where and where? 
 
The Cabinet will meet as often as required at times to be agreed by the Leader, but will usually 
meet on a monthly basis. The Cabinet shall meet at the Council’s main offices or another location 
to be agreed by the Leader. Where provided for by law, the Leader of the Council may determine 
whether to hold such meetings and take executive decisions remotely or virtually.  
 
Attendance at and speaking at Cabinet meetings 

• The Leader and Cabinet Members attend Cabinet meetings as voting Cabinet Members. 
• A Cabinet Assistant, Champion or Borough Advocate may attend and speak (but not vote) 

at any Cabinet meeting on issues within the portfolio that are discussed with the approval 
of the Chairman (Leader).  

• The Chief Whip of the Majority Party may attend Cabinet meetings and speak, but not vote 
on any item under discussion.  

• With the permission of the Chairman (Leader), Chairmen or in their absence Vice-
Chairmen of Select Committees may attend meetings of the Cabinet and speak (but not 
vote) on any item previously considered by their Committee – to present the views of the 
Committee rather than a personal view. 

Page 87



Page 60 

• Where a Cabinet Member has referred a Cabinet Member petition to the Cabinet to 
consider, then public speaking rights apply as set out in the Council’s Petition Scheme in 
this Constitution. 

Quorum of a Cabinet meeting 

The quorum for a meeting of the Cabinet, or a committee of it, shall be one quarter of the total 
number of members of the Cabinet, or 3, whichever is the larger. 

The Chairman 
 
If the Leader is present he/she will preside. In his/her absence, the Deputy Leader will preside.  If 
neither the Leader nor the Deputy Leader are present, executive members will appoint a member 
from those present to preside at the meeting. 
 
The agenda 
 
At each meeting of the Cabinet the following business will be conducted: 
 

1) consideration of the minutes of the last meeting; 
2) declarations of interest, if any; 
3) matters referred to the Cabinet (whether by a Select Committee, Audit Committee or by the 

Council) for reconsideration by the Cabinet in accordance with the provisions contained in 
the Select Committee Rules in Part 2, Chapter 6 or the Budget and Policy Framework 
Procedure Rules set out in Part 2, Chapter 4 of this Constitution; 

4) consideration of reports from Select Committees; and 
5) Matters set out in the agenda for the meeting from the Forward Plan, or any other urgent 

key decisions or other decisions in accordance with the Access to Information Procedure 
rules. 

 
The Leader will decide upon the schedule for the meetings of the Cabinet. The Head of 
Democratic Services will place items on the agenda of a Cabinet meeting or a meeting of a 
Cabinet Committee following a request from:- 

 
1) The Leader. 
2) Any Member of the Cabinet. 
3) The Full Council. 
4) Select Committees. Only one item, which is referred, by each Committee is to be 

permitted for each Cabinet meeting or a meeting of a Cabinet Committee. 
5) The Chief Executive. 
6) The Monitoring Officer. 
7) The Chief Finance Officer. 
8) Audit Committee 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 88



Page 61 

Key decisions & Public Notice of them (Forward Plan) 

The Chief Executive, in consultation with the Leader and Cabinet Members, is responsible for 
updating and publishing a document called the ‘Forward Plan’ on a regular basis setting out the 
Key Decisions to be made in accordance with the Rules on Access to Information in Chapter 17 of 
this Constitution. This document provides for advance public notice of Key Decisions to be taken 
by the Cabinet, Leader and Cabinet Member or an Officer. 

To be more transparent, the Council will also publish many non-Key Decisions on the Forward 
Plan, usually those to be taken by the Cabinet and Individual Cabinet Members. 

Where a Key Decision is not included in the Forward Plan without giving the prescribed public 
notice, the decision may be taken, subject to the general exception and special urgency 
provisions set out in the Rules on Access to Information in Chapter 17 in this Constitution. 

Definition of Key decisions 

The Cabinet collectively will be responsible for taking the key decisions and key financial 
decisions as defined below:  

1) Developing proposals that require the Council to amend its policy framework.  
 

2) Decisions resulting in cost/savings outside of existing budget that exceed the following 
thresholds:-  

(a) 10% of the annual revenue budget for a service or any proposals in excess of 
£500,000.  

(b) variations to capital schemes on programmes in excess of £250,000 in any one 
year.  

 
3) Decisions which have a significant impact on two or more wards as defined below:-  

(a) where the outcome will have a significant impact on the well- being of the 
community or the quality of service provided to a significant number of people 
living or working in an area.  

(b) Where ‘Communities of Interest’ as well as geographic areas are affected 
significantly, e.g. young people by the closure of a youth centre.  

Key decisions can also be made, where necessary or specifically delegated to, by the Leader, 
Committees of the Cabinet, individual Cabinet Members or Officers.  

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 89



Page 62 

Cabinet decision-making 
 
Responsibilities of the Cabinet 

The Cabinet has overall responsibility for the preparation of the budget, and the policy and 
financial frameworks, which are to be adopted by the Full Council. In discharging these overall 
functions and responsibilities, the Cabinet is responsible for the following:  

1) Leadership in these areas:  

(a) proposing policy development, changes and new policy;  
(b) articulating existing Council policy to other organisations;  
(c) commenting on proposals from others on behalf of the Council, including through the 

media;  
(d) influencing others, including the media, in order to promote existing Council policy or 

matters reasonably collateral to it;  
(e) ensuring the Council has a programme for continuous improvement of its services.  

2) Partnership working with any or all other organisations who can assist the Council to 
achieve its stated objectives or where collaboration benefits those who live in, work or 
visit Hillingdon; others involved in community planning and the formation of partnerships 
with other local public, private, voluntary and community organisations to address local 
needs.  

3) To regularly monitor the performance and development of Council services.  

How Cabinet decisions are made 

The Cabinet makes decisions in the following circumstances:  

1) matters reserved to the Cabinet as set out below, including key decisions. 
2) matters delegated to individual Cabinet members where, in any particular case, the 

Leader directs that the decision should be reserved to the Cabinet; 
3) matters delegated to the individual Cabinet members where the relevant Cabinet member 

decides to refer any particular matter to the Cabinet for decision; and  
4) matters referred to the Cabinet by individual Cabinet Members following call-in by the 

relevant Select Committee.  

Where a Cabinet decision is required (or a decision by a committee of the Cabinet), officers check 
whether it is included in the Forward Plan so that it has complied with the required period of 
public notice. The following procedure applies to decisions to be made by the Cabinet: 

1) Democratic Services is notified and the item placed on the agenda for the next Cabinet 
meeting. The agenda is then published giving at least five clear days’ notice of the meeting, 
and Select Committee members are notified.  

2) The decision is then made by the Cabinet. The decision is recorded and published as soon 
as reasonably practicable in accordance with the Access to Information Procedure Rules. 

3) There is a right for a key decision to be called-in. If this right is exercised, then the Select 
Committee Call-in Procedure Rules in the Constitution will apply.  

Page 90



Page 63 

Where a decision is urgent, not on the Forward Plan and is a Key Decision, then the Rules on 
Access to Information in Chapter 17 will apply in considering the decisions. 
 
Decisions to be taken by the Cabinet collectively 
 

1) Key decisions as defined in this Constitution. 
2) Consideration of any report prepared by an external organisation into the performance 

of the Council whether in general or in relation to a particular case, including the 
Council’s response to it. Cabinet Member sign-off may be given to such inspections in 
urgent cases as set out under the delegations to Cabinet Members.  

3) Closure of, or significant reduction in provision of, any Council service. Where the 
decision is one, which will involve a significant change in the manner of Council service 
provision.  

4) The fixing of fees and charges for Council services.  
5) Granting or withdrawing financial support to any external organisation, except where 

under agreed initiatives delegated to the Leader or Cabinet Member.  
6) Writing off any bad debt in excess of £50,000, unless the Council has within the last 3 

years already written off debts for the person/ organisation concerned totalling that 
amount in which case any further write off would be a key decision.  

7) The exercise of the Council’s compulsory purchase powers.  
8) Authority to apply for funding from any external body which if successful would require 

Council matched funding either revenue or capital, and agreement to the final scheme.  
9) Consideration of any policy and budget framework documents which are to be the 

subject of a recommendation to Full Council.  
10) Where the Mayor on advice from the Head of Paid Service and/or Monitoring Officer 

and/or Chief Finance Officer is of the view that the matter is one which ought properly 
to be treated as a key decision, and informs the proper officer to that effect at least 6 
weeks before the decision is in the opinion of the Monitoring Officer likely to be taken.  

11) To approve Supplementary Planning Documents. 
12) To determine school organisation proposals where objections have been received.  
13) Decisions on contracts, tenders, land and property matters requiring Cabinet approval, 

as set out in the Rules on Procurement and Property set out in this Constitution. 
 
Limits on Cabinet decision-making 

Cabinet will not have responsibility for any functions that are non-executive in nature and those 
functions which have been reserved to Full Council, Council committees or officers as set out 
further in Part 2 of this Constitution. 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 91



Page 64 

Cabinet Member decision-making 

In discharging any functions that have been delegated, a Cabinet member must act lawfully. This 
means that the Cabinet member must act within the scope of the authority that is delegated to 
him or her in accordance with any limits within the delegation, this constitution, Council policies, 
procedure rules and the Members Code of Conduct.  

There are occasions when matters affect more than one Cabinet Member portfolio; on such 
occasions the Cabinet members concerned act in conjunction with one another. This section sets 
out the general responsibilities of all Cabinet members. The Leader will also set out the portfolios 
and specific delegations to individual Cabinet members which are set out later in this Chapter. All 
Cabinet Members have responsibility for the following functions:  

Budget  

1) To monitor service budgets within portfolio,  ensuring  corrective action prevent 
overspends; 

2) To recommend to Cabinet an appropriate level of fees and charges for services 
appropriate for their portfolio area.  

3) To agree virements as set out in the Budget and Policy Framework Procedure Rules which 
can be found in Part 4 of the Constitution.  

4) To receive regular reports on the budgets for their portfolio area  

5) To recommend to Cabinet the submission of bids from their portfolio area for additional 
resources from Government and other agencies.  

6) To recommend to Cabinet capital and revenue bids for their portfolio area.  

7) To agree for their portfolio area and on the recommendation of the appropriate Chief 
Officer compensation payments above £1,000 under the Council’s complaints procedure 
or the request of the Ombudsman. (below that level will be delegated to officers).  

8) To make bids for external funding where there is no requirement for a financial 
commitment from the council, in consultation with officers, the Leader of the Council and 
Cabinet Member for Finance. 

Service Planning and Delivery  

1) To determine which proposals for alterations to service provision within their portfolio 
area should be reported to Cabinet for a decision.  

2) To monitor the performance of services and benchmarking. 

3) To agree service specific strategies and action plans and to agree proposals for 
enhancements and alterations to service provision within their portfolio area subject to 
being in-line with the council’s policy framework and costs being contained within agreed 
budgets (where such strategies, plans and service changes cover more than one-portfolio, 
to also be agreed with the relevant Cabinet Member and the Leader of the Council)  

4) To determine priorities and where appropriate agree the reallocation of approved 
resources for the delivery of services in their portfolio area, in conjunction with the 
appropriate Chief Officer.  

Page 92



Page 65 

5) To make suggestions for future policy initiatives and for amendments for the policy 
framework in their portfolio area, for consideration by the Cabinet and Council.  

6) To receive internal audit reports for their portfolio area and to make recommendations to 
Cabinet for changes to the service as appropriate.  

7) To consider any inspection report by an external agency and make recommendations to 
the Cabinet where appropriate. In cases where an external agency requires the Council’s 
urgent consideration of an inspection report and there is no Cabinet meeting scheduled, 
the relevant Cabinet Member and the Leader of the Council may receive and consider the 
inspection report, give signed approval to the Council’s response and ensure Members are 
notified as appropriate. The Cabinet Member may also give permission for an alternative 
Member-level meeting or Select Committee to formally receive the inspection report on 
behalf of the Council, though such a meeting will not be able to sign-off the Council’s 
response to the inspection.’  

8) To monitor the performance of services and benchmarking and to receive reports on 
these within their portfolio responsibilities.  

9) To ensure services contribute to the Public Health priorities of the Council in accordance 
with the Public Health and Social Care Act 2012.  

Land and Property  

10) To consult with Cabinet Member for Property, Highways & Transport on any land or 
property related matter or decision required. 

11) To make best use of land and property within their portfolio and to report to the Cabinet  
land and properties  declared surplus to requirements of their services .  

12) To make recommendations to Cabinet for use within their portfolio area of properties 
declared surplus to requirements by other services.  

13) To submit planning applications for projects and proposals within their Portfolio area 
subject to the projects and proposals being in line with the policies and budget of the 
Council.  

14) To make decisions with the Cabinet Member for Property, Highways and Transport, where 
set out in the Rules on Land & Property Matters in Part 3 of the Constitution.  

Tenders and Contracts  

15) To make decisions on tenders and contractual matters as set out in the Rules on 
Procurement in Part 3 of the Constitution.  

Partnerships and Consultation  

16) To review resident satisfaction and consultation with partners in their portfolio area.  

17) In consultation with the Cabinet Member for Corporate Services to promote effective 
partnerships between the Council and all other bodies and agencies affecting the 
community for their portfolio area.  

Miscellaneous 

18) To deal with petitions in their portfolio area in accordance with Council procedure.  

Page 93



Page 66 

19) To recommend to the Cabinet, responses to be made to consultation documents from 
Government, GLA, LGA, London Councils and other bodies affecting their portfolio area.  

20) In consultation with the Leader to approve and sign consultation responses on behalf of 
the Council in urgent cases where there is no Cabinet meeting timetabled to consider the 
responses, and in such cases to inform Opposition Leader(s) and the Chairman of the 
relevant Select Committee of the responses when signed off.  

21) To make recommendations to Cabinet and Council for revisions to officer delegations 
within their portfolio area.  

22) To make recommendations to Cabinet on Select Committee reports that are being 
presented in their portfolio area.  

23) To attend Select Committee meetings when so required by these committees.  

24) To meet all reasonable requests for information made by those Select Committee 
members.  

25) To determine and hear appeals against any decision made by or on behalf of Hillingdon 
Council as set out in Appendix A to the Cabinet Scheme of Delegations.  

26) In conjunction with the relevant Officer, to sign off expenditure for approved Initiatives as 
agreed by the Cabinet.  

 

How decision-making by Cabinet Members operates 

Where an executive decision is required, officers check whether it is included in the Forward 
Plan. Where it is for decision by an individual member, the following procedure applies:  

1) The report dealing with the matter upon which the decision is needed, will be sent to the 
relevant Cabinet member. If the Cabinet member is to make a key decision, he/she will not 
make the decision until at least five clear days after receipt of that report.  

2) On the giving of a report to the Cabinet member, the person who prepared the report will 
give a copy of it to the chairman of every Select Committee as soon as reasonably 
practicable, and make it publicly available at the same time.  

3) A decision is then made by the Cabinet member. The Head of Democratic Services will be 
instructed to prepare a record of the decision, reasons for it and any alternative options 
considered and rejected. The decision will be published as soon as reasonably practicable. 
Therefore, the provisions of the Access to Information Procedure Rules (inspection of 
documents after meetings) will also apply to the making of decisions by individual 
members of the Cabinet. This does not require the disclosure of exempt or confidential 
information.  

4) There is a right for a key decision made by an individual Cabinet member to be called-in. If 
this right is exercised, the Select Committee Procedure Rules of the Constitution will 
apply.  

5) Where a Key Decision, to be taken by the Cabinet Member is not included in the Forward 
Plan without giving the prescribed public notice, the decision may be taken, subject to the 
general exception and special urgency provisions set out in the Rules on Access to 
Information in Chapter 17 in this Constitution.  

Page 94



Page 67 

Leader of the Council 
 
Service portfolio 
 
Directorate and Service areas the Leader is responsible for and where the Corporate Director 
responsible and Officers within will report directly to: 
 

Chief Executive All Corporate & Executive Directors 
Central Services Directorate Democratic Services 
 Corporate Communications 
Resources Directorate Financial strategy / MTFF 

 
Strategy and policy 

1) To be responsible for the principal policy and financial direction of the Council.  

2) To represent the Council in the community and in negotiations with the Government and 
regional, national and international institutions and organisations, reporting to Cabinet as 
necessary.  

3) To be responsible for the overall management structure of the Council, in consultation 
with the Chief Executive.  

4) To approve the workforce establishment and any growth in posts whether temporary, 
permanent or provided by agency staff 

5) To ensure the continuous improvement of Council services and their efficient delivery .  

6) To approve Council Initiatives and approve grants for such initiatives to be issued by 
appropriate officers.  

7) To ensure that the Council delivers on its Climate Change pledge.  

8) To agree the priorities for the use of funds from planning obligations. 

9) To agree or amend official codes of practices and guidance.  

 

Decision-making powers  

10) To take responsibility for or to assign responsibility to one or more Cabinet portfolio 
holders for issues not specifically allocated in these delegations or involving one or more 
portfolio holder.  

11) To exercise any executive function not otherwise allocated to either the Cabinet or any 
other individual Cabinet member, or to delegate such functions to another Cabinet 
member, a committee of the Cabinet, or to an officer.  

12) To authorise another Cabinet Member, including the Leader of the Council, to deputise and 
make decisions on behalf of any other Cabinet member in that person’s unavailability or 
absence. 

13) To amend the Cabinet Scheme of Delegations, other than approve alterations to the 
definition of key decisions, key financial decisions and any financial thresholds in the 
Council’s Constitution, of which any decision to change is reserved by Full Council. 

Page 95



Page 68 

14) To monitor the operation of the Council’s overall governance and decision-making 
structure and make recommendations to the Cabinet and Council as appropriate.  

15) To be responsible for the resolution of differences of opinion between portfolio holders 
acting within their delegated powers and reporting to Cabinet as necessary.  

16) To resolve any dispute over the spending of Ward Budgets after consultation with other 
Party Group Leaders, where appropriate. To also approve spending of the Ward Budget for 
the Ward represented by the Cabinet Member for Corporate Services. 

17) In conjunction with the Cabinet Member for Property and Infrastructure and the relevant 
Chief Officer, to oversee the acquisition, development, use and disposal of land and 
property assets across all Cabinet portfolios.   

18) Where there are extenuating medical or other circumstances, the Leader of the Council 
may review and amend, on an individual basis, the Housing Allocation Policy, in 
conjunction with the delegated Chief Officer.  

19) In conjunction with the Corporate Director of Finance and Cabinet Member for Finance, to 
review individual Council service budget accounts and make any necessary decisions on 
adjustments to budgets that may be required before the presentation of the yearly Outturn 
Budget report to Cabinet.  

 
Urgent decision-making 

These are powers granted specifically to the Leader of the Council (in conjunction with relevant 
Officers and/or Cabinet Members), to make decisions at specific times or urgently, where the 
need for flexible, responsive decision-making is required to provide continuity of services and 
safeguard residents' interests.  

20) To take all formal decisions deemed under special urgency procedures in the Council's 
Constitution, in conjunction with the relevant Cabinet Member(s). In accordance with 
delegation no. 22 above, the Leader may also take special urgency decisions on behalf of 
the relevant Cabinet Member(s). 

21) To take contract decisions on behalf of the Cabinet, in accordance with the Procurement 
and Contract Standing Orders in urgent circumstances. 

22) To sign-off decisions to be taken by the Chief Executive under his/her Emergency 
Contract Decisions delegation.  

23) In conjunction with the relevant Cabinet Member and Corporate / Executive Director, to 
make formal interim decisions that would ordinarily be reserved for the Cabinet in the 
absence of a monthly Cabinet meeting, e.g. during August, reporting back to Cabinet for 
ratification to ensure transparency.  

24) To approve the release and use of contingency funds in urgent cases and in the absence 
of a Cabinet meeting.  

 
Leader’s Emergency Power 

25) In the event of emergency situations, extreme weather and other incidents affecting the 
Borough, in order to safeguard and protect residents and services, the Leader of the 
Council may sign-off any decision ordinarily reserved to Cabinet Members or the Cabinet 
when recommended by the relevant Corporate / Executive Director provided that all such 

Page 96



Page 69 

decisions taken be reported subsequently to the Leader of the Council formally for 
ratification as a Cabinet Member decision to ensure transparency. Note: for declared major 
incidents and civil contingency matters, other procedures will apply in respect of emergency 
decision-making. 

Civic and Ceremonial 

26) To be responsible for and oversee the Council’s Democratic Services function. 

27) Approve arrangements for significant civic ceremonies and Borough events and also key 
matters concerning the Mayoralty, in consultation with relevant Officers.  

28) In conjunction with the Chief Executive, to be responsible for the operation of the London 
Borough of Hillingdon Civic Medal Award Scheme.  

29) In consultation with the Mayor, to be responsible for the operation of the London Borough 
of Hillingdon Volunteer Pin Scheme.  

30) To sign-off decisions to be taken by Chief Officers in relation to the award of grants from 
the Council's Charitable Fund.  

31) To approve proposals for street naming, naming of buildings and naming of housing 
schemes and developments.  

32) To determine the flying of flags on the forecourt of the Civic Centre and agree the list of 
flags and dates.  

Leader’s appointments & Borough Advocates 
 

33) To be Chairman of the Shareholder Committee for Hillingdon First Limited (Cabinet 
appointment) 

34) To be the Older People’s Champion and champion the interests of Older People in the 
Borough. To ensure that their views are heard and taken into account by the Council. To 
work towards effective partnerships between Older People and our partner organisations.  

35) The Leader may appoint any Councillor or Member of the Public living in the Borough as a 
Borough Advocate to protect and promote single-issue interests on behalf of the council 
and where appropriate with partner organisations and beyond. Such a person should hold 
significant experience within their agreed area of appointment. A protocol will be agreed 
between the Leader of the Council and a Borough Advocate to determine their exact role 
and length of appointment, however such a post cannot make formal decisions (which are 
reserved by the Cabinet or appropriate committee) and would undertake a more defined 
or temporary role than either a Cabinet Assistant or Champion.  

The Leader has appointed the following Borough Advocate for the following functions: 

Borough Advocate Against Domestic Abuse Councillor Janet Gardner 

36) To approve, in consultation with the Head of Legal Services, the appointment of Counsel.  

 
Deputy Leader of the Council 
 
To assist the Leader in the exercise of his or her functions, and to deputise in his or her 
absence.  
 

Page 97



Page 70 

Cabinet Member for Finance 
 
Service portfolio 
 
Directorate and Service areas the Cabinet Member is responsible for and where the Corporate 
Director responsible and Officers within will report directly to: 
 

Resources Directorate Corporate Finance 
 Procurement & Commissioning 

 Exchequer & Business Assurance Services (excluding risk 
management/information governance) 

 Council transformation & Hillingdon Improvement Programme 

 
Other responsibilities 

1. To oversee and report to the Cabinet on the Council’s responsibilities and initiatives in respect 
of:-  

• Financial Planning, Treasury, Capital & Systems 
• Financial controls,  
• Monitoring of the overall revenue and capital budgets  
• Schools Budget  
• Procurement policy and commissioning of services  
• Statutory Accounting and Pension Fund 
• Housing revenue account budget, housing capital fund  
• Housing rent setting  
• Housing benefit scheme 
• Council transformation   

Delegations 

2. In consultation with the Leader of the Council, to be responsible for overseeing the 
development of the short, medium and long-term financial strategies to be recommended 
for adoption by the Council. 

3. Capital release - jointly with the relevant portfolio Cabinet Member to make decisions on the 
release of monies for capital projects. 

4. To allocate funds from planning obligations and to receive monthly progress reports on the 
completion of planning obligation (section 106) Agreements and the use of CIL payments.  

5. To oversee and monitor the housing revenue account budget, housing capital fund & 
housing rent setting, .  

6. To approve virements between services if provided for in the budget framework. 

7. To sign-off decisions to be taken by the Corporate Director of Finance during the period 
leading up to the closure of the Council's annual accounts for any necessary revenue or 
capital budget virements, allocation of priority growth funds or acceptance of grants that 
may be required for service or project delivery within the overall budget framework 

Page 98



Page 71 

approved by Council. That such decisions be reported to a subsequent Cabinet meeting for 
noting and to ensure transparency.  

8. In conjunction with the Corporate Director of Finance and Leader of the Council, to review 
individual council services budget accounts and make any necessary decisions on 
adjustments to budgets that may be required before the presentation of the yearly Outturn 
Budget report to Cabinet.  

9. To be responsible for the overall internal and external audit strategies and arrangements of 
the Council, with operational decision-making and work programmes delegated to the 
Corporate Director of Finance and monitoring the review of such activity undertaken by the 
Audit Committee.  

10. To authorise the commissioning of work from internal and external audit following a request 
from the Audit Committee.  

11. To be responsible for the overall enforcement, fraud and corruption strategies and 
arrangements of the Council, with operational decision-making and activity delegated to 
Chief Officers. 

12. To approve write-offs of income of a value of £5,000 or over.  

13. To receive monthly/regular reports on income written off by officers under delegated 
powers (i.e. sums under £5,000).  

14. On the request of an Appropriate Delegated Officer within the meaning of the Procurement 
and Contract Standing Orders, to enter into negotiations, in conjunction with this officer or 
any other officers nominated by him/her, with those parties who have entered into 
contracts with the Council.  

15. In conjunction with the relevant portfolio holder(s) where required, to take any decisions as 
set out in the Procurement and Contract Standing Orders – Schedule H. 

16. To make determination on appeals in relation to the amount of discretionary rate relief 
and/or the reduction or remission of rates. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 99



Page 72 

Cabinet Member for Property, Highways & Transport 
 
Service portfolio 
 
Directorate and Service areas the Cabinet Member is responsible for and where the Corporate 
Director responsible and Officers within will report directly to: 
 

Place Directorate Capital Programme - Major Projects 
 Property & Estates 

 Transportation 

 Highways 

 Repairs & Engineering (including housing repairs) 

 Building Safety / Facilities Management 

 
Other responsibilities 
 
1. To oversee and report to the Cabinet on the Council’s responsibilities and initiatives in respect 
of:-  

• Major construction projects  
• Housing stock development and construction  
• Housing maintenance and refurbishment  
• Facilities management including Energy / Carbon use and consumption 
• Building Safety 
• The Council’s land and property holdings including its industrial and business units, shops, 

car parks and meeting halls  
• Maintenance of Heritage Assets 
• Highway maintenance 
• Bus routes and transportation  
• Fleet and Passenger Services  
• Road safety  
• Traffic management and parking management schemes 

The Cabinet Member for Property, Highways & Transport, in conjunction with the Leader of the 
Council and Chief Officers, will oversee the acquisition, development, use and disposal of land 
and property assets across all Cabinet portfolios.  

Delegations 

2. In pursuance of the Council’s objectives and on the recommendation of Chief Officers, to 
take (or recommend to Cabinet) decisions regarding land and property as set out in the 
Procurement and Contract Standing Orders – Schedule H.  

3. To receive monthly updates of the sales programme.  

4. To recommend to the Cabinet an Asset Management Policy and Plan and Capital 
Investment Strategy for the best use of the Council’s land and property, in consultation 
with Cabinet Members.  

Page 100



Page 73 

5. Jointly with the Cabinet Member for Residents’ Services, to authorise the grant of 
extension of leasehold interests in properties where the Council is a freeholder, to 
consider requests from leaseholders of Council properties for loft conversions and to take 
all constitutional decisions required in relation to disposals, sales and leases for loft 
spaces under Council freehold.  

6. To make recommendations to the Cabinet for the use of land and property, where there 
are competing service needs.  

7. In conjunction with the Leader of the Council, to be responsible for overseeing and 
reporting to Cabinet on all aspects of the Housing Development Programme, social 
housing grants and other related external grants.  

8. In conjunction with the Leader of the Council, to agree rent reviews, including rent free 
periods for tenants undertaking capital works or determine whether the Council carries 
out such capital works and agree to modify any future rent accordingly.  

9. To approve programmes for housing stock investment and confirmation of adjustments 
to the housing programme.  

10. To approve terms for the appropriation between services, on the recommendation of 
Chief Officers . 

11. To list Assets of Community Value.  

12. To approve lettings of public open space for funfairs, circuses and other similar events.  

13. To be Vice-Chairman of the Shareholder Committee for Hillingdon First Limited (Cabinet 
appointment). 

14. Jointly with the Cabinet Member for Finance, to make decisions on the release of monies 
for capital projects within their remit. 

15. To approve or refuse requests for footway parking exemptions.  

16. To consider comments received as a result of public consultation on traffic management 
proposals, including waiting and loading restrictions, clearways, controlled parking zones, 
local safety schemes and to approve the final form of schemes, including approval to the 
conditions of use for parking permits to e.g. traders, business users, residents.  

17. Within the overall budget approved by the Cabinet and Council, to approve the inclusion of 
individual projects and their variation in the programmes for street lighting, highway 
maintenance, traffic management, London Cycling Network, London Bus Priority 
Network, Parking Revenue Account funded schemes, (in consultation with other Cabinet 
Members as appropriate) within the financial limits set out in the budget framework.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 101



Page 74 

Cabinet Member for Children, Families and Education  
 
Service Portfolio 
 
Directorate and Service areas the Cabinet Member is responsible for and where the Corporate / 
Executive Director responsible and Officers within will report directly to: 
 

Education & SEND Directorate Education, skills & life-long learning 

 SEND 
Children & Young People’s 
Services Directorate 

Children's Services / Safeguarding  

Adult Services & Health 
Directorate 

Children and Families Development (including Early 
Years and Children's Centres) 

 
Joint service portfolio with Cabinet Member for Health and Social Care: 
 

Central Services Directorate Health integration / Voluntary Sector 
 
Other responsibilities 

1. To oversee and report to the Cabinet on the Council’s responsibilities and initiatives in respect 
of:-  

• Care services for children  
• Services for children with disabilities  
• Safeguarding  children  
• Adolescent mental health services  
• School attendance, 
• Young People’s Grants and awards schemes, 
• Home and hospital tuition, 
• Transport and travel concessions for school pupils, 
• School places, 
• Raising standards of education. 
• All other education services to children. 
• Youth services and youth centres 
• Youth Justice 
• Children’s centres 
• Careers service, 
• Adult and Community Learning and skills development (including the Hillingdon Music 

Service) 
• Corporate parenting 
• Implementation of the Safety Valve Agreement 

Delegations 

2. To exercise the LEA’s powers of intervention including the suspension of delegated powers 
from a governing body in accordance with the School Standards and Framework Act 1998 
and related legislation.  

Page 102



Page 75 

3. To receive monthly reports on the performance of schools.  

4. To approve or nominate appointments of Council nominees to School Governing Bodies and 
vary and approve Constitutions in accordance with the relevant legislation and any local 
procedures allowing nominations from all political groups.  

5. To monitor the performance of any schools where special measures have been applied.  

6. To consider Ofsted reports on schools in the Borough as necessary  

7. To determine school organisation proposals where no objections have been received.  

8. To approve the Agreed Syllabus from the Standing Advisory Council for Religious Education, 
receive their Annual Report and agree any changes to their Constitution  

9. To authorise, on behalf of the local authority, any Councillor (present or within the past four 
years) to be appointed to the office of Governor or Director at an Academy.  

10. To consider requests for School Redundancy Payments and decide whether to approve 
them on behalf of the Local Authority 

11. In consultation with the Leader of the Council, to agree the process and determine the 
award of student bursaries. 

12. To make determination on the following local choice appeals function: 

• appeals against decisions to refuse student awards.  
• appeals against decisions to refuse free travel from home to school or college.  

13. Jointly with the Cabinet Member for Finance, to make decisions on the release of monies 
for capital projects within their remit. 

14. Work with the Schools Forum to ensure the delivery of the Safety Valve Agreement and the 
sound financial management of the Dedicated Schools Grant.  

15. To approve statements of purpose for Children’s homes and establishments. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 103



Page 76 

Cabinet Member for Health & Social Care  
 
Service portfolio 
 
Directorate and Service areas the Cabinet Member is responsible for and where the Corporate / 
Executive Director responsible and Officers within will report directly to: 
 

Adult Services & Health Directorate Adult Social Work 
 Adult Safeguarding  

 Provider & Commissioned Care 
 Public Health 

Joint service portfolio with Cabinet Member for Children, Families & Education: 

Central Services Directorate Health integration / Voluntary Sector 
 
Other responsibilities 

1. To oversee and report to the Cabinet on the Council’s responsibilities and initiatives in 
respect of:-  

• Care services  
• Services for adults with disabilities  
• Safeguarding  adults  
• Adult Mental health services  
• The Council’s Domestic Abuse services and support  
• Services to asylum seekers 
• Public Health services 
• Partnerships with the Health and Voluntary sector to deliver better social care and 

health outcomes for residents 
• Health inequalities  
• Health Control Unit, Heathrow 
• Transport and travel for social services clients 
 

Delegations 

1. The Cabinet Member shall be a Co-Chairman of the Health and Wellbeing Board.  
2. Develop partnerships with other bodies, including the voluntary and community sector, 

to help residents live better lives.  
3. To provide link contact between the Council and the local Clinical Commissioning 

Group.  
4. To represent or recommend to Cabinet, another Councillor to represent the Council on 

the Authority’s Adoption and Permanency Panel and Fostering Panel.  
5. To consider monthly reports on sensitive services and those with significant budget 

implications, e.g. placements in residential homes.  
6. To make determination appeals against decisions to charge for home care and day care 

services.  
7. Jointly with the Cabinet Member for Finance, to make decisions on the release of 

monies for capital projects within their remit. 

Page 104



Page 77 

8. Assess and monitor health inequalities and develop strategies with health partners to 
reduce those inequalities  

 

Cabinet Member for Residents’ Services 
 
Service portfolio 
 
Directorate and Service areas the Cabinet Member is responsible for and where the Corporate 
Director responsible and Officers within will report directly to: 
 

Place Directorate Climate Change 
 Housing 

 Green Spaces, Sport & Culture (Green Spaces) 

 Community Safety & Cohesion 

 Anti-Social Behaviour and Enforcement Team (ASBET) 

 Trading Standards, Environmental Health & Licensing 

 Waste Services 

 Parking Enforcement 

 Planning services 

 
Other responsibilities 

1. To oversee and report to the Cabinet on the Council’s responsibilities and initiatives in 
respect of:- 

• Environmental issues including Climate change, air quality and flooding. 
• Parks, open spaces, woodlands, allotments and other amenity land, reservoirs and 

waters including the Colne Valley Park  
• Crematoriums, Cemeteries & Mortuary Service 
• Housing strategy for the Borough,  
• Council housing including stock and tenancy management  
• Homelessness duties,  
• Standards of privately let housing & private sector housing grants,  
• The Chrysalis programme of environmental improvements,  
• Street Champions & Feel Proud [neighbourhood campaigns]  
• Refuse service including waste strategy and recycling, civic amenity sites, Street 

cleansing, 
• Community services including Libraries, sports and leisure, and cultural services 
• Community Safety and enforcement, including anti-social behaviour 
• Parking Services 
• Consumer protection, Environmental Health, Weights & Measures, Imported Food 

office 
• CCTV and emergency planning 
• Community cohesion - promoting harmony between different cultures and races,  

Page 105



Page 78 

• All Licensing Policies and Procedures, including the Statement of Licensing Policy, 
Statement of Gambling Policy and Sex Establishments Policy.  

• Animal welfare and licensing 
• Safety of Sports Grounds 
• Planning policy and planning enforcement  
• Regeneration, including Town Centres and master planning 
• Designation of conservation areas. 

Delegations 

2. To be responsible for the Council’s Climate Change Strategy, in conjunction with the Leader 
of the Council. 

3. Jointly with the Cabinet Member for Property, Highways & Transport to authorise the grant 
of extension of leasehold interests in properties where the Council is freeholder, to 
consider requests from leaseholders of Council properties for loft conversions and to take 
all constitutional decisions required in relation to disposals, sales and leases for loft spaces 
under Council freehold. 

3. To approve systems for consultation with tenants and lessees.  

4. To approve housing management arrangements and to commission housing maintenance, 
regeneration and stock growth. 

5. To sign-off decisions to be taken by the relevant Chief Officer in respect of the Private Sector 
Leasing Scheme, including Finders Fee and Guaranteed Rental Schemes.  

6. Within the overall budget approved by the Cabinet and Council, to approve the inclusion of 
individual projects in the Chrysalis Programme. 

7. To be responsible for the Council’s Policy on Drones and Small Unmanned Aerial Vehicles.  

8. To consider representations made on proposals for modifications to the Local Plan / Local 
Development Framework and to make recommendations to Cabinet as appropriate.  

9. To consider representations made to proposals for supplementary planning guidance and 
to make recommendations to Cabinet as appropriate.  

10. To make all necessary decisions in pursuit of the Council’s policy on Heathrow Expansion 
and High Speed 2.  

11. Jointly with the Cabinet Member for Finance, to make decisions on the release of monies 
for capital projects within their remit. 

12. To monitor the implementation of the community safety strategy, including the 
achievement of targets in the strategy.  

13. To be responsible for developing awareness throughout the Council and Borough of 
community safety.  

14. To develop partnership working with the community, the Police, probation service, health 
service and other stakeholders to develop solutions to community safety concerns.  

15. To approve and agree any changes to the Terms of Reference of the Hillingdon Safer 
Neighbourhood Board and appoint (or dismiss) the Chairman of the Board upon the 
recommendation of the Chief Executive of the London Borough of Hillingdon and the 
Hillingdon Borough Police Commander.  

Page 106



Page 79 

16. To approve specific alleygating schemes and alleygating policies and procedures. 

17. Jointly with the Cabinet Member for Finance, to make decisions on the release of monies 
for capital projects within their remit. 

18. To represent the Council on the Uxbridge BID and similar town centre partnership. 

19. To receive monthly reports on numbers of parking penalty charge notices written off or 
cancelled by officers.  

 

Cabinet Member for Corporate Services  
 
Service Portfolio 
 
Directorate and Service areas the Cabinet Member is responsible for and where the Corporate 
Director responsible and Officers within will report directly to: 
 

Central Services Directorate Legal Services 
 Human Resources 
 Business Administration 
 Business Performance 

 Customer Access 
 ICT 

 
Other responsibilities 

1. To oversee and report to the Cabinet on the Council’s responsibilities, initiatives and 
transformation proposals in respect of:-  

• Legal services  
• Human Resources  
• Information & Communications Technology  
• Information Governance  
• Digital Services 
• Implementation of automation software 
• Business Administration 
• Business Performance and Improvement 
• Customer Access 
• Resident experience and satisfaction 
• Community Engagement  
• Risk Management  
• Voluntary Sector Funding & Corporate Grants 
• Seeking external funding 
• Strategic partnerships 

Delegation 

2. To promote effective methods of partnership working, in consultation with the 
appropriate Cabinet Member if this relates to specific service areas. 

Page 107



Page 80 

3. To oversee proposed arrangements with public and other bodies for the delivery and 
funding of partnership initiatives which affect the Borough 

4. To report to the Cabinet on the development of information technology within the 
Council’s organisation and the arrangements to promote digital services. 

5. Responsible for consultation arrangements.  

6. To approve the spending of Ward Budgets.  

7. Oversee the Member Development Programme and agree associated seminars and 
training.  

8. Jointly with the Cabinet Member for Finance, to make decisions on the release of 
monies for capital projects within their remit. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 108



Page 81 

Chapter 6 – Select Committee arrangements  
 
The Council has established Select committees to: 
 

1. Assist in the development of Council policy and the improvement of services 
and efficiency  

2. Review and evaluate the actions of the Cabinet before and after decisions are 
taken; 

3. Have the power to make reports and recommendations on such matters; 
4. Scrutinise local health services and crime and disorder reduction. 

 
These committees exercise the Council’s statutory overview and scrutiny functions 
under the Local Government Act 2000, Health and Social Care Act 2001, Police and 
Justice Act 2006 (and later Acts and regulations).  
 

About the Select Committees 
 
The Council has appointed the following Select Committees to discharge these functions: 
 

 
 

The Select Committees will mirror Cabinet Member portfolios and Directorate Structures as far 
as practicable. The Residents’ Services Select Committee and the Health & Social Care Select 
Committee will undertake the statutory external scrutiny functions on crime & disorder and 
health respectively. Chairmen of the Committees may jointly agree to establish a Task and Finish 
Review Panel to undertake detailed reviews. The Children, Families & Education Select 
Committee will establish a Panel to oversee the corporate parenting responsibilities of the 
Council. The terms of reference for each of these Committees and their Panels, where 
established, are set out in this Chapter.  

Page 109



Page 82 

Councillor Membership and attendance 
 
The Council will appoint to these committees as it considers appropriate from time to time. The 
current membership number is 7 Councillors appointed on a proportional basis to each Select 
Committee. For the Children, Families & Education Select Committee, membership may also 
include co-opted Members as set out. 
 
All Councillors except Members of the Cabinet and Cabinet Assistants may be Members of a 
Select Committee. However, no Member may be involved in scrutinising a decision with which 
he/she has been directly involved or has a prejudicial interest. All Councillors, including Cabinet 
Members, may attend a Select Committee meeting and address the Chairman of that Committee 
only at his/her discretion.  
 
Committee members shall hold office until they resign, are removed from office or their 
successors are appointed. 
 
Co-opted Members & Education Representatives 
 
Each Select Committee shall be entitled to recommend to Council the appointment of permanent 
non-voting co-optees, or agree as a committee a non-voting co-optee for a limited duration as 
an advisor to assist with a specific review or work activity, for example, a subject matter expert 
from the local community. 
 
The Children, Families & Education Select Committee shall additionally include in its membership 
the following Co-opted voting education representatives, where duly appointed or elected: 
 

1) 1 Church of England diocese representative; 
2) 1 Roman Catholic diocese representative; and 
3) Such other representatives of faiths and denominations as may be appointed by the 

Council subject to a direction being issued by the Secretary of State. 
4) A minimum of 2 and maximum of 5 parent governor representatives elected by parents. 

 
Education representatives may only vote on matters relating to education, whether in respect of 
schools or wider educational issues, that are on the agenda. They may in addition speak, but not 
vote, on any other matters within the remit of the committee.  
 
All co-opted members of a select committee are bound by the Members and Co-opted Members 
Code of Conduct as set out in Part 3, Chapter 21. 
 
Quorum 
 
The quorum for a Select Committees shall be 4 Members of the committee. 
 
Chairmen and Vice-Chairman 
 
The posts of Chairmen and Vice-Chairman of the Committees will be decided by the Membership 
of that particular committee.  
 
 

Page 110



Page 83 

Role and Remit 
 
General Terms of Reference 
 
The Following Terms of Reference are common to the select committees: 
 
1. To conduct reviews of policy, services or aspects of service which have either been referred 

by Cabinet, relate to the Cabinet Forward Plan, or have been chosen by the Committee 
according to the agreed criteria for selecting such reviews; 

2. To monitor the performance of the Council services within their remit (including the 
management of finances and risk); 

3. To comment on the proposed annual service and budget plans for the Council services 
within their remit before final approval by Cabinet and Council; 

4. To consider the Forward Plan and comment as appropriate to the decision-maker on Key 
Decisions which relate to services within their remit (before they are taken by the Cabinet); 

5. To review or scrutinise decisions made or actions taken by the Cabinet, a Cabinet Member, 
a Council Committee or an officer. 

6. To make reports and recommendations to the Council, the Leader, the Cabinet, a Select 
Committees or any other Council Committee arising from the exercise of the preceding 
terms of reference. 

7. To exercise the right set out in this Chapter of the Call-in Procedure Rules and to call-in and 
recommend for reconsideration any key decisions made but not yet implemented by the 
Cabinet, a Cabinet Member, a Council Cabinet Sub-Committee or an officer. This would 
include any key decision that needs further information from the decision-maker to explain 
why it was taken. 

8. In accordance with the Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007, to 
consider ‘Councillor Calls For Action’ (CCfA) submissions. 

 
Select Committees will not investigate individual complaints. 
 
Councillor Call for Actions 
 
The CCfA is a process designed to help Councillors resolve issues and problems on behalf of their 
residents, acting as a last resort for people who have been unable to get issues resolved through 
other means. CCfA should not be regarded merely as a scrutiny process and an issue can only 
become a CCfA once a Councillor has exhausted all other steps to resolve an issue in his or her 
ward such as a petition hearing, correspondence with elected Members and officers, questions 
to Council etc. Whilst CCfA’s may be submitted by all Councillors on any issue, there are certain 
exceptions which are: 
(a) An issue relating to a planning appeal, licensing appeal or where a person has an alternative 

avenue to resolve an issue (e.g. through an appropriate complaints process) 
(b) Any matter which is vexatious, discriminatory or not reasonable to be included in the agenda 

for, or to be discussed at, a meeting of the Select Committee 
 
Procedure 
 

1) A Member may submit a CCfA in writing to the Head of Democratic Services who will seek 
to confirm with the Member concerned if all other potential avenues to resolve the issue 
in question have been exhausted and that the request does not fall within the exemptions 

Page 111



Page 84 

detailed above. If necessary the Head of Democratic Services will discuss the matter with 
the Leader of the Council, the appropriate Cabinet Member and the Chief Whip.  

2) If satisfied that the CCfA is valid the Head of Democratic Services will submit the request 
to the appropriate Committee Chairman for inclusion on the agenda for the next meeting 
of the Select Committees. 

3) Relevant officer(s) and / or representatives from partner organisations may be invited to 
attend and information can be requested from such organisations. 

4) Discussion would take place at Committee to explore potential solutions and the item 
would end with the Committee recommending a course of action to the appropriate body 
– including detailed financial consequences and budgetary proposals. 

5) The process may not necessarily resolve the issue immediately but the process will act as 
a spur for Members and officers to work together to jointly develop policies to overcome 
the problem. 

 
 
Finance & Corporate Services Select Committee 
 
To undertake the overview and scrutiny role in relation to the following Cabinet Member 
portfolio(s) and service areas: 
 

 
Cabinet Member Portfolios 
 

 
• Leader of the Council 
• Cabinet Member for Corporate Services  
• Cabinet Member for Finance  

 
 
Relevant service areas  
 
 
 

 
1) Democratic Services 
2) Corporate Communications 
3) Corporate Finance 
4) Procurement  
5) Exchequer & Business Assurance Services  
6) ICT 
7) Legal Services 
8) Human Resources 
9) Business Administration 
10) Business Performance 
11) Customer Access 
12) Business Improvement Delivery (BID) 

  
 
Cross cutting topics 
 
This Committee will also act as lead select committee on the monitoring and review of the 
following cross-cutting topics: 
 

• Resident Experience 
 
 
 
 

Page 112



Page 85 

Residents Services’ Services Select Committee 
 
To undertake the overview and scrutiny role in relation to the following Cabinet Member 
portfolio(s) and service areas: 
 

 
Cabinet Member Portfolio 

 
• Cabinet Member for Residents’ Services 

 
 
Relevant service areas  

 
1) Community Safety, Licensing, Standards and 

Enforcement  
2) Planning & Regeneration  
3) Housing policy, homelessness & tenancy management 
4) Green Spaces, Sport & Culture  
5) Waste Services 

  
 
Statutory Crime and Disorder Scrutiny 
 
This Committee will act as a Crime and Disorder Committee as defined in the Crime and Disorder 
(Overview and Scrutiny) Regulations 2009 and carry out the bi-annual scrutiny of decisions made, 
or other action taken, in connection with the discharge by the responsible authorities of their 
crime and disorder functions.  
 
Duty of partners to attend and provide information 
 
The Crime and Disorder (Overview and Scrutiny) Regulations 2009 permits this Select Committee 
to make a request in writing for information to bodies who form the local Crime and Disorder 
Reduction Partnership (Safer Hillingdon Partnership), which includes the Police. The Committee 
should scrutinise the work of the partnership at least once a year and may also require the 
attendance before it of an officer or employee of a responsible authority or of a co-operating 
person or body in order to answer questions. The Committee may not require a person to attend 
unless reasonable notice of the intended date of attendance has been given to that person. 
 
Cross-cutting topics 
 
This Committee will also act as lead select committee on the monitoring and review of the 
following cross-cutting topics: 
 

• Climate Change 
• Local impacts of Heathrow expansion 
• Local impacts of High Speed 2 
• Community Cohesion 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 113



Page 86 

Property, Highways & Transport Select Committee 
 
To undertake the overview and scrutiny role in relation to the following Cabinet Member 
portfolio(s) and service areas: 
 

 
Cabinet Member Portfolio 
 

 
• Cabinet Member for Property, Highways & Transport 

 
 
Relevant service areas  

 
1) Property & Estates 
2) Capital Programme - Major Projects 
3) Transportation 
4) Highways  
5) Repairs & Engineering (including housing repairs) 
6) Building Safety / Facilities Management 

  
 
Cross-cutting topics 
 
This Committee will scrutinise and review the work of utility companies whose actions affect 
residents of the Borough.  
 
This Committee will also act as lead select committee on the monitoring and review of the 
following cross-cutting topics: 
 

• Civic Centre, Property and built assets 
 
 
Health & Social Care Select Committee 
 
To undertake the overview and scrutiny role in relation to the following Cabinet Member 
portfolio(s) and service areas: 
 

 
Cabinet Member Portfolios 
 

 
• Cabinet Member for Health & Social Care 

 
 
Relevant service areas  
 
 
 

 
1. Adult Social Work 
2. Adult Safeguarding 
3. Provider & Commissioned Care 
4. Public Health 
5. Health integration / Voluntary Sector 

  
 
Statutory Healthy Scrutiny 
 
This Committee will also undertake the powers of health scrutiny conferred by the Local Authority 
(Public Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards and Health Scrutiny) Regulations 2013. It will: 
 

Page 114



Page 87 

• Work closely with the Health & Wellbeing Board & Local HealthWatch in respect of 
reviewing and scrutinising local health priorities and inequalities. 

• Respond to any relevant NHS consultations.  
 
Duty of partners to attend and provide information 
 
The Local Authority (Public Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards and Health Scrutiny) Regulations 
2013, imposes duties on ‘responsible persons’ to provide a local authority with such information 
about the planning, provision and operation of health services in the area of the authority as it 
may reasonably require to discharge its health scrutiny functions through the Health & Social 
Care Select Committee. All relevant NHS bodies and health service providers (including GP 
practices and other primary care providers and any private, independent or third sector providers 
delivering services under arrangements made by clinical commissioning groups, NHS England or 
the local authority) have a duty to provide such information. Additionally, Members and 
employees of a relevant NHS body or relevant health service provider have a duty to attend before 
a local authority when required by it (provided reasonable notice has been given) to answer 
questions the local authority believes are necessary to carry out its health scrutiny functions. 
Further guidance is available from the Department of Health on information requests and 
attendance of individuals at meetings considering health scrutiny. 
 
Cross-cutting topics 
 
This Committee will also act as lead select committee on the monitoring and review of the 
following cross-cutting topics: 
 

• Domestic Abuse services and support  
 
 
Children, Families, & Education Select Committee 
 
To undertake the overview and scrutiny role in relation to the following Cabinet Member 
portfolio(s) and service areas: 
 

 
Cabinet Member Portfolios 
 

 
• Cabinet Member for Children, Families & Education  

 
Relevant service areas  
 
 
 

 
1. Children's Services (including corporate parenting) 
2. Children’s Safeguarding 
3. Youth Justice 
4. Youth Services 
5. SEND 
6. Education 
7. Children and Families Development  
8. Skills & lifelong learning 

  
 
This Select Committee will establish a Panel to support strong oversight of the Council’s 
corporate parenting responsibilities. The Committee may appoint 3 Members to this Panel based 
on political balance. Membership may include non-Cabinet Members not on the Committee. The 

Page 115



Page 88 

Committee may also appoint relevant Council officers and other external stakeholders to the 
Panel and agree its chairmanship and operation. In agreeing its operation, the Committee will 
provide for the Panel not to be able to establish any other sub-group or body to carry out its 
responsibilities. 
 
Corporate Parenting Panel  
 
Terms of Reference as approved by the parent Select Committee 
 
The purpose of the Panel is to support the Select Committee in championing corporate parenting 
across the Council, directly engaging children in the Council’s care and care leavers in the 
democratic and decision-making process, working with them and partners to monitor relevant 
service and improve outcomes and life chances. 
 
Membership will comprise of: 
 
Voting Members 
 
a) 3 Elected Members, who be appointed by the Select Committee based upon political balance, 

one of whom to be appointed as Chairman. A Vice-Chairman may also be appointed. Elected 
Members do not need to be Members of the parent Committee but cannot be Cabinet 
Members. 3 named substitutes, appointed by the Select Committee may attend in the 
absence of the appointed Members of the Panel and that they be from any of the five Select 
Committees based on political balance. 

 
Non-voting Members 
 
b) Up to 5 Children in Care Council Members (one of whom the Chairman or Vice-Chairman may 

ask to assist them informally in chairing a specific meeting).* 
c) Senior Officer from Children's Services 
d) Corporate Parenting Manager 
e) The Virtual School Head Teacher 
f) The Local Authority’s designated LAC Nurse or Doctor 
g) 1 x Foster Carer representative 
 
Advisors 
 
Relevant Council officers, e.g. from Social Care, Early Intervention and Prevention, Housing 
Service, along with external representatives, e.g. Department for Work and Pensions, may attend 
relevant Panel meetings as advisors. Council officers should attend the Panel to present any 
reports to the Panel regarding their service area. 
 
*This gives Children in Care Council representatives, in an informal capacity, a unique opportunity 
to get experience of assisting the Chairman or Vice-Chairman in the running of the meeting. 
 
Meetings and Operation 
 
The Panel will meet four times a year and in private* 
a) The Panel will have in place a work programme for its activity. 

Page 116



Page 89 

b) The Chairman of the Panel, in conjunction with other members, shall agree the dates of the 
Panel for the ensuing year, where possible. 

c) The Chairman of the Select Committee should authorise any additional meetings that may be 
required or requested by the Chairman of the Panel. 

d) The Panel will allow themes and agenda topics to be brought to them from the Children in Care 
Council (CiCC), with themes identified at each meeting. 

e) The Chairman of the Panel will agree agenda items in advance of the meeting. 
f) The Panel cannot establish any other sub-groups or bodies to carry out its responsibilities. 
 
*Unlike the parent Select Committee, the Panel is not required to operate under statutory 
procedures outlined in the Local Government Act 1972 and access to information rules do not apply. 
This allows the Panel to be conducted in a flexible way to suit the requirements of the Members and 
young people participating in it. 
 
Terms of Reference 
 
a) To champion the seven corporate parenting principles introduced by the Children and Social 

Work Act 2017. 
 
b) To support the work of the Select Committee overseeing the Council’s corporate parenting 

responsibilities by providing a strategic overview and monitoring of the statutory services for 
Looked After Children (LAC) and care leavers across the Borough, reporting back to the 
Committee on any findings, as appropriate. 

 
c) To actively engage young people who are looked after by the Council, along with care leavers, 

in order to ensure they have an opportunity to influence the development of services, 
participate in the decision-making and democratic process. 

 
d) To receive annual reports of the work of the Independent Reviewing Officers, LAC Health 

Team, LAC & Leaving Care Service, Virtual School and Fostering and Adoption Service. 
 

e) To consider the impact on outcomes for children on other relevant activities linked to LAC and 
care leavers lived experiences, e.g. emotional wellbeing. 

 
f) To undertake any associated activity, review or task as requested by the Select Committee, 

reporting back to the Committee if directed. 
 

g) That through the Chairman of the Panel, to advise the Select Committee and relevant Cabinet 
Member on matters relating to corporate parenting. 

 
h) To present the minutes of the Panel to a subsequent meeting of the Select Committee, where 

the Chairman of the Panel, along with any Children in Care Council Members, may attend to 
update the Committee on the Panel’s work. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 117



Page 90 

Task and Finish Review Panels 
 
Membership 
 
Membership of a Review Panel may include non-Cabinet Members not on the ‘parent’ 
Committee(s) or co-opted Members. Panel membership will be subject to the usual political 
balance rules. 
 
‘Review’ Panel Terms of reference 
 
Chairmen of the five select committees may jointly agree to establish Task and Finish Review 
Panels as set out in these Procedure Rules on the following matters: 
 
1. Focussed reviews within a particular Committee’s remit 
2. Cross-cutting reviews that cover the remit of more than one Committee; 
3. Any functions, but within the purview of the Council, not included within the remit of any 

Committee; 
 
A single Task and Finish Review Panel may be in operation at any one time and co-ordination of 
this will be by the five Select Committees Chairmen and any Panel will be subject to the approval 
of the Leader of the Council. The Chairmen will jointly agree the review topic, terms of reference, 
membership and chairmanship of any Panel. They will also agree the timescale for undertaking 
the review, including which Committee it will report back its findings to for consideration, prior 
to any report being presented to Cabinet. For reviews that span across the remit of more than 
one committee, any findings from a Panel will be reported to the Finance & Corporate Select 
Committee, unless the Chairmen jointly agree otherwise.  
 
 
 
North West London Joint Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
 
The Council agreed on 18 November 2021 that the Council would join the North West London Joint 
Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee (NWL JHOSC) comprising representatives from the 
boroughs of Brent, Camden, Ealing, Hammersmith and Fulham, Harrow, Hillingdon, Hounslow, 
Kensington and Chelsea, Richmond, Wandsworth and Westminster.  It meets with 
representatives of NHS inner North West London to consider matters concerning health care 
subject to consultation. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 118



Page 91 

How Select Committees operate 
 
Meetings and Multi-Year Work Programmes 
 
Each Select Committee will operate a timetable of meetings, approved by Full Council, in order to 
carry out its programme of work. The Select Committees will be responsible for setting their own 
work programme, within their terms of reference. In doing so, they shall take into account the 
wishes of members on that Committee who are not members of the largest political group on the 
Council. Work programmes will span across municipal years, to provide for in-depth reviews and 
ensure flexibility in reporting to Cabinet. 
 
Select Committees and any Panels shall, as a default, consider the following business: 
 

1) minutes of the last meeting; 
2) declarations of interest ; 
3) referrals from Cabinet/Council for reviews by the Select Committees if applicable; and 
4) the business otherwise set out on the agenda for the meeting as determined by the 

Committee’s Work Programme or the Chairman. 
 
Special meetings and cancellation of meetings 
 
The Chairman of a Select Committee may call a special meeting or cancel a meeting having 
consulted the Chief Whips of Party Groups and/or Opposition Lead(s). A special meeting may also 
be called on the requisition of at least two thirds of the whole number of the Committee delivered 
in writing to the Head of Democratic Services. 
 
Requests from Council / Cabinet to review specific matters 
 
Select Committees shall respond, as soon as their work programme permits, to requests from 
the Council and the Cabinet, including individual Cabinet members for matters for which they 
have delegated authority, to review particular areas of Council activity. Where they do so, Select 
Committees shall report their findings and any recommendations back to the Cabinet, or if it is 
outside the budget and policy framework, the Council. The Council and/or the Cabinet shall 
normally consider the report of the Select within one month of receiving it. 
 
Policy Review and Development 
 

1) Select Committees are to be consulted on the Council’s budget and policy framework 
documents as set out in the Budget and Policy Framework Procedure Rules. 

2) In relation to the development of the Council’s approach to other matters not forming part 
of its policy and budget framework, Select Committees may make proposals to the 
Cabinet for developments in so far as they relate to matters within their terms of 
reference. 

3) Select Committees (or a Panel) may hold enquiries and investigate the available options 
for future direction in policy development and may appoint advisers and assessors to 
assist them in this process. Such advisors and assessors would only be invited to speak on 
matters connected with their appointment. The Committees may go on site visits, 
conduct public surveys, hold public meetings, commission research and do all other things 
that they reasonably consider necessary to inform their deliberations. They may ask 
external witnesses to attend to address them on any matter under consideration and may 

Page 119



Page 92 

pay to any advisers, assessors and witnesses a reasonable fee and expenses for doing so, 
provided that the budget provision is not exceeded. The Senior Democratic Services 
Manager will manage the overall budget, allocating amounts to individual Select 
Committees to spend as necessary. 

 
Principles of undertaking reviews 
 
Where a Select Committees or Panel conducts reviews or investigations (e.g. with a view to policy 
development), the Committee may also ask people to attend to give evidence at Committee 
meetings which are to be conducted in accordance with the following principles: 
 

1) that the investigation be conducted fairly and all Members of the Committee be given the 
opportunity to ask questions of attendees, and to contribute and speak; 

2) that those assisting the Committee by giving evidence be treated with respect and 
courtesy; and 

3) that the investigation be conducted so as to maximise the efficiency of the investigation 
or analysis. 

 
Reporting to Cabinet (or Council) 
 

1) Once it has formed recommendations on proposals for development, the Select 
Committee will prepare a formal report and submit it to the Head of Democratic Services 
for consideration by the Cabinet if the proposals are consistent with the existing 
budgetary and policy framework. 

2) Reviews will be submitted to the full Council, via the Cabinet for comment first, if 
recommendations require a departure from or a change to the agreed budget and policy 
framework. 

3) If a Select Committee cannot agree on one single final report, a single minority report may 
be prepared and submitted for consideration by the Cabinet or Council with the majority 
report. 

4) The Cabinet or Council shall normally consider the report of the Committee within one 
month of it being submitted to the Head of Democratic Services. 

5) Reports from Panels must be presented to Cabinet from and on behalf of their parent 
Committee. 

6) Reports from Committees within the remit of the Health & Wellbeing Board or any other 
Council Committee shall be referred to Cabinet first with a recommendation that the 
report then goes to the Board/Committee concerned. 

7) Select Committees and Panels may undertake reviews and submit reports spanning 
across municipal years, except in the year leading up to local council elections. 

8) Select Committees must report at least annually to Full Council on their workings and 
make recommendations for future work programmes and amended working methods if 
appropriate. 

 
To ensure that such reports are considered by the Cabinet: 
 

9) The Forward Plan or agenda for Cabinet meetings shall include an item entitled ‘Reports 
from Select Committees’. Only one item from each Select Committee is to be permitted 
for each Cabinet meeting or a meeting of a Cabinet Sub-Committee (unless they have been 
considered in the context of the Cabinet’s deliberations on other substantive items on the 

Page 120



Page 93 

Cabinet agenda)  and shall be included on the Cabinet meeting agenda normally within one 
month of the Committee completing its report/recommendations. 
 

Formal comments to Cabinet and consultations 
 
Committee Members will have access to the Cabinet’s timetable for decisions and also its 
intentions for consultation on matters, as set out in the Forward Plan, including those on budget 
and policy framework documents.  
 
The committees may submit formal comments on forthcoming Cabinet or Cabinet Member 
reports, where the committee has had the ability to consider the matter. To facilitate this, a 
standard section will be included within all executive reports called ‘Select Committee Comments’ 
for such comments to be included and considered by the Cabinet or Cabinet Member at a later 
date when they make a decision.  
 
In such cases, a Select Committee may agree comments: 
 

1) by majority vote at the meeting the matter is being considered; or 
2) if additional time is required to devise the comments, by delegation to the Democratic 

Services Officer in conjunction with the Chairman (and in consultation with the Opposition 
Lead(s)). 

 
Notwithstanding the process above to submit formal comments, committees will also be able to 
participate, where timetabling permits, in the course of any other public consultations by the 
Council. 
 
Additional rights to information 
 
As referenced in the Rules on Access to Information in Part 3 of the Constitution, in addition to 
their rights as Councillors, Members of Select Committees have the additional right to documents 
and to notice of meetings. 
 
Subject to the limits specified below, a Select Committee (including any of its sub-committees or 
Panels) will be entitled to copies of any document which is in the possession or control of the 
Cabinet or its committees and which contains material relating to: 
 

(a) any business transacted at a public or private meeting of the Cabinet or its 
committees; or 

(b) any decision taken by an individual member of the Cabinet; 
(c) any decision that has been made by an officer of the authority in accordance 

with executive arrangements.  
 

The Cabinet, Cabinet Member or Officer must provide that document as soon as reasonably 
practicable and, in any case, no later than 10 clear days after the request has been received. 
 
Limits on these rights apply to: 
 

(a) any part of a document that contains exempt or confidential information, 
unless that information is relevant to an action or decision they are reviewing 
or scrutinising or intend to scrutinise; or 

Page 121



Page 94 

(b) any document or part of a document that contains the advice of a political 
adviser. 

Nothing outlined above in this section prevents more detailed liaison between the Cabinet, 
Cabinet Members and Select Committees as appropriate depending on the particular matter 
under consideration as set out in the Cabinet and Overview and Scrutiny Protocol. 
 
Informal attendance at meetings  
 
Any Cabinet Member, Member, senior officer and also more junior officers may be invited to 
attend to assist any Select Committees or a Panel on policy topics or any other matter within their 
work programme or remit. A Select Committees or Panel may also invite any other person to 
discuss issues of local concern and/or answer questions. It may for example wish to hear from 
residents, other stakeholders and shall invite such people to attend. 
 
Formal duty to attend by officers 
 
In accordance with their terms of reference, a relevant Select Committees or Panel may review 
or scrutinise any decisions made or actions taken in connection with the discharge of any Council 
functions, subject to the matter being within their Terms of Reference. As well as reviewing 
documentation, in fulfilling the scrutiny role, it may require any Member of the Cabinet, the Head 
of Paid Service and/or any senior officer (Service Manager or above) to attend before it to explain 
in relation to matters within their remit: 

 
1) any particular decision or series of decisions; 
2) the reasons for their action;  
3) the extent to which the actions taken implement Council policy; and/or 
4) their performance 

 
and it is the duty of those persons to attend if so required. 
 
When calling senior officers and/or Members to account, the Committee or Panel will remain 
bound by the Code of Conduct for Members and Co-opted Members. Any discussion concerning 
an employee’s salary or conditions of service would normally be dealt with in the confidential part 
of the meeting.   
 
Committees and Panels shall take care to ensure that the questioning of Members, officers and 
individuals from outside the Council is conducted in a fair and balanced manner. 
 
Committees and Panels have the right to criticise the Council and its actions but this shall not 
extend to personal criticism of individuals. 
 
Where any Member or officer is required to attend a Committee or Panel under this provision, the 
Chairman of that Committee will inform the Head of Democratic Services. The Head of 
Democratic Services shall inform the Member or officer in writing or by email giving at least 10 
working days’ notice of the meeting at which he/she is required to attend. The notice will state 
the nature of the item on which he/she is required to attend to give account and whether any 
papers are required to be produced for the Committee or Panel. Where the account to be given 
to the Committee or Panel will require the production of a report, then the Member or officer 
concerned will be given sufficient notice to allow for preparation of that documentation. 
 

Page 122



Page 95 

Where, in exceptional circumstances, the Member or officer is unable to attend on the required 
date, then the Committee or Panel shall in consultation with the Member or officer arrange an 
alternative date for attendance. 
 
Officer Support 
 
The appointed Statutory Scrutiny Officer will arrange for dedicated officer support to assist the 
Select Committees in carrying out their official business. The Select Committees may exercise 
overall responsibility for the finances made available to them. However, the Head of Democratic 
Services has responsibility for allocating finances to the individual committees. 
 
 

Call-in Procedure Rules 
 
This can be exercised by all Select Committees other than the External Services Select 
Committee: 
 

1) When a decision is made by the Cabinet, a Cabinet Member, Cabinet Sub-Committee, or a 
Key Decision is made by an officer with delegated authority from the Cabinet, or under 
joint arrangements, the decision shall be published, including by electronic means, and 
shall be available at the Civic Centre normally within 2 working days of being made. The 
notice of the decision will bear the date on which it is published and notified to all Members 
of the Council and will specify that the decision will come into force, and will then be 
implemented, on the expiry of 5 working days from 5pm, after the publication of the 
decision, unless that decision is called-in. 

2) During that period, the Head of Democratic Services shall arrange for a call-in of a decision 
for scrutiny if so requested in writing by a majority of members of the relevant Select 
Committee who shall give their reasons for requesting that the decision be called in at the 
time of making the request. 

3) The request to call-in must be via the approved online form [Scrutiny Call-in App] issued 
by the Head of Democratic Services and the ruling by the Head of Democratic Services on 
the relevant Select Committee (and therefore Members of) to initiate and hear a call-in 
based on their Terms of Reference shall be final. 

4) The Head of Democratic Services shall then notify the relevant decision-maker (Cabinet, 
Cabinet Member or Officer), Chief Executive and Corporate / Executive Director that a 
valid call-in has been received and that the decision must be put on hold and not 
implemented. 

5) The Head of Democratic Services, in consultation with the Chairman of the relevant Select 
Committee, will then call a meeting of that Committee as soon as possible and in any 
event, to be held within 10 working days of the valid call-in request. 

6) The Select Committee will receive the original report on the decision, any additional 
information required given the reasons for the call-in and may invite relevant officers / 
Cabinet Member(s) to the meeting to give account.  

7) If the Select Committee agrees to uphold the decision made, then via majority vote, the 
decision stands and can be implemented with immediate effect. 

8) If, having considered the decision further, the Select Committee object to or are still 
concerned about the decision, then via majority vote, it may: 

 
a) refer it back to the decision-making person or body for reconsideration, setting out 

in writing the nature of its concerns. The decision-making body or person, 

Page 123

https://apps.powerapps.com/play/cbc62b47-53ef-479e-a6b6-56d461595a4a?tenantId=aaacb679-c381-48fb-b320-f9d581ee948f


Page 96 

considering all factors, then will make a final decision on the matter and that 
decision stands and comes into immediate effect. 

 
b) refer the matter to Full Council, but only in the circumstances set out below. 

 
If for any reason following a valid call-in request, the Select Committee does not formally 
meet within 10 working days of the date of the request, the original decision shall take 
effect at the end of the 10-day period. 

 
Referral of call-in to Full Council 
 
A decision will not be referred to Full Council unless either the Committee believes it to be 
contrary to the Policy Framework or Budget or considers that it was a Key Decision that was not 
dealt with as such by the Cabinet and that the advice of the Monitoring Officer / Section 151 Officer 
concurs with this. If it is referred to the decision maker, they shall then reconsider within a further 
5 working days, amending the decision or not, before adopting a final decision. 
 
If the matter was referred to Full Council and the Council does not object to a decision which has 
been made, then no further action is necessary, and the decision will be effective in accordance 
with the provision below. 
 
If the Council does object, it has no authority to make decisions in respect of a Cabinet decision 
unless it is contrary to the policy framework, or contrary to or not wholly consistent with the 
budget. Unless that is the case, the Council will refer any decision to which it objects back to the 
decision-making person or body, together with the Council’s views on the decision. That 
decision-making body or person shall choose whether to amend the decision or not before 
reaching a final decision and implementing it. Where the decision was taken by the Cabinet as a 
whole or a committee of it, a meeting will be convened to reconsider within 10 working days of 
the Council request. Where the decision was made by an individual, the individual will reconsider 
within 10 working days of the Council request. 
 
If the Council does not meet, or if it does but does not refer the decision back to the decision-
making body or person, the decision will become effective on the date of the Council meeting or 
expiry of the period in which the Council meeting should have been held, whichever is the earlier. 
 
Waiver of call-in period for urgent or special urgency decisions 
 
In accordance with the Rules on Access to Information in Part 3 of the Constitution, the call-in 
procedure set out above shall not apply where the decision being taken by the Cabinet or Cabinet 
member is urgent. A decision will be urgent if any delay likely to be caused by the call-in process 
would seriously prejudice the Council’s or the public’s interests or could lead to an (increased) risk 
of damage to people or property. The record of the decisions, and notice by which it is made 
public shall state whether in the opinion of the decision-making person or body, the decision is 
an urgent one, and therefore not subject to call-in.   
 
The Chairman of the relevant Select Committee (or Vice-Chairman in their absence) must be 
informed that the decision will be implemented immediately upon him/her agreeing that the 
decision is reasonable and to it being treated as a matter of urgency. In the absence of the 
Chairman or Vice-Chairman then the Mayor (or Deputy Mayor if required) can take this decision. 

Page 124



Page 97 

Decisions taken as a matter of urgency must be reported to the next available meeting of Council, 
together with the reasons for urgency. 
 
Matters that cannot be called-in 
 
The following decisions cannot be called-in by Members of a Select Committee: 
 

a) Any decision relating to a non-executive function, e.g. licensing or planning decision; 
b) Non-key decisions delegated by Cabinet to Council officers (e.g. operational, i.e. to 

implement the Cabinet’s decision); 
c) Decisions taken certified as urgent, under urgency or special urgency provisions (where 

the Chairman of the relevant Select Committee has waived the scrutiny call-in period); 
d) A decision that has already been the subject of a call-in during the previous 6 months; 
e) Any decision that is required to be taken by the full Council (e.g. Annual Budget, Policy 

Framework documents, or reports to Cabinet making recommendations to full Council); 
f) Decisions that are not technically decisions, i.e. “to note” or “to receive”; 
g) Previously taken decisions by Cabinet Members that are later ‘ratified’ by Cabinet. 

 
 

Protocol on Overview & Scrutiny and Cabinet Relations 
 

In addition to the procedures set out in this Chapter, the following protocol sets out the 
practical expectations of Select Committees Members and Cabinet Members to ensure an 
effective relationship that adds value to overview and scrutiny governance in Hillingdon. It was 
adopted by Full Council on 12 September 2019: 
 
***** 

 
This protocol sets out the practical expectations of Select Committee Members and Cabinet 
Members to ensure an effective relationship that adds value to overview and scrutiny 
governance in Hillingdon. 

Notwithstanding their independent role, Committee Members are expected to: 

• Take into account suggestions from Cabinet Members as well as other stakeholders, on the 
development of their multi-year work programmes or policy reviews to ensure strong 
organisational and community support; 

• Ensure appropriate early engagement with Cabinet Members on draft policy review 
recommendations in order to gauge support.  

• Seek early engagement with the relevant Cabinet Member, Cabinet Member for Finance and 
Leader of the Council to consider the viability of draft policy review recommendations that 
may have a financial consequence; 

• Seek the support of the relevant Cabinet Member, Leader of the Council and Corporate / 
Executive Director when it considers to compel a particular contractor providing Council 
services to provide information or attend a meeting; 

• Through Democratic Services, ensure Corporate & Executive Directors and Cabinet 
Members are kept regularly informed about the committee’s activity and multi-year work 
programmes. 

• Liaise with the relevant Corporate / Executive Director, Cabinet Member and Leader of the 
Council should exceptional financial or officer resources be required in order to undertake 
a particular future work activity or policy review. 

Page 125



Page 98 

Respecting the independent role of the committees, Cabinet Members are expected to: 

• Never personally seek to direct the activity of a committee, though they may make 
suggestions or request matters of interest to be considered by a Committee;  

• Ensure their attendance to provide information when requested by the Committee (noting 
that further informal and formal provisions by a committee for this are set out in the 
Constitution). 

• Actively support the provision of relevant council information and other requests from the 
Committee as part of their work programme; 

• Fully and openly, consider any findings from a committee following a formal scrutiny call-in 
or from any final recommendations presented to Cabinet from a policy review. 

• Where feasible, provide opportunities for committees to provide their input on forthcoming 
executive reports as set out in the Forward Plan to enable wider pre-decision scrutiny (in 
addition to those statutorily required to come before committees); 

• Ensure all recommendations from committees approved by the Cabinet are implemented 
in a timely and effective manner by officers, and that this be monitored regularly by 
Corporate & Executive Directors, as it is with the Committees themselves. 

 
In the unlikely event that that a difference in view occurs between the parties, the Committee 
Chairman, Committee Member or Cabinet Member should inform the Statutory Scrutiny Officer, 
who will seek to resolve the matter in accordance with this protocol, the Council’s Constitution 
and other relevant guidance and will consider the best interests of both overview & scrutiny and 
the executive. Should the matter not be resolved, any final determination will be by the Monitoring 
Officer. The Statutory Scrutiny Officer will report on the effectiveness of this protocol as part of 
the Annual Report to Council each year. 
 

Page 126



Page 99 

Chapter 7 - Planning Decisions 
 
The London Borough of Hillingdon is a Local Planning Authority and determines 
planning matters permitted in law. Decisions on more significant local planning 
applications and other planning related matters are taken by a Planning Committee. 
Planning Officers will generally take decisions on minor planning applications. 
 

Planning Committees 
 
The Council has a Borough Planning Committee which determines borough-wide planning 
applications and a Major Applications Committee which determines major planning applications 
or matters in relation to High Speed 2 (HS2). Each of the Planning Committees exercise the 
following functions: 

 
1) To determine applications made under the provisions of the Town and Country 

Planning Legislation and Orders. 
2) To approve directions restricting permitted development rights. 
3) To confirm and modify Tree Preservation Orders where objections have been received. 
4) To approve highway schemes where required as part of a planning application. 
5) To authorise legal agreements required in respect of any planning applications. 
6) To authorise the service of stop notices under Planning legislation. 
7) To authorise the making, issue and service of notices, orders and other documents 

under the town and country planning and listed buildings legislation. 
8) To authorise the institution of any legal proceedings in respect of notices orders and 

other documents made, issued and served under the town and country planning and 
listed buildings legislation. 

9) To authorise the institution of legal proceedings to seek injunctive relief under the 
town and country planning and listed building legislation. 

 
Borough Planning Committee 

 
The Borough Planning Committee will determine all applications which are not required to be 
referred to the Major Applications Planning Committee and which cannot be determined under 
delegated authority by officers. 

 
Major Applications Planning Committee 
 
The Major Applications Committee will determine major planning applications that involve: 
 

1) the creation of 10 or more residential units. 
2) residential development on a site of 0.5 hectares or more 
3) non-residential development on a site of at least 1 hectare 
4) non-residential development that creates more than 1000 square metres of new gross 

floorspace 
5) the creation of a change of use of 1000 square metres or more of gross floor space (not 

including housing) 
6) Council owned development sites / applications where the Council is the applicant. 

Page 127



Page 100 

7) applications in respect of High Speed 2 (HS2) under the following schedules of the High 
Speed 2 Act: 

(a) Schedule 17(2) – Condition relating to building works: Where footprint is 
above 500m2 

(b) Schedule 17(6) – Condition relating to road transport proposals for the 
movement of large goods vehicles (over 7.5 tonnes) of more than 24 
movements a day (12 in, 12 out). 

(c) Schedule 17(9) – Conditions on bringing scheduled works and depots into use 
where the scheduled work is more than 500m2  

(d) Proposals under Schedule 17(3) Table: (2):  Earthworks - where the works 
involve land of more than 1 hectare 

(e) Schedule 17(12) – Condition relating to site restoration where the proposals 
affecting an area of more than 1 hectare 

 
Note: all other Schedule 17 applications and Schedule 16[5] [land restoration schemes] applications 
from HS2 Ltd to the London Borough of Hillingdon requiring approval are delegated to the Deputy 
Director of Planning and Regeneration in consultation with the Cabinet Member for Residents’ Services. 

 
Additionally, the Deputy Director of Planning and Regeneration, in consultation with the 
appropriate Cabinet Member, may refer applications which by virtue of the level of public interest 
or by virtue of the economic / regeneration benefits of the proposals are felt to warrant 
consideration at the Major Applications Planning Committee. 
 
Membership, Training & Conduct 
 
Planning Committees will be politically balanced, and membership determined by the Full Council. 
Mandatory training in planning is required for new committee members and all members of the 
planning committees should observe the Planning Code of Conduct set out in Part 3 of the 
Constitution. 
 
Quorum 
 
No business shall be transacted at a meeting of a Planning Committee unless there is present at 
least one third of the whole number of Members of the body concerned or 3 Members of the 
Committee whichever is the greater. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 128



Page 101 

Decisions by Planning Committees 
 
This is a schedule of matters which will be reported to planning committees for determination, 
subject to the exceptions shown which will not be reported and determined by Planning Officers: 
 

1) Applications for which petitions of 20 or more signatures or 20 or more separate written 
responses have been received. 

2) Full Planning telecommunication mast applications only if called-in by a Ward Councillor 
or through a valid petition and if the statutory time constraints allow for determination. 

3) Personal planning applications from Councillors, Chief Officers and officers directly 
involved in the processing of planning applications be referred to Committee (excludes 
certificates of existing and proposed lawful use). 

4) Sites where enforcement action has been taken and where the development that is the 
subject of the planning application, relates directly to the subject of the enforcement 
action. 

5) Determination of minor applications in the green belt at Brunel University, Harefield 
hospital and Mount Vernon hospital of over 1000sq.m floorspace and determination of 
applications on other sites in the green belt where the proposal is contrary to green belt 
policy. 

6) Consultations on applications submitted to neighbouring planning authorities that could 
affect Hillingdon residents and cause loss of residential or environmental amenity. 

 
Additionally, applications in the following categories shall be reported to Committee for 
determination but only where the officer recommendation is for approval: 
 

7) Dwellings – 10 or more dwellings or site of 0.5 hectares or more. 
8) Offices/research and development/light industry – 1000 square metres of floor space or 

more. 
9) Heavy industry/storage/warehousing – 1000 square metres of floor space or more or site 

area of over 1 hectare. 
10) Retail distribution and servicing – 1000 square metres of floor space or more or site area 

of 1 hectare or more. 
11) All other major development – 1000 square metres of floor space or more or site area of 1 

hectare or more. 
12) Major aviation development leading to a major quantifiable increase in capacity. 
13) All departures from the development plan. 
14) Development affecting listed buildings and their settings, other than minor applications 

as defined by NI 157 (b) and (c) where there is a connected planning application that is 
capable of being determined by officers under delegated authority. 

15) Advertisement poster panels of 16-sheet size and above. 
a) Permission in Principle applications, but only where the statutory time constraints 

allow for determination by Committee. 
b) Changes of use to a proposed sui generis use. 

 
Ward Councillor Call-in to Planning Committee: 
 

16) Any application where a Ward Councillor requests, in writing to the Head of Planning, 
Transportation & Regeneration within 21 days of the publication of the relevant weekly list 
of applications received by the Council, that it be determined by a Committee. The Ward 

Page 129



Page 102 

Councillor must include in their request the valid planning reasons why they wish the 
application to be determined by Committee and their desired outcome for the application. 

 
Determination of what constitutes a valid planning reason, and thus a valid referral, will be 
made by the Deputy Director of Planning & Regeneration in consultation with the relevant 
Planning Committee Chairman. In exceptional circumstances, as determined by the 
Deputy Director of Planning & Regeneration the 21 day rule may be waived. 
 
NB: Should the desired outcome subsequently be in accord with the ‘Officer’s 
Recommendation’ then the application will not be referred to Committee. 

 
 
Decisions not reported to a planning committee 
 

1) Existing and proposed certificates of lawful use and reporting to Committee on such 
decisions for information on a regular basis. 

 
2) All applications to which 42 day or 56 day prior approval constraints apply cannot be 

referred to Planning Committee unless: 
 

(a) where time constraints allow a Committee referral and they exceed 10 units or 1000 
sq.m floorspace and are recommended for approval. 

(b) where time constraints allow a Committee referral and a valid petition has been 
received and the officer recommendation is contrary to that requested by the 
petitioners. 

(c) where time constraints allow a Committee referral and 20 or more individual 
representations in support or objection are received. 

 
This is subject to the following proviso: 
 

(a) Where a petition is received and the officer recommendation aligns with that of the 
petitioners, or where the above criteria apply but time constraints do not allow a 
Committee referral, the Head of Planning should refer the conditions imposed or 
recommended refusal reasons to the Chairman of the relevant Planning Committee 
and Opposition lead, for their comment prior to a decision being issued. 

 
(b) Where a petition or Councillor request has been received requesting refusal of a 

householder application and where the officer recommendation is to refuse 
consent and the reasons for refusal align with those requested by the petition or 
Councillor. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 130



Page 103 

Decisions made by Planning Officers 
 
Planning applications are by default determined by planning officers unless they fall into 
particular categories, e.g. through their scale, a valid petition is received or a ward councillor call-
in, thereby requiring them to go to a Planning Committee as set out above. 
 
The Council has delegated the following planning decisions to the Deputy Director of Planning 
and Regeneration in accordance with S101 of the Local Government Act 1972. The Deputy Director 
has also sub-delegated these to the Planning Services Manager: 
 

1) Determination of applications as to whether planning permission is required. 
2) Determination of applications for Certificates of Lawfulness for existing use or 

Development.  
3) Determination of applications for single dwellings and housing developments of less than 

10 dwellings or where the site area is less than 0.5 hectares and the number of dwellings is 
not specified. 

4) Determination of change of use applications except for those involving approval of a 
proposed sui generis use. 

5) Determination of applications for changes of use of industrial units apart from changes to 
retail uses.  

6) Determination of Householder applications in the Green Belt.  
7) Determination of minor applications in the green belt at Brunel University, Harefield 

hospital and Mount Vernon hospital of up to 1000sq.m floorspace and determination of 
minor applications on other sites in the green belt where the floorspace is less than 
200sq.m. 

8) Approval of details required by conditions imposed on the granting of planning permission 
and where there are no objections.  

9) Determination of applications under the Copsewood Covenant.  
10) Determination of applications for Certificates of Appropriate Alternative Development.  
11) Determination of any application under the appropriate Town and Country Planning 

General Regulations for Council development which satisfy any of the above delegated 
powers. 

12) Approval of responses to proposals which would have fallen within delegation 
arrangements if a planning application had been required, i.e. applications under Circular 
18/84, consultations on applications submitted to neighbouring planning authorities and 
applications for determination as to whether prior approval is required under the General 
Development Order.  

13) Approval of ancillary planning agreements and determination of related planning 
applications, subject to the approval of the relevant Planning Committee of the main heads 
of terms (excluding Section 73 applications where no increase in residential units or 
floorspace are proposed and deeds of variations to S106 legal agreements where there is 
no reduction in the level of affordable housing or monetary sums to be paid to the Council). 

14) Authorisation of planning and highways agreements where it is considered appropriate to 
secure a particular objective, and which would not conflict with any of the Council’s 
planning policies.  

15) The entering of land within the Borough for any purpose or purposes required in 
connection with the exercise of any statutory planning function.  

16) The issue of Planning Contravention Notices. 
17) The issue of Temporary Stop Notices and Stop Notices 

Page 131



Page 104 

18) The issue of S215, breach of condition and planning enforcement notices and to 
communicate these to Ward Councillors weekly in an appropriate manner. 

19) Authorisation and issue of Enforcement Notices in connection with Tree Preservation 
Orders.  

20) Serving of Tree Preservation Orders made in respect of the borough’s privately owned 
trees in accordance with the Town and Country Planning Act and government guidance.  

21) Determination of applications for work to trees subject to Tree Preservation Orders in the 
case of: subsidence, Article 5 Directions, alleged danger, and cases dealt with by the 
Principal Trees and Landscape Officer.  All other TPO applications to be determined by the 
manager of the Planning Specialists Team (Management Level C). 

22) Action requiring the removal or obliteration of un-authorised advertisements. 
23) Serving of building preservation notices. 
24) Responses to consultations on plans and policies of local authorities and other bodies. 
25) To authorise the making, issue and service of any notices, orders and other documents 

under the town and country planning and listed buildings legislation. 
26) To authorise the institution of any legal proceedings in respect of any notices orders and 

other documents made, issued and served under the town and country planning and listed 
buildings legislation. 

27) To authorise the institution of legal proceedings to seek injunctive relief under the town 
and country planning and listed buildings legislation. 

28) To determine minor applications for development affecting listed buildings and their 
settings, as defined by NI157 b and c, and where there is a connected planning application 
that is capable of being determined by officers under delegated authority. 

29) To determine telecommunication mast applications where the statutory time constraints 
do not allow for determination by the relevant Planning Committee, in consultation with 
the relevant Chairman of the Planning Committee and Party Lead. 

30) To determine non-material amendments to planning applications. 
31) That where a planning application has been refused and is appealed and upheld, to agree 

the heads of terms of any associated S106 agreement/ Unilateral undertaking. This 
is provided the S106 agreement/unilateral undertaking covers all the planning 
obligations identified in the decision notice for the refused application. 

32) Section 73 applications where no increase in residential units or floorspace are proposed. 
33) To approve deeds of variations to S106 legal agreements where there is no reduction in the 

level of affordable housing or monetary sums to be paid to the Council. 
 
 

Decisions on High Speed 2 (HS2) 
 
HS2 is a major national infrastructure rail project impacting the Borough and requires additional, 
albeit temporary, decision-making delegations to ensure the Council can respond to the 
development effectively. 
 
More significant decisions are taken by the Major Applications Planning Committee as set out in 
its Terms of Reference above in this Chapter. 
 
All other Schedule 17 applications and Schedule 16[5] [land restoration schemes] applications 
from HS2 Ltd to the London Borough of Hillingdon requiring approval are delegated to the Deputy 
Director of Planning and Regeneration in consultation with the Cabinet Member for Residents’ 
Services. Certain decisions have also been delegated to designated officers in accordance with 

Page 132



Page 105 

S101 of the Local Government Act 1972, which will be in consultation with the Cabinet Member for 
Residents’ Services or other Cabinet Members as set out below: 
 
Highways 
 
(a) to determine whether approval should be given in relation to the following matters: 

• access to highways affecting traffic 
• stopping up, diversion and interference with a highway 
• details of works affecting highways 
• trial holes in a carriageway or footway 

 
(b) to take all necessary steps in relation to the making of a traffic regulation order under 

Schedule 25 of the High Speed Rail [London - West Midlands] Act 2017. 
 
The Transport and Aviation & Town Centres Manager is authorised to exercise the above 
delegations in consultation with the Cabinet Member for Public Safety and Transport. 
 
Heritage 
 
(c) To approve Heritage Method Statements relating to works to listed buildings authorised 

to be demolished, altered or extended and also for any such works for heritage or 
monitoring purposes under Schedule 18 of the High Speed Rail [London - West Midlands] 
Act 2017. 

 
The Planning Specialists Manager is authorised to exercise the above delegation in consultation 
with the Cabinet Member for Residents’ Services. 
 
Waterways, land drainage, flood defence, water discharge 
 
(d) To take all necessary steps in relation to any proposals or applications submitted by HS2 

Ltd in relation to the construction of any works affecting drainage, flood storage and flood 
defence, the flow or purity of water and conservation of water resources arising under 
Schedule 33 of the High Speed Rail [London - West Midlands] Act 2017. 

 
The Flood and Water Management Specialist is authorised to exercise the above delegation in 
consultation with the Cabinet Member for Residents’ Services. 
  
Control of Noise Generated by Construction Works 
 
(e) To determine whether consent should be given under Section 61 of the Control of Pollution 

Act 1974. 
 
The Planning Specialists Manager is authorised to exercise the above delegation in consultation 
with the Cabinet Member for Residents’ Services. 
 
Planning 
 
(f) To agree minor changes to planning approvals already given to HS2 Ltd. 
 

Page 133



Page 106 

The Deputy Director of Planning and Regeneration is authorised to exercise the above delegation 
and to agree all minor changes to planning approvals already given to HS2 Ltd, in consultation with 
the Cabinet Member for Residents’ Services 
 
Other Schedule 17 applications and Schedule 16[5] [land restoration schemes] applications 
 
(g) To agree all other Schedule 17 applications and Schedule 16[5] [land restoration schemes] 

applications from HS2 Ltd to the London Borough of Hillingdon not delegated to the Major 
Applications Planning Committee. 

 
The Deputy Director of Planning and Regeneration is authorised to exercise the above delegation 
and make decisions in consultation with the Cabinet Member for Residents’ Services. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 134



Page 107 

Chapter 8 - Licensing Decisions 
 
The Council takes decisions on local licensing matters, including those under the 
Licensing Act 2003 and the Gambling Act 2005 and other legislation set out. The 
Council may discharge this through a parent Licensing Committee, which has the duty 
to set up a Licensing Sub-Committee to determine matters and these are generally 
where representations are received. The Licensing Committee or the Full Council may 
also discharge licensing decisions to officers, and these are generally where there are 
no representations made. 
 

Licensing Committee 
 
The Licensing Committee discharges the Council’s functions under the Licensing Act 2003, 
Gambling Act 2005, Sex Establishment Venue Licences under the Local Government 
(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982, Street Trading determination functions under the London 
Local Authorities Act 1990 and the Scrap Metal Dealers Act 2013, which are statutory in nature.  
 
Terms of Reference 
 
The Committee’s Terms of Reference are: 
 

1) To oversee the discharge of all licensing functions of the Council as the licensing authority 
under the Licensing Act 2003, Gambling Act 2005, Local Government (Miscellaneous 
Provisions) Act 1982, London Local Authorities Act 1990; the Scrap Metal Dealers Act 2013 
and The Police Reform & Social Responsibility Act 2011, except, in respect of each, the 
determination of the Council’s Statement of Licensing Policy and the publication of that 
Statement. 

2) To establish and appoint sub-committees to determine any applications requiring a 
hearing under the Licensing Act 2003, Gambling Act 2005, Local Government 
(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982, London Local Authorities Act 1990 and the Scrap 
Metal Dealers Act 2013 or otherwise the determination of any application not delegated to 
officers. 

3) To arrange for the discharge of the functions governed by the Licensing Act 2003, 
Gambling Act 2005, Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982, London Local 
Authorities Act 1990 and the Scrap Metal Dealers Act 2013 by its sub-committees or by 
officers except where prohibited by the Licensing Act 2003 and Gambling Act 2005 

4) To receive and consider reports, where appropriate, on the needs of the local tourist 
economy, employment and investment in the area and any other matter directly related to 
the licensing functions in the Borough. 

 
Membership, Training and Frequency 
 
The Committee will have 10 Members (10 is the minimum required and 15 the maximum under 
regulations). Political balance rules do not apply to the make-up of the Committee, but the Council 
has decided to apply these rules to the Committee and its sub-committee. The Licensing 
Committee will meet on a regular basis. Mandatory licensing training is required for committee 
members. 

Page 135



Page 108 

Quorum 
 
No business shall be transacted at a meeting of a Licensing Committee unless there is present at 
least one third of the whole number of Members of the body concerned or 3 Members of the 
Committee whichever is the greater. 
 
 

Licensing sub-committee 
 
Membership 
 
There will be a single Licensing Sub-Committee which will comprise 3 Members of the parent 
Licensing Committee selected on a rota basis, with any substitute Members, if required, being 
selected from the Licensing Committee only. The meetings of the Sub-Committee will ordinarily 
be chaired by the Chairman of the Licensing Committee. Political balance rules do not apply to 
the make-up of the Sub-Committee.  
 
Quorum 
 
2 Councillors 
 
Operation and Protocols 
 
The Licensing Sub-Committee will meet when required to effectively discharge its functions or 
to determine matters as set out in this Chapter below. These meetings will also be known as 
Licensing Sub-Committee ‘hearings’. Such hearings will operate under protocols agreed by the 
parent Licensing Committee. As set out in the currently agreed protocols, it is permitted under 
law, by exception, to hold such hearings remotely and also to adjourn administratively after notice 
has been given for a hearing without the requirement to formally convene first.  
 
 

Delegation of Licensing Functions 
 
The Tables below set out the delegation of Licensing functions to the Licensing Sub-Committee 
and Officers as agreed by the parent Licensing Committee. In respect of Officer delegations 
listed, the Council has delegated the following licensing decisions to the Corporate Director of 
Place who, in accordance with S101 of the Local Government Act 1972, may agree to sub-delegate 
these to other officers. For completeness, it also shows those related functions reserved to Full 
Council and Cabinet, which are set out in their own delegations. 
 
Licensing Act 2003 
 
FUNCTION COUNCIL / 

CABINET 
SUB-COMMITTEE OFFICER 

Approval of 5-year Statement of Licensing Policy 
Cabinet and 
Full Council - - 

Fee setting, where appropriate – reserved to Cabinet 
Cabinet 

- - 

Page 136



Page 109 

FUNCTION COUNCIL / 
CABINET 

SUB-COMMITTEE OFFICER 

Application for a personal licence  
 If a Police 

objection 
If no objection  
made 

Application for personal licence, with unspent 
convictions 

 If a Police 
objection  

If no objection  
made 

Application for premises licence/club premises 
certificate 

 If a relevant 
representation 
made 

If no 
representation  
made 

Application for provisional statement 
 If a relevant  

representation 
made 

If no 
representation  
made 

Application to vary premises licence/club premises 
certificate  

 If a relevant  
representation 
made 

If no 
representation  
made 

Application to vary designated premises supervisor  
 If a Police 

objection All other cases 

Request to be removed as designated premises 
supervisor  

   
All cases 

Application for transfer of premises licence 
 If a Police 

objection All other cases 

Application for Interim Authorities 
 If a Police 

objection All other cases 

Application to review premises licence/club premises 
certificate 

 
All cases  

 

Decision on whether a representation/objection is 
irrelevant, frivolous, vexatious, etc.  

   
All cases 

Decision to object when local authority is a consultee 
and not the lead authority  

 
All cases 

 

Determination of an objection to a Temporary Event 
Notice 

 
All cases 

 
 

Revocation of Personal Licence where convictions 
come to light after grant  

 
All cases 

 

Determination of application by Community Premises 
to include alternative licence condition 

 If a Police 
objection All other cases 

Decision whether to consult other responsible 
authorities on minor variation applications 

 
 All cases 

Determination of minor variation applications 
 

 All cases 

 
Licensing Act 2003 – Ward Councillor Call-in 
 
Where a Ward Councillor makes representations upon an application within their ward, in writing, 
to the Head of Licensing, Trading Standards and Regulatory Services within the appropriate 
statutory period of consultation for the application, and this representation has been forwarded 
to the Licensing Authority, that application shall then be scheduled to be heard by the Licensing 

Page 137



Page 110 

Sub-Committee for determination. The Ward Councillor must include in their representations the 
reasons why they wish the application to be determined by the Sub-Committee and how the 
application adversely affects the licensing objectives, otherwise the call-in will not be valid. 
 
Gambling Act 2005 
 

FUNCTION COUNCIL / 
CABINET 

SUB- 
COMMITTEE 

OFFICER 

Approval of the  
three year Statement of Gambling 
Policy 

Cabinet 
and Full 
Council 

    

Policy not to permit casinos Full 
Council 

    

Fee Setting - when appropriate Cabinet     

Application for premises licences   If representation made If no representation  
made 

Application for a variation to a licence   If representation made If no representation  
made 

Application for a transfer of a licence   Where representations 
have been received from 
the Commission 

Where no representations 
received from the 
Commission 

Application for a provisional statement   If representation made If no representation  
made 

Review of a premises licence   X   

Application for club gaming /club 
machine permits 

  If representation made If no representation  
made 

Cancellation of club gaming/ club 
machine permits 

  X   

Applications for other permits     X 

Cancellation of licensed premises 
gaming machine permits 

    X 

Consideration of temporary use notice     X 

Notifications and applications for two 
or three gaming machines 

    X 

Page 138



Page 111 

 COUNCIL / 
CABINET 

SUB- 
COMMITTEE 

OFFICER 

Applications for four to five gaming 
machines 

    Officers  in consultation with 
the Chairman of the 
Licensing Sub-Committee 

Applications for more than five gaming 
machines 

  By way of a report   

Decision to give a counter notice to a 
temporary use notice 

  X   

Section 284 Order to revoke the 
automatic entitlement for 2 gaming 
machine notifications 

  X   

 
Gambling Act 2005 – Ward Councillor Call-in 
 
Where a Ward Councillor makes representations upon an application within their ward, in writing, 
to the Head of Licensing, Trading Standards and Regulatory Services within the appropriate 
statutory period of consultation for the application, that application shall be submitted to the 
Licensing Sub-Committee for determination. The Ward Councillor must include in their 
representations the reasons why they wish the application to be determined by the Sub-
Committee, otherwise the call-in will not be valid.. 
 
Other licensing functions exercised 
 

Functions under Schedule 3 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982 in respect 
of Sex Establishment Licences 

 CABINET / 
COUNCIL 

SUB- 
COMMITTEE 

OFFICER 

Adoption of powers and resolution to prescribe appropriate 
number of Sex Establishments 

Full 
Council 

  

Sex Establishment Policy Cabinet     

Sex Establishment Fees – when appropriate Cabinet     

To determine application for new/renewal licences where 
no representation made. 

    X 

To determine application for new/renewal licences where a 
representation is made. 

  X  

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 139



Page 112 

 
Functions under the Scrap Metal Dealers Act 2013 

 CABINET SUB- 
COMMITTEE 

OFFICER 

Scrap Metal Dealers Policy Cabinet     

Scrap Metal Fees – when appropriate Cabinet     

To determine any contested applications or where 
representations have been received 

 X  

To determine uncontested applications for site and 
collector’s licences. 

    X 

To determine uncontested applications for site and 
collector’s licences subject to conditions 

   X 

To determine uncontested applications for variations to a 
site or collector’s licence 

  X 

To revoke a site or collectors licence where no relevant 
representations from the licensee have been received. 

  X 

 
 

Street Trading – functions under *** legislation 

 CABINET SUB- 
COMMITTEE 

OFFICER 

Street Trading / Markets Policy Cabinet     

Street Trading / Markets Fees Cabinet     

Determination of applications for street trader’s licences 
and temporary markets and enforcement action as 
necessary. 

 Where contested X 

All matters concerning street trading licenses to enable the 
granting, renewing or revoking of a street trading license or 
to make regulations for prescribing new Standard 
Conditions. 

 Where contested X 

Authorisation, subject to legal advice, of legal proceedings 
under street trading legislation. 
 

   

Authorisation and issue of street litter control notices 
to businesses etc... 

   

Under Part 1 of the Business and Planning Act – Coronovirus 
measures To grant or refuse an application for a Pavement 
Licence. Where a Licence is granted, this is to be for an 

 Any decision to 
revoke a 
Pavement 

 

Page 140



Page 113 

initial period of 4 months. Subsequent extensions will also 
be for a 4 month period, with the maximum period of any 
initial licence and extensions being 12 months.  

Licence is to be 
taken by officers 
acting in 
consultation with 
the Chairman / 
Vice Chairman of 
the Licensing 
Sub Committee.    
 
Approved by Full 
Council 16 July 
2020 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 141



Page 114 

Chapter 9 - Pensions decisions 
 
Decisions and matters regarding the London Borough of Hillingdon’s Pension Fund and 
related matters are taken predominately by the Council’s Pensions Committee. A 
Pensions Board acts as a scrutiny body to ensure the Pensions Committee complies 
with relevant good governance. Senior Council Officers may take pension related 
decisions in certain circumstances as set out here. 
 
Pensions Committee 
 
Membership 
 
The Pensions Committee will be politically balanced, and membership determined by the Full 
Council. In addition, the Independent Adviser and Investment Consultant would normally attend 
meetings along with relevant officers in an advisory, non-voting capacity. 
 
Quorum 
 
No business shall be transacted at a meeting of a Pensions Committee unless there is present at 
least one third of the whole number of Members of the body concerned or 3 Members of the 
Committee whichever is the greater. 
 
Terms of Reference 

 
1) To exercise all functions concerning the Pension Fund including, but not limited to: 

governance; funding; actuarial valuations; policies; accounting and audit; risk 
management, budgets and resourcing; investment, and administration. 

2) To review and approve all aspects of investment policy relating to the Pensions Fund, 
including agreeing the strategic asset allocation and authorisation or prohibition of 
particular investment activities. 

3) To review the Investment Strategy Statement and amend it when necessary. 
4) To agree benchmarks and performance targets for the investment of the Fund’s assets 

and review periodically. 
5) To agree to transfer funds into mandates managed by the London Collective Investment 

Vehicle (CIV) as soon as appropriate opportunities become available. 
6) To receive regular reports from investment managers including the London CIV and to 

agree resultant actions from a review of the investments held. 
7) To keep the performance of the investment managers under regular review and extend or 

terminate their contracts as required. To appoint new managers when necessary. 
8) To agree policy guidelines for the exercise of voting rights attached to the Fund’s shares. 
9) To review the appointment of specialist advisors and service providers and make new 

appointments as necessary. 
10) To approve the appointment of persons to hear appeals under the Internal Dispute 

Resolution Procedure. 
11) To set up a Pensions Sub-Group, should it be required, comprising 3 Elected Members 

politically balanced and relevant officers and advisors to: 
a. Be consulted on urgent decisions that are required to be taken by the Corporate 

Director of Finance in the absence of a Committee meeting; 

Page 142



Page 115 

b. Assist in strategic discussions with regard to the Pensions Fund and Investment 
Strategy, including the monitoring of fund manager performance and associated 
actions or investigations and making any recommendations on such matters to the 
Pensions Committee for decision. 

12) The Corporate Director of Finance be authorised to take urgent decisions in relation to the 
pensions fund and investment strategy on behalf of the Committee, and if established, in 
consultation with any Pension Sub-Group, reporting back to the Pensions Committee for 
ratification. 

 

Pensions Board 
   
The Pensions Board is not a decision-making body, rather it has a compliance and scrutiny role 
to ensure the Pensions Committee effectively and efficiently complies with the code of practice 
on the governance and administration of public service pension schemes issued by the Pensions 
Regulator. Additionally, the Pension Board will help ensure that the London Borough of 
Hillingdon Pension Fund is managed and administered effectively and efficiently and complies 
with the code of practice on the governance and administration of public service pension 
schemes issued by the Pension Regulator. 
 
Membership 
 
The membership of the Board must be equally split between employer and scheme member 
representatives with relevant experience and the capacity to represent.  
 
Council has determined that membership shall be 2 employer and 2 scheme member 
representatives with no Councillors automatically appointed to sit on the Board. Applications for 
the employer representatives will be invited from a) the Council (Members will be entitled to apply 
for this position should they so wish) and b) all other employer bodies contributing to the fund - 
and then selected at interview by the Chairman and one other Member of the Pensions Committee 
and a Senior Officer, on the basis of capacity and/or experience. Term of Office to be four years. 

 
Terms of Reference 

 
1) The Pensions Board will meet at a frequency determined by the Board. 
2) Reports to the Board will either reflect decisions taken by Pensions Committee or be 

reports for noting already seen by Pensions Committee. 
3) The role of the Board will be to assist London Borough of Hillingdon Administering 

Authority as Scheme Manager: to secure compliance with the LGPS regulations and any 
other legislation relating to the governance and administration of the LGPS; 

4) To secure compliance with requirements imposed in relation to the LGPS by the Pensions 
Regulator; and in such other matters as the LGPS regulations may specify. 

5) To secure the effective and efficient governance and administration of the LGPS for the 
London Borough of Hillingdon Pension Fund. 

6) To provide the Scheme Manager with such information as it requires to ensure that any 
member of the Pension Board or person to be appointed to the Pension Board does not 
have a conflict of interest. NB: Being a member of the LGPS is not seen as a conflict of 
interest. 

7) The Board may agree a more detailed code of practice within the parameters of these 
Terms of Reference, as to how it operates to comply with other relevant guidelines. 

 

Page 143



Page 116 

Officer pensions delegations 
 
The Council has delegated the following decisions to the Chief Executive and Corporate Director 
of Finance in accordance with S101 of the Local Government Act 1972, who may agree to sub-
delegate these to other officers as set out below. These are also set out in the Officer Scheme of 
Delegations. 
 

Chief 
Executive 
 
 

To approve proposals for discretionary enhanced 
early retirement packages for officers following 
written agreement by a majority of the Members of 
the Appointments Committee. 

Informal agreement of the 
current Members of the 
Appointments Committee 
required. 

Corporate 
Director of 
Finance 

To take urgent decisions in relation to the pensions 
fund and investment strategy on behalf of the 
Pensions Committee, in consultation with the 
Pensions Sub-Group if established, reporting back 
to the Committee any exercise of these powers for 
ratification. 

Note: A Pensions Sub-Group 
can be arranged comprising 
3 Members politically 
balanced and it can meet 
informally, in person or 
remotely to suit any urgent 
timings 

Head of 
Finance – 
Statutory 
Accounting 
& Pension 
Fund 

To administer and manage the Council’s pension 
fund in accordance with the regulations and with 
policy set by the Pensions Committee, including the 
taking of any urgent decisions on behalf of the 
Pensions Committee, reporting back to the 
Committee for ratification. 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 144



Page 117 

Chapter 10 - Administrative Decisions 
 
The Council may take a range of administrative decisions for the efficient conduct of 
business, staffing and governance matters and also to make other decisions of a 
statutory nature. Where such functions may be exercised either through a committee 
of the Council or by senior officers of the Council, these are set out below to clarify the 
decision-maker. Council officers make other administrative and statutory decisions, 
and these are set in the broader Officer Scheme of Delegations 
 
 

Registration and Appeals Committee 
 
This Committee deals with a wide range of Council functions, some of which are statutory and 
others, which are discretionary. 
 
Membership 
 
The Registration and Appeals Committee will be politically balanced, and membership 
determined by the Full Council. It may establish sub-committees also to be politically balanced. 
 
Quorum 
 
No business shall be transacted at a meeting of a Registration & Appeals Committee unless there 
is present at least one third of the whole number of Members of the body concerned or 3 Members 
of the Committee whichever is the greater. 
 
Terms of Reference 
 
To hear and determine: 
 

1) Applications for Nursing agencies if refusal is proposed. 
2) Applications for Licensing of premises for marriages if objections have been raised. 
3) Applications for Miscellaneous functions where refusal is proposed. 
4) Applications for the licensing of homes under Social Services Legislation. 
5) Appeals by childminders against a refusal to register or a proposal to revoke a permit. 
6) Opposed or contentious applications and revocations in relation to miscellaneous 

licensing functions 
7) Appeals by nursery school providers relating to a decision to reject or remove them from 

the Directory of non-maintained providers eligible to claim funding for the provision of 
free nursery education places; and to hear and determine appeals from parents who are 
not satisfied that their child has received the free nursery education to which they are 
entitled. 

8) To establish, appoint Councillors and agree the terms of reference of an Appeals Sub-
Committee to hear and determine appeals matters in relation to Chief Officers and Deputy 
Chief Officers (Chief Executive to Deputy Director/Head of Service tier). 

9) To establish, appoint Councillors and agree the terms of reference of a Grievance Sub-
Committee to hear and determine grievance matters in relation to Chief Officers and 
Deputy Chief Officers (Chief Executive to Deputy Director/Head of Service tier). 

Page 145



Page 118 

10) Under the terms of the Commons Act 2006, to consider and determine applications for 
registration of Village Greens. 

 
Related registration and Appeals decisions taken by officers 
 
Where there is no refusal, contention or objections raised to such matters, the Council has 
delegated such decisions to designated officers in accordance with S101 of the Local Government 
Act 1972, who may agree to sub-delegate these to other officers. These will be set out in the 
Officer Scheme of Delegations. 
 
 
 

Appointments Committee 
 
Membership 
 
The Appointments Committee will be politically balanced, and membership determined by the 
Full Council. Membership shall include at least one member of the Cabinet. The Committee will 
determine employment matters in respect of Chief Officers. It may establish a sub-committee 
for the appointment of Deputy Chief Officers or other relevant officers for the discharge of 
functions set out below. 
 
Quorum 
 
No business shall be transacted at a meeting of an Appointments Committee unless there is 
present at least one third of the whole number of Members of the body concerned or 3 Members 
of the Committee whichever is the greater. 
 
Terms of Reference  
 

1) To determine all matters (including interviewing, salaries and service conditions) in the 
recruitment, selection and appointment of the Chief Executive, Corporate & Executive 
Directors, subject to the financial implications being within approved budgets. Full Council 
approval is required for the Chief Executive’s appointment. 

2) To establish and implement an annual appraisal and remuneration review process for the 
Chief Executive, Corporate & Executive Directors, based on clear performance targets 
and objectives. 

3) To authorise a compensation package for the Council’s Chief Executive on or before the 
termination of his/her employment with the Council. 

 
Appointments Sub-Committee 
 
Membership 
 
The Appointments Committee has established an Appointments Sub-Committee comprising 
Councillors and will be politically balanced.  
 
 
 

Page 146



Page 119 

Quorum 
 
No business shall be transacted at a meeting of an Appointments Sub-Committee unless there is 
present at least one third of the whole number of Members of the body concerned or 3 Members 
of the Committee whichever is the greater. 
 
Terms of Reference 
 
To interview and appoint Directors, other Chief Officer, Statutory or Deputy Chief Officer posts. 
Additionally, upon referral by the Leader of the Council, in conjunction with the Chief Executive 
and in accordance with the Officer Employment Procedure Rules, to interview and appoint any 
other Chief Officer on JNC National Conditions of Service and any other appointments as deemed 
necessary.  
 
 

Procedure to appoint and dismiss senior officers 
 
These are also known as the Officer Employment Procedure Rules 
 
1. Definitions 
 

In these rules the following definitions apply: 
 
 (a) ‘Chief Officer’ is:- 
 

(i) a person for whom the Council’s Chief Executive is directly responsible and 
includes the statutory Chief Officers; 

(ii) a person who, as respects all or most of the duties of his post, is required to 
report directly or is directly accountable to the Council’s Chief Executive; and 

(iii) any person who, as respects all or most of the duties of his post, is required to 
report directly or is directly accountable to the Council itself or any 
Committee or Sub-Committee of the Council. 

 
 (b) ‘Deputy Chief Officer’ is a person who, as respects all or most of the duties of his 

post, is required to report directly or is directly accountable to one or more of the 
statutory or non-statutory Chief Officers. 

 
 (c) ‘Proper Officer’ means an officer appointed by the Council for the purposes of the 

provisions in Schedule I Part II of the Local Authorities (Standing Orders) (England) 
Regulations 2001. 

 
 (d) ‘Appointor’ means, in relation to the appointment of a person as an officer of the 

Council, the Council or, where a Committee, Sub-Committee or officer is 
discharging the function of appointment on behalf of the Council, that Committee, 
Sub-Committee or officer. 

 
 (e) ‘Dismissor’ means, in relation to the dismissal of an officer of the Council, the 

Council or, where a Committee, Sub-Committee or another officer is discharging 
the function of dismissal on behalf of the Council, that Committee, Sub-Committee 
or other officer. 

Page 147



Page 120 

2. Recruitment 
 
 (a) Declarations 
 
  1. The Council requires all candidates for appointment as an officer to state in 

writing whether they are related to an officer or elected Member of the 
Council and to state the name and nature of the relationship. 

  2. No candidate so related to a Councillor or an officer will be appointed 
without the authority of the Chief Executive or the Monitoring Officer who 
shall satisfy himself/herself that the correct processes have been followed 
and that the appointment has been validly made. 

 
 (b) Seeking Support for Appointment 
 
  1. Seeking the support of any elected Member, directly or indirectly, for 

employment by the Council, or for any contract with the Council shall be 
strictly prohibited and shall be held to disqualify an applicant.  This shall 
prohibit any applicant from sending particulars of his or her qualifications 
and copies of his or her testimonials to Members.  The content of this 
paragraph will be included in recruitment information. 

  2. No Councillor will seek support for any person for any permanent or 
temporary appointment with the Council. 

 
3. Recruitment of Chief Executive, Corporate & Executive Directors and other Chief Officers 

and Deputy Chief Officers 
 

 Where the Council proposes to appoint a Chief Executive, a Corporate or Executive 
Director or other Chief Officer or a Deputy Chief Officer, and it is not proposed that the 
appointment be made exclusively from among existing officers, the Chief Executive or 
Corporate or Executive Director, in conjunction with the Head of Human Resources, will: 

 
 (a) draw up a statement specifying the duties of the officer concerned and specifying 

the qualifications or qualities to be sought in the person to be appointed; 
 (b) make arrangements for the post to be advertised in such ways as is likely to bring 

it to the attention of persons who are qualified to apply for it; 
 (c) make arrangements for a copy of the statement mentioned in paragraph (a) above 

to be sent to any person on request; 
 (d) arrange for the post to be re-advertised in accordance with paragraph (b) above 

where no qualified person has applied for it; 
(e) make arrangements for all qualified applicants for the post to be interviewed or 

short-listed for interview. 
 
4. Appointment, Dismissal of and Disciplinary Action Against Staff Below 
 Deputy Chief Officer Level 
 
 (a) Except where a specific appointment is referred to an Appointments Sub-

Committee, the function of appointment and dismissal of, and taking disciplinary 
action against, all Council staff at or below Deputy Chief Officer level who are not 
on Chief Officer conditions of service is to be delegated to the Council’s Chief 
Executive or by an officer nominated by him or her. 

Page 148



Page 121 

 (b) Nothing in paragraph (a) above shall prevent a person from serving as a member of 
any Committee or Sub-Committee established by the Council to consider an appeal 
by – 
(i) another person against any decision relating to the appointment of that other 

person as a member of staff of the Council; or 
(ii) a member of staff of the Council against any decision relating to the dismissal 

of, or taking disciplinary action against, that member of staff. 
 
5. Appointment of the Chief Executive 
 

The Appointments Committee will short-list, interview and recommend to the Full Council 
an appointment of the Chief Executive. The Committee’s membership is to include at least 
one member of the executive. 

 
The Full Council must approve the appointment of a Chief Executive before an offer of 
appointment is made. 

 
6. Appointment of Chief Officers, Deputy Chief Officers and other relevant officers (other 

than the Chief Executive) 
 

The Appointments Committee will interview and appoint Chief Officers who are Corporate 
& Executive Directors. An Appointments Sub-Committee will interview and appoint all 
other Chief Officers and Deputy Chief Officers (including Directors / Heads of Service) and 
additionally, upon referral by the Leader of the Council in conjunction with the Chief 
Executive, a sub-committee may interview and appoint any other Chief Officer on JNC 
National Conditions of Service and any other appointments as deemed necessary.  

 
7. Offers of Appointment to the Chief Executive, Chief Officers and Deputy Chief Officers and  
 other relevant officers 
 
 Where the Appointments Committee or its sub-committee appoints to the above posts, 

an offer of an appointment must not be made by the appointor until – 
 (i) the appointor has notified the proper officer of the name of the person to whom 

the appointor wishes to make the offer and any other particulars which the 
appointor considers are relevant to the appointment; 

 (ii) the proper officer has notified every member of the Cabinet of the authority of – 
· the name of the person to whom the appointor wishes to make the offer; 
· any other particulars relevant to the appointment which the appointor has 

notified to the proper officer; and 
· the period within which any objection to the making of the offer is to be made 

by the Leader on behalf of the Cabinet to the proper officer; and 
 (iii) either – 

· the Leader has, within the period specified for objection, notified the appointor 
that neither he nor any member of the Cabinet has any objection to the making 
of the offer; 

· the proper officer has notified the appointor that no objection was received by 
him within that period from the Leader; 

  or - 
· the appointor is satisfied that any objection received from the Leader within 

that period is not material or is not well-founded. 

Page 149



Page 122 

8. Dismissal of the Chief Executive 
 
 The process set out in Paragraph 11 of these Rules will apply. 
 
 The Full Council must approve the dismissal of a Chief Executive before notice of 

dismissal is given to him/her. 
 
9. Dismissal of Chief Officers (other than the Chief Executive) and Deputy Chief Officers 
 

This will follow the process set out in the Council’s Employment and Disciplinary Policies 
and Procedures and the appropriate National Conditions of Service. For the Monitoring 
Officer and Chief Finance Officer, the process set out in Paragraph 11 of these Rules will 
apply. 
 
There is a right of appeal against dismissal to a Sub-Committee of the Registration and 
Appeals Committee. 

 
10. Notices of Dismissal to the Chief Executive, Chief Officers and Deputy Chief Officers 
 
 A notice of the dismissal of a Chief Executive, Chief Officer or Deputy Chief Officer must 

not be given by the dismissor until – 
 (i) the dismissor has notified the proper officer of the name of the person who the 

dismissor wishes to dismiss and any other particulars which the dismissor 
considers are relevant to the dismissal; 

 (ii) the proper officer has notified every member of the Cabinet of the Council of – 
· the name of the person who the dismissor wishes to dismiss; 

 · any other particulars relevant to the dismissal which the dismissor has 
notified to the proper officer; and 

 · the period within which any objection to the dismissal is to be made by the 
Leader on behalf of the Cabinet to the proper officer; and 

(iii) either – 
· the Leader has, within the period specified for objection, notified the 

dismissor that neither he nor any member of the Cabinet has any objection 
to the dismissal; 

· the proper officer has notified the dismissor that no objection was received 
by him within that period from the Leader; 

or - 
· the dismissor is satisfied that any objection received from the Leader within 

that period is not material or is not well-founded. 
 
11. Disciplinary Action Against the Council’s Statutory Officers (as prescribed by Schedule 3 of 

the Local Authorities (Standing Orders)  (England) (Amendment) Regulations 2015); 
 

(a) No disciplinary action in respect of the Council’s Chief Executive, its Monitoring 
Officer or its Chief Finance Officer (as defined in Regulation 2 of the Local 
Authorities [Standing Orders] [England] Regulations 2001), except action 
described in paragraph (b) below, may be taken by the Council, or by a Committee, 
a Sub-Committee, a Joint Committee on which the Council is represented or any 
other person acting on behalf of the Council, other than in accordance with the 
following procedure: 

Page 150



Page 123 

i) The Head of Democratic Services and the Head of Human Resources acting on 
behalf of the Council will invite relevant independent persons to be considered 
for appointment to an Independent Panel, with a view to appointing at least 
two such persons to the Panel. 

ii) In paragraph i) “relevant independent person” means any independent person 
who has been appointed by the Council or, where there are fewer than two 
such persons, such independent persons as have been appointed by another 
authority or authorities as the Council considers appropriate. 

iii) Subject to paragraph iv), the Council must appoint to the Panel such relevant 
independent persons who have accepted an invitation issued in accordance 
with paragraph i) in accordance with the following priority order— 
• a relevant independent person who has been appointed by the Council and 

who is a local government elector; 
• any other relevant independent person who has been appointed by the 

Council; 
• a relevant independent person who has been appointed by another 

authority or authorities. 
iv) The Council is not required to appoint more than two relevant independent 

persons in accordance with paragraph iii) but may do so. 
v) The Panel must be appointed at least 20 working days before the meeting of 

the Council to consider whether or not to approve a proposal to dismiss the 
Chief Executive, Monitoring Officer or Chief Finance Officer. 

vi) Before Full Council votes on whether or not to approve a dismissal, it must 
take into account, in particular— 
• any advice, views or recommendations of the Panel; 
• the conclusions of any investigation into the proposed dismissal; and 
• any representations from the Chief Executive, Monitoring Officer or Chief 

Finance Officer, as appropriate. 
vii) Any remuneration, allowances or fees paid by the Council to an independent 

person appointed to the Panel must not exceed the level of remuneration paid 
to the Standards Committee Independent Person. 

 
 In paragraph a) “disciplinary action” means ‘any action occasioned by alleged 

misconduct which, if proved, would, according to the usual practice of the Council, 
be recorded on the member of staff’s personal file, and includes any proposal for 
dismissal of a member of staff for any reason other than redundancy, permanent 
ill-health or infirmity of mind or body, but does not include failure to renew a 
contract of employment for a fixed term unless the Council has undertaken to 
renew such a contract. 

 
(b) The action mentioned in paragraph (a) above is suspension of the officer for the 

purpose of investigating the alleged misconduct occasioning the action; and any 
such suspension must be on full pay and terminate no later than the expiry of two 
months beginning on the day on which the suspension takes effect. 

 
12. Disciplinary Action against other Officers below Deputy Chief Officer level 
 
 Any disciplinary action in relation to capability and misconduct taken against all other 

Council Officers will be in accordance with the Council’s Employment and Disciplinary 
Policies and Procedures and the appropriate National Conditions of Service. 

Page 151



Page 124 

Staffing decisions by the Chief Executive 
 
The Council has delegated the following HR decisions below to the Chief Executive in accordance 
with S101 of the Local Government Act 1972. These are also set out in the Officer Scheme of 
Delegations. 
 

Chief Executive To agree the terms and conditions of employment of all staff (other than the 
Chief Executive and those Chief Officers on JNC National Conditions of 
Service) and the creation, deletion or amendment of all the Council’s HR 
policies and procedures and to approve proposals for discretionary 
enhanced early retirement packages for officers following written 
agreement by a majority of the Members of the Appointments Committee. 
 

Chief Executive To suspend the statutory s151 Officer and Monitoring Officer pending any 
procedures set out in the Officer Employment Procedure Rules in relation 
to the Council’s Statutory Officers. 
 

Monitoring 
Officer / Head of 
Legal Services 

To suspend the Chief Executive pending any procedures set out in the 
Officer Employment Procedure Rules in relation to the Council’s Statutory 
Officers. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 152



Page 125 

Audit Committee 
 
The Audit Committee’s role is to: 
 

• Review and monitor the Council’s audit, governance, risk management framework and 
the associated control environment, as an independent assurance mechanism; 

• Review and monitor the Council’s financial and non-financial performance to the 
extent that it affects the Council’s exposure to risk and/or weakens the control 
environment; 

• Oversee the financial reporting process of the Statement of Accounts. 
 
Decisions in respect of strategy, policy and service delivery or improvement are reserved to the 
Cabinet or delegated to Officers.  

 
Membership 
 
The Audit Committee will be politically balanced, and membership determined by the Full Council. 
Membership will include an independent voting Co-opted Member as Chairman with relevant 
financial expertise. The Vice-Chairman will come from the majority group. No Cabinet Member 
shall serve concurrently on the Audit Committee.  
 
Quorum 
 
No business shall be transacted at a meeting of a Pensions Committee unless there is present at 
least one third of the whole number of Members of the body concerned or 3 Members of the 
Committee whichever is the greater. 
 
Terms of Reference 
 
Internal Audit 

 
1) Review and approve (but not direct) the Internal Audit Strategy to ensure that it meets the 

Council's overall strategic direction. 
2) Review, approve and monitor (but not direct) Internal Audit’s planned programmes of work, 

paying particular attention to whether there is sufficient and appropriate coverage. 
3) Through quarterly Internal Audit summary reports of work done, monitor progress against 

the Internal Audit Plan and assess whether adequate skills and resources are available to 
provide an effective Internal Audit function. Monitor the main Internal Audit 
recommendations and consider whether management responses to the 
recommendations raised are appropriate with due regard to risk, materiality and 
coverage.  

4) Make recommendations to the Leader of the Council and Cabinet Member for Finance on 
any changes to the Council’s Internal Audit Strategy and plans.  

5) Review the Annual Report and Opinion Statement and the level of assurance this provides 
over the Council’s corporate governance arrangements, risk management framework and 
system of internal controls. 

6) Consider reports dealing with the activity, management and performance of internal audit 
services. 

Page 153



Page 126 

7) Following a request to the Corporate Director of Finance and, subject to the approval of 
the Leader of the Council or Cabinet Member for Finance, to request work from Internal 
Audit. 

 
External Audit 

 
8) Receive and consider the External Auditor’s annual letter, relevant reports and the report 

to those charged with governance. 
9) Monitor management action in response to issues raised by External Audit. 
10) Receive and consider specific reports as agreed with the External Auditor. 
11) Comment on the scope and depth of External Audit work and ensure that it gives value for 

money, making any recommendations to the Corporate Director of Finance. 
12) Be consulted by the Corporate Director of Finance over the appointment of the Council’s 

External Auditor. 
13) Following a request to the Corporate Director of Finance and, subject to the approval of 

the Leader of the Council or Cabinet Member for Finance, to commission work from 
External Audit. 

14) Monitor arrangements for ensuring effective liaison between Internal Audit and External 
Audit, in consultation with the Corporate Director of Finance. 

 
Governance Framework 

 
15) Maintain an overview of the Council’s Constitution in respect of contract procedure rules 

and financial regulations and, where necessary, bring proposals to the Leader of the 
Council or the Cabinet for their development. 

16) Review any issue referred to it by the Chief Executive, Corporate or Executive Director, 
any Council body or external assurance providers including inspection agencies. 

17) Monitor and review (but not direct) the authority’s risk management arrangements, 
including regularly reviewing the corporate risk register and seeking assurances that 
appropriate action is being taken on managing risk. 

18) Review and monitor Council strategy and policies on anti-fraud and anti-corruption 
including the ‘Raising Concerns at Work’ policy making any recommendations on changes 
to the Leader of the Council and relevant Corporate / Executive Director.  

19) Oversee the production of the authority’s Annual Governance Statement and recommend 
its adoption. 

20) Review the Council’s arrangements for corporate governance and make 
recommendations to the Corporate Director of Finance on suggested actions to improve 
alignment with best practice. 

21) Where requested by the Leader of the Council, Cabinet Member for Finance or Corporate 
Director of Finance, provide recommendations on the Council’s compliance with its own 
and other published standards and controls. 

 
Accounts 

 
22) Review and approve the annual statement of accounts. Specifically, to consider whether 

appropriate accounting policies have been followed and whether there are concerns 
arising from financial statements or from the external auditor that need to be brought to 
the attention of the Council. 

23) Consider the external auditor’s report to those charged with governance on issues arising 
from the external audit of the accounts. 

Page 154



Page 127 

Review and reporting 
 

24) Undertake an annual independent review of the Audit Committee’s effectiveness and 
submit an annual report to Council on the activity of the Audit Committee. 

 
Formal duty of senior officers to attend 
 
Whilst Council officers will invariably attend meetings voluntarily, in fulfilling its role, and should 
it be required, the Committee may require the Head of Paid Service and/or any senior officer 
(third tier and above) to attend before it to explain in relation to matters within its remit and it 
shall be the duty of those persons to attend if so required. 
 
Where any senior officer is required to attend the Committee under this provision, the Chairman 
will inform the Head of Democratic Services. The Head of Democratic Services shall inform the 
officer in writing or by email giving at least 10 working days’ notice of the meeting at which he/she 
is required to attend. The notice will state the nature of the item on which he/she is required to 
attend to give account and whether any papers are required to be produced for the Committee. 
Where the account to be given to the Committee will require the production of a report, then the 
officer concerned will be given sufficient notice to allow for preparation of that documentation. 
 
Where, in exceptional circumstances, the officer is unable to attend on the required date, then 
the Committee shall, in consultation with the officer, arrange an alternative date for attendance. 
 
When calling senior officers under this provision, the Committee will remain bound by the Code 
of Conduct for Members and Co-opted Members, ensure questioning is conducted in a fair and 
balanced manner and not of a personal critical nature. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 155



Page 128 

Standards Committee 
 
The Council has established a Standards Committee. Its functions are not within the remit of the 
Cabinet. 
 
Membership 
 
The Standards Committee will be politically balanced, and membership determined by the Full 
Council, but will not include the Leader of the Council.  
 
Terms of Reference 
 

1) To promote and maintain high standards of conduct by Councillors, Co-opted Members 
and Church and Parent Governor representatives; 

2) To assist Councillors, Co-opted Members and Church and Parent Governor 
representatives to observe the Members’ Code of Conduct; 

3) To monitor the operation of the Members’ Code of Conduct; 
4) To grant dispensations to Councillors, Co-opted Members, Church and Parent Governor 

representatives on matters relating to the Members’ Code of Conduct; 
5) To consider and hear allegations into the alleged misconduct of Members. 
6) To oversee the operation of the Officers’ Code of Conduct 
7) To consider periodic reports on a range of standards and ethics indicators 
8) To consider appeals from staff concerning designations of Politically Restricted Posts 

under the Local Democracy, Economic Development and Construction Act 2009 
 
Quorum 
 
No business shall be transacted at a meeting of a Standards Committee unless there is present 
at least one third of the whole number of Members of the body concerned or 3 Members of the 
Committee whichever is the greater. 
 
Complaints against Councillors 
 
In the event that the Standards Committee is required to adjudicate on any issue coming before 
it, (including in particular, complaints of misconduct against Members or co-opted members of 
the Council), any such adjudication will be undertaken in accordance with procedures as set out 
in the Standards Committee Procedure Rules below. 
 
Standards Committee Procedure Rules 
 
1. Introduction 
 
1.1 Any complaints of misconduct against Members (this definition includes co-opted 

members) should be made to the Monitoring Officer of the Council. 
 
1.2 In accordance with the Protocol for handling complaints against Members, the Monitoring 

Officer may initially refer the complaint to the appropriate Whips’ office for consideration.  
 

Page 156



Page 129 

The Monitoring Officer may also refer the complaint to the Standards Committee who will 
determine the complaint in accordance with the procedures set out in this Schedule. 
Interpretation 

 
1.3 ‘Subject Member’ means the Member of the Council who is the subject of an allegation 

which has been made. 
 
1.4 ‘Investigator’ means the Monitoring Officer or his or her nominated representative 

appointed to carry a full investigation into the circumstances surrounding the complaint. 
 
1.5 ‘Legal advisor’ means the officer responsible for providing legal advice to the Standards 

Committee. This may be the Monitoring Officer, another legally qualified officer of the 
Council, or someone appointed for this purpose from outside the Council. 

 
1.6 For the purpose of these Rules, ‘misconduct’ means any conduct by a Member, which is in 

breach of the Revised Code of Conduct adopted by the Council on 5 July 2012 
 
1.7 ‘Independent member’ means a person appointed by the Council under the terms of the 

Localism Act 2011, who will attend meetings of the Standards Committee in a non-voting 
capacity, when the Committee is meeting to consider any complaints of misconduct 
against Members or co-opted members. 

 
2. Making a complaint 
 
2.1 In order that members of the public are aware of the procedures for making a complaint 

against a Member of the Council, the Council will publicise its complaints system: 
 

a) on its website; 
b) within its own newspaper; 
c) in local libraries and other public areas. 

 
2.2 Should any subsequent changes be made to the system, then these will be publicised in a 

similar manner. 
 

2.3 All complaints should be made in writing on the prescribed form (subject to the 
requirements of the Disability Discrimination Act 2000) and should specify: 
 

a) The complainant’s name, address and other contact details; 
b) The complainant’s status e.g. member of the public, Councillor, officer etc; 
c) Who the complaint is about and to which authority the Member in question belongs; 
d) Full details of the alleged misconduct including where possible dates, witness 

details and any other supporting information; 
e) Equality monitoring data if applicable. 

 
2.4 Support will be provided to complainants where English is not their first language. 
 
2.5 It should also be made clear to a complainant that his/her identity will normally be 

disclosed to the Subject Member, unless they specifically request otherwise. 
 
 

Page 157



Page 130 

 
3. Assessment 

 
3.1 Upon receipt of a written complaint, the Monitoring Officer will normally: 

 
a) Satisfy himself that the complaint falls within the remit of the Council to consider 

and is not one that falls within the scope of Part I, Chapter 7, Section 34 of the 
Localism Act 2011 (relating to non-disclosure of Pecuniary Interests); 

b) Satisfy himself that the complaint has been subject to consideration by the 
appropriate Whips’ Office in accordance with the adopted Protocol, or that the 
reasons why this process has not been followed, as stated in the complaint form, 
are sufficient for it to be referred directly to the Standards Committee. 

c) Acknowledge receipt in writing within 3 working days, requesting any additional 
information that may be required to assist with the assessment of the complaint * 

d) Notify the Subject Member that a complaint has been made, giving details of the 
complainant (unless the complainant has made a request for confidentiality and the 
Standards Committee has yet to determine whether to grant it), details of the 
sections of the Code of Conduct to which the alleged breach relates and requesting 
/ inviting any additional information that may be required to assist with the 
assessment of the complaint *; 

e) Notify the Subject Member that a full written summary will be provided once the 
Standards Committee has met to consider the complaint; 

f) Arrange for a meeting of the Standards Committee to be held within 20 working 
days; 

g) Prepare a report for the Standards Committee, summarising the complaint and 
giving full details of the alleged breach along with any additional information the 
Committee may need to assist with its deliberations. 

 
* at this stage seeking additional information should not in any way amount to an 
investigation e.g. interviewing witnesses etc, but should be a factual clarification of any 
ambiguities; 

 
3.2 The Standards Committee, including the non-voting, independent member, will meet to 

assess the validity of the complaint. 
 
3.3 Before the Committee begins its assessment, it should satisfy itself that a complaint: 
 

a) is against one or more named Members of the Council and that those Members were 
in office at the time of the alleged misconduct and the Code of Conduct was in force 
at that time; 

b) if proven, would be a breach of the Code of Conduct under which the Member was 
operating at the time of the alleged misconduct. 

 
3.4 If the complaint fails the tests above then it cannot be investigated and the complainant 

must be informed that no further action will be taken. 
 

3.4 To ensure that all complaints are dealt with in a fair and even-handed manner, the 
Committee will ask itself the following questions and follow any further criteria which is 
subsequently agreed: 
 

Page 158



Page 131 

a) Has the complainant submitted enough information to satisfy the Committee that 
the complaint should be referred for investigation or other action? 

b) Is the complaint about someone who is no longer a Member of the authority, but is 
a Member of another authority? If so, does the Committee wish to refer the 
complaint to the Monitoring Officer of that other authority? 

c) Has the complaint already been the subject of an investigation or other action 
relating to the Code of Conduct? 

d) Similarly, has the complaint been the subject of an investigation by other regulatory 
authorities? 

e) Is the complaint about something that happened so long ago that there would be 
little benefit in taking action now? 

f) Is the complaint too trivial to warrant further action? 
g) Does the complaint appear to be simply malicious, politically motivated or tit-for-

tat? 
 
3.6 The Committee will reach one of the following decisions on a complaint about a Subject 

Member’s actions in relation to the Code of Conduct within 20 working days: 
 

a) referral of the complaint to the Monitoring Officer. If the matter is to be the subject 
of a local investigation, the Monitoring Officer will decide who is to be appointed as 
the investigator (see paragraph 1.4 above). 

b) that no action should be taken in respect of the complaint. 
 
3.7 The decision of the Committee will be made known in a written summary detailing the main 

points considered, the conclusion on the complaint and the reasons for that conclusion. 
 
3.8 The written summary must be available for public inspection for six years once the subject 

Member has been sent a copy. 
 
3.9 Other Action - It may not always be in the interests of good governance to undertake or 

complete an investigation into an allegation of misconduct. The Committee must consult 
the Monitoring Officer before reaching a decision to take other action which will be 
dependent on the nature of the complaint but may include: 

 
a) arranging for the Subject Member to attend a training course; 
b) arranging for that Member and the complainant to engage in a process of 

conciliation; 
c) instituting changes to the procedures of the Council if they have given rise to the 

complaint. 
 

Notification of Decision 
 
 No Action 
 
3.10 If the Committee decides to take no action over a complaint, then within 5 working days it 

will give notice in writing of the decision and the reasons for it. 
 
3.11 Where no potential breach of the Code is disclosed, the Committee will explain in the 

decision notice what the allegation was and why they believe this to be the case. 
 

Page 159



Page 132 

3.12 This notice will be given to the relevant parties i.e. the complainant, the Subject Member 
and the Chief Executive. 

 
Referral to Monitoring Officer 

 
3.13 Within 5 working days a summary of the complaint will be sent to the relevant parties 

stating that the Committee has referred the matter to the Monitoring Officer for 
investigation or other action. The decision notice will also explain why a particular referral 
decision has been made. 

 
3.14 The Committee does not have to give the Subject Member a summary of the complaint, if 

it decides that doing so would be against the public interest or would prejudice any future 
investigation. The Committee should take advice from the Monitoring Officer in deciding 
whether it is against the public interest to inform the Subject Member of the details of the 
complaint made against them. 

 
3.15 It should also take advice from the Monitoring Officer in deciding whether by informing the 

Subject Member of the details of the complaint, it would prejudice a person’s ability to 
investigate it. 

 
4. Withdrawing a complaint 
 
4.1 Should a complainant ask to withdraw their complaint prior to the Standards Committee 

having made a decision on it, the Committee will need to decide whether to grant the 
request using the following criteria which may be added to subsequently: 

 
a) Does the public interest in taking some action on the complaint outweigh the 

complainant’s desire to withdraw it? 
b) Is the complaint such that action can be taken on it, for example an investigation, 

without the complainant’s participation? 
c) Is there an identifiable, underlying reason for the request to withdraw the 

complaint? For example, is there information to suggest that the complainant may 
have been pressured by the Subject Member, or an associate of theirs, to withdraw 
the complaint? 

 
5. Multiple complaints 

 
5.1 The Standards Committee may take a view on the best way to handle multiple complaints 

about the same matter bearing in mind the most practical use of time and resources. 
 

5.2 A number of complaints about the same matter may be considered by the Committee at 
the same meeting. If so, the Monitoring Officer should be asked to present one report and 
recommendation that draws together all the relevant information and highlights any 
substantively different or contradictory information.  
 

5.3 However, the Committee must still reach a decision on each individual complaint and 
follow the notification procedure for each complaint.  
 
 
 

Page 160



Page 133 

6. Vexatious and repeat complaints 
 

6.1 Whilst the Standards Committee must consider every complaint it receives about 
behaviour in relation to the Code of Conduct, it may give regard to the Council’s existing 
policy on persistent and vexatious complainants when doing so. 

 
6.2 Should a complaint be resolved as a result of the Whips’ Protocol and all parties have 

signified the same in writing, it shall not be open to the complainant submitting the original 
complaint to further submit the same complaint against the same Member to the 
Monitoring Officer at a later date. 

 
6.3 If the Committee has already dealt with the same complaint by the same person against 

the same Subject Member, or a complaint which is substantially about the same issues 
merely re-worded and the Monitoring Officer does not believe that there is any new 
evidence, then a complaint does not need to be considered. 

 
6.4 A person may make frequent allegations about Members, most of which may not have any 

substance. Despite this, new allegations must still be considered as they may contain a 
complaint that requires some action to be taken. 

 
6.4 Even where restrictions are placed on an individual’s contact with the Council, they cannot 

be prevented from submitting a complaint. 
 
7. Consideration 
 
7.1 Should the Standards Committee decide that a complaint is justified and refer it to the 

Monitoring Officer for investigation, the Monitoring Officer will arrange to convene a 
meeting of the Committee, including the non-voting, independent member, to consider 
the investigation report into the complaint and, if required, conduct a hearing. 

 
7.2 Both the complainant and the Subject Member will be invited to the meeting which will 

normally be held in public. However, there will be occasions when confidential and/or 
exempt information within the meaning of the Local Government (Access to Information) 
Act 1985 will need to be considered by the Committee. The Monitoring Officer will in these 
circumstances advise the Committee whether it is appropriate for all or part of the hearing 
to be held in private and to restrict the release into public of any or all of the paperwork. 

 
7.3 After considering the Monitoring Officer’s report, the Committee will either: 
 

a) make a finding of no failure; or 
b) determine that the matter should proceed to a hearing 

 
7.4 As soon as reasonably practicable after accepting the Monitoring Officer’s finding of no 

failure, the Committee shall give written notice of that finding to: 
 

a) the Subject Member; 
b) the Standards Committee of any other authority concerned; 
c) the complainant. 

 

Page 161



Page 134 

7.5 The Committee must also arrange for a notice to be published on the web site of the 
Council, stating that there has been no breach of the Code of Conduct on the part of the 
Subject Member.  

 
7.6 The only circumstances in which the Notice will not be published is if the Subject Member 

requests this. 
 

The Hearing of the Complaint 
 
7.7   The Committee should work fairly and in a way that encourages the confidence of 

Members and the public. The procedures should comply with the principles of natural 
justice and Article 6 of the Human Rights Act 1998 (the right to a fair hearing within a 
reasonable time). A copy of the Hearing Procedures is appended to this Schedule. 

 
7.8 The Subject Member may be represented or accompanied during the meeting by a 

solicitor, counsel or, with the permission of the Committee, another person. 
 
7.9 The Committee may take legal advice from its legal advisor at any time during the hearing 

or while it is considering the outcome. The substance of any legal advice given to the 
committee should be shared with the Subject Member and the investigator if they are 
present. 

 
Witnesses 

 
7.10 Although the Subject Member is entitled to call any witnesses he or she wants, the 

Committee may limit the number of witnesses if it believes that the number called is 
unreasonable. 

 
7.11 The Committee also has the right to govern its own procedures as long as it acts fairly. For 

this reason, the Committee may choose not to hear from certain witnesses if it believes 
that they will simply be repeating the evidence of earlier witnesses or if a witness will not 
be providing evidence that will assist the Committee to reach its decision. 

 
 Evidence 
 
7.12 The Committee controls the procedure and evidence presented at a hearing, including the 

way witnesses are questioned. 
 
7.13 The Subject Member must be allowed to make representations, either verbally or in writing 

and challenge any of the findings of fact contained in the Monitoring Officer’s report. If the 
Subject Member prefers, these representations can be made through his or her nominated 
representative. The Subject Member must also be given the opportunity to give evidence 
to the Committee and call witnesses to give evidence. 

 
7.14 In many cases, the Committee may not need to consider any evidence other than the 

investigator’s report. If more evidence is needed or if people do not agree with certain 
findings of fact in the investigator’s report, the Committee may need to hear from 
witnesses. 

 

Page 162



Page 135 

7.15 The Committee can question witnesses directly. It can also allow witnesses to be 
questioned and cross-examined by the Subject Member or the investigator or their 
representatives. The Committee can ask that these questions be directed through the 
Chairman. 

 
7.16 If the Subject Member fails to attend a hearing of which that Member has been given 

notice, the Committee may: 
 

• unless it is satisfied that there is sufficient reason for such failure, consider the 
allegation and make a determination in the absence of the Subject Member; or 

• adjourn the hearing to another date. 
 
7.17 The Committee may, at any stage prior to the conclusion of the hearing, adjourn it and 

require the Monitoring Officer to seek further information or undertake further 
investigation on any point specified by it. 

 
The Findings of the Standards Committee 

 
7.18  In accordance with Part 1, Chapter 7, Section 11 of the Localism Act 2011, following its 

hearing, the Committee can make one of the following findings: 
 

a) the Subject Member has not failed to follow the Council’s Code of Conduct; 
b) the Subject Member has failed to follow the Council’s Code of Conduct, but no 

action needs to be taken; or 
c) the Subject Member has failed to follow the Council’s Code of Conduct and an 

appropriate sanction should be imposed. 
 

Penalties 
 
7.19 If the Committee finds that a Subject Member has failed to follow the Code of Conduct and 

that he or she should be penalised, it may determine what penalty should be imposed. 
 
7.20 When deciding a penalty, the Committee should make sure that it is reasonable and in 

proportion to the Subject Member’s behaviour, reflects the nature and seriousness of the 
breach of the Code and seeks where possible to make reparations for any damage caused. 
Before deciding what penalty to set, the Committee should consider the following 
questions, together with any other relevant circumstances: 

 
• What was the Subject Member’s intention? Did the Subject Member know that he/she 

was failing to follow the Code of Conduct? 
• Did the Subject Member get advice from officers before the incident? Was that 

advice acted on in good faith? 
• Has there been a breach of trust? 
• Has there been financial impropriety (for example, improper expense claims or 

procedural irregularities)?  
• What was the result of failing to follow the Code of Conduct? 
• How serious was the incident? 
• Does the Subject Member accept that he or she was at fault? 
• Did the Subject Member apologise to the relevant people? 

Page 163



Page 136 

• Has the Subject Member previously been warned or reprimanded for similar 
misconduct? 

• Has the Subject Member failed to follow the Code of Conduct before? 
• Is the Subject Member likely to do the same thing again? 

 
7.21 After taking into consideration those matters above, the Committee may do any one or a 

combination of the following: 
 
• censure the Subject Member. The Council or a Committee of the Council, can issue a 

formal censure through a motion; 
• issue a press release or otherwise publicise a decision that the Subject Member has 

breached the Members’ Code of Conduct; 
• send the Subject Member a formal letter; 
• remove the Subject Member from a Committee of the Council provided that this 

decision is made by the Council itself following agreement from the relevant Party 
Group and not by a Committee of the Council. 

 
7.22 Any sanction imposed shall commence immediately following its imposition by the 

Committee. 
 
7.23 As soon as is reasonably practicable after making a finding, the Committee will give 

notification of its findings and should announce its decision at the end of the hearing 
whenever it is practicable to do so. It is good practice to make a short written decision 
available on the day of the hearing, and to prepare the full written decision in draft on that 
day, before people’s memories fade. 

 
Hearing Procedure 
 

Representation 
 
1. The Subject Member may be represented or accompanied during the meeting by a solicitor, 

counsel or, with the permission of the Committee, another person. 
 

Legal advice 
 
2. The Committee may take legal advice from its legal advisor at any time during the hearing or 

while it is considering the outcome. 
 

Setting the scene 
 
3. After all the Members and everyone involved have been formally introduced, the Chairman 

should explain how the Committee is going to run the hearing. 
 

Findings of fact 
 
4. The Committee should consider whether or not there are any significant disagreements 

about the facts contained in the investigator’s report. If there is no disagreement about the 
facts, the Committee can move on to the next stage of the hearing. 

 

Page 164



Page 137 

5. If there is a disagreement, the investigator, if present, should be invited to make any 
necessary representations to support the relevant findings of fact in the report including, 
with the Committee’s permission, calling any necessary supporting witnesses to give 
evidence. The Committee may give the Subject Member an opportunity to challenge any 
evidence put forward by any witness called by the investigator. 

 
6. The Subject Member should then have the opportunity to make representations to support 

his or her version of the facts and, with the Committee’s permission, to call any necessary 
witnesses to give evidence. 

 
7. At any time, the Committee may question any of the people involved or any of the witnesses, 

and may allow the investigator to challenge any evidence put forward by witnesses called by 
the Subject Member. 

 
8. If the Subject Member disagrees with most of the facts, it may make sense for the 

investigator to start by making representations on all the relevant facts, instead of 
discussing each fact individually. 

 
9. Once the Committee has heard the evidence, the Chairman will announce the Committee’s 

Findings of Fact. 
 

Did the subject Member fail to follow the Code? 
 
10. The Committee then needs to consider whether or not, based on the facts it has found, the 

Subject Member has failed to follow the Code of Conduct. 
 
11. The Subject Member should be invited to give relevant reasons why the Committee should 

not decide that he or she has failed to follow the Code. 
 
12. The Committee should then consider any verbal or written representations from the 

investigator and the Subject Member should be invited to make any final relevant points. 
 
13. The Committee may, at any time, question anyone involved on any point they raise in their 

representations. 
 
14. The Committee will ask the room to be vacated to consider the representations and then 

the Chairman will then announce the Committee’s decision as to whether or not the Subject 
Member has failed to follow the Code of Conduct. 

 
If the Subject Member has failed to follow the Code 

 
15. If the Committee decides that the Subject Member has failed to follow the Code of Conduct, 

it will consider any verbal or written representations from the investigator and the Subject 
Member as to: 
 
a. whether or not the Committee should set a penalty; and 
b. what form any penalty should take. 

 
16. The Committee may question the investigator and Subject Member, and take legal advice, 

to make sure they have the information they need in order to make an informed decision. 

Page 165



Page 138 

 
17. The Committee will ask the room to be vacated whilst considering whether or not to impose 

a penalty on the Subject Member and, if so, what the penalty should be. Upon the return of 
those present, the Chairman will announce the Committee’s decision. 

 
18. Whenever it is practicable to do so a short written decision will be provided on the day and 

a full written decision issued shortly after the Hearing. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 166



Page 139 

Chapter 11 - Health and Wellbeing Board 
 
In accordance with the Health and Social Care Act 2012 and any subsequent related 
legislation, the Health and Wellbeing Board will seek to improve the quality of life of 
the local population and provide high-level collaboration between the Council, NHS 
and other agencies to develop and oversee the strategy and commissioning of local 
health services. 
 
Membership 
 
The membership of the Board shall comprise: 
 

1) Cabinet Member for Health and Social Care (Co-Chairman) 
2) Hillingdon Health and Care Partners Managing Director (Co-Chairman) 
3) Cabinet Member for Children, Families & Education (Vice-Chairman) 
4) LBH Chief Executive 
5) LBH Executive Director, Adult Services & Health 
6) LBH Director, Public Health 
7) NWL CCG - Hillingdon Board representative 
8) NWL CCG - nominated lead 
9) Central and North West London NHS Foundation Trust - nominated lead 
10) The Hillingdon Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust Chief Executive 
11) Healthwatch Hillingdon - nominated lead 
12) Royal Brompton and Harefield NHS Foundation Trust - nominated lead 
13) Hillingdon GP Confederation - nominated lead 
 

Co-Chairmen 
 

The Board shall be co-chaired by the Cabinet Member for Health and Social Care and the 
Managing Director of Hillingdon Health and Care Partners. The Vice Chairman of the Board shall 
be the Cabinet Member for Children, Families & Education. Only one Co-Chairman may chair a 
meeting and this will be determined at the start of each meeting. Should both Co-Chairmen be 
unavailable to chair, the meeting will be chaired by the Vice Chairman. 

 
Political Balance 

 
There is no legal requirement to have political balance of Councillors on the Board. 
 
Substitutes 
 
In the event that they are unable to attend the meeting, members of the Board must advise the 
Co-Chairmen in advance of the meeting and nominate a single individual substitute for them and 
make decisions on their behalf. 
 
Other Attendees 
 
From time to time, and upon the agreement of the Co-Chairmen, other individuals, such as 
subject matter experts, may be invited to attend Board meetings. In addition, individuals or 

Page 167



Page 140 

representatives may attend Board meetings as co-opted members where agreed by the Board.  
 
Voting rights 
 
Should a formal vote be required, voting rights will apply to those set out in the list above. Co-
opted members will not be permitted to vote.   
 
Code of Conduct 
 
All voting Members of the Health and Wellbeing Board will be bound by the Council’s Code of 
Conduct for Members, as adopted. 
 
Operation 
 
The Board will operate as a Committee of the Council in accordance with the Committee 
Standing Orders and Access to Information Procedure Rules set out in this Constitution. The 
core functions of the Board are not executive functions and are not, therefore subject to any 
scrutiny call-in procedure. The Board will seek to comply with its duties under the Equality Act 
2013, Freedom of Information Act 2000 and the Data Protection Act 1998. 
 
Sub-Committees and Working Groups 
 
The Board may establish and appoint to sub-committees and/or informal working groups. The 
Board may delegate any of its functions to a formal sub-committee. The Board may request 
informal working groups to undertake task and finish reviews or project work in the pursuit of 
the Board’s goals, reporting back to the Board. Members of a sub-committee or working group 
may be any member of the Board. Additional members of a sub-committee or working group will 
be agreed by the Board. Sub-committees and working groups will cease to exist upon a decision 
by the  Board. 
 
Quorum 
 
A Quorum of the Board shall be 50% of its membership. A Quorum of any sub-committees or 
working groups of the Board shall be 50% of their membership or 3 members (whichever is the 
greater). 
 
Terms of Reference 
 

1. To fulfil statutory requirements to improve the health and wellbeing of the local 
population, specifically to: 
a) Lead on the duty to assess and publish information about the needs of the local 

population (joint strategic needs assessment (JSNA)); 
b) Deliver the duty to prepare and publish a Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy based 

on the JSNA, to consider Health and Social Care Act flexibilities in developing the 
strategy and involve local residents and others as appropriate; 

c) Promote integrated and partnership working across areas, including through the 
promotion of joined up commissioning plans across the NHS, social care and public 
health; and 

d) Support, be involved in and provide opinion on joint commissioning plans and the 
review of how well the Health and Wellbeing Strategy is meeting needs. This 

Page 168



Page 141 

includes providing an opinion on how well the Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) 
contributes to the delivery of the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy. 

 
2. To be responsible for: 

a) Providing leadership in developing a strategic approach for health and wellbeing 
in Hillingdon; 

b) Developing the statutory Health and Wellbeing Strategy; 
c) Ensuring that the Health and Wellbeing Strategy is informed and underpinned by 

the JSNA and is focused upon: 
i. Improving the health and wellbeing of the residents of Hillingdon; 

ii. The continuous improvement of health and social care services; 
iii. The reduction of health inequalities; 
iv. The involvement of service users and patients in service design and 

monitoring; and 
v. Integrated working across health and social care where this would improve 

quality; 
d) Reviewing performance on delivering the Health and Wellbeing Strategy and other 

key strategic targets; 
e) Holding partner agencies to account for performance on agreed priorities in 

conjunction with the Health & Social Care Select Committee; 
f) Influencing and approving the Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) commissioning 

plan and annual update; 
g) Collaborative working to develop social care and health related commissioning plans 

to improve the health and wellbeing of residents of the Borough and monitor 
implementation and performance; 

h) Monitoring the performance of Public Health and reviewing its services in 
conjunction with the Health & Social Care Select Committee; and 

i) Reviewing the Terms of Reference and operation of the Board regularly, making 
recommendations to Council as required. 

 
Additional Rules for Board meetings 
 
Additional rules apply to the Health and Wellbeing Board, in addition to those that apply to all 
committees which are set out in the Committee Standing Orders. The following rules take 
precedence at any time: 

1) Any speaking rights for Elected Members who are not Members of the Board do not apply 
to meetings of the Board or any of its sub-committees or working groups. 

2) Any meeting of the Board may establish and appoint to its sub-committees  or working 
groups. 

3) Upon any recommendations from the Board, membership will be approved by Full 
Council. 

4) Upon request from an organisation, approval of any appointments to the Board as a Co-
opted Member will be agreed by the Board, in consultation with the Co-Chairmen and the 
Head of Democratic Services. 

5) Decisions shall be made on the basis of a vote and show of hands of a majority of members 
present. Subject to the vote being tied, the Co-Chairman chairing that meeting will have a 
second or casting vote. 

6) The Board and any sub-committees or working groups shall meet as required, with the 
agreement of the Co-Chairman and/or in the circumstances where the Co-Chairman 
receives a request in writing by more than 50% of the members of the Board. 

Page 169



Page 142 

Chapter 12 – Responsibilities and Delegations 
to Officers  
 
The Council engages such staff (referred to as officers) as it considers necessary to 
carry out its functions. This Chapter sets out the Council’s statutory officers any other 
proper and appointed officers to undertake designated responsibilities under law. It 
also sets out the service responsibilities of the Council’s Corporate & Executive 
Directors. An important Annex to this section is called the Officer Scheme of 
Delegations. This sets out the detailed list of functions and delegated decision-making 
to officers. 
 

Head of Paid Service & Chief Executive 
 
The Council has appointed and designated the following person to this post: 
 

Name Post Designation 
Tony Zaman Chief Executive (Interim) Chief Officer 

Head of Paid Service (Interim) 
 
Statutory functions 
 
To be the Council’s Head of Paid Service for the purposes of the Local Government and Housing 
Act 1989. 
 
The Head of Paid Service will report to Full Council on the manner in which the discharge of the 
Council’s functions are co-ordinated, the number and grades of officers required for the 
discharge of functions and the organisation of officers. 
 
The Head of Paid Service will determine and publicise a description of the overall departmental 
structure of the Council showing the management structure and deployment of officers. This is 
set out in this Constitution. 
 
By law, the Head of Paid Service cannot be the Monitoring Officer but may hold the post of Chief 
Finance Officer if a qualified accountant. 
 
Responsibilities 
 

• To be the Council’s Principal policy advisor 
• Overall Council performance and budget management 
• Advocate for the London Borough of Hillingdon 
• Working closely with the Leader of the Council and Cabinet to agree strategy and targets 

for the Council. 
• Providing leadership and direction in the achievement of the Council’s strategic 

objectives. 
• Managing highest level external relationships. 
• Supporting other Corporate & Executive Directors to address specific priority issues.  

Page 170



Page 143 

Delegations 
 
The delegations below are granted by Council to the Chief Executive and are not sub-delegated. 
 

1 To authorise generally or on any particular occasion an officer to exercise the 
delegated powers of any other officer. 

2 To give directions that a delegated power shall or shall not be exercised in a particular 
way and on the application of delegated powers in general, except for any statutory 
powers vested in the Executive Directors for Adult Services & Health and Children’s 
Services, the Corporate Director of Finance and the Head of Legal Services. 

3 To agree the terms and conditions of employment of all staff (other than the Chief 
Executive and those Chief Officers on JNC National Conditions of Service) and the 
creation, deletion or amendment of all the Council’s HR policies and procedures and to 
approve proposals for discretionary enhanced early retirement packages for officers 
following written agreement by a majority of the Members of the Appointments 
Committee. 

4 To suspend the statutory s151 Officer and Monitoring Officer pending any procedures 
set out in the Officer Employment Procedure Rules in relation to the Council’s Statutory 
Officers. 

5 In respect of a Council capital project or revenue service, where an emergency or 
exceptionally urgent situation arises in relation to a commercial contract where: 

a) The Leader and Chief Executive agree the urgency; 
b) There is no Cabinet meeting imminent; 
c) Any delay would seriously jeopardise the Council’s finances or its ability to 

deliver services and; 
d) A previous executive decision has been made or proposed in respect of the 

capital project or service provision concerned, 
 
authority is granted to the Chief Executive, subject to the written agreement of the 
Leader of the Council, to incur expenditure and make any new and necessary 
contractual decisions in order to secure the successful delivery of the project or 
service. 
 
In such instances, the Council’s Procurement and Contract Standing Orders can be 
waived. Any decisions taken must be reported to a subsequent Cabinet meeting for 
formal ratification. 

6 In conjunction with the Leader of the Council, to oversee the Hillingdon Improvement 
Programme and authorise expenditure on it. 

7 Subject to the endorsement of the Leader of the Council and relevant Cabinet 
Member(s), to authorise the transfer of non-executive powers under delegated 
authority granted by Council to another body in the best interests of the London 
Borough of Hillingdon. 

8 To exercise all matters relating to Section 36 of the Counter Terrorism & Security Act 
2015 in respect of the duty on local authorities and partners of local [CHANNEL] panels 
to provide support for people vulnerable to being drawn into terrorism (PREVENT 
AGENDA) and to establish joint [CHANNEL] panel arrangements with other local 
authorities. 

9 Appointment of Consultants / Agency Staff at any value outside establishment or 
budget, but in consultation with the Leader of the Council. 

 

Page 171



Page 144 

Chief Financial Officer & Corporate Director of Finance 
 
The Council has appointed and designated the following person to this post: 
 

Name Post Designation 
Andy Evans Corporate Director of 

Finance 
Chief Officer 
Chief Finance Officer 

 
Statutory functions 
 
To act as and exercise the functions of the “chief finance officer” meaning the officer designated 
under section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972.   
 
After consulting with the Head of Paid Service and the Monitoring Officer, the Chief Finance 
Officer reports to the Full Council or to the Cabinet (in relation to a Cabinet Function) and to the 
Council’s External Auditor if he or she considers that any proposal, decision or course of action 
will involve incurring unlawful expenditure or is unlawful and is likely to cause a loss or deficiency 
to the Council, or if the Council is about to enter an item of account unlawfully. 
 
The Chief Finance Officer has responsibility for the administration of the financial affairs of the 
Council. 
 
The Chief Finance Officer contributes to the corporate management of the Council through the 
provision of professional financial advice. 
 
The Chief Finance Officer provides advice on the scope of powers and authority to take decisions, 
maladministration, financial impropriety, probity and budget and policy framework issues to all 
councillors and will support and advise Councillors in their respective roles. 
 
The Chief Finance Officer provides financial information to the media, members of the public and 
the community. 
 
Responsibilities 
 

• Corporate Finance 
• Statutory Accounting & Pension Fund 
• Financial Planning, Treasury, Capital Systems 
• Exchequer and Business Assurance 
• Procurement 
• Transformation 

 
Delegations 
 
The delegations below are granted by Council to the Corporate Director of Finance, along with 
those under Section 101 of the Local Government Act 1972 which are sub-delegated. The detailed 
list of which officers are responsible for which functions are set out in the Officer Scheme of 
Delegations which forms an annex to this Constitution. 
 

Page 172



Page 145 

1 To act as and exercise the functions of the “chief finance officer” meaning the officer 
designated under section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972.  These functions 
include:  
(a) Responsibility for general grants, accounting systems, corporate accounts, 
external audit liaison and insurance. 
(b) Responsibility for the medium term financial forecast, budget preparation and 
monitoring, financial appraisals of all service areas and VAT.  
(c) Responsibility for income collecting arrangements including rents, council tax, 
business rates, service charges, mortgages, education recoupment and social care 
charges.  

2 To have regard to CIPFA’s “Prudential Code for Capital Finance in Local Authorities” 
when considering all matters relating to capital finance, as defined by Part 1 of the 
Local Government Act 2003. This involves establishing procedures to monitor 
performance against all forward looking prudential indicators and ensuring that the 
following matters are taken into account when prudential indicators are set or 
revised: - 
(i) Affordability; 
(ii) Prudence and sustainability; 
(iii) Value for money; 
(iv) Stewardship of assets; 
(v) Service objectives; and 
(vi) Practicality. 

3 To review and amend Financial Regulations. 
4 To administer any funds which are approved by the Council and which are pursuant to 

the effective management of the Council’s finances. 
5 To make decisions, in conjunction with the Cabinet Member for Finance, during the 

interim period leading up to the closure of the Council's annual accounts for any 
necessary revenue or capital budget virements, allocation of priority growth funds or 
acceptance of grants that may be required for service or project delivery within the 
overall budget framework approved by Council. That such decisions be reported to a 
subsequent Cabinet meeting for formal ratification and to ensure transparency. 

6 To exercise the Council’s functions regarding the demanding of National Non-
Domestic Rate and the Council Tax and the collection and recovery of all sums owing in 
respect thereof and regarding all matters involving valuation for rating purposes, and 
for these purposes to authorise officers to represent the Council in magistrates’ 
courts, the Local Valuation Court or the Valuation and Community Charge Council Tax, 
Tribunals. 

7 To be responsible for internal audit. 
8 To be responsible for the calculation and payment of all benefits, including council tax, 

housing, community care grants, other general grants and the universal credit.  
9 To implement the Council’s Treasury Management Strategy which has adopted 

CIPFA’s “Code of Practice for Treasury Management in Local Authorities” and to 
control all money in the hands of the Council in accordance with this CIPFA code by 
taking all executive decisions on borrowing, investment or financing including, 
without limitation, the power: -  
(i) to raise money pursuant to any authority to borrow. 
(ii) to make temporary investments of monies by way of loan provided proper security 
is deposited with the Council’s bankers. 
(iii) to make advances from the Consolidated Loans Fund or other funds held by the 

Page 173



Page 146 

Council. 
(iv) to buy or sell investments of any kind. 

10 To set the rate of interest for mortgages and loans. 
11 To ensure that effective arrangements for insurance are in place and to take out 

insurance cover for all policies as necessary. 
12 To administer and manage the Council’s pension fund in accordance with the 

regulations and with policy set by the Pensions Committee, including the taking of any 
urgent decisions on behalf of the Pensions Committee, reporting back to the 
Committee for ratification. 

13 The Corporate Director is authorised to take urgent decisions in relation to the 
pensions fund and investment strategy on behalf of the Pensions Committee, in 
consultation with the Pensions Sub-Group if established, reporting back to the 
Committee any exercise of these powers for ratification. 

14 To be responsible for the procurement of all contracts for the delivery and supply of all 
services to the Council and its residents including social care, housing and education. 

15 To counter-sign maintained school contractual decisions over £100k as per the 
Procurement Standing Orders. 

16 As set out in the Budget and Policy Framework Procedure Rules approval of 
virements within a service budget up to £50k, approval of virements between a 
service budget up to £10k and approval of virements within a service capital budget 
up to £10k.  

17 Unlimited financial approval level in the Council’s authorised financial purchasing 
system and credit notes and refunds over £500k, subject to the necessary Member 
approvals where required. 

 
Deputy Chief Finance Officer 
 
The Chief Finance Officer may appoint a Deputy to carry out their functions in cases of absence 
or illness as set out below: 
 

Name Post Designation 
TBC TBC Deputy Chief Financial Officer 

 
Duty to Provide Sufficient Resources to Chief Financial Officer 
 
The Council will provide the Chief Financial Officer with such officers, accommodation and other 
resources as are in its opinion sufficient to allow their duties to be performed. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 174



Page 147 

Corporate Director of Place 
 
The Council has appointed and designated the following person to this post: 
 

Name Post Designation 
Perry Scott Corporate Director of Place Chief Officer 

 
Statutory functions 
 
The Corporate Director of Place, through the officers employed in the Directorate, will undertake 
a range of statutory and non-statutory functions covering the service responsibilities below. 
 
Responsibilities 
 

• Property & Estates 
• Capital Programme – Major Projects 
• Repairs & Engineering 
• Highways 
• Waste Services 
• Transportation 
• Parking Services 
• Building Safety 
• Planning & Regeneration 
• Green Spaces, Sport & Culture 
• Housing 
• Trading Standards, Environmental Health & Licensing 
• Community Safety & cohesion 

 
Service Delegations 
 
The delegations granted by Council to the Corporate Director of Place, along with those under 
Section 101 of the Local Government Act 1972 which are sub-delegated are set out in the Officer 
Scheme of Delegations which forms an annex to this Constitution. 
 
 
 

Corporate Director of Central Services 
 
The Council has appointed and designated the following person to this post: 
 

Name Post Designation 
Daniel Kennedy Corporate Director of Central Services Chief Officer 

 
Statutory functions 
 
The Corporate Director of Central Services, through the officers employed in the Directorate, will 
undertake a range of statutory and non-statutory functions covering the service responsibilities 
below. 
 

Page 175



Page 148 

Responsibilities 
 

• Democratic Services 
• Legal Services 
• Human Resources 
• Corporate Communications 
• Business Performance 
• Business Administration 
• Customer Access 
• Health Integration & Voluntary Sector Liaison 
• ICT 

 
Service Delegations 
 
The delegations granted by Council to the Corporate Director of Central Services, along with 
those under Section 101 of the Local Government Act 1972 which are sub-delegated are set out in 
the Officer Scheme of Delegations which forms an annex to this Constitution. 
 

Executive Director of Adult Services & Health 
 
The Council has appointed and designated the following person to this post: 
 

Name Post Designation 
Sandra Taylor Executive Director of Adult 

Services & Health 
Chief Officer 
Statutory Director of Adult Social 
Services (DASS) 
 

 
Statutory functions 
 
The Executive Director is the officer responsible and accountable for: 
 

• All adult social services functions by being designated the statutory Director of Adult 
Social Services. 

• Such other functions conferred on or exercisable by the Council as may be prescribed by 
the Secretary of State by regulation or which the Council may consider appropriate. 

 
Responsibilities 
 

• Adult Social Work 
• Provider and Commissioned Care 
• Public Health (statutory delegations are to the Director of Public Health) 
• Children and Family Development 

 
Service Delegations 
 
The delegations granted by Council to the Executive Director, along with those under Section 101 
of the Local Government Act 1972 which are sub-delegated are set out in the Officer Scheme of 
Delegations which forms an annex to this Constitution. 

Page 176



Page 149 

Director of Public Health 
 
Reporting and accountable to the Executive Director of Adult Services & Health, the Council has 
appointed the following person: 
 

Name Post Designation 
Kelly O’Neill Director of Public Health 

(Interim) 
Statutory Director of Public Health 

 
They are the statutory and responsible officer for the Borough’s health emergency planning and 
infection control and also the local authority’s public health functions pursuant to: 
 

1. The Health and Social Care Act 2012 and any subsequent related legislation. 
2. A responsible authority under the Licensing Act 2003. 
3. The Healthy Start and Welfare Food Regulations 2005 as amended. 
4. Relevant sections of the NHS Act 2006, as amended by the 2012 Act. 
5. Section 325 of the Criminal Justice Act 2003. 
6. Any other relevant primary or secondary legislation relating to public health. 

 

Executive Director of Children & Young People’s Services 
 
The Council has appointed and designated the following person to this post: 
 

Name Post Designation 
Julie Kelly Executive Director of 

Children & Young People’s 
Services 

Chief Officer 
Statutory Director of Children’s Services 
(DCS) 
  

 
Statutory functions 
 
The Executive Director is the officer responsible and accountable for: 
 

• All functions by being designated the statutory Director of Children’s Services. 
 
Specifically, the Executive Director is to have overall responsibility for those functions which 
relate to children which are set out in: 
 

• The Children Act 2004 and in particular Section 18 which for the avoidance of doubt 
includes the functions conferred on or exercisable by the Council in its capacity as a local 
education authority. 

• Such other functions conferred on or exercisable by the Council as may be prescribed by 
the Secretary of State by regulation or which the Council may consider appropriate. 

• Specifically, to be responsible for the delivery of local authority social services functions 
listed in Schedule 1 of the Local Authority Social Services Act 1970, as amended by the 
Children Act 2004. 

 
However, the Executive Director has delegated his/her education functions under Section 18 of 
the Children Act 2004 to the Executive Director of Education and SEND. 

Page 177



Page 150 

 
Responsibilities 
 

• Children’s Services 
• Safeguarding, Partnership & Quality Assurance 

 
Service Delegations 
 
The delegations granted by Council to the Executive Director, along with those under Section 101 
of the Local Government Act 1972 which are sub-delegated are set out in the Officer Scheme of 
Delegations which forms an annex to this Constitution. 
 

Executive Director of Education & SEND 
 
The Council has appointed and designated the following person to this post: 
 

Name Post Designation 
Vikram Hansrani Executive Director of 

Education & SEND 
Chief Officer 
 
 

 
Statutory functions 
 
The Executive Director of Education and SEND will exercise the education functions under 
section 18 of the Children Act 2004 as delegated by the Executive Director of Children & Young 
People’s Services. 
 
Responsibilities 
 

• Education 
• Special Educational Needs & Disabilities 

 
Service Delegations 
 
The delegations granted by Council to the Executive Director, along with those under Section 101 
of the Local Government Act 1972 which are sub-delegated are set out in the Officer Scheme of 
Delegations which forms an annex to this Constitution. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 178



Page 151 

General Delegations to Chief Executive and Corporate / Executive 
Directors 
 
These delegations are to the Chief Executive and Corporate & Executive Directors who may 
discharge the function through one of his/her staff.  
 
1. To take any steps necessary for the day to day management and administration of any 

matters within the designated area of responsibility and to take overall responsibility for 
the performance of their service area. 

 
2. To take all such action as ordinarily falls within the scope of professional responsibility and 

deal with all other matters delegated or to be delegated by Council, Cabinet, Cabinet 
Member or the Chief Executive. 

 
3. To manage any budget for which the Corporate & Executive Directors have lead 

responsibility within the approved cash limit, provided that no action is taken which would 
result in growth in future years or which would affect a budget which is not under the chief 
officer’s direct control.  This includes authorising virements in accordance with the 
Budget and Policy Framework Procedure Rules which can be found in Part 2, Chapter 4 of 
the Constitution. 

 
4. To exercise the Council’s functions in obtaining registrations, licences, certificates or 

other similar documents required by the Council, its officers or in respect of its premises 
from any authority or body not being the Council. 

 
5. To exercise the Council’s right of objection against any application made by third parties 

for registration, certificates, licences, orders and other similar matters. 
 
6. To register, issue or grant licences (not being occupational licences), notices, certificates, 

orders or similar documents which the Council are authorised or required to register, 
issue, grant, give or make by or under any enactment. 

 
7. To exercise discretion in writing off or remitting in whole or in part debts of up to £5,000 

due to the Council, but only after all reasonable steps to recover them have been taken.  
 
8. Within their designated area of responsibility and subject to 1) any corporate property 

standards, 2) Procurement and Contract Standing Orders and 3) with the agreement of the 
Corporate Director of Place to acquire or grant easements and leases for a term not 
exceeding seven years less 2 days and to acquire or dispose of any other interests in land 
the value of which does not exceed £10,000.  

 
9. Subject to compliance with any corporate property standards and the Procurement and 

Contract Standing Orders, to take any steps for the proper and effective management of 
such property falling within their designated area of responsibility, subject to the 
agreement of the Corporate Director of Finance. 

 
10. In accordance with the Council’s Personnel Procedures, but subject to the procedure in 

this Constitution to appoint and dismiss senior officers, the Corporate / Executive 
Director may appoint to, dismiss from and amend posts within the chief officer’s area of 
responsibility. 

Page 179



Page 152 

 
11. In accordance with the Council’s HR Procedures to suspend, other than the three Statutory 

Officers, Chief Officers and Deputy Chief Officers within their area of responsibility. 
 
12. To agree compensation payments not exceeding £1000 under the Council’s Complaints 

Procedure. 
 
13. To make decisions in respect of quotations, tenders, consultants, agency & temporary 

workers and contracts in accordance with the Procurement Standing Orders and Property 
Standing Orders in the Constitution. 

 
14. To exercise all of the powers of Approved Officers for the purposes of the Procurement 

Standing Orders and Property Standing Orders. 
 
15. To enter into agreements, on behalf of the Council incurring match funding or a revenue 

commitment from the Council, subject to the Cabinet having previously agreed the 
proposal including the final level of Council commitment. 

 
16. In conjunction with the Leader and relevant Cabinet Member, to sign-off expenditure for 

approved Initiatives, as agreed by the Cabinet. 
 
 

Monitoring Officer 
 
The Council has appointed and designates the following person to this post: 
 

Name Post Designation 
Glen Egan Interim Head of Legal 

Services 
Interim Monitoring Officer 

 
Statutory functions 
 
To be the Council’s Monitoring Officer for the purposes of the Local Government and Housing Act 
1989. 
 
The Monitoring Officer maintains an up-to-date version of the Constitution and ensures that it is 
widely available for consultation by members, staff and the public. 
 
After consulting with the Head of Paid Service and Chief Finance Officer, the Monitoring Officer 
reports to the Full Council or to the Cabinet in relation to an Cabinet function if he or she considers 
that any proposal, decision or omission would give rise to unlawfulness or if any decision or 
omission has given rise to maladministration. Such a report has the effect of stopping the 
proposal or decision being implemented until the report has been considered. 
 
The Monitoring Officer contributes to the promotion and maintenance of high standards of 
conduct through provision of support to the Standards Committee. 
 
The Monitoring Officer conducts investigations into matters referred to him and make reports or 
recommendations in respect of them to the Standards Committee or appropriate body. 

Page 180



Page 153 

 
The Monitoring Officer ensures that the Access to Information rules set out in this Constitution 
are adhered to.  
 
The Monitoring Officer advises whether decisions of the Cabinet are in accordance with the 
budget and policy framework. 
 
The Monitoring Officer provides advice on the scope of powers and authority to take decisions, 
maladministration, financial impropriety, probity and budget and policy framework issues to all 
councillors.  
 
By law, the Monitoring Officer cannot be the Chief Finance Officer or Head of Paid Service. 
 
Responsibilities 
 

• Legal Services 
• Freedom of Information 
• Data Protection 

 
Delegations to Head of Legal Services 
 
The delegations below are granted by Council to the Head of Legal Services, along with those 
under Section 101 of the Local Government Act 1972 which are sub-delegated. The detailed list of 
which officers are responsible for which functions are set out in the Officer Scheme of 
Delegations which forms an annex to this Constitution. 
 

Function Designated as 
Proper Officer 

1 The Head of Legal Services is authorised to institute, defend or 
participate in any legal proceedings in any case where such action is 
necessary to give effect to decisions of the Council or in any case 
where the Head of Legal Services considers that such action is 
necessary to protect the Council’s interests. 

 

2 To institute any legal or formal proceedings on behalf of the Council 
which the Council could institute and to defend any prospective or 
actual legal or formal proceedings instituted against the Council, its 
members or officers and to appear by Counsel or in person or to 
authorise an officer to so appear in any proceedings and to verify a 
document by signing a Statement of Truth under the Civil Procedure 
Rules on behalf of the Council and to settle any actual or prospective 
proceedings. 

 

3 To certify copies of original documents for use in court proceedings  
4 Where any document is necessary to any legal procedure or 

proceedings on behalf of the Council, it will be signed by the Head of 
Legal Services or other person authorised by him/her, unless any 
enactment otherwise authorises or requires, or the Council has  given  
requisite authority to some other person. 

 

5 To suspend the Chief Executive pending any procedures set out in the 
Officer Employment Procedure Rules in relation to the Council’s 
Statutory Officers. 

 

Page 181



Page 154 

6 To authorise, on behalf of the local authority, any Officer to be 
appointed to the office of Governor or Director at an Academy. 
 

 

7 Officer to be notified in writing if any staff have a financial interest in a 
contract or proposed contract with the Council 

 

8 Officer to ensure that Access to Information rules as set out in the 
constitution are adhered to 

Yes 

 
Deputy Monitoring Officer 
 
The Monitoring Officer may appoint a Deputy to carry out their functions in cases of absence or 
illness, as set out below: 
 

Name Post Designation 
Lloyd White Head of Democratic Services Deputy Monitoring Officer 

 
Duty to Provide Sufficient Resources to Monitoring Officer 
 
The Council will provide the Monitoring Officer with such officers, accommodation and other 
resources as are in its opinion sufficient to allow their duties to be performed. 
 

Head of Democratic Services 
 
The Council has appointed and designates the following person to this post: 
 

Name Post Designations 
Lloyd White Head of 

Democratic 
Services 

• Deputy Monitoring Officer 
• Electoral Registration Officer 
• Returning Officer for local and other elections 
• Proper Officer for Births, Deaths and Marriages 

 
Responsibilities 
 

• Democratic Services 
• Electoral Services 
• Registration Services - Births, Deaths and Marriages 

 
Proper Officer, Constitutional Delegations & Other 
 

Function Designated 
as Proper 
Officer 

1 To make arrangements to hear appeals against pupil exclusions.  

2 To make arrangements to hear appeals by Governing Bodies.  

3 To act as the proper officer for the Registration of Births, Deaths and 
Marriages. 

Yes 

Page 182



Page 155 

4 To act as the Electoral Registration Officer and the returning officer for 
local and other elections. 

Yes 

5 Notification of the formation of a Party Group and the appointment of its 
Officers 

 

6 Who confirms acceptance of office by Councillors and the election of the 
Mayor 

 

7 To certify the minutes of the Council, a committee or sub-committee and 
any report to such a meeting as a true copy. 

 

8 To designate approved duties for Members to claim travelling, subsistence 
and dependent care allowances. 

 

9 Receipt of notice for Chairman and Vice-chairman of committees who 
have resigned 

 

10 Receipt of notice by any Member who resigns from a committee.  
11 Receipt of notice to call a special meeting of a committee by least one 

third of the whole number of the Committee 
 

12 Officer to be requested to call Council meetings in addition to ordinary 
meetings, in consultation with the Mayor and Chief Whips 

Yes 

13 Council Meetings - time and place of meetings and summons (in 
consultation with the Chief Whips) 

 

14 Receipt of questions and motions to Council, ability to reject a question 
and keep a record of questions 

 

15 Notification of an issue for adjournment debate  
16 Notice from any Member wishing to raise a matter at a meeting of any 

committee under Any Other Business set out in the Rules on Committee 
Meetings under Part 3 of the Constitution 

 

17 Officer to be advised of the Mayor’s view that a matter is one that ought to 
be treated as a key decision 

Yes 

18 Officer to refer firm proposals for the budget and policy framework to 
Council for decision and as part of the Conflict resolution procedure 

Yes 

19 Person a councillor notifies if a token gift or hospitality is accepted  
20 Officers who will issue and accept invitations from independent persons to 

constitute and administer a Panel in accordance with Section 102(4) of the 
Local Government Act 1972for the purposes of advising the Council on 
matters relating to the dismissal of the Head of the Paid Service, the 
Monitoring Officer or the Chief Finance Officer. 

Yes 

21 To make minor changes to the Council’s Constitution, e.g. to reflect 
changes in legislation and nomenclature 

 

22 To receive notification from the Leader to temporarily assign Cabinet 
portfolio responsibilities from one Cabinet Member to another for 
absences etc… 

 

23 Notification of Cabinet Assistants appointed by the Leader  
24 Notification of changes to the Cabinet Scheme of Delegations (in 

conjunction with the Head of Legal Services) 
 

25 Notification of placing of items on the Cabinet agenda following request 
from Leader  

 

26 Publish notice of Forward Plan  
27 Approval of items not on the Forward Plan (urgent items) to be considered 

by Cabinet 
 

28 Arbitrate and notify reports that contain exempt information   
29 Receipt and arbitrator of petitions of more than 20 signatures  

Page 183



Page 156 

30 Publication of decisions by the Cabinet and Individual Cabinet Members  
31 Authority (with the Select Committee) to require a report to Full Council if 

a key decision is taken not in accordance with procedures 
 

32 Notification of items to be called-in by the relevant Select Committee  
33 Receipt of notice for special meetings of Select Committees  
34 Receipt of reports from Select Committees  
35 Notification to officers who are formally required to attend Select 

Committees 
 

 
Other  delegations granted by Council to this post, along with those under Section 101 of the Local 
Government Act 1972 which are sub-delegated are set out in the Officer Scheme of Delegations 
which forms an annex to this Constitution. 
 

Head of Human Resources 
 
The Council has appointed and designates the following person to this post: 
 

Name Post Designation 
Lydia Newman Head of Human Resources (Interim) Proper Officer 

 
Responsibilities 
 

• HR 
• Learning & Development 
• Payroll 

 
Proper Officer & Delegations 
 

Function Designated as 
Proper Officer 

Officer to be notified of the name of the person to whom it is proposed to 
make an offer of appointment as Chief Executive, Chief Officer and Deputy 
Chief Officer 

Yes 

Officer to notify every member of the Cabinet of the name of a person to 
whom it is wished to make an offer of appointment as Chief Executive, 
Chief Officer and Deputy Chief Officer, and to whom any objections by the 
Leader to the proposal can be made 

Yes 

Officer to be notified of the name of the person to whom it is proposed to 
dismiss as Chief Executive, Chief Officer and Deputy Chief Officer 

Yes 

Officer to notify every member of the Cabinet of the name of a person 
[Chief Executive, Chief Officer or Deputy Chief Officer] who it is proposed 
to dismiss, and to whom any objections by the Leader to the proposal can 
be made 

Yes 

Officer, with the Head of Democratic Services, who will issue and accept 
invitations from independent persons to constitute and administer a Panel 
in accordance with Section 102(4) of the Local Government Act 1972 for the 
purposes of advising the Council on matters relating to the dismissal of 
the Head of the Paid Service, the Monitoring Officer or the Chief Finance 
Officer 

Yes  (in conjunction 
with the Head of 
Democratic 
Services) 

Page 184



Page 157 

 
Other  delegations granted by Council to this post, along with those under Section 101 of the Local 
Government Act 1972 which are sub-delegated are set out in the Officer Scheme of Delegations 
which forms an annex to this Constitution. 
 
 

Other Statutory Officers 
 
Data Protection Officer 
 
This statutory role is to inform and advise the council and its employees about their obligations 
to comply with the GDPR and other data protection laws, monitor compliance and be the point of 
contact. The Chief Executive has designated the following officer as the Council’s Statutory 
Data Protection Officer: 
 

Name Post Designation 
Glen Egan Interim Head of Legal Services Data Protection Officer 

 
 
Senior Information Risk Owner (SIRO) 
 
This statutory role leads on delivering risk management and security strategy in the council and 
assists corporate management team in the delivery of this. The Chief Executive has designated 
the following officer as the Council’s SIRO: 
 

Name Post Designation 
Louise Bateman Head of ICT Senior Information Risk Owner 

 
Scrutiny Officer 
 
The Localism Act 2011 requires the statutory role of designated scrutiny officer to promote the 
role of the authority’s overview and scrutiny committees, provide support to the authority’s such 
functions and to local councillors; and to provide guidance to Members and officers of the council 
in relation to such functions. The Chief Executive has designated the following officer as the 
Council’s Statutory Scrutiny Officer: 
 

Name Post Designation 
Mark Braddock Senior Democratic Services 

Manager 
Statutory Scrutiny Officer 

 
By law, the Statutory Scrutiny Officer cannot be the authority’s Head of Paid Service, the 
Monitoring Officer or the Chief Financial Officer 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 185



Page 158 

Exercising officer delegations 
 
Corporate & Executive Directors and officers are authorised to exercise those powers and duties 
of the Council in relation to the service and activities for which they are responsible. Accordingly, 
officers may exercise only the powers delegated to them set out the Constitution and Officer 
Scheme of Delegations, and these are exercisable only subject to: 
 

a) being consistent with the plans and policies determined by the Council, Leader, Cabinet 
and Cabinet Members; 

b) compliance with the law and relevant regulations, along with any other orders, rules, 
codes or protocols approved by the Council and in the Constitution; 

c) The approved budget and approved management and business plans  
d) The Council’s Financial Rules & Regulations, the Rules on Procurement and Rules on 

Land and Property, as well as any financial systems in operation. 
 
When officers are making decisions under their delegated powers on significant or politically 
sensitive matters, they should notify their Corporate or Executive Director. Corporate & 
Executive Directors may need to liaise closely with the relevant Cabinet Member and refer any 
proposed action to the Leader, Cabinet Member or the Cabinet if so required.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 186



Page 159 

Chapter 13 - decision-making with external 
bodies 
 
The Council is able to make decisions with other bodies, transfer its functions to other 
bodies or exercise powers on behalf of other bodies. This Chapter sets out the current 
such arrangements in place. 
 
Arrangements to Promote Well-Being 
 
The Cabinet, in order to promote the economic, social or environmental well-being of its area,  
may: 
 

1) enter into arrangements or agreements with any person or body; 
2) co-operate with, or facilitate or co-ordinate the activities of, any person or body; and  
3) exercise on behalf of that person or body any functions of that person or body 

 
Joint arrangements 
 

1) The Council and/or the Cabinet may establish joint arrangements with one or more local 
authorities to exercise functions in any of the participating authorities – such 
arrangements may involve the appointment of a Joint Committee with those other local 
authorities. 

2) Except as set out below, the Cabinet may only appoint Cabinet members to a Joint 
Committee and those members need not reflect the political composition of the local 
authority as a whole. 

3) The Cabinet may appoint members to a Joint Committee from outside the Cabinet where 
the Joint Committee is discharging a function in relation to five or more local authorities.  
In this case, the Cabinet may appoint to the Joint Committee any member of the Council 
and the political balance requirements do not apply to such appointments. 

4) Details of any joint arrangements which the Cabinet / Council has entered into can be 
found in the Table below: 

 
Organisation Purpose Period 
London Councils 
and its Joint 
Committees 

For the effective co-ordination and formulation of policy 
and discharge of functions at a pan London level. 
 

Until further 
notice 

LHC Joint 
Committee 

With 9 other local authorities, the Council is a member of 
the Joint Committee overseeing the LHC. This is a 
specialist procurement organisation in housing design,  
improvement, repair and maintenance. 

Notice given to 
terminate – end 
participation 31 
March 2023. 

 
Transfer of non-executive functions to another body 
 
Whilst most joint arrangements will be for the Cabinet to determine under its executive functions, 
the Chief Executive is authorised to transfer any non-executive powers under delegated 
authority granted by Council to another body in the best interests of the London Borough of 
Hillingdon, subject to the endorsement of the Leader of the Council and relevant Cabinet 

Page 187



Page 160 

Member(s). These are generally regulatory or enforcement matters. Details of any non-executive 
transfer of powers approved are set out in the Table below: 
 
 

Organisation powers 
transferred to 

Purpose Approved 

London Councils 
Transport & 
Environment Committee 

Delegated the Council’s powers to 
make byelaws for the purpose of 
regulating dockless vehicles on the 
highway or public spaces 

27 January 2021 by the 
then Deputy Chief 
Executive 

London Councils 
Transport & 
Environment Committee 

Delegated powers to provide for a pan 
London traffic order 

24 April 2014 by the then 
Deputy Chief Executive  

London Councils 
Transport & 
Environment Committee 

Delegation of powers for the London 
Safer Lorry Scheme. 

20 July 2014 by the then 
Deputy Chief Executive  

 
Contracting Out 
 
The Council may contract out to another body or organisation non-executive functions which may 
be exercised by an officer and which are subject to an order under Section 70 of the Deregulation 
and Contracting Out Act 1994 or under contracting arrangements where the contractor acts as 
the Council’s agent under usual contracting principles, provided there is no delegation of the 
Council’s discretionary decision-making. For functions which are the responsibility of the 
Cabinet, it will be for the Cabinet to decide whether to contract out a function or service and to 
whom to award the contract. 
 
Delegation to and from other Local Authorities  
 
The Council and/or the Cabinet may delegate functions to another local authority and undertake 
functions delegated to it by another local authority. Details of agreements with other local 
authorities are set out in the Table below: 
 

Organisation Purpose Period 
London Borough 
of Harrow 

The Council has entered into a Service Level Agreement 
with the London Borough of Harrow in respect of 
Breakspear Crematorium.  Under the terms of this 
Agreement, the London Borough of Harrow has agreed 
to delegate to the Council the management and 
maintenance of the Breakspear Crematorium Service on 
behalf of both Boroughs 

Until further 
notice 

London Borough 
of Ealing 

For mortuary services at Uxbridge Mortuary. Until further 
notice 

 
Access to Information 
 
The Access to Information Rules of this Constitution apply to all arrangements entered into by 
the Council or Cabinet that involve the delegation of functions by the Council or Cabinet. 

Page 188



Page 161 

PART 3 - How the Council 
operates & is accountable 
 

The rules the Council operates under that ensures good 
governance and accountability 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 189



Page 162 

Chapter 14 - Rules relating to this Constitution 
 
The Council has procedures for monitoring, reviewing and publishing this Constitution 
 

Reviewing and revising the Constitution 
 
Duty to Monitor and Review the Constitution 
 
The Monitoring Officer monitors and reviews the operation of the Constitution to ensure that the 
aims and principles of the Constitution are given full effect. 
 
In undertaking this task the Monitoring Officer may:- 
 

1) observe meetings of different parts of the Member and officer structure; 
2) undertake an audit trail of a sample of decisions; 
3) record and analyse issues raised with him or her by Members, officers, the public and other 

relevant stakeholders; and 
4) compare practices in the Council with those in other comparable authorities, or with 

national examples of best practice. 
 
How to make changes to the Constitution 
 
Changes to the Constitution, will only be considered by the Full Council after consideration of the 
proposal by the Leader of the Council. 
 
Interpretation of the Constitution 
 
The ruling of the Mayor as to the interpretation or application of this Constitution or as to any 
proceedings of the Council shall not be challenged at any meeting of the Council. Such 
interpretation shall have regard to the purposes of the Constitution in Part 1 – Chapter 1. 
 
Publication of the Constitution 
 

1) The Monitoring Officer will give a printed copy of this Constitution to each Member of the 
authority upon delivery to him/her of that individual’s Declaration of  Acceptance of Office  
on the Member first being elected to the Council. 

2) The Monitoring Officer will ensure that copies of this Constitution are available for 
inspection at council offices, libraries, and other appropriate locations and can be 
purchased by members of the local press and the public on payment of a reasonable fee. 

3) The Monitoring Officer will ensure that a summary of the Constitution is made widely 
available within the area and is updated as necessary. 

 
Change in the form of executive arrangements 
 
The Council must take reasonable steps to consult with local electors and other interested 
persons in the area when drawing up proposals for a change in the form of Executive 
arrangements, including the application of any referendum if required in law. 

Page 190



Page 163 

Suspension of the Constitution 
 
Limit to Suspension 
 
Parts and Chapters of this Constitution may not be suspended by the Full Council. Only the Rules 
specified below may be suspended by the Full Council or relevant Council Committee, to the 
extent permitted within those Rules and the Law. 
 
Rules Capable of Suspension 
 
 

The rules below may only be suspended following a vote by Members on the motion to suspend.  
The motion will identify which parts of the Standing Orders are to be suspended and the reasons 
for and duration of the suspension: 
 

1) Council Procedure Rules (Part 2 - Chapter 4) 
2) Rules on Procurement and Rules on Land & Property  (Part 3 – Chapter 18 & Chapter 19) 
3) Committee Standing Orders (Part 3 – Chapter 16) 

 
Procedure to suspend Rules 
 
A motion to suspend any rules will not be moved without notice unless at least one half of the 
whole number of councillors are present. The extent and duration of the suspension will be 
proportionate to the result to be achieved, taking account of the purposes of the Constitution set 
out in Part 1, Chapter 1. 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 191



Page 164 

Chapter 15 - Rules when making decisions  
 
This Chapter summarises what part of the Council or individual has responsibility for 
particular types of decisions. This chapter also sets out the rules to follow regarding 
the signing and execution of decisions and their documentation. 
 

Principles of Decision-making 
 
All decisions of the Council are made in accordance with the following principles: 
 

a) clarity of aims and desired outcomes;  
b) a presumption in favour of openness; 
c) proportionality – that the action to be taken is proportionate to the desired outcome; 
d) reasonableness and rationality (the ‘Wednesbury principles’); 
e) due consultation and the taking of professional advice from officers; 
f) respect for human rights; and 
g) making clear what options were considered and rejected in the making of a decision and 

giving the reasons for that. 
 

Decision-Making Functions & Responsibilities 
 
Decisions reserved to the Full Council 
 
Decisions relating to the functions listed in Part 2, Chapter 4 will be made by the Full Council and 
not delegated. The Council Meeting will follow the Council Procedure Rules set out in Part 2, 
Chapter 4 of this Constitution when considering any matter 
 
Executive Decisions and Key Decisions 
 
Decisions relating to the Council’s executive functions are set out in Part 2, Chapter 5 and will be 
made by the Cabinet, Leader, Cabinet Member, Cabinet Sub-Committee, Officer or Joint 
Committee in accordance with The Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and 
Access to Information) (England) Regulations 2012. The definition of a key decision is fully set out 
in Part 2, Chapter 5. A decision-maker may only make a key decision in accordance with the 
requirements of the Access to Information Rules set out in this Constitution. 
 
The Cabinet and Cabinet Members will also follow the Rules on access to information in Part 3, 
Chapter 17 in this Constitution when considering any matter. 
 
Decision Making by Select Committees  
 
Select Committees do not make executive decisions, but they do submit recommendations to 
Cabinet as the executive decision-maker. These committees will operate as set out in Part 2, 
Chapter 6 of this Constitution when considering any matter. 
 
 
 

Page 192



Page 165 

Non-Executive & Decision Making by other Council committees 
 
Other Council committees and sub-committees will make the decisions set out in Part 2, 
Chapters 7 – 11 of the Constitution. Their operation will follow the Rules for committee meetings 
as set out in Part 3 of this Constitution. 
 
Decision-making by Council officers 
 
Decisions delegated to Council officers to take, are set out in Part 2, Chapter 12 of this 
Constitution and Annex A which sets out the detailed delegations and any sub-delegation. 
 
Decision Making by Council bodies acting as Tribunals 
 
The Council, a Councillor or an officer acting as a tribunal or in a quasi -judicial manner or 
determining and/or considering (other than for the purposes of giving advice) the civil rights and 
obligations or the criminal responsibility of any person will follow a proper procedure which 
accords with the requirements of natural justice and the right to a fair trial contained in Article 6 
of the European Convention on Human Rights. 
 
Bodies that are non-decision making and with no delegated powers 
 
In addition to the committees listed above, the Council will appoint a number of bodies, panels, 
advisory groups, steering groups or forums which do not have powers delegated to them from 
Full Council and have not been appointed by the Council in accordance with section 101 of the 
Local Government Act 1972.  
 

Execution of decisions 
 
Financial, Contract and Property decisions 
 
The management of the Council’s financial affairs will be conducted in accordance with the Rules 
on Financial Matters set out in Part 3 of this Constitution.  
 
Every contract made by the Council will comply with the Rules on Procurement set out in Part 3 
of this Constitution. Any contract, which does not relate to a land transaction, and with a value 
exceeding £10,000 entered into on behalf of the Council in the course of the discharge of a 
Cabinet function shall be made in writing and signed and sealed as set out in the Rules on 
Procurement. 
 
Every property transaction made by the Council will comply with the Rules on Land & Property 
Matters set out in Part 3 of this Constitution. All Contracts relating to property transactions shall 
be in writing and signed or sealed in accordance with the requirements of the Rules on Land & 
Property Matters. 
 
Authentication of Documents 
 
Where any document is necessary to any legal procedure or proceedings on behalf of the Council, 
it will be signed by the Head of Legal Services or other person authorised by him/her, unless any 
enactment otherwise authorises or requires, or the Council has  given  requisite authority to some 

Page 193



Page 166 

other person. 
 
Common Seal of the Council 
 
The Common Seal of the Council will be kept in a safe place in the custody of the Head of Legal 
Services. A decision of the Council, or any part of it, will be sufficient authority for sealing any 
document necessary to give effect to the decision. The Common Seal will be affixed to those 
documents which in the opinion of the Head of Legal Services should be sealed.  The Head of 
Legal Services will attest the affixing of the Common Seal or some other person authorised by 
him or her. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 194



Page 167 

Chapter 16 - Rules for committee meetings  
 
This Chapter sets out the rules and standing orders for how the council’s ordinary 
committee and sub-committee meetings operate. These are also known as the 
Committee Standing Orders (SOs). Meetings of licensing sub-committees may operate 
differently as set out in the protocols for those meetings. These rules do not apply to 
meetings of the Cabinet. 
 
 
 SO 1 - Chairmen and Vice-Chairmen  
 
 (1) Chairmen and Vice-Chairmen of Committees 
 
  The first meetings of Committees following the Annual Council meeting shall 

appoint the Chairman and Vice-Chairman. 
 
 (2) Resignation of Chairman or Vice-Chairman 
 
  A Chairman or Vice-Chairman may resign by notice in writing to the Head of 

Democratic Services who shall report the resignation to the next meeting of the 
Committee for a replacement to be appointed. 

  
 SO 2 - Appointment of Sub-Committees 
 
 (1)  The first meeting of a Committee, normally after the annual meeting of the Council, 

shall appoint its sub-committees for the remainder of the municipal year. 
 
 (2)  Where these Standing Orders give provisions for Committees, these shall similarly 

apply to sub-committees, except where otherwise indicated. 
 
 SO 3- Order of Business 
 
 (1) The Order of business at every meeting of a Committee shall be:- 
 
  (a) To choose a person to preside if the Chairman and Vice-Chairman are 

absent. 
  (b) To agree the minutes of the previous meeting which shall then be signed by 

the person presiding. 
  (c) To receive reports of the Officers. 
  (d) Any other business specified in the summons or raised by a Member in 

Standing Order  (Rules of Debate in Committee Meetings) 
 
 (2) The Order of business under 1(a) to (c) may be varied by a motion which shall be 

moved and seconded and put without discussion. 
  
 
 

Page 195



Page 168 

 SO 4 - Adjournment 
 
 (1) A Committee may adjourn any meeting to another day, or hour or the same day or 

to another venue. 
 
 (2) An adjournment may be decided:- 
  (a) by the Chairman in the event of a disturbance (see Standing Order 14 

(Disturbance at meetings) or 
  (b) by a resolution passed on a motion which shall be moved and seconded 

without comment and put without discussion. 
  
 SO 5 - Quorum  
 
 (1) No business shall be transacted at a meeting of a Committee unless there is 

present at least one third of the whole number of Members of the body concerned 
or 3 Members of the Committee whichever is the greater. 

 (2) No business shall be transacted at a joint meeting of Committees unless 3 Members 
of each Committee are present. 

 (3) A quorum of the Audit Committee shall be 3 Members of the Committee. 
 (4) A quorum of a Select Committee is 4 Members of the Committee 
 
 SO 6 - Record of Attendance  
 
 Members attending a Committee meeting shall sign their names in the attendance book or 

on the sheet provided for that purpose. 
 
 SO 7 - Attendance and councillors speaking at meetings 
 
 (1) Notice of all meetings of Committees shall be sent to every Member of the Council. 

A Member of the Council who has moved a motion which has been referred to any 
Committee shall be given notice of the meeting of the Committee at which it is 
proposed to consider the motion. 

 (2) Any Member of the Council may attend any meeting of a Committee to which they 
have not been appointed. The right shall not extend to attendance at such meetings 
which are appointments, disciplinary or appeal bodies relating to employees. One 
Councillor from each Party Group with seats in a ward shall have the right to speak 
but not vote on issues directly affecting their ward, where they are not a Member of 
the Committee. The Chairman of the meeting shall decide what constitutes a ward 
issue. Other Non-Members of Committees may, with the consent of the Chairman, 
speak but not vote. 

 (3) Paragraph (2) of this Standing Order shall not prejudice the legal rights of a Member 
when attendance at any such meeting is necessary in order that the Member may 
have access to information reasonably necessary to enable the proper 
performance of the member's duties. 

 (4) The Mayor and the Leaders of Party Groups (or in their absence their Deputies) shall 
have the right to attend any meeting of a Committee and to speak but not vote. 

 
 
 

Page 196



Page 169 

 SO 8 - Reports, supplementary reports or addendums 
 
 (1) Agendas and reports to Committees and Joint Committees shall be despatched at 

least five clear days before the date of the meeting. 
 (2) Any report despatched at shorter notice shall only be considered at the meeting if 

the appointed Chairman decides that it should be dealt with for reasons of urgency. 
 
 SO 9 - Voting 
 
 (1) The mode of voting at meetings of Committees shall be by show of hands. 
 (2) The Chairman of a meeting who is a voting Member shall have a second or casting 

vote which may be exercised if there is an equality of votes.  If the Chairman is a 
non-voting Member and there is an equality of votes he/she may vacate the Chair 
in favour of the Vice-Chairman or in the absence of the Vice-Chairman may call for 
nominations to take the Chair in the place of the Chairman. In the event of the Vice-
Chairman taking the Chair or of an election being made to the Chair the motion shall 
immediately be put to the vote without further debate and thereafter the Chairman 
shall resume the chairing of the meeting. 

 (3) A Member's support for, abstention or dissent from a decision shall be recorded in 
the minutes if, immediately after a vote is taken, the Member so requests. 

 (4) Where there are more than two persons nominated for any position to be filled on 
a Committee, and of the votes given there is not an overall majority in favour of one 
person, the name of the person having the least number of votes shall be struck off 
the list and a fresh vote shall be taken, and so on until a majority of votes is given in 
favour of one person. 

 
 SO 10 - Special meetings, cancellations and arrangements 
 
 (1) The Chairman of a Committee, (or in his/her absence the Vice-Chairman) may take 

the following action in relation to meetings after consultation with Chief Whips 
and/or Lead Member(s) of Groups with Members on the body concerned: 

  (a) Call a Special Meeting and determine a date and time. 
  (b) Determine a date and time for an adjourned meeting. 
  (c) Cancel a meeting. 
  (d) Vary the date or time of a meeting. 
  (e) Decide the venue of a meeting. 
 
 (2) A special meeting may also be called on the requisition of at least one third of the 

whole number of the Committee, or 3 Members of the Committee whichever is the 
greater, delivered in writing to the Head of Democratic Services. 

 
 (3) The summons to a special meeting shall set out the business to be considered and 

no business other than that set out in the summons shall be considered at that 
meeting.  

  
 
 
 
 
 

Page 197



Page 170 

 SO 11 - Rules of debate 
 
 Motions 
 
 (1) A motion accepted by the Chairman as being in order shall be put in writing if the 

Chairman so requires. 
 
 Amendments 
 
 (2) An amendment shall be relevant to the motion and shall be to leave out, insert or 

add words: but such omission, insertion or addition of words shall not have the 
effect of nullifying the motion. 

 
 (3) Only one amendment may be moved and discussed at a time. 
 
 Seconder 
 
 (4) A motion, other than under Standing Order 14(1)(b)(i) – to a remove a Member from a 

meeting, shall not be discussed unless it has been seconded. 
 
 Alteration of Motion 
 
 (5) The mover of a motion may alter the motion if the alteration is one which could be 

made as an amendment; an alteration requires the agreement of the seconder and 
the Committee signified without debate. 

 
 Withdrawal of Motion or Amendment 
 
 (6) The mover of a motion or amendment may seek leave for its withdrawal;  any 

withdrawal requires the agreement of the seconder and the Committee signified 
without debate. 

 
 Right of Reply 
 
 (7) The mover of a motion shall have a right of reply to a debate immediately before the 

motion is put to the vote. 
 
  The mover of an amendment shall have a right of reply to a debate on the 

amendment.  The mover of the original motion shall also have a right of reply at the 
close of the debate on the amendment but shall not otherwise speak on the 
amendment.  This right of reply shall be exercised immediately before the reply by 
the mover of the amendment. 

 
 
 
 Motions During Debate 
 
 (8) When a motion or amendment is under debate only the following motions may be 

moved:- 
  (a) to amend a motion  

Page 198



Page 171 

  (b) to adjourn a meeting or debate 
  (c) to proceed to the next business 
  (d) that the question be now put 
  (e) that a member be not further heard or that a member do leave the meeting 
  (f) to exclude the press and public 
 
 Next Business, Adjournment, Question be Put 
 
 (9) A Member who has not spoken in the debate may move but without comment at the 

conclusion of any speech:- 
  (a) That the Committee proceed to the next business 
  (b) That the question be now put 
  (c) That the Committee do now adjourn or that the debate be adjourned 
 
  Provided that the motion is seconded, that all political groups have had the 

opportunity to speak and that the Chairman is satisfied that there has been 
sufficient debate, the following procedure shall apply:- 

  (a) On a motion to proceed to the next business the mover of the original motion 
and/or amendment under discussion will be given the right to reply and a 
vote will then be taken. 

  (b) On a motion that the question be now put a vote will be taken immediately 
and if it is passed the mover of the original motion and/or amendment will 
then be given the right of reply under paragraph (7) of this Standing Order 
before a vote on the motion or amendment. 

  (c) On a motion to adjourn the meeting or a debate a vote will be taken 
immediately. 

  
 Point of Order/Personal Explanation 
 
 (10) A Member may raise a point of order or in personal explanation and is entitled to be 

heard. 
 
  A point of order must relate to a breach of a Standing Order or statutory provision 

and the Member shall specify the breach in question. 
 
  A personal explanation shall be confined to the Member's speech earlier in the 

debate and clarification of a point which may appear to have been misunderstood. 
 
 Ruling of Chairman 
 
 (11) The ruling of the Chairman on a point of order or on the admissibility of a personal 

explanation shall not be open to discussion. 
 
 
 
 Seconding of Motions and Amendments  
 
 (12) In the event of a motion or amendment being moved at a meeting of a Committee 

and not being seconded by another Member, it shall then be formally seconded by 
the Chairman of the meeting for the purposes of discussion. 

Page 199



Page 172 

 
 SO 12 - Proceedings of committees  
 
 (1) Subject to the provisions of this Standing Order the press and public shall be 

admitted to all meetings of Committees. They shall be excluded only by resolution. 
 (2) The press and public may be excluded from a meeting if it is likely, in view of the 

nature of the business to be transacted or the nature of the proceedings, that if 
members of the public were present during that item there would be disclosure to 
them of exempt or confidential information. 

 (3) Exempt information is specified in Section 100 (A) Part I of Schedule 12A of the 
Local Government Act 1972 (as amended) but subject to any qualifications 
contained in Part II of Schedule 12A. Part III of Schedule 12A has effect for the 
interpretation of the Schedule. 

 (4) Confidential information is defined in section 100A (3) of the Local Government Act 
1972 (as amended) and is information given to the Council by a Government 
Department on terms which forbid its public disclosure, or information which 
cannot be publicly disclosed by a Court Order. 

 (5) If any question arises at a meeting relating to an employee’s salary or conditions of 
service or disciplinary action taken against an employee, such question shall not be 
the subject of discussion until it has been decided whether to exclude the press 
and public.   

 (6) Reports which in the opinion of the Head of Democratic Services contain exempt 
information must be marked ‘Not for Publication’ and there must be stated on every 
copy of the report the description of the exempt information. Members shall, by 
resolution, confirm or vary this designation. 

 (7) All agenda, reports and other documents and all proceedings of Committees shall 
be treated as confidential unless and until they have been made public in the 
ordinary course of the Council's business or shall have been communicated to the 
press by the Council or the Committee. 

 
 SO 13 - Closure of meetings / time limit  
 

All meetings shall finish at or before 10.30pm unless the majority of those present and 
voting determine to continue the sitting.  

 
 SO 14 - Disturbance at meetings 
 
 (1) Members of Committees: 
  (a) If at any meeting any Member, in the opinion of the Chairman, notified to the 

Committee, commits an act of misconduct by persistently disregarding a 
ruling or behaving improperly or offensively or wilfully obstructing the 
business of the Council, the Chairman or any other member may move "That 
............. be not further heard." If seconded this motion shall be put and 
determined without discussion. 

  (b) If a Member so named continues the act of misconduct after a motion under 
the foregoing paragraph has been carried the Chairman shall either:- 

   (i) move "That ......... do leave the meeting".  This will be put and 
determined without seconding or discussion. 

          or 

Page 200



Page 173 

   (ii) adjourn the meeting for such period or to such other venue as deemed 
expedient. 

 
 (2) Public 
  (a) The Chairman shall warn any member of the public who interrupts the 

proceedings. 
  (b) If that person continues the interruption the Chairman shall order the 

removal of that person from the meeting. 
  
 (3) General Disturbance 
  (a) In the event of a general disturbance the Chairman may adjourn the meeting 

for such period or to such other venue as deemed expedient. 
  (b) Members of the public are not permitted to bring any banner or placard into 

a meeting. 
 
 SO 15 - Suspension of Standing Orders 
 
 A motion to suspend Standing Orders shall require the support of at least half of the 

members of the Committee present. 
 
 SO 16 - Resignation from committees  
 
 (1) A Member may at any time resign membership of a Committee by notice in writing 

delivered to the Head of Democratic Services. The resignation shall take effect 
upon the receipt by the Head of Democratic Services of such notice and shall be 
reported to the next meeting of the Committee and to the next meeting of the 
Council.  

 (2) A Chairman may at any time resign such office by notice in writing delivered to the 
Head of Democratic Services. The resignation shall take effect upon receipt of 
such notice and shall be reported to the next meeting of the Committee of which 
the office was held. 

 (3) A person elected or appointed under the Local Government Act 1972 to fill any 
casual vacancy shall hold office until the date upon which the person in whose place 
that person was elected or appointed would have regularly retired, and shall then 
retire. 

 
 SO 17 - Any Other Business 
 
 (1) Any Member wishing to raise a matter at a meeting of any Committee shall give 

written notice of the matter together with written information about the matter to 
the Head of Democratic Services at least eight clear days before the date of the 
meeting. 

 (2) Any matter so raised shall involve an issue of policy falling under the references and 
delegations of the body concerned and shall not concern an individual case where 
there is a right of appeal to the Council’s Registration & Appeals Committee. 

 (3) Where the subject is delegated to an officer, the Member shall raise the matter at 
that level provided that where the Member is dissatisfied with the decision taken 
he or she may raise it with the Committee in accordance with paragraphs (1) and (2) 
above. 

Page 201



Page 174 

 (4) Notwithstanding the provisions of paragraph (1) above a Member may raise a matter 
where less than eight clear days notice has been given if, by reason of special 
circumstances, which shall be specified in the minutes, the Chairman is of the 
opinion that the matter should be considered as one of urgency. 

 
 SO 18 - Remote or virtual meetings 
 

In respect of remote meetings where provided for by law, the committee may pass a 
continuing resolution to vary, revoke or update these Standing Orders to facilitate the 
remote transaction of any business and voting. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 202



Page 175 

Chapter 17 - Rules on access to information  
 
These rules set out how the Council seeks to be a transparent organisation and how 
agendas, reports and minutes relating to meetings and decisions are made 
available. It also sets out how it allows the public and press can attend and observe 
council meetings. 
 
Rule 1 
Scope 
 
These rules apply to all meetings of the Council, Select Committees and Council Committees and 
bodies and meetings of the Cabinet (together called meetings). 
 
Rule 2 
Additional rights to information 
 
These rules do not affect any more specific rights to information contained elsewhere in this 
Constitution or the law. 
 
Rule 3 
Rights to attend meetings 
 
Members of the public and media are welcome and encouraged to attend all meetings, subject 
only to the exceptions in this Constitution.  
 
Rule 4 
Notice of meetings 
 
The Council will give at least five clear days notice of any meeting, unless the meeting is convened 
at shorter notice as a matter of urgency, by posting details of the meeting at the Civic Centre, 
Uxbridge UB8 1UW, the designated office and on the Council’s website www.hillingdon.gov.uk,  
 
Rule 5 
Access to agenda and reports before a meeting 
 
The Council will make copies of the agenda and reports open to the public available for inspection 
at the designated office and Council website at least five clear days before the meeting.  If an 
item is added to the agenda later, the revised agenda (where reports are prepared after the 
Summons has been sent out, the designated officer shall make each such report available to the 
public as soon as the report is completed and sent to Councillors) will be open to inspection at the 
designated offices and on the Council’s website from the time the item was added to the agenda. 
 
Rule 6 
Supply of documents 
 
The Council will supply to any person on payment of a charge for postage and any other costs 
copies of: 

Page 203

http://www.hillingdon.gov.uk/


Page 176 

 
a) any agenda and reports which are open to public inspection; 
b) any further statements or particulars necessary to indicate the nature of the items in the 

agenda; and  
a) any written record of an executive decision 
b) any reports considered by an individual decision-maker, which are open to public 

inspection 
c) any background papers  
d) if the Monitoring Officer thinks fit, copies of any other documents supplied to Councillors 

in connection with an item. 
e) the Forward Plan. 

 
Rule 7 
Access to minutes and other reports after a meeting 
 
The Council will make available copies of the following for six years after a meeting: 
 

a) the minutes of the meeting – or in relation to the cabinet, records of decisions made, 
together with reasons, for all meetings of the cabinet – excluding any part of the minutes 
of proceedings when the meeting was not open to the public or which disclose exempt or 
confidential information; 

b) a summary of any proceedings not open to the public where the minutes open to 
inspection would not provide a reasonably fair and coherent record; 

c) the agenda for the meeting; and 
d) reports relating to items when the meeting was open to the public. 

 
Rule 8 
Background papers 
 
List of Background Papers 
 
The relevant Corporate / Executive Director will set out in every report a list of those documents 
(called background papers) relating to the subject matter of the report which in his/her opinion: 
 

a) disclose any facts or matters on which the report or an important part of the report is 
based; and 

b) have been relied on to a material extent in preparing the report; 
 
but does not include published works or those which disclose exempt or confidential information 
(as defined in Rule 10) and, in respect of cabinet reports, the advice of a political advisor. 
 
Public Inspection of Background Papers 
 
The Council will make available for public inspection for four years after the date of the meeting 
one copy of each of the documents on the list of background papers. Background papers will also 
be available for inspection on the Council’s website www.hillingdon.gov.uk 
 
 
 
 

Page 204

http://www.hillingdon.gov.uk/


Page 177 

Rule 9 
Summary of the public’s rights  
 
A written summary of the public’s rights to attend meetings and to inspect and copy documents 
will be kept at and be available to the public at the Civic Centre, Uxbridge UB8 1UW, the designated 
office and on the Council’s website www.hillingdon.gov.uk. This is set out in Part 1, Chapter 3 of 
the Council’s Constitution 
 
Rule 10 
Exclusion of Access by the Press and Public to meetings 
 
10.01 Confidential Information 
 

Confidential information is defined in section 100A (3) of the Local Government Act 1972 
(as amended). The public and press will be excluded from meetings whenever it is likely in 
view of the nature of the business to be transacted or the nature of the proceedings that 
confidential information would be disclosed. 

 
Confidential information means information given to the Council by a Government 
Department on terms which forbid its public disclosure, or information which cannot be 
publicly disclosed by a Court Order. 
 

10.02 Exempt Information 
 

The public and press may be excluded from meetings whenever it is likely in view of the 
nature of the business to be transacted or the nature of the proceedings that exempt 
information would be disclosed. Where the meeting will determine any person’s civil rights 
or obligations, or adversely affect their possessions, Article 6 of the Human Rights Act 
1998 establishes a presumption that the meeting will be held in public unless a private 
hearing is necessary for one of the reasons specified in Article 6. 

 
Exempt information is specified in Section 100 (A) Part I of Schedule 12A of the Local 
Government Act 1972 (as amended) but subject to any qualifications contained in Part II of 
Schedule 12A. Part III of Schedule 12A has effect for the interpretation of the Schedule. 

 
The qualifications are set out below: 

Paragraph 
/ Category 

 

1 Information relating to any individual. 
2 Information which is likely to reveal the identity of an individual. 
3 Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular 

person (including the authority holding that information). 
4 Information relating to any consultations or negotiations, or contemplated 

consultations or negotiations, in connection with any labour relations 
matter arising between the authority or a Minister of the Crown and 
employees of, or office holders under, the authority. 

5 Information in respect of which a claim to legal professional privilege could 
be maintained in legal proceedings. 

6 Information which reveals that the authority proposes— 

Page 205

http://www.hillingdon.gov.uk/


Page 178 

 
 
 
 
 
 

General Qualifications for the above categories: 
 

1) Information falling within paragraph 3 above is not exempt information by virtue of 
that paragraph if it is required to be registered under: 

a) the Companies Act 1985[3]; 
b) the Friendly Societies Act 1974[4]; 
c) the Friendly Societies Act 1992[5]; 
d) the Industrial and Provident Societies Acts 1965 to 1978[6]; 
e) the Building Societies Act 1986[7]; or 
f) the Charities Act 1993[8]. 

 
2) Information is not exempt information if it relates to proposed development for which 

the local planning authority may grant itself planning permission pursuant to 
regulation 3 of the Town and Country Planning General Regulations 1992[9]. 
 

3) Information which— 
a) falls within any of paragraphs 1 to 7 above; and 
b) is not prevented from being exempt by virtue of the two bullet points above, is 

exempt information if and so long, as in all the circumstances of the case, the 
public interest in maintaining the exemption outweighs the public interest in 
disclosing the information. 

 
Rule 11 
Exclusion of Access by the Public to Reports 
 
If the Monitoring Officer thinks fit, the Council may exclude access by the public and press to 
reports which in his or her opinion relate to items during which, in accordance with Rule 10 above, 
the meeting is likely not to be open to the public. Such reports will be marked “Not for publication” 
together with the category of information not to be disclosed. 
 
Rule 12 
Application of these rules to the Cabinet 
 
12.01 Rules 11 – 21 apply to the Cabinet and its committees. If the Cabinet or its committees meet 

to take a key decision then it must also comply with Rules 1 –11 unless Rule 15 (general 
exception) or Rule 16 (special urgency) applies. A key decision is as defined in Part 2, 
Chapter 5 of this Constitution. 

 
12.02 If the Cabinet or its committees meet to discuss a key decision to be taken collectively, 

with an officer other than a political assistant present, within 28 clear days of the public 
notice being given of the decision to be taken, then it must also comply with Rules 1 – 11 
unless Rule 15 (general exception) or Rule 16 (special urgency) applies. A key decision is as 
defined in Chapter 5 of this Constitution. This requirement does not include meetings, 
whose sole purpose is for officers to brief Members. 

 (a) to give under any enactment a notice under or by virtue of which 
requirements are imposed on a person; or 
 (b) to make an order or direction under any enactment. 

7 Information relating to any action taken or to be taken in connection with 
the prevention, investigation or prosecution of crime. 

Page 206



Page 179 

Rule 13 
Procedure before Taking Key Decisions 
 
13.01  Subject to Rule 15 (general exception) and Rule 16 (special urgency), a key decision may not 

be taken unless: 
 

a) a notice in connection with the matter (called here a forward plan) has been published 
at least 28 clear days before the decision is to be taken setting out:  

i. the matter in respect of which decision is to be made; 
ii. where the decision taker is an individual, their name and title, if any and 

where the decision taker is a body, its name and details of its membership; 
iii. the date on which, or period during which, the decision is to be taken;  
iv. a list of documents submitted to the decision taker for consideration in 

relation to the matter and details of how to inspect copies of these 
documents; and  

v. a note that other documents relevant to the decision may be submitted to 
the decision-maker and details how to inspect copies of these documents; 
and  

 
b) where the decision is to be taken at a meeting of the Cabinet or its committees, notice 

of the meeting has been given in accordance with Rule 4 (notice of meetings). 
 
13.02 A Forward Plan will be prepared by the Chief Executive in consultation with the Leader and 

Cabinet Members to cover a period of at least one month in advance.  It will be prepared 
on a rolling monthly basis and may be used to give the online statutory notice of future key 
decisions.  See also Part 2, Chapter 5. 

 
13.03 A Forward Plan may contain matters which the Leader has reason to believe will be subject 

of a key decision to be taken by the Cabinet, a committee of the Cabinet, individual 
members of the Cabinet or under joint arrangements in the course of the discharge of a 
Cabinet function 28 clear days following the publication of the Plan.  It will describe the 
same particulars set out in 13.01 (a) of these Rules. 

 
Rule 14 
Private meetings of the Cabinet 
 
14.01  If Cabinet, a Cabinet committee, individual members of the Cabinet, or a committee or 

sub-committee operating under joint arrangements in the course of the discharge of an 
executive function takes a decision to hold a meeting, or part of a meeting, during which 
the public are excluded subject to Rule 10 (Meetings – Public Exclusion) and/or Rule 11 
(Reports: Exclusion of Public Access), public notice will be made at least 28 clear days 
before the meeting date of the intention to hold a private meeting, including the reasons 
it is likely that the public will be excluded from all or part of the meeting.  

 
14.02  A further notice will be published five clear days before the meeting, which will include 

details of any representations made to the decision-maker about public access to the 
meetings, and the response of the decision-maker to such representations.  

 
  

Page 207



Page 180 

Rule 15 
General Exception to give advance notice of key decision 
 
15.01 If it is impracticable to make public notice of a matter which is likely to be a key decision, 

at least 28 clear days before the date on which the decision is to be taken, then subject to 
Rule 16 (special urgency), the decision may still be taken if: 
a) the Head of Democratic Services has informed the chairman of a relevant Select 

Committee, or if there is no such person, each member of that committee in writing, 
by notice, of the matter to which the decision is to be made; 

b) the Head of Democratic Services has made copies of that notice available to the public 
at the offices of the Council and on the Council’s website www.hillingdon.gov.uk, and: 

c) at least 5 clear days have elapsed since the Head of Democratic Services complied with 
(a) and (b). 

 
Rule 16 
Special Urgency procedure 
 
16.01 If by virtue of the date by which a decision must be taken, Rule 15 (general exception) 

cannot be followed, then the decision can only be taken if the decision maker (if an 
individual) or the chairman of the body making the decision, obtains the agreement of the 
chairman of a relevant Select Committee that the taking of the decision is urgent and 
cannot be reasonably deferred.   

 
16.02 If there is no chairman of a relevant Select Committee, or if the chairman of each relevant 

committee is unable to act, then the agreement of the Mayor of the Council, or in his/her 
absence the Deputy Mayor will suffice.   

 
16.03  As soon as reasonably practicable after the decision-maker has obtained agreement 

under Rules 16.01 or 16.02, the Head of Democratic Services will make available to the 
public at the designated office and on the Council’s website (www.hillingdon.gov.uk) a 
notice setting out the reasons why the decision is urgent and cannot reasonably be 
deferred.  

 
Rule 17 
Reporting to Council on decisions 
 
17.01 When a Select Committee can Require a Report 
 

If a Select Committee thinks that a decision has been taken which was not: 
a) treated as a key decision and;  
b) a relevant Select Committee are of the opinion that the decision should have been 

treated as a key decision, 
 

the committee may require the Cabinet or executive decision-maker [through the 
Cabinet] to submit a report to the Council. The power to require a report rests with the 
committee, but is also delegated to the Head of Democratic Services, who shall require 
such a report on behalf of the committee when so requested by (the Chairman and a 
majority of Members). Alternatively, the requirement may be raised by resolution passed 
at a meeting of the relevant Select Committee. 

 

Page 208

http://www.hillingdon.gov.uk/


Page 181 

17.02 Cabinet’s Report to Council 
 

The Cabinet will prepare a report for submission to the next available meeting of the 
Council. However, if the next meeting of the Council is within 7 days of receipt of the 
written notice, or the resolution of the committee, then the report may be submitted to 
the meeting after that.  The report to Council will set out particulars of the decision, the 
individual or body making the decision, and if the Leader is of the opinion that it was not a 
key decision the reasons for that opinion. 

 
17.03 Reports on Special Urgency Decisions 
 

The Leader will submit regular reports, at least annually, to the Council on any executive 
decisions taken in the circumstances set out in Rule 16 (special urgency). The report will 
include the number of decisions so taken and a summary of the matters in respect of 
which those decisions were taken. 

 
Rule 18 
Record of Cabinet & Cabinet Member decisions 
 
18.01 As soon as reasonably practicable after any formal meeting of the Cabinet or any of its 

committees, whether held in public or private, the Head of Democratic Services or, where 
no officer was present, the person presiding at the meeting, will produce a written 
statement of every decision taken at that meeting, which will include:   

a) a record of the decision including the date it was made;  
b) a record of the reasons for the decision;  
c) details of any alternative options considered and rejected by the decision-maker at 

the meeting at which the decision was made;  
d) a record of any declarations of interest relating to the matter decided made by any 

member of the decision-making body; and  
e) in respect of any declarations of interest, details of any notes of dispensation 

granted  
 
18.02  As soon as reasonably practicable after any individual Member has made an executive 

decision, that Member must produce or instruct the proper officer to produce a written 
statement of that decision which will include: 

a) a record of the decision including the date it was made;  
b) a record of the reasons for the decision;  
c) details of any alternative options considered and rejected by the Member when 

making that decision;  
d) a record of any declarations of interest relating to the decision which have been 

made by any executive member who is consulted by the decision-maker; and  
e) in respect of any declarations of interest, details of any notes of dispensation 

granted.  
 
Rule 19 
Decisions that are not key decisions 
 
The Cabinet will also consider matters in public – and Cabinet Members will also consider reports, 
which are not key decisions, unless they are confidential or exempt as defined in paragraphs 
10.03 and 10.4 of these rules. 

Page 209



Page 182 

Rule 20 
Select Committee Access to Documents 
 
Additional rights to documents for Members of Select Committees are set out Part 2, Chapter 6 
on Select Committee arrangements. 
 
Rule 21 
Additional rights of access to Members 
 
21.01 Material relating to public meetings 
 

All Members will be entitled to inspect any document which is in the possession or under 
the control of the Cabinet or its committees and contains material relating to any business 
to be transacted at a public meeting at least five clear days before that meeting, unless 
either (a) or (b) below applies:  
 

a) where the meeting has been convened at shorter notice, such a document must be 
available for inspection when the meeting is convened; and  

b) where an item is added to the agenda at shorter notice, such a document must be 
available for inspection when the item is added to the agenda  

 
21.02 Material relating to private business previously transacted 
 

All Members will be entitled to inspect any document which is in the possession or under 
the control of the Cabinet or its committees and contains material relating to any business 
previously transacted at a private meeting, or where an executive decision has been made 
by an individual Member or officer in accordance with executive arrangements unless 
either (a) or (b) below applies:  

 
a) it contains exempt information falling within paragraphs 1, 2, 4, 5 or 7 of the 

categories of exempt information, save that in respect of paragraph 3, only so far 
as it contains information which relates to any terms proposed or to be proposed 
by or to the authority in the course of negotiations for a contract; or  

b) it contains the advice of a political adviser (NB no such post is currently 
established)  

 
Such document must be made available for inspection within 24 hours of the conclusion of the 
meeting or of the decision being made.  
 
21.03 Material Relating to Key Decisions 
 

Subject to Standing Orders 21.01 (a) and (b) above, all Members of the Council will be 
entitled to inspect any document in the possession or under the control of the Cabinet or 
its committees which relates to any key decision unless the circumstances in Standing 
Order 21.02 (a) or (b) above applies. 

 
21.04 Nature of Rights 
 
 These rights of a Member are additional to any other right he/she may have. 
 

Page 210



Page 183 

Chapter 18 - Rules on procurement 
 
These rules, also known as the Procurement Standing Orders (SOs), set out how the 
Council procures goods, services and agency or consultancy staff, when required. The 
rules seek to ensure corporate compliance and that best value is achieved in the 
Council’s commercial transactions with third parties. 
 
SO 1 - Compliance 
 
1.1 Every contract awarded by or on behalf of the Council in respect of:- 

a) Goods; 
b) Works; or 
c) Services 
 
of any category or commodity, shall be procured and awarded, in accordance with: 
a) These Standing Orders 
b) The Public Contracts Regulations 2015 
c) EU directives and regulations or other applicable statutory regulation being in force in 

the United Kingdom 
d) The Council’s Financial Regulations and Standing Orders, 
e) Corporate Procurement Strategy and any Procurement Standard Operating 

Procedures issued under paragraph 1.2. 
 

1.2 The Chief Executive, in consultation with the Leader of the Council, the Cabinet Member 
for Finance and the Chief Finance Officer, may issue, from time to time, Procurement 
Standard Operating Procedures setting out, in further detail, procedures to be followed 
when awarding contracts under these Contract Standing Orders, together with guidance 
on relevant best practice for procurement. 

 
1.3 Compliance with the procedures set out in the Procurement Standard Operating 

Procedures is mandatory under these Standing Orders, together with the application of 
best practice. Application of the Procurement Standard Operating Procedures is to be 
consistent across all Council Departments, including all areas where the procurement 
function is delegated. It is the responsibility of the Approved Officer to ensure compliance 
with the procedures is maintained where procurement is delegated to an external supplier 
or organization. 

 
1.4 These Standing Orders shall be read together with the Procurement Standard Operating 

Procedures. The Procedures and Standing Orders carry equal weight, and therefore a 
breach of the Procedures will have the same effect as a breach of these Standing Orders.  

 
1.5 Corporate & Executive Directors, Directors, Deputy Directors and Heads of Service shall 

ensure that all officers who procure goods, works or services comply with these Standing 
Orders and the Procurement Standard Operating Procedures.  Only officers who are 
deemed to be qualified and competent by the Head of Procurement, in conjunction with 
the appropriate Corporate/ Executive Director, may procure goods, works or services. 
These officers are to be identified within each Department’s individual Scheme of 
Delegations, and known as “Approved Officers”. The Head of Procurement and each 
Corporate / Executive Director shall maintain a register of Approved Officers.  

Page 211



Page 184 

 
1.6      An Approved Officer shall be designated for all contracts, irrespective of value, and be 

competent in managing the supply of goods, works or services as appropriate. For the 
avoidance of doubt, this does not mean sourcing and placement of contracts. 

 
1.7 The Head of Procurement shall be responsible for maintaining a register of all contracts 

where the total contract value is £50,000 or greater. 
 
1.8 No contract shall be procured unless written approval is obtained in accordance with the 

Scheme of Delegations.  Such written approval will confirm there is adequate provision 
within the appropriate capital or revenue budgets or other financial provision, i.e. grant 
funding. 

 
1.9 Pursuant to paragraph 1.8, before obtaining written approval, Approved Officers shall 

consult the Register of Contracts to ascertain if the Council has a contract for the goods, 
works or services required. If such a contract is in existence, the Approved Officer shall 
use the appropriate contract in force, and not procure another.  

 
1.10 It shall be the duty of every officer of the Council placing contracts or committing 

expenditure to obtain and demonstrate value for money, and that the goods, works and 
services are fit for the intended purpose. 

 
SO 2 - Ethics & Probity 
 
2.1 Officers shall preserve the highest standards of honesty, integrity, impartiality and 

objectivity. This includes compliance with the Employees’ Code of Conduct. 
 
2.2 Pursuant to paragraph 2.1, breaches of compliance will be referred to the Chief Finance 

Officer and the Head of Procurement in the first instance, who in conjunction with the 
Head of Business Assurance, will authorise any investigation. The outcome of any 
investigation may be referred to the Head of Human Resources to determine if disciplinary 
action should be taken, in accordance with the Employee’s Code of Conduct. 

 
2.3 In accordance with Section 117 of the Local Government Act 1972, The Head of Legal 

Services shall maintain a record of any officer who has a pecuniary interest in a contract 
with the Council, and notify in writing their Head of Service where, in the course of their 
work, have a personal financial or non-financial interest. 

 
2.4 Any officer procuring goods, works or services must declare gifts and hospitality received 

or offered, in accordance with the Employees’ Code of Conduct. 
 
SO 3 - Decision-making process 
  
3.1 Member authority 

 
The Council’s executive decision-making process set out in Part 2, Chapter 5 requires for 
more significant contract decisions to be determined by the Cabinet or a Cabinet 
Member(s) to provide for Member oversight and accountability when using public monies. 
It is the prerogative of the Cabinet or Cabinet Member to decide to accept - or not accept 
- any tender recommended by Officers.  

Page 212



Page 185 

 
Council sets the financial thresholds by which tenders shall be accepted by Members as 
set out in Standing Order 6. 

 
3.2 Planning ahead 
 

Before any invitation to tender, Corporate & Executive Directors and their officers shall 
plan ahead and build into their project timetable the necessary informal approvals, 
notifications (via the Forward Plan) and the period of the formal decision-making process. 
Sufficient time should be planned to consider all service provision issues, including 
alternative decisions by the Cabinet or Cabinet Member. 

 
Corporate & Executive Directors should first seek the informal approval of their Cabinet 
Member to invite tenders. For tenders that have a corporate impact, the Leader of the 
Council should also be consulted beforehand. Cabinet Members will expect officers to 
have considered all alternative options before presenting them with a proposal to tender 
a contract. 

 
The Corporate & Executive Directors shall then ensure that the Forward Plan is updated 
with regard to forthcoming tender decisions which require formal approval by the full 
Cabinet or a Cabinet Member. Advance notice of at least 3-4 months should be given on 
the Forward Plan. 

 
3.3 Decision-making process and timings & transparency 

 
Any tender decision identified on the Forward Plan shall require a formal tender summary 
report to be prepared providing full tender evaluation information, using the sign-off 
procedures and templates approved by Democratic Services. For tender decisions to a 
particular meeting of the full Cabinet, officers should adhere to the report deadlines set 
out by Democratic Services. For tender decisions to a Cabinet Member(s), officers should 
ensure they are taken within the month notified. 

 
From the time the report is ready, the formal decision-making process can take 
approximately 1 month before a decision is made. This time period is mainly for legal 
reasons, but also to ensure that Members have time to read the report. In addition, after 
any decision is made by the Cabinet or Cabinet Member, 5 days must expire for the 
‘scrutiny call-in’ period before any decision can formally take effect and any contract can 
be signed, executed or sealed. 
 
In exceptional circumstances to speed-up the democratic decision-making process, 
Special Urgency or Urgency procedures may be invoked to the relevant body authorised to 
make the decision (Leader of the Council/Cabinet Member or the Cabinet) but only with 
the prior agreement of the Leader of the Council via the relevant Corporate / Executive 
Director. Such procedures are set out in Part 4 D - Access to Information Procedure Rules. 
For transparency, ordinarily all Cabinet and Cabinet Member decisions to accept (or not 
accept) a particular tender are made public immediately following the decision, including 
the name of the successful tenderer / organisation and the value of the contract. 

 
 

Page 213



Page 186 

SO 4 - Invitations to Tender 
 
4.1 a)  Tenders or quotations shall be invited for all proposed contracts with an estimated 

total contract value, equal to or exceeding the minimum thresholds as set out in the 
Procurement Standard Operating Procedures. These thresholds are as follows: - 

  
Total Value Minimum number of 

quotations or tenders 
Award criteria 

£0 – £25,000 3 Quotations Most economically 
advantageous 

£25,000 – £100,000 5 Quotations Most economically 
advantageous quotation 

£100,000 & above 5 Tenders Most economically 
advantageous tender 

 
 Pursuant to paragraph 1.1, every invitation to tender shall comply with all regulations 

and directives in force at that time. 
 

b) Where the award criteria is based on most economically advantageous tender, 
unless agreed in writing by Cabinet Member for Finance or the Leader of the 
Council, in conjunction with the Head of Procurement, there will be three tiers of 
weighting reflecting the varied nature of services the Council procures: 
i. Goods / works and services considered to be a commodity and / or ones that 

are not considered to impact the strategic outcomes of the Council shall be 
based on a minimum 80% weighting in favour in price.  

ii. Goods / works and services where the quality of outcome is heavily influenced 
by the supplier selection (e.g. consultancy and professional services) shall be 
based on a maximum of 80% weighting in favour of quality.  

iii. All other requirements, where price and quality are deemed to be of equal 
importance when considered in the context of the Council’s operating and 
financial environment, should be undertaken on the basis of equal cost / 
quality split. It is expected that the majority of requirements will fall under this 
tier. 

 
4.2 EU directives and regulations shall apply to the procurement of contracts with an 

estimated aggregate value equal to or exceeding the EU thresholds listed below that are 
in force at the time of tender, as set out in the Procurement Standard Operating 
Procedures and pursuant to paragraph 4.3:-  

 
Goods and 
services 

£181,302 or 
greater 

Minimum 5 Tenders 
to be sought 

Most economically 
advantageous tender or lowest 
price 

Works £4,551,413 or 
greater 

Minimum 5 Tenders 
to be sought 

Most economically advantageous 
tender or lowest price 

* The Head of Democratic Services may update the above OJEU figures in the Standing Orders, as 
and when prescribed from time to time. 

 
4.3 Unless it is in the best interests of the Council, or forms part of a provision of duty of care, 

no requirement for goods, works or services may be sub-divided into smaller contracts 
with the intention of circumventing the requirements of paragraph 4.1, or for the purpose 

Page 214



Page 187 

of avoidance of EU statutory requirements, as stated in the Public Contracts Regulations 
2015. 

 
4.4 Pursuant to paragraph 4.1 and the requirement for obtaining best value and adequate 

competition, competitive tenders or quotations shall not be required if the Approved 
Officer is satisfied, and has obtained written agreement from the Head of Procurement 
and the Leader of the Council, that: 
(i)  it is not reasonably practicable or prudent in meeting the Council’s objectives to 

obtain competitive tenders or quotations; or 
(ii)  there would be no effective or genuine competition; or  
(iii)  it is necessary to safeguard life or property; or 
(iv)  the works, services or goods will be obtained through an approved buying 

consortium, or from their nominated suppliers; or 
(v) the works, services or goods will be obtained through a corporately tendered and 

managed contract that has been established for all officers of the Council to use, and 
(vi) all such decisions are authorised by the Head of Procurement in writing. 

 
4.5 Before proceeding in accordance with paragraph 4.1 in relation to any expenditure, the 

Approved Officer shall consult the Procurement Standard Operating Procedures, to 
confirm and determine how the goods, works or services should be tendered.  Appropriate 
guidance shall also be sought from the Procurement Team. 

 
4.6 Tenders for all proposed contracts with an estimated total contract value greater than 

£50,000 shall be conducted by the Procurement Team, unless otherwise instructed by the 
Head of Procurement. All such tenders shall be published on the appropriate eTendering 
portal as advised by the Procurement Team. 

 
SO 5 - Custody, Receipt & Opening of Tenders 
 
5.1 All tenders are managed through capital e-sourcing which will contain a record of all 

tenders received and opened. If tenders are managed manually, then procedures below 
will apply. 

 
5.2 The Approved Officer shall ensure that custody, opening and acceptance of tenders is in 

accordance with the Procurement Standard Operating Procedures. 
 
5.3 Receipt and custody of tenders 
 

(a) Tenders shall be returned by the tenderer to the Civic Centre. Electronic tenders 
shall be returned to the email address specified in the tender instructions, or 
uploaded to the appropriate e-tendering portal as specified. 

(b) On receipt by the Council, tenders shall be date-and time-stamped on their 
envelope or outer wrapper.  Each electronic tender received shall be electronically 
date stamped. 

(c) The Mail Room Supervisor, or equivalent officer responsible for receiving mail or 
online documents, shall:  
(i) provide a receipt for tenders received, on request; 
(ii) keep a record of the number of tenders received:  
(iii) after the time and date specified for their return, hand all tenders received 

to the officer responsible for them, and obtain a receipt / signature. 

Page 215



Page 188 

(d)  Tenders shall be kept in secure custody until they are opened.  Electronic tenders 
shall be stored in a secure folder. 

 
5.4 Register of tenders 
 
 A register of tenders received shall be maintained by each Corporate / Executive Director 

and updated by each Approved Officer as necessary.  The register should contain details 
of each tender, the signatures of the officer opening the tenders and the witness and the 
signature of the officer to whom the tenders were passed for custody after opening. 
Where tenders are received electronically this register shall be maintained within the 
appropriate eTendering portal as advised by the Procurement team. 

 
5.5 Tender opening 

 
(a) Tenders shall be opened at one time and only in the presence of such officer or 

officers as the Head of Democratic Services and/or Approved Officer or the 
Corporate Procurement Unit may determine. 

(b)  An officer from the Corporate Procurement Unit or Democratic Services should be 
present when tenders are opened.  

(c) The tenders shall be opened one at a time and the opening sequence recorded, 
together with any appropriate comments or notes. 

(d) As each tender is opened the name of each tenderer and the amount of the tender 
must be recorded in the tender register. 

 
5.6 Late Tenders 

 
(a) A tender received after the last date and time when tenders should be received 

must be recorded as a late tender in the tender register. 
 (b) Such a late tender shall only be opened and considered for acceptance on the 

authorisation of the Head of Procurement and the Head of Democratic Services. 
 (c) The Head of Procurement and the Head of Democratic Services may consider that 

a tender received late should be considered for acceptance under the following 
circumstances: 
(i) there is a bona fide reason, recorded in writing, for the tender being late; and 
(ii) other tenders that have arrived on time have not been opened. 

(d) Where a tender received late is for a contract greater than £50,000, the Head of 
Procurement and Head of Democratic Services shall in addition seek approval from 
the Head of Legal Services prior to considering it for acceptance. 

(e) Where a tender received late is for a contract value of greater than £250,000, the 
Head of Procurement and Head of Democratic Services shall in addition seek 
approval from the Head of Legal Services prior to considering it for acceptance. 

(f) In circumstances where the Head of Procurement and the Head of Democratic 
Services are uncertain whether a late tender should be opened and considered for 
acceptance, the matter should be referred to the Head of Legal Services for legal 
advice. 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 216



Page 189 

SO 6 - Acceptance of tenders and approval of them 
 
6.1 General Rules 
 

Where tenders or quotations have been received in accordance with the Procurement 
Standard Operating Procedures, they can only be accepted if the Approved Officer has 
satisfied themselves that: - 
a) All approvals required by Cabinet, Cabinet Member or Delegated Officers set out in 

these Standing Orders, the Council’s Constitution and Financial Regulations have 
been obtained first; 

b) the tender is compliant; 
c) the tender offers best value in accordance with the Procurement Standard Operating 

Procedures. 
d) all appropriate risks have been assessed and mitigated, as required by Procurement 

Standard Operating Procedures. 
 
6.2 Acceptance of tenders or quotations 
 

A tender or quotation summary report recommending final contractor selection will be 
required prior to acceptance. This document will form the basis for decisions required as 
set out below. 
(a) In the case of a tender or quotation which does not exceed £24,999 for which 

budgetary provision exists, the Approved Officer shall be authorised to accept the 
most satisfactory quote or tender using the designated financial system. 

(b) In the case of a tender or quotation which is between £25,000 and £99,999 for which 
budgetary provision exists, the Approved Officer, with informal written acceptance 
provided by the relevant Cabinet Member portfolio holder and / or Leader of the 
Council shall be authorised to accept the most satisfactory tender. 

(c) In the case of a tender which between £100,000 and £499,999 for which budgetary 
provision exists, the relevant Cabinet Member portfolio holder in conjunction with 
the Leader of the Council or Cabinet Member for Finance shall be authorised to 
accept the most satisfactory tender through the formal democratic process. 

(d)  In the case of a tender of £500,000 and above for which budgetary provision exists, 
the Cabinet shall be authorised to accept the most satisfactory tender through the 
formal democratic process. 

(e) Additional authority may be provided for (or required) as set out in section 6.3 in order 
to accept tenders outside the ordinary thresholds above or for those significant in 
nature. 

(e) A re-assessment of the Contractors financial stability shall be carried out where the 
tender value exceeds £100,000. This would normally be undertaken during the pre-
qualification and/or at the tender submission stage of the process. This information 
should be presented in any report to the Cabinet or Cabinet Member. 

(f) Tenders or quotations can only be accepted in accordance with the agreed award 
criteria i.e. most economically advantageous or lowest price.  

 
In the case of decisions required by the Cabinet or Cabinet Member then the procedures 
in Standing Order 3.3 shall be followed. 

 
 
 

Page 217



Page 190 

6.3 Authority levels for tender or quotation acceptance 
 

(a) Council has agreed the following financial thresholds for authority to accept a tender 
or quotation: 

 
£0 –£24,999 Approved Officer using designated Financial System * 
£25,000 - £99,999  Approved Officer with informal written acceptance from 

relevant Cabinet Member  or Leader of the Council * 
£100,000 - £499,999 Formal democratic decision by the relevant Cabinet Member 

and the Leader of the Council or Cabinet Member for  Finance * 
£500,000 or greater Formal democratic decision by the Cabinet */** 

 
(b) * Any tender, at any value, if deemed a 'key decision', must be indicated on the Forward 

Plan in advance and determined formally 
 

If any such decision on any tender is to have a significant impact upon communities, 
people or services within 2 or more wards and/or significantly outside the approved 
budget (by meeting the criteria for key decisions) then it must be taken by Leader & 
relevant Cabinet Member or the Cabinet, dependent on value as a formal democratic 
decision and prior details included within the Council's Forward Plan, except if taken 
under urgency rules. The Council's definition of a key decision is set out in Part 2, 
Chapter 5 of this Constitution. 

 
(c) ** Tenders above £500,000 in the absence of a regular Cabinet meeting and if decision 

deemed urgent by the Leader of the Council 
 

Cabinet is the primary body where tenders over £500k in value are considered in the 
ordinary course of events. In the absence of a Cabinet meeting where a decision is 
required that if not taken may prejudice service or project delivery or if a decision is 
deemed urgent by the Leader of the Council, then the Leader of the Council and 
relevant Cabinet Member may take a formal democratic decision on the matter, with 
it being reported to a subsequent Cabinet for ratification via a formal report.  

 
(d) These thresholds and authority requirements shall also apply to single tender actions, 

contract extensions and variations. 
(e) In the case of a formal democratic decision required by the Leader of the Council / 

Cabinet Member or the Cabinet then the procedures in Standing Order 3.3 shall be 
followed.  

 
6.4 Agency / Temporary Workers and Consultants 
 
 Council has agreed different financial thresholds for authority for appointing individual 

temporary workers and accepting tenders for appointment of consultants as follows: 
 

 
Acceptance of 
tender for 
appointment of 
consultants * 

Any value if within 
establishment and budget 

Corporate / 
Executive Director In writing 

Any value outside 
establishment or budget 

Chief Executive with 
sign-off by the 
Leader of the Council 

In writing 
 

Approval of 
individual 

Any value if within 
establishment and budget 

Corporate / 
Executive Director In writing 

Page 218



Page 191 

temporary 
workers * Any value outside 

establishment or budget 

Chief Executive with 
sign-off by the 
Leader of the Council 

In writing 
 

 
*NB: If the value is £50,000 or greater these shall be reported to Cabinet for noting only. 
 
Reference to ‘consultants’ within Standing Order 6.4 means small practice consultants of 
fewer than 3 people who are engaged by the Council against a specific brief but are 
assessed to fall outside of IR35 intermediaries Legislation. For engagement of larger 
consultancy contracts, these should be tendered in accordance with Standing Order 4 and 
approved in accordance with Standing Order 6. In circumstance where there is uncertainty 
around which process to follow further guidance should be sought from the Head of 
Procurement. 

 
In the case of decisions required by the Cabinet or Cabinet Member then the procedures 
in Standing Order 3.3 shall be followed. 
 

6.5 Where individual orders for goods, works or services are placed with a single contractor 
independently of each other and the cumulative value over the period of a financial year 
moves between the authorisation levels in Standing Orders 6.3, officers should seek the 
necessary approval in accordance with the total cumulative value. 

 
 
SO 7 - Execution of Contracts 
 
7.1 Every contract that is entered into by the Council shall be in writing and executed in 

accordance with the following:- 
 

£10,000 – £49,999 

Signed by, the Head of Procurement in writing.  
 
As set out in 9.2 for purchases below £10,000 where no formal 
contract is in place, purchase orders shall be considered as a form of 
contract. 

£50,000 - £99,999 Signed by the Chief Finance Officer in writing 

£100,000 or greater 

Sealed with the Common Seal of the Council and attested by a Member 
of the Council and the Head of Legal Services or any other officer 
authorised by the Head of Legal Services and the Leader of the Council 
in writing. 

 
7.2  Pursuant to Standing Order 1, a record of each contract executed in accordance with 

paragraph 7.1, shall be entered on a Register of Contracts maintained for that purpose by 
the Head of Procurement. 

 
7.3 No Council officer may call off a contract for goods, works or services unless that contract 

is in writing and executed in accordance with paragraph 7.1. 
 
7.4 Legal Services shall be responsible for ensuring that all contract executions are managed 

correctly, in accordance with paragraph 7.1.  Sufficient copies of each contract shall be 
signed, and an electronic version will be passed to the Procurement Team, whereupon this 
will be stored in the Contracts Library. 

 

Page 219



Page 192 

SO 8 - Contract Extension and Variation 
 
8.1 Before approval is granted to extend or vary contracts, Corporate & Executive Directors 

and their officers shall give due consideration to all potential options that may exist to 
repackage goods, works and services. An appraisal of such options shall be produced and 
provided to the appropriate Cabinet Member for review in accordance with the provisions 
of Standing Order 3. Only where the Cabinet Member approves the option that a contract 
shall be extended or varied shall such approval be sought.   

 
8.2 Contracts may only be extended where the express provision in the agreement exists to 

do so and the appropriate approval to extend has been provided. This approval shall be 
sought in accordance with the levels of tender acceptance contained in Standing Order 
6.3. 

 
8.3 Contracts may only be varied where the express provision in the agreement exists to do so 

and the appropriate approval to vary the contract has been provided. This approval shall 
be based upon the approval required to execute the contract as contained in Standing 
Order 7.1. 

 
8.4 Where any single proposed contract variation or cumulative value of agreed contract 

variations is likely to exceed the value originally approved then Officers should, at the 
earliest opportunity, seek approval to exceed the value from the relevant Cabinet Member 
and the Leader of the Council. If this exceeds 15% or more of the total contract value 
originally approved, a summary report shall be made to the Head of Procurement. Approval 
of the proposed contract variation shall be in accordance with Standing Order 8.2 and 
therefore may require either approved officer approval with informal written acceptance 
by the Cabinet Member, a formal Cabinet Member or Cabinet decision. 

 
SO 9 - Purchase Orders & Government Procurement Cards 
 
9.1 Where formal contractual arrangement are in place, purchase orders shall be considered 

as the method of commitment with a supplier and shall be required for all goods, works 
and services, irrespective of value, and raised in accordance with Procurement Standard 
Operating Procedures, pursuant to paragraph 1.1. No goods, works or services shall be 
procured without the prior establishment of a legitimate purchase order, duly approved in 
accordance with the Council’s Financial Regulations and the Scheme of Delegations. 

 Exemptions to this shall be approved in writing by the Chief Finance Officer and Head of 
Procurement as appropriate. 

 
9.2 For purchases below £10,000 where no formal contract is in place, purchase orders shall 

be considered as a form of contract and shall be required for all goods, works and services, 
and raised in accordance with Procurement Standard Operating Procedures, pursuant to 
paragraph 1.1. No goods, works or services shall be procured without the prior 
establishment of a legitimate purchase order, duly approved in accordance with the 
Council’s Financial regulations and the Scheme of Delegations. 

 
Exemptions to this shall be approved in writing by the Chief Finance Officer and Head of 
Procurement as appropriate. 
 

Page 220



Page 193 

9.3 The Council recognises the need to ensure efficient processes are used to procure lower 
value goods, works and services. Therefore Government Procurement Cards may be used 
to procure goods, works and services as follows:- 
a) Purchases less than £500 
b) Single purchases where the supplier will not be used again 
c) Urgent or emergency purchases where it is not possible to raise a purchase order, 

pursuant to paragraph 9.2 
 
 Exemptions to this shall be approved in writing by the Chief Finance Officer and Head of 

Procurement as appropriate. 
 
SO 10 - Local Authority Maintained School Procurement 
 
10.1 Delegated Authority to procure goods, works or services may be awarded only with the 

written approval of the Chief Executive, Chief Finance Officer and the Head of 
Procurement, and only when the application for Delegated Authority is supported by a 
detailed business case prepared in accordance with the Procurement Standard Operating 
Procedures.  

 
10.2 Departments, Service Areas or Officers who have been awarded Delegated Authority shall 

comply with these standing orders and the Procurement Standard Operating Procedures 
at all times. Breaches of compliance will result in the removal of Delegated Authority, as 
required by the Head of Procurement, and possible disciplinary action may also be 
initiated. 

 
10.3 Local authority maintained schools are required to abide by the Council’s Standing Orders 

with respect to purchasing, tendering and contracting. Governing Bodies are also 
empowered under paragraph 3 of schedule 1 to the Education Act 2002 to enter into 
contracts, and in most cases they do so on behalf of the Local Authority as maintainer of 
the school. The Council has therefore set the following delegated authority and criteria for 
the acceptance, consistent with the Financing Scheme for Schools approved by Cabinet: 

 
Value Range  Process to 

follow 
Description  Approval  

Up to £3,000 Best Value  Officers to 
demonstrate best 
value has been 
achieved 

Headteacher 
 

£3,001 - 
£10,000 

Quotes Three written quotes 
required 

Headteacher 

£10,001 – 
£50,000 

Quotes Minimum of 5 written 
quotes  

Governing Body 

£50,001 - 
£100,000 

Tenders Minimum of 5 tenders Governing Body  

£100,000 and 
above 

Tender  Minimum of 5 tenders Governing Body and Local 
Authority 

£181,302 and 
above  * 

OJEU notice European tender 
(goods/services) 

Governing Body and Local 
Authority 

 
Governing Bodies are required to obtain a counter-signature on contracts with the Local 
Authority where the value of the contract exceeds £100,000. The only exceptions to this 

Page 221



Page 194 

are: 
a) contracts of employment entered into by aided or foundation schools; 
b) contracts for the works or fees associated with building projects at aided schools 

where the project is the governors’ liability; 
c) contracts for the works or fees associated with building projects at foundation 

schools where the funding (including DfE funding)  provided via the Local Authority is 
less than £100,000 (i.e. in practice this exemption is likely to occur only where a 
foundation school has generated the funding for the project itself through land 
disposal, sponsorship or other fund-raising). 

The Local Authority counter-signatory for the London Borough of Hillingdon will be the 
Corporate Director of Finance or as sub-delegated by the Corporate Director in the 
Directorate's Scheme of Delegations. 

 
* The Head of Democratic Services may update the above OJEU figures in the Standing Orders, as 
and when prescribed from time to time. 

 
 
SO 11 - Exemptions from these Rules 
 
11.1 In any circumstances not provided for by the preceding Standing Orders, an Approved 

Officer will consult with the Chief Finance Officer and the Head of Procurement, in the first 
instance, where an exemption is required.   

 
11.2 These Standing Orders shall not apply to the following services or actions that are 

managed by separate policies and guidelines:  
1. Contracts for the acquisition or lease of land and/or real estate.  
2. Contracts for permanent or fixed term employment.  
3. Direct Payments to citizens following care assessment, for example, payments 

provided under Self Directed Support or individual budgets. 
4. When the Chief Executive's Emergency Contract Delegation Protocol is invoked, 

with the agreement of the Leader of the Council (see Annex A below for protocol). 
Such decisions will be reported to Cabinet for ratification. 

5. When the Leader of the Council deems a decision urgent under their Emergency 
Powers delegation. Such decisions will be reported to Cabinet for ratification. 

 
11.3 Where these Standing Orders may conflict with any separate rules or guidance, and the 

Procurement Standard Operating Procedures, the Head of Procurement, the Cabinet 
Member for Finance and the Head of Legal Services will determine which takes 
precedence.  

 
 ANNEX A 
 
 Emergency Contract Delegation 
 
 This power is delegated to the Chief Executive with the agreement of the Leader of the 

Council. 
 

In respect of a Council capital project or revenue service, where an emergency or 
exceptionally urgent situation arises in relation to a commercial contract where: 

 

Page 222



Page 195 

a) The Leader and Chief Executive agree the urgency; 
b) There is no Cabinet meeting imminent; 
c) Any delay would seriously jeopardise the Council’s finances or its ability to deliver 

services and; 
d) A previous executive decision has been made or proposed in respect of the 

capital project or service provision concerned, 
 

authority is granted to the Chief Executive, subject to the written agreement of the Leader 
of the Council, to incur expenditure and make any new and necessary contractual 
decisions in order to secure the successful delivery of the project or service. 
 
In such instances, these Standing Orders can be waived. Any decisions taken must be 
reported to a subsequent Cabinet meeting for formal ratification. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 223



Page 196 

Chapter 19 - Rules on land and property  
 
These rules, also known as the Property Standing Orders, set out how the Council 
acquires, disposes and makes other property transactions, who makes such decisions 
and the procedures to be followed to ensure best value. 
 
SO 1 - Compliance 
 
1.1 This procedure rule applies where there is a Property (including land and/or buildings) 

transaction. 
1.2 “Property transaction” means the acquisition or disposal of a freehold interest in property 

(including land and/or buildings) or a lease of greater than 7 years or other dealing with 
land, whether or not buildings, plant and equipment, fixtures and fittings, or other assets 
are included in that transaction.  A transaction concerning only plant and equipment, 
fixtures and fittings, or other assets is not a Property transaction. The grant of a 
temporary licence to occupy is not a Property transaction. 

1.3 “major disposal” means a Property transaction which consists of either a disposal of the 
freehold where the consideration exceeds £100,000, or the grant of a lease of greater than 
7 years where the rent exceeds £30,000 per annum or where the premium exceeds 
£100,000. 

1.4 “the property procedures” means the procedures adopted by Property & Estates from time 
to time for the management, use, acquisition and disposal of property, in consultation with 
the Corporate Director of Place and the Head of Legal Services. 

1.5 “best consideration” means the legal obligation upon the Council to achieve a 
consideration, which is the best that can reasonably be obtained. 

1.6 Principles to be applied are that policy decisions on property, (e.g. property policies and 
decisions on what property to purchase or sell), should be made by the Cabinet or by the 
Cabinet Member for Property, Highways & Transport.  Professional decisions, (e.g. how to 
market, negotiations etc) should be delegated to officers. 

 
SO 2 - Approval of Major Disposals 
 
2.1 The principle and method of each major disposal must be approved by the Head of 

Property & Estates making recommendations to the Cabinet Member for Property, 
Highways & Transport or the Cabinet. When determining such matters they shall consider 
a report:   

 
a) specifying the property (land and buildings) to be disposed of; 
b) confirming that the property has been declared surplus to the Services'/Council's 

requirements; 
c) advising upon the proposed method of disposal, and providing the reasons for 

selecting that method; 
d) in matters where the Council must achieve best consideration, confirming that the 

proposed method of disposal which has been selected, is most likely to achieve 
this; 

e) in matters where it is proposed that the disposal should be for less than best 
consideration, giving reasons for and against seeking best consideration and, 
following consultation with the Head of Legal Services, specifying the relevant 
legal powers of the Council to accept less than best consideration. 

Page 224



Page 197 

 
2.2 The principal terms of major disposals (except where the approved method of disposal is 

by auction) must be approved by the Head of Property & Estates making recommendations 
to the Cabinet Member for Property, Highways & Transport or the Cabinet as appropriate.  
When determining such matters, they shall consider a report confirming either that the 
consideration agreed represents 'best consideration', or, following consultation with the 
Head of Legal Services, specifying the relevant legal powers of the Council to accept less 
than best consideration. 

 
2.3 In major disposals where the approved method of disposal is the inviting of tenders or 

offers, the disposal must be advertised in at least one local, national, international or 
specialist newspapers or publications, as determined by Corporate Property and 
Construction. 

 
SO 3 - Dealing with tenders and offers 
 
3.1 The receipt and opening of tenders and offers will be conducted in accordance with The 

Council’s Rules on procurement, Part 3, Chapter 18 and any other approved Procurement 
Operating Procedures. 

3.2 In cases where the duty to achieve 'best consideration' (the best price that can reasonably 
be obtainable) applies, when a tender or offer representing 'best consideration' is received 
late, or is otherwise invalid as described in Standing Order 5, the Head of Property & 
Estates will consult with the Head of Legal Services and the Cabinet Member for Property, 
Highways & Transport.  If they agree that the tender or offer should be considered for 
acceptance and it is possible that other tenderers/offers will otherwise be prejudiced, all 
tenders/offers shall, at the Council's discretion, be given the opportunity to resubmit their 
tenders/offers within a given timescale. 

3.3 In cases where the duty to achieve 'best consideration' does not apply, when a tender is 
late or contains errors, the provisions in the Council's Rules on Procurement and any 
Standard Operating Procedures will apply. 

 
SO 4 - Disposals and Acquisitions by Auction 
 
4.1 In disposals where the approved method of disposal is by auction, up to three auctioneers 

approved by Head of Property & Estates must be invited to provide a written quotation as 
to service offered, commission and additional costs.  The most advantageous quote, 
taking into account pricing and service level offered, must be selected.  

 
4.2 A “reserve price”, when recommended by the auctioneer, will be set by the Head of 

Property & Estates, in consultation with the Head of Legal Services and the Cabinet 
Member for Property, Highways & Transport.  The reserve price must be disclosed only to 
the auctioneer and the Council’s legal and property officers attending the auction.  The 
legal officer shall, upon a sale being 'knocked down' be authorised to sign contracts or 
relevant papers on the day of the sale. 

 
4.3 In the case of any acquisition of land, property and artefacts at auction, the price bands 

and/or limits for bidding and the authority for a particular officer to acquire on behalf of 
the Council, will be determined by the Corporate Director of Place, with the agreement of 
the Leader of the Council and (if land/property) Cabinet Member for Property, Highways & 
Transport. Following the auction, any successful acquisition will need to be formally 

Page 225



Page 198 

ratified by the relevant body within existing delegations and thresholds in the Constitution 
and if property/land related, those given to Officers, the Cabinet Member for Property, 
Highways & Transport or the Cabinet as set out in Standing Order 6 below. 
 

SO 5 - Approval of Property Transactions other than major disposals 
 
5.1 The principal terms of property transactions (other than acquisitions which are dealt with 

below), for the disposal of a freehold or leasehold interest in property (except where the 
method of disposal is by way of auction) and also other than those defined as major 
disposals in these Standing Orders, must be approved by the Head of Property & Estates 
in accordance with the Scheme of Delegations. The Head of Property & Estates must 
report each approval to the appropriate Cabinet Member in their Portfolio area or the 
Cabinet. 

 
5.2 The principle and method of each acquisition, irrespective of value, and whether it relates 

to the acquisition of a freehold or leasehold interest or a licence, must be approved by the 
Head of Property & Estates making recommendations to the Cabinet Member for Property, 
Highways & Transport or the Cabinet. 

 
SO 6 - Approval of land and property matters 
 
6.1 Council has agreed the following will approve land and property matters set out in the 

table. In the case of a formal democratic decision required by the Leader of the Council, 
Cabinet Member or Cabinet then the procedures for decision-making in Part 2, Chapter 5 
shall be followed: 
 

General Acquisition and disposal: 
Acquisition and disposal of land 
and property and also grant of 
easements and wayleaves 

Under £10k Corporate Director of Place Informal - in 
writing 

£10k - 
£250k 

Cabinet Member for 
Property, Highways & 
Transport 

Formal Democratic 
Decision - Report 

£250k or 
greater 

 
Cabinet 

Formal Democratic 
Decision - Report 

Purchase of Private Properties: 
Acquisition and purchase of 
private properties in order to 
supplement affordable housing 
provision within the Borough 

All Values Leader of the Council and 
Cabinet Member for 
Property, Highways & 
Transport  
 
Note: formal democratic 
capital release approval is 
also required. 
 
 
 
 

Formal Democratic 
Decision - Report 

Private Sector Leasing Scheme 
(which includes the Finders Fee 
and Guaranteed Rental Schemes). 
Including, authority to take any 
necessary decision, including 
those on expenditure, property 

All Values Corporate Director of Place, 
following informal sign-off 
by the Cabinet Member for 
Residents’ Services. 
 

Informal - in 
writing 

Page 226



Page 199 

and/or leases, in order to 
implement this Scheme. 

Right to Buy - Housing Buy Back 
Scheme: Authority to purchase 
and acquire properties, agree any 
necessary purchase prices and/or 
parameters and any other property 
transactions or decisions required 
to effectively implement the 
Scheme 

All Values Corporate Director of Place 
following informal sign-off 
by the Leader of the Council. 
 
Note: formal democratic 
capital release approval is 
also required to release 
monies for the purchase. 

Informal - in 
writing 
 
 
 
Formal Democratic 
Decision - Report 

Disposal at Less than Best Value - 
disposal of any property for less 
than best consideration, including 
discounted rent on any property or 
premises owned by the Council 

All Values Cabinet Formal Democratic 
Decision - Report 

Property Licenses and Leases: 
(including any surrenders, 
alterations or variations) 

Under 7 
years and 
under £10K 

Corporate Director of Place Informal - in 
writing 

Under 7 
years and 
£10k - £100k 

Cabinet Member for 
Property, Highways & 
Transport 

Formal Democratic 
Decision - Report 

Under 7 
years  and 
above £100k 

Cabinet Formal Democratic 
Decision - Report 

7-25 years 
and any 
value up to 
£250k 

Cabinet Member for 
Property, Highways & 
Transport 

Formal Democratic 
Decision - Report 

Over 25 
years and 
any value 

Cabinet Formal Democratic 
Decision - Report 

 
6.2 Any proposed property or land decision that will have a significant impact on two or more 

wards in the Borough and where the well-being of the community or change to the service 
level provided will affect a significant number of people, then this decision must be 
reported to Cabinet for determination (or ratification to a subsequent Cabinet meeting 
following a decision being made by the relevant body).   

 
SO 7 - Exemptions to these Rules 
 
7.1 All property (including land) transactions must be conducted in accordance with these 

Rules and any other locally agreed property procedures and standards, except: 
 

a) When the Chief Executive's Emergency Contract Delegation Protocol is invoked, 
with the agreement of the Leader of the Council (see Annex A for protocol). 

b) When the Leader of the Council deems a decision urgent under their Emergency 
Power delegation. Such decisions will be reported to Cabinet for ratification. 

 

Page 227



Page 200 

SO 8 - Execution of property matters 
 
 All contracts and other documentation entered into pursuant to all land transactions shall 

be in writing, and shall be signed or sealed with the Common Seal of the Council, as 
appropriate. 
 

 The Common Seal of the Council shall be attested by a Member of the Council and the Head 
of Legal Services or any other officer authorised by the Head of Legal Services in writing. 
 

 An entry of every sealing of a contract shall be made and consecutively numbered in a book 
kept for that purpose. 

 
 ANNEX A 
 
 Emergency Land & Property Delegation 
 
 This power is delegated to the Chief Executive with the agreement of the Leader of the 

Council. 
 

In respect of a Council capital project or revenue service, where an emergency or 
exceptionally urgent situation arises in relation to a commercial contract where: 

 
a) The Leader and Chief Executive agree the urgency; 
b) There is no Cabinet meeting imminent; 
c) Any delay would seriously jeopardise the Council’s finances or its ability to deliver 

services and; 
d) A previous executive decision has been made or proposed in respect of the 

capital project or service provision concerned, 
 

authority is granted to the Chief Executive, subject to the written agreement of the Leader 
of the Council, to incur expenditure and make any new and necessary contractual 
decisions in order to secure the successful delivery of the project or service. 
 
In such instances, these Standing Orders can be waived. Any decisions taken must be 
reported to a subsequent Cabinet meeting for formal ratification. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 228



Page 201 

Chapter 20 - Rules on financial matters 
 
This Chapter sets out the rules on financial matters, providing the framework for how 
the Council manages its finances. 
 
Compliance & Status 
 
The Chief Finance Officer has statutory responsibility for ensuring that the Council has sound 
procedures for financial administration. The foundation for achieving this is the Council's 
financial rules. They provide the framework for managing the authority’s financial affairs. They 
apply to every Member and officer of the authority and anyone acting on its behalf.  
 
The rules identify the financial responsibilities of the Full Council, Cabinet and Select Committee 
members, the Head of Paid Service, the Monitoring Officer, the Chief Finance Officer and other 
Chief Officers. Cabinet Members and Chief Officers should maintain a written record where 
decision making has been delegated to members of their staff, including seconded staff. Where 
decisions have been delegated or devolved to other responsible officers, such as school 
governors, references to the chief officer in the rules should be read as referring to them. 
 
All Members and staff have a general responsibility for taking reasonable action to provide for the 
security of the assets under their control, and for ensuring that the use of these resources is legal, 
is properly authorised, provides value for money and achieves best value.   
 
The Chief Finance Officer is responsible for maintaining a continuous review of the financial rules 
and submitting any additions or changes necessary to the Full Council for approval. The Chief 
Finance Officer is also responsible for reporting, where appropriate, breaches of the financial 
rules to the Council and/or to the Cabinet Members. 
 
Following formal approval and adoption of the financial rules, the Chief Finance Officer will issue 
detailed Financial Regulations, as part of a Financial Procedures manual. These will be kept under 
review and updated periodically. These  detailed financial procedures set out how the rules will 
be implemented. Supplementary advice and guidance will be issued by the Chief Finance Officer 
as necessary. Separate Financial Regulations exist for schools. 
 
All Members, officers and others acting on behalf of the authority are required to follow Financial 
Rules and Regulations and other guidance issued by the Chief Finance Officer. All are responsible 
for ensuring they understand how the rules apply to them, taking advice before acting, if in any 
doubt. Officers should seek advice in the first instance from their line manager, the Head of 
Finance for their department or Internal Audit. Members should seek advice from the Chief 
Executive, the Chief Finance Officer or the Head of Internal Audit. 
 
Chief Officers are responsible for ensuring that all staff in their departments are aware of the 
existence and content of the authority’s financial rules and other internal regulatory documents 
and that they comply with them. They must also ensure that an adequate number of copies are 
available for reference within their departments, or are available electronically. Cabinet Members 
and officers need to ensure they are working from the up-to-date copy.  The Chief Finance Officer 
will supply copies to Cabinet Members. 
 

Page 229



Page 202 

Rule A 
Financial Management 
 
Introduction 
 

1) Financial management covers all financial accountabilities in relation to the running of the 
authority, including the policy framework and budget. 

 
The Full Council 
 

2) The Full Council is responsible for adopting the authority’s constitution and Members’ code 
of conduct and for approving the policy framework and budget within which the Cabinet 
operates. It is also responsible for approving and monitoring compliance with the 
authority’s overall framework of accountability and control. The framework is set out in its 
constitution. The Full Council is also responsible for monitoring compliance with the 
agreed policy and related Cabinet decisions.  

 
3) The Full Council is responsible for approving procedures for recording and reporting 

decisions taken. This includes those key decisions delegated by and decisions taken by 
the council and its committees. These delegations and details of who has responsibility 
for which decisions are set out in the constitution.   

 
The Cabinet 
 

4) The Cabinet is responsible for proposing the policy framework and budget to the Full 
Council, and for discharging executive functions in accordance with the policy framework 
and budget. 

 
5) Cabinet decisions can be delegated to a committee of the Cabinet, an individual Cabinet 

Member, an officer or a joint committee. 
 

6) The Cabinet is responsible for establishing protocols to ensure that individual Cabinet 
Members consult with relevant officers before taking a decision within his or her 
delegated authority.  In doing so, the individual Member must take account of legal and 
financial liabilities and risk management issues that may arise from the decision. 

 
Select Committees & Audit Committee 
 

7) Select Committees Members are responsible for considering Cabinet decisions before or 
after they have been implemented and for holding the Cabinet to account. They are also 
responsible for making recommendations on future policy options and for reviewing the 
general policy and service delivery of the authority. An Audit Committee also considers 
reports from the external and internal auditors and consider how the work of external and 
internal audit can best be used.   

 
Standards Committee 
 

8) The Standards Committee is established by the Full Council and is responsible for 
promoting and maintaining high standards of conduct amongst councillors. In particular, 

Page 230



Page 203 

it is responsible for advising the council on the adoption and revision of the Members’ Code 
of Conduct, and for monitoring the operation of the code. 

 
Other Regulatory Committees 
 

9) Planning, certain pensions functions and licensing are not executive functions but are 
exercised through multi-party planning, pensions and licensing and appeals committees 
under powers delegated by the Full Council. These committees report to the Full Council.  

 
The statutory officers 
 
The Head of Paid Service 
 

10) The Head of Paid Service is responsible for the corporate and overall strategic 
management of the authority as a whole. He or she must report to and provide information 
for the Cabinet, the Full Council, the overview and scrutiny arrangements and other 
committees. He or she is responsible for establishing a framework for management 
direction, style and standards and for monitoring the performance of the organisation. 
The Head of Paid Service is also responsible, together with the Monitoring Officer, for the 
system of record keeping in relation to all the Full Council’s decisions (see below). 

 
Monitoring Officer 
 

11) The Monitoring Officer is responsible for promoting and maintaining high standards of 
financial conduct and therefore provides support to the standards committee. The 
Monitoring Officer is also responsible for reporting any actual or potential breaches of the 
law or maladministration to the Full Council and/or to the Cabinet, and for ensuring that 
procedures for recording and reporting key decisions are operating effectively. 

 
12) The Monitoring Officer must ensure that Cabinet decisions and the reasons for them are 

made public. He or she must also ensure that council Members are aware of decisions 
made by the Cabinet and of those made by officers who have delegated executive 
responsibility. 

 
13) The Monitoring Officer is responsible for advising all councillors and officers about who 

has authority to take a particular decision. 
 

14) The Monitoring Officer is responsible for advising the Cabinet or Full Council about 
whether a decision is likely to be considered contrary or not wholly in accordance with the 
policy framework. 

 
15) The Monitoring Officer (together with the Chief Finance Officer) is responsible for advising 

the Cabinet or Full Council about whether a decision is likely to be considered contrary or 
not wholly in accordance with the budget. Actions that may be ‘contrary to the budget’ 
include: 

 
a) implementing a new policy 
b) committing expenditure in future years to above the budget level 
c) incurring interdepartmental transfers above virement limits 

Page 231



Page 204 

d) causing the total expenditure financed from council tax, grants and corporately held 
reserves to increase, or to increase by more than a specified amount. 

 
16) The Monitoring Officer is responsible for maintaining an up-to-date constitution. 

 
Chief Finance Officer 
 

17) The Chief Finance Officer has statutory duties in relation to the financial administration 
and stewardship of the authority.  This statutory responsibility cannot be overridden.  The 
statutory duties arise from: 

 
a) Section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972 
b) The Local Government Finance Act 1988 
c) The Local Government and Housing Act 1989 
d) The Accounts and Audit Regulations 1996. 

 
18) The Chief Finance Officer is responsible for:  

 
a) the proper administration of the authority’s financial affairs 
b) setting and monitoring compliance with financial management standards 
c) advising on the corporate financial position and on the key financial controls necessary 

to secure sound financial management 
d) providing financial information 
e) preparing the revenue and capital budgets 
f) treasury management. 

 
19) Section 114 of the Local Government Finance Act 1988 requires the Chief Finance Officer 

to report to the Full Council, Cabinet and external auditor if the authority or one of its 
officers: 

 
a) has made, or is about to make, a decision which involves incurring unlawful 

expenditure 
b) has taken, or is about to take, an unlawful action which has resulted or would result in 

a loss or deficiency to the authority 
c) is about to make an unlawful entry in the authority’s accounts. 

 
Section 114 of the 1988 Act also requires: 

 
a) the Chief Finance Officer to nominate a properly qualified member of staff to deputise 

should he or she be unable to perform the duties under section 114 personally 
b) the authority to provide the Chief Finance Officer with sufficient staff, 

accommodation and other resources – including legal advice where this is necessary – 
to carry out the duties under section 114. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 232



Page 205 

Chief Officers 
 

20) Chief Officers are responsible for: 
 

a) ensuring that Cabinet Members are advised of the financial implications of all 
proposals and that the financial implications have been agreed by the Chief Finance 
Officer 

b) signing contracts on behalf of the authority. 
 

21) It is the responsibility of Chief Officers to consult with the Chief Finance Officer and seek 
approval on any matter liable to affect the authority’s finances materially, before any 
commitments are incurred. 

 
Heads of Finance 
 

22) Heads of Finance are responsible for promoting high financial standards within their 
service area. This includes interpreting financial rules and advising accordingly. They are 
responsible for advising Chief Officers on financial matters. They have an over-riding duty 
to support the Chief Finance Officer in promulgating good financial management. 

 
Other financial accountabilities 
 
Virement  
 

23) The Full Council is responsible for agreeing procedures for virement.  
 

24) Chief Officers and Cabinet Members are responsible for agreeing in-year virements within 
delegated limits, in consultation with the Chief Finance Officer (and relevant chief officer 
where required. They must notify the Chief Finance Officer of all virements. 

 
Treatment of Year-End Balances 
 

25) The Full Council is responsible for agreeing procedures for carrying forward under- and 
overspendings on budget headings. 

 
Accounting Policies 
 

26) The Chief Finance Officer is responsible for selecting accounting policies and ensuring 
that they are applied consistently. 

 
Accounting Records and Returns 
 

27) The Chief Finance Officer is responsible for determining the accounting procedures and 
records for the authority. 

 
The Annual Statement of Accounts 
 

28) The Chief Finance Officer is responsible for ensuring that the annual statement of 
accounts is prepared in accordance with the Code of Practice on Local Authority 
Accounting in the United Kingdom: A Statement of Recommended Practice 

Page 233



Page 206 

(CIPFA/LASAAC). The Audit Committee is responsible for approving the annual statement 
of accounts. 

 
Breaches of the Rules 
 

29) Chief Officers must report all but minor breaches of financial procedures to the relevant 
Cabinet Member and the Chief Finance Officer.  Breach of the rules may lead to disciplinary 
action for staff or a reference to the Standards Committee for Members. 

 
 
Rule B 
Financial Planning 
 
Introduction 
 

1) The Full Council is responsible for agreeing the authority’s policy framework and budget, 
which will be proposed by the Cabinet. In terms of financial planning, the key elements are: 

 
a) The Council Plan  
b) The General Fund Revenue Budget 
c) The Housing Revenue Account Budget 
d) The Capital Programme and Budget 

 
Policy framework 
 

2) The Full Council is responsible for approving the budgetary and policy framework. The 
framework comprises the plans and strategies as set out in Part 2, Chapter 4 of the 
Constitution. Other plans and strategies may be added, by decision of Full Council at its 
annual meeting. 

 
3) The Full Council is also responsible for approving procedures for agreeing variations to 

approved budgets, plans and strategies forming the policy framework and for determining 
the circumstances in which a decision will be deemed to be contrary to the budget or 
policy framework. Decisions should be referred to the Full Council by the Monitoring 
Officer. 

 
4) The Full Council is responsible for setting the level at which the Cabinet may reallocate 

budget funds from one service to another.  The Cabinet is responsible for taking in-year 
decisions on resources and priorities in order to deliver the budget policy framework 
within the financial limits set by the council. 

 
Budgeting 
 
Budget Format 
 

5) The general format of the budget will be approved by the Full Council and proposed by the 
Cabinet on the advice of the Chief Finance Officer. The draft budget shall include 
allocation to different services and projects, proposed taxation levels and contingency 
and reserve funds, sufficient to comply with statutory requirements. 

 

Page 234



Page 207 

 
Budget Preparation 
 

6) The Chief Finance Officer is responsible for ensuring that a revenue budget is prepared on 
an annual basis for consideration by the Cabinet, before submission to the Full Council. 
The Full Council may amend the budget or ask the Cabinet to reconsider it before 
approving it.  

 
7) The Cabinet is responsible for issuing guidance on the general content of the budget in 

consultation with the Chief Finance Officer as soon as possible following approval by the 
Full Council. 

 
8) B.10 It is the responsibility of Chief Officers to ensure that budget estimates reflecting 

agreed service plans are submitted to the Cabinet and that these estimates are prepared 
in line with guidance issued by the Cabinet. 

 
Budget Monitoring and Control 
 

9) The Chief Finance Officer is responsible for providing appropriate financial information to 
enable budgets to be monitored effectively. He or she must monitor expenditure against 
budget allocations and report to the Cabinet on the overall position on a regular basis. 

 
10) It is the responsibility of Chief Officers to control income and expenditure within their area 

and to monitor performance, taking account of financial information provided by the Chief 
Finance Officer.  They should report on variances within their own areas. They should also 
take any action necessary to avoid exceeding their budget allocation and alert the Chief 
Finance Officer to any problems.   

 
11) The exercise of delegated authority on financial matters by individual Cabinet Members or 

the Cabinet as a whole is subject to the over-riding requirement to ensure that cash limits 
are adhered to. 

 
Resource Allocation 
 

12) The Chief Finance Officer is responsible for developing and maintaining a resource 
allocation process that ensures due consideration of the Full Council’s policy framework. 
This will include the preparation of a medium-term budget strategy for consideration by 
the Cabinet. 

 
13) No officer or Cabinet Member may enter into expenditure commitments (or approve 

reductions in income) for future years, either on revenue or capital, that are likely to 
exceed the relevant budget provision, except with the agreement of the Cabinet. 

 
Preparation of the Capital Programme  
 

14) The Chief Finance Officer is responsible for ensuring that a capital programme and budget 
is prepared on an annual basis for consideration by the Cabinet before submission to the 
Full Council. 

 
 

Page 235



Page 208 

 
Guidelines 
 

15) Guidelines on budget preparation are issued to Members and Chief Officers by the Cabinet 
following agreement with the Chief Finance Officer. The guidelines will take account of: 

 
a) legal requirements 
b) medium-term planning prospects 
c) the corporate plan 
d) available resources 
e) spending pressures 
f) best value and other relevant government guidelines 
g) other internal policy documents 
h) cross-cutting issues (where relevant). 
i) Maintenance of Reserves 

 
16) It is the responsibility of the Chief Finance Officer to advise the Cabinet and/or the Full 

Council on prudent levels of reserves for the authority. 
 
Rule C 
Risk Management and Control of Resources 
 
Introduction 
 

1) It is essential that robust, integrated systems are developed and maintained for 
identifying and evaluating all significant operational risks to the authority.  This should 
include the proactive participation of all those associated with planning and delivering 
services. 

 
Risk Management 
 

2) The Cabinet is responsible for approving the authority’s risk management policy 
statement and strategy and for reviewing the effectiveness of risk management.  The 
Cabinet is responsible for ensuring that proper insurance exists where appropriate. 

 
3) The Chief Finance Officer is responsible for preparing the authority’s risk management 

policy statement, for promoting it throughout the authority and for advising the Cabinet 
on proper insurance cover where appropriate. 

 
4) Chief Officers are responsible for identifying and controlling hazards and containment of 

losses.  They must notify the Chief Finance Officer of any new risks or changes which 
affect insurable risks. They must also notify the Chief Finance Officer of any losses, claims 
or incidents that may give rise to a claim. 

 
Internal control 
 

5) Internal control refers to the systems of control devised by management to help ensure 
the authority’s objectives are achieved in a manner that promotes economical, efficient 
and effective use of resources and that the authority’s assets and interests are 
safeguarded. 

Page 236



Page 209 

 
6) The Chief Finance Officer is responsible for advising on effective systems of internal 

control.  These arrangements need to ensure compliance with all applicable statutes and 
regulations, and other relevant statements of best practice.  They should ensure that 
public funds are properly safeguarded and used economically, efficiently, and in 
accordance with the statutory and other authorities that govern their use. 

 
7) It is the responsibility of Chief Officers to establish sound arrangements for planning, 

appraising, authorising and controlling their operations in order to achieve continuous 
improvement, economy, efficiency and effectiveness and for achieving their financial 
performance targets. 

 
Audit requirements 
 

8) The Accounts and Audit Regulations 1996 issued by the Secretary of State for the 
Environment require every local authority to maintain an adequate and effective internal 
audit.  Internal audit have a right of access to all documents, systems and facilities, the 
right to require information and explanations from any member of staff and the right to 
remove documents. Chief Officers are required to give proper consideration to internal 
audit recommendations. 

 
9) The Audit Commission is responsible for appointing external auditors to each local 

authority. The basic duties of the external auditor are governed by section 15 of the Local 
Government Finance Act 1982, as amended by section 5 of the Audit Commission Act 1998.  
The Annual Audit Letter arising from the audit will be circulated to all Members and be the 
subject of a formal report. 

 
10) The authority may, from time to time, be subject to audit, inspection or investigation by 

external bodies such as HM Customs and Excise and the Inland Revenue, who have 
statutory rights of access. 

 
Preventing fraud and corruption 
 

11) The Chief Finance Officer is responsible for the development and maintenance of an anti-
fraud and anti-corruption policy. Anyone who becomes aware of any actual or suspected 
financial irregularity or loss, whether of money or assets, shall normally notify their line 
manager in the first instance.  If necessary, the matter may alternatively be raised with 
one of the officers listed in the Whistle-blowing policy, or with the external auditor.  All 
losses must be reported to the Chief Internal Auditor with details of those in excess of 
£1,000 for report to the external auditor. 

 
Assets 
 

12) Chief Officers should ensure that records and assets are properly maintained and securely 
held.  Property must be adequately insured. Each department must maintain an up-to-
date inventory of its equipment and other assets with a value in excess of £250.   

 
13) Chief Officers should ensure that contingency plans for the security of assets and 

continuity of service in the event of disaster or system failure are in place. 
 

Page 237



Page 210 

14) Disposals of land or buildings are subject to the scheme of delegations and any other 
requirements agreed by the Cabinet. 

 
Treasury management 
 

15) The authority has adopted CIPFA’s Code of Practice for Treasury Management in Local 
Authorities. 

 
16) The Full Council is responsible for approving the treasury management policy statement 

setting out the matters detailed in paragraph 15 of CIPFA’s Code of Practice for Treasury 
Management in Local Authorities. The policy statement is proposed to the Full Council by 
the Cabinet. The Chief Finance Officer has delegated responsibility for implementing and 
monitoring the statement. 

 
17) All money in the hands of the authority is controlled by the officer designated for the 

purposes of section 151 of the Local Government Act 1972, referred to in the code as the 
finance director i.e. the Chief Finance Officer 

 
18) The Chief Finance Officer is responsible for reporting to the Cabinet a proposed treasury 

management strategy for the coming financial year at or before the start of each financial 
year. 

 
19) All executive decisions on borrowing, investment or financing shall be delegated to the 

Chief Finance Officer, who is required to act in accordance with CIPFA’s Code of Practice 
for Treasury Management in Local Authorities. 

 
20) The Chief Finance Officer is responsible for reporting to the Cabinet not less than annually 

on the activities of the treasury management operation and on the exercise of his or her 
delegated treasury management powers. This will include an annual report on treasury 
management in the succeeding financial year. 

 
Staffing 
 

21) The Full Council is responsible for determining how officer support for executive  and non-
executive roles within the authority will be organised. 

 
22) The Head of Paid Service is responsible for providing overall management to staff. He or 

she is also responsible for ensuring that there is proper use of the job evaluation or other 
agreed systems for determining the remuneration of a job. 

 
23) Chief Officers are responsible for controlling total staff numbers by: 

 
a) advising the Cabinet on the budget necessary in any given year to cover estimated 

staffing levels 
b) adjusting the staffing to a level that can be funded within approved budget provision, 

varying the provision as necessary within that constraint in order to meet changing 
operational needs 

c) the proper use of appointment procedures. 
 
 

Page 238



Page 211 

Rule D 
Systems and Procedures 
 
Introduction 
 

1) Robust systems and procedures are essential to an effective framework of accountability 
and control. 

 
General 
 

2) The Chief Finance Officer is responsible for the operation of the authority’s accounting 
systems, the form of accounts and the supporting financial records.  Any changes made 
by Chief Officers to the existing financial systems or the establishment of new systems 
must be approved by the Chief Finance Officer.  However, Chief Officers are responsible 
for the proper operation of financial processes in their own departments, including the 
preparation and updating of procedure manuals. 

 
3) Any changes to agreed procedures by Chief Officers to meet their own specific service 

needs must be agreed with the Chief Finance Officer. 
 

4) Chief Officers should ensure that their staff receive relevant financial training that has 
been approved by the Chief Finance Officer. 

 
5) Chief Officers must ensure that, where appropriate, computer and other systems are 

registered in accordance with data protection legislation.  Appropriate security measures 
must be maintained. Chief Officers must ensure that staff are aware of their 
responsibilities under both data protection  and  freedom of information legislation. 

 
Income and expenditure 
 

6) It is the responsibility of Chief Officers to ensure that a proper scheme of delegation has 
been established within their area and is operating effectively. The scheme of delegation 
should identify staff authorised to act on the chief officer’s behalf, or on behalf of the 
Cabinet, in respect of payments, income collection and placing orders, together with the 
limits of their authority.  The Cabinet is responsible for approving procedures for writing 
off debts as part of the overall control framework of accountability and control but in all 
cases, write-off will be subject to the agreement of the Chief Finance Officer. 

 
Payments to employees and Members 
 

7) The Chief Finance Officer is responsible for all payments of salaries and wages to all staff, 
including payments for overtime,  for payment of allowances to Members, and for the 
payment of pension, retirement and redundancy benefits. 

 
Other Payments 
 

8) The Chief Finance Officer is responsible for approving all methods of making payments to 
suppliers, including the use of payment cards, direct debits, standing orders and 
electronic systems. Use of imprest accounts is also subject to the approval and guidance 
of the Chief Finance officer. 

Page 239



Page 212 

 
Taxation 
 

9) The Chief Finance Officer is responsible for advising Chief Officers, in the light of guidance 
issued by appropriate bodies and relevant legislation as it applies, on all taxation issues 
that affect the authority. 

 
10) The Chief Finance Officer is responsible for maintaining the authority’s tax records, 

making all tax payments, receiving tax credits and submitting tax returns by their due date 
as appropriate. 

 
Banking facilities 
 

11) The Council's banking arrangements are the responsibility of the Chief Finance Officer.  No 
bank, building society or post office account in respect of Council activities shall be 
opened, except by the Chief Finance Officer or in accordance with his or her guidance. All 
notifications of authorised signatories to accounts other variations shall be made through 
the Chief Finance Officer unless he or she directs otherwise.   

 
Trading accounts/business units 
 

12) It is the responsibility of the Chief Finance Officer to advise on the establishment and 
operation of trading accounts and business units. 

 
Rule E 
External Arrangements 
 
Introduction 
 

13) The local authority provides a distinctive leadership role for the community and brings 
together the contributions of the various stakeholders. It must also act to achieve the 
promotion or improvement of the economic, social or environmental well-being of its 
area. 

 
Partnerships 
 

14) The Cabinet is responsible for approving frameworks for partnerships. The Cabinet is the 
focus for forming partnerships with other local public, private, voluntary and community 
sector organisations to address local needs. 

 
15) The Cabinet can delegate functions – including those relating to partnerships – to officers. 

These are set out in the scheme of delegation that forms part of the authority’s 
constitution. Where functions are delegated, the Cabinet remains accountable for them 
to the Full Council. 

 
16) Individual members of the Cabinet or the Head of Paid Service (or his or her nominee) may 

represent the authority on partnership and external bodies, in accordance with the 
scheme of delegation. 

 

Page 240



Page 213 

17) The Monitoring Officer is responsible for promoting and maintaining the same high 
standards of conduct with regard to financial administration in partnerships that apply 
throughout the authority. 

 
18) The Chief Finance Officer must ensure that the accounting arrangements to be adopted 

relating to partnerships and joint ventures are satisfactory.   He or she must also consider 
the overall corporate governance arrangements and legal issues when arranging 
contracts with external bodies.  He or she must ensure that the risks have been fully 
appraised before agreements are entered into with external bodies. 

 
19) Chief Officers are responsible for ensuring that appropriate approvals are obtained before 

any negotiations are concluded in relation to work with external bodies. 
 
External funding 
 

20) The Chief Finance Officer is responsible for ensuring that all funding notified by external 
bodies is received and properly recorded in the authority’s accounts. 

 
Work for third parties 
 

21) The Cabinet is responsible for approving the contractual arrangements for any work for 
third parties or external bodies. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 241



Page 214 

Chapter 21 - Members’ Code of Conduct 
 
This Chapter sets out the code of conduct that elected Councillors (also known as 
Members) must follow in discharging their duties. This Code of Conduct for Members 
(and Co-opted Members) of the London Borough of Hillingdon was approved pursuant 
to a resolution of the Council at a meeting on 5 July 2012. 
 
Part 1 
General Provisions 
 
Introduction and interpretation 
 
1. (1)  This Code applies to you as a Member or co-opted member of the London Borough of 

Hillingdon [''the authority''] 
 
 (2)  Co-opted member means a person who is not a Member of the authority but who:- 

a) is a member of any committee or sub-committee of the authority; or  
b) is a member of, and represents the authority, on any joint committee or joint sub-

committee of the authority, and who is entitled to vote on any question that falls to 
be decided at any meeting of that committee or sub-committee.  

 
(3)  It is your responsibility to comply with the provisions of this Code. 

 
Scope  
 
2. (1)  You must comply with this Code whenever you act in your official capacity as a Member 

or co-opted member. 
 
 (2)  For the avoidance of doubt, this Code does not apply to you in any other circumstances 

including your personal life. 
 
The Nolan principles 
 
3. This Code is consistent with the following seven principles of standards in public life: 
 

• selflessness; 
• integrity; 
• objectivity; 
• accountability; 
• openness; 
• honesty; 
• leadership. 

 
General obligations  
 
4.  (1)  You must act solely in the public interest and should never improperly confer an 

advantage or disadvantage on any person. Conferring an advantage includes gaining 
financial or other material benefits for yourself, your family, a friend or close associate. 

Page 242



Page 215 

 
 (2)  You must not place yourself under a financial or other obligation to outside individuals or 

organisations that might seek to influence you in the performance of your official duties. 
 
 (3) When carrying out your public duties you must make all choices, such as making public 

appointments, awarding contracts or recommending individuals for rewards or benefits, 
on merit. 

 
 (4) You are accountable for your decisions to the public and you must co-operate fully with 

whatever scrutiny is appropriate to your office. 
 
 (5) You must be as open as possible about your decisions and actions and the decisions and 

actions of your authority and should be prepared to give reasons for those decisions and 
actions. 

 
 (6) You must declare any private interests, both pecuniary and non-pecuniary, that relate to 

your public duties and must take steps to resolve any conflicts arising in a way that 
protects the public interest, including registering and declaring interests in a manner 
conforming with the procedures set out in Part 2 below. 

 
 (7) You must, when using or authorising the use by others of the resources of your authority, 

ensure that such resources are not used improperly for party political purposes 
(especially in the period between the publication of a Notice of Election and the election 
date, known as the ‘purdah’ period). However, this paragraph will not apply in 
circumstances where Members pay for the use of the resources at a rate agreed by the 
authority. You must have regard to any applicable Local authority Code of Publicity made 
under the Local Government Act 1986. 

 
 (8) You must promote and support high standards of conduct when serving in your public 

post, in particular as characterised by the above requirements, by leadership and 
example. 

 
Part 2 
Registering and declaring pecuniary and non-pecuniary interests 
 
5.  (1)  In accordance with Section 30 of the Localism Act 2011, you must, within 28 days of 

taking office as a Member or co-opted member, notify your authority's Monitoring Officer 
of any disclosable pecuniary interest as defined by the Relevant Authorities (Disclosable 
Pecuniary Interests) Regulations 2012, where the pecuniary interest is yours, your 
spouse's or civil partner's, or is the pecuniary interest of somebody with whom you are 
living with as a husband or wife, or as if you were civil partners. 

 
The pecuniary interests which are specified in the above regulations are as follows: 
 
Subject: Prescribed Description: 

 
Employment, 
office, trade, 
profession or 
vocation 

 
Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation 
carried on for profit or gain. 
 

Page 243



Page 216 

 
Sponsorship Any payment or provision of any other financial benefit 

(other than from the relevant authority) made or provided 
within the relevant period in respect of any expenses 
incurred by a Member, or co-opted member in carrying out 
their duties as a Member or co-opted member, or towards 
the election expenses of a Member or co-opted member. 
 
This includes any payment or financial benefit from a 
trade union within the meaning of the Trade Union and 
Labour Relations (Consolidation) Act 1992. 
 

Contracts Any contract which is made between the relevant person 
(or a body in which the relevant person has a beneficial 
interest) and the relevant authority— 
(a) under which goods or services are to be provided or 
works are to be executed; and 
(b) which has not been fully discharged. 
 

Land Any beneficial interest in land which is within the area of 
the relevant authority. 
 

Licences Any licence (alone or jointly with others) to occupy land in 
the area of the relevant authority for a month or longer. 
 

Corporate 
tenancies 

Any tenancy where (to the Member’s or co-opted 
member’s knowledge)— 
(a) the landlord is the relevant authority; and 
(b) the tenant is a body in which the relevant person has a 
beneficial interest. 
 

Securities Any beneficial interest in securities of a body where— 
(a) that body (to the Member’s or co-opted member’s 
knowledge) has a place of business or land in the area of 
the relevant authority; and 
(b) either— 

(i)  the total nominal value of the securities exceeds 
£25,000 or one hundredth of the total issued 
share capital of that body; or 

(ii)  if the share capital of that body is of more than 
one class, the total nominal value of the shares of 
any one class in which the relevant person has a 
beneficial interest exceeds one hundredth of the 
total issued share capital of that class. 

  
 
 (2)  In addition, you must, within 28 days of taking office as a Member or co-opted member, 

notify your authority's Monitoring Officer of any disclosable pecuniary or non-pecuniary 
interest which the authority has decided should be included in the register. 

 

Page 244



Page 217 

 (3)  If an interest has not been entered onto the authority's register, then the Member or co-
opted member must disclose the interest to any meeting of the authority at which they 
are present, where they have a disclosable interest in any matter being considered and 
where the matter is not a 'sensitive interest'. A ‘Sensitive Interest’ is one where 
disclosure of the details of the interest could lead to the Member of co-opted member, 
or a person connected with the Member of co-opted member, being subject to violence 
or intimidation.  

 
 (4)  Following any disclosure of an interest not on the authority's register or the subject of 

pending notification, you must notify the Monitoring Officer of the interest within 28 
days beginning with the date of disclosure. 

 
(5) Unless dispensation has been granted, you may not participate in any discussion of, vote 

on, or discharge any function related to any matter in which you have a pecuniary interest 
as defined by the above Regulations. Additionally, you must observe the restrictions your 
authority places on your involvement in matters where you have a pecuniary interest or 
non pecuniary interest as defined by your authority. 

 
  

Page 245



Page 218 

Chapter 22 - Protocol on good Member and 
Officer relations 
 
This Protocol sets out supplementary guidance on the working relationship between 
Members and Council Officers when discharging their respective duties. It was 
adopted by the Council on 15 May 2008 and last amended 9 May 2019. 
 
Introduction  
 
Mutual respect, understanding and co-operation between Members and officers are the greatest 
safeguard of the integrity of the Council. It can provide a framework within which Members and 
officers can work together for the benefit of the Borough, its residents and the people who work 
here.  
 
Both Members and officers are servants of the public and they are indispensable to one another 
but their responsibilities are distinct.  
 
The purpose of this protocol is to guide Members and officers in their relations with one another. 
It is to a large extent a written statement of practice and convention. It seeks to reflect the 
principles underlying the respective Codes of Conduct, which apply to Members / co-opted 
members and officers in requiring high standards of personal conduct.  
 
This protocol also applies to any consultants, agency staff and contractors working for the 
Council who come into contact with Members. 
 
Roles, responsibilities and expectations 
 
Members are democratically elected and are responsible for the strategic direction, policies and 
the budget of the Council. Members have responsibilities to determine the policy of the Council, 
monitor its performance, represent the Council externally and act as advocates on behalf of their 
constituents. The Leader, Cabinet Members, Chairmen and Vice-Chairmen of Committees and 
Sub-Committees also have additional responsibilities.  
 
Members are supported by officers who provide professional and managerial expertise in the 
running of the Council’s business, carry out the services of the Council and implement any 
decisions made. Officers are responsible to the Council as a whole, though some staff will work 
specifically for the Leader / Cabinet or Opposition equivalents. 
 
What Members can expect from Officers: 
 
• a commitment to the authority as a whole, the delivery of the Cabinet’s policies, to all 

Councillors rather than an individual political group or groups 
• respect, dignity and courtesy - working in partnership 
• an understanding of and support for respective roles, workloads and pressures and 

awareness of and sensitivity to the political environment 
• timely response to enquiries and complaints and regular, up to date information on matters 
• professional advice, not influenced by political views or preference 
• training and development in order to carry out their role effectively 

Page 246



Page 219 

• integrity, mutual support and appropriate confidentiality 
• not to have personal issues raised with them by officers outside the agreed procedures or 

that officers will not advance their personal interests or to influence decisions improperly  
• to at all times comply with the Constitution, Cabinet and Council’s policies and the Council’s 

Financial and Contract Rules and to act within the delegated powers afforded to them by 
Council, Cabinet, Cabinet Members or Committee. 

• to comply with the formally expressed policies of the Authority and not allow their own 
personal or political opinions to influence their work.  

• to at all times comply with the Code of Conduct for Employees and the rules governing gifts 
and hospitality for officers. 

 
What Officers can expect from Members: 
 
• a working partnership 
• an understanding of and support for respective roles, workloads and pressures 
• political leadership and direction 
• respect, dignity and courtesy 
• integrity, mutual support and appropriate confidentiality 
• not to be subject to bullying, any other unacceptable/inappropriate behaviour or be put under 

improper pressure. Members should have regard to the seniority of officers in determining 
what are reasonable requests, having regard to the relationship between Members and 
Officers, and the potential vulnerability of officers, particularly at junior levels 

• not use their position or relationship with officers to advance their personal interests or 
those of others or to influence decisions improperly 

• to at all times comply with the Code of Conduct for Members 
• to exercise any delegated powers in accordance with agreed policies as approved by the 

Council, the Leader, the Cabinet or a Council committee. 
 
The working relationship 
 
Cabinet Members and Officers 
 
Officers should be conscious of the public and political mandate Cabinet Members have for the 
implementation of policies. Members of the Cabinet can collectively or individually take decisions 
and they are responsible for recommending or deciding the policies and the budget of the 
Council. 
 
Once the Cabinet or Cabinet Member has taken a decision then the relevant officer(s) must act on 
that decision and implement it within the agreed time scale. 
 
Officers, when exercising their delegated powers on key matters, should maintain a close liaison 
with the relevant Cabinet Member and refer any proposed action to the Leader, Cabinet Member, 
or the Cabinet if so required by the Leader or the relevant Cabinet Member. 
 
Only the Leader and Cabinet Members may individually direct officers to undertake a particular 
action or direct their work. Other Members may raise issues with officers and make suggestions 
in relation to them. Subject to the rules governing access to information, Officers should work 
with other Members to ensure they are well informed and receive feedback on issues raised. 
Other Members should not expect officers necessarily to implement any suggestions made.  
 

Page 247



Page 220 

Cabinet Assistants, undertaking project or other work on behalf of Cabinet Members, must seek 
the Leader’s or Cabinet Members’ formal approval before giving any instructions to officers. 
Champions and Borough Advocates do not have any authority to instruct officers or take formal 
decisions of any kind, unless acting on the authority of the Leader. 
 
Cabinet Members must respect the political neutrality of officers and officers must ensure that 
even when they are predominantly supporting the Cabinet that their political neutrality is not 
compromised. 
 
Select Committees and Officers 
 
Select Committees may require officers and Members to attend and provide any information 
required to answer questions, particularly to review certain policy areas. It is the duty of officers 
or Members to attend and answer questions if the committees so request, provided that they are 
given appropriate notice and the opportunity to prepare. It will usually be the case, as set out in 
the Constitution, that only Heads of Service and other senior managers (3rd tier and above) attend 
meetings and answer questions and not junior staff. 
 
Members of these Committees should adopt an investigative (information seeking) approach to 
questioning rather than a confrontational one. Officers should provide relevant factual 
information and should never seek to conceal or ‘improve’ inconvenient facts, and more senior 
officers, or other Members should never attempt to persuade them to do so. 
 
Whilst departmental officers will provide support and advice to both the Cabinet and Select 
Committees, they should ensure that there is no conflict of interest in the advice given to each of 
the functions. In particular, departmental officers should liaise closely with Cabinet Members in 
relation to information provided to the Committees and fully respect the confidentiality of draft 
Cabinet reports or private briefings and discussions with Cabinet Members.  
 
Ward Members  
 
Ward Members should be kept informed and consulted on relevant matters affecting their ward, 
i.e. on planning, licensing and other relevant matters.  
 
Visits to front-line services 
 
Members should inform the relevant Head of Service in advance of such visits, who should also 
notify the relevant Cabinet Member for information. Members should, where at all possible, avoid 
unannounced visits to front-line services so as to not disrupt staff and services unreasonably. 
 
Requests and Members’ Enquiries 
 
A Member is free to approach any Council Department to provide such information, explanation 
and advice about the Department’s functions as may reasonably be required in order to assist 
with discharging his/her role. Such requests must be reasonable and will be met subject to any 
overriding legal considerations (determined by Monitoring Officer). If the recipient of any request 
considers the cost of providing the information requested or the nature of the request to be 
unreasonable, they will raise the matter with the relevant Corporate / Executive Director who will 
discuss the issue with the relevant Group Leader or, in the absence of a Group Leader, with the 
Member concerned.  

Page 248



Page 221 

 
Should a Member wish for information that is not specific to their own Ward (e.g. is regarding 
matters affecting the whole Borough or is cross-cutting for a part of the Borough wider than a 
single Ward) then such a request must be made through the Group Leader with an explanation as 
to why such information is required.  

 
Should a Member wish to raise, or be asked to raise by a member of the public, a matter in another 
Member's Ward there is an expectation that they will refer the matter to the appropriate Ward 
Member(s), unless a valid reason why this would not be appropriate is provided by the Group 
Leader. 
 
Where a Member requests such factual information, that information will also be supplied to the 
relevant Cabinet Member, Chairman of the appropriate Committee or relevant officers. 
 
To assist Members in this matter, the Council operates a Members’ Enquiries procedure of which 
Members are encouraged to make use. Details can be found on Horizon. 
 
Correspondence  
 
Correspondence between an individual Member and an officer should not normally be copied (by 
the officer) to any other Member. Where it is necessary to copy the correspondence to another 
Member, this should be made clear to the original Member. In other words, a system of "silent 
copies (bcc)" should not be employed.  
 
Official letters on behalf of a Council service should normally be sent out under the name of an 
appropriate officer, rather than over the name of a Member. It may be appropriate in certain 
circumstances (e.g. representations to a Government Minister or local consultation invites) for a 
letter to appear under the name of a Member (normally Cabinet Member). 
 
Officers attending Party Group meetings and advice 
 
With the permission of the Chief Executive, senior officers may be called upon to attend Party 
Group meetings and support and contribute to their deliberations, provided they maintain a 
politically impartial stance. Officers should be required to give information and advice to political 
groups on matters relating to the Council’s functions only and not on matters which are primarily 
issues of party politics or political strategy. Members should seek to avoid involving officers in 
any political debate. Officers should not attend, or be invited to attend, any political group 
meeting, which includes party political officials who are not Members. 
 
Employment matters 
 
Members and officers must not take any part in the appointment of anyone to whom they are 
married, a partner, otherwise related, a friend or a business associate. Members and officers 
must ensure that officers are appointed only on merit in line with the Council's recruitment and 
selection guidelines, with a view to their best serving the whole Council. 
 
Officers should not seek to involve Members in employment and management issues and be 
fully aware that the proper channel for conveying their views is through their line management 
chain or through trade unions. Members should raise any matters arising from such approaches 
with the Chief Executive or relevant Corporate / Executive Director. 

Page 249



Page 222 

 
Raising a matter on behalf of a family member 
 
Members must not use, or attempt to use, their position improperly to the advantage or 
disadvantage of themselves or anyone else, including family members. When raising a matter 
about a Council service on behalf of a family member, Members should not bring undue influence 
on an officer, service or department in order to have the matter looked into or resolved. If 
Members find themselves in such a position it is better to ask a fellow Ward Councilor to write or 
submit any matters on their behalf. 
 
Social contact 
 
Social contact between Members and officers in a work related context such as informal 
lunch/coffee or in a public setting such as a workshop, an opening ceremony or Christmas party 
can help break down barriers between Members and officers and assist developing good working 
relations. 
 
There may be situations in which Members and officers meet in a social situation outside work 
because of mutual friends or relations or because of Membership of the same clubs or 
organisations. There is nothing to prevent such social contact but the principles on information 
disclosure and impartiality should be applied no less strictly than at work. Regular social contact 
outside work also needs to be carefully monitored by both the Member and the officer not just to 
maintain impartiality but also to be aware of how the contact might be perceived by others. 
 
Close personal relationships 
 
Close personal relationships between Members and officers should be avoided if the individuals 
concerned have to deal with each other in their work within the Council. This applies particularly 
to senior officers whose duties involve working closely with Members.  
 
If such a relationship develops the Member concerned should advise the relevant Chief Whip 
who will discuss the situation with the Chief Executive or relevant Corporate / ExDirector who 
will consider whether there is reasonable doubt about whether the officer can continue to act in 
a wholly impartial manner. Officers who find themselves in this position must inform their line 
manager who will ensure that their role in the Council is not called into question by a close and 
personal relationship with an elected Member. 
 
Conduct and performance 
 
If a Member is concerned about the conduct of an officer, he/she should first report such a 
concern to the Head of Democratic Services, Chief Whip or Leader of the Group. They will then 
consider the concern and, if necessary, notify the relevant Corporate / Executive Director or Head 
of Service who will decide what action to take. If the concern relates to a failing in the officer's 
performance it will be appropriate for this to be dealt with by means of a performance review 
between the officer and their manager. 
 
The poor conduct or performance of an individual officer must not be discussed at a Council, 
Cabinet or Committee meeting until a decision has been made to exclude the press and public. 
This does not preclude a Member from making public at a meeting or in another appropriate way 
a concern about the manner in which a Council department has acted or performed. Nor does it 

Page 250



Page 223 

prevent Members at a meeting being critical of officer advice or action or of the quality of reports 
provided that such criticism is not personally directed at an individual who has no way of 
responding. 
 
If an officer is concerned about the conduct of a Member, he/she should report such concern to 
the Head of Democratic Services, the Chief Executive or Monitoring Officer. Unlike for officers, 
the Council’s Whilstleblowing Policy does not cover Members. 

 
Support Services and ICT to Members 
 
The Council provides support services (e.g. stationery, typing, printing, photo-copying, transport, 
etc.) to Members is to assist them in discharging their role as Members of the Council. Such 
support services must therefore only be used on Council business.  
 
In the case of computer facilities they should never be used in connection with party political or 
campaigning activity. The ICT Usage Policy for Members contained in Part 3 of the Constitution 
gives further guidance. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 251



Page 224 

Chapter 23 - Officers’ Code of Conduct 
 
This is the Code of Conduct for Council Officers, setting out their professional 
responsibilities and standard to be upheld as local government workers, along with the 
Disciplinary Code. The Code of Conduct was last approved 26 February 2015 and the 
Disciplinary Code last approved September 2014 
 
Part 1  
Principals of Behaviour 
 
1. Introduction 
 
1.1 In the 2013 report of the Committee on Standards in Public Life, "Standards Matter"4 Sir 

Christopher Kelly, KCB wrote - 
 

"Standards of behaviour matter. They are particularly important where public money 
is being spent on public services or public functions. Citizens have a right to expect 
that holders of public office who take decisions which affect their lives should do so 
with impartiality, should be truthful about what they are doing and should use public 
money wisely." 

 
1.2 At Hillingdon council we fully echo that view - and expect that employees will, at all times, 

act in accordance with the trust that our residents are entitled to place in us. 
1.3 The first report of the Committee, back in 1995, established the seven principles of public 

life (the Nolan principles) and whilst some updating has taken place these remain the 
fundamental to the standards expected of those who hold public office.  

 
2. Nolan Principles 
 
2.1 The London Borough of Hillingdon is committed to these principles in everything that we 

do. 
 

• Selflessness - Holders of public office should take decisions solely in terms of the 
public interest. They should not do so in order to gain financial or other materials 
benefits for themselves, their family, or other friends. 

• Integrity - Holders of public office should not place themselves under any financial or 
other obligation to outside individuals or organisations that might influence them in 
the performance of their official duties. 

• Objectivity -In carrying out public business, including making public appointments, 
awarding contracts, or recommending individuals for rewards and benefits, holders of 
public office should make choices on merit. 

• Accountability - Holders of public office are accountable for their decisions and 
actions to the public and must submit to whatever scrutiny is appropriate to their 
office. 

 
4 Fourteenth Report of the Committee on Standards in Public Life Chair: Sir Christopher Kelly KCB 
"Standards matter: A review of best practice in promoting good behaviour in public life." TSO, (The Stationery 
Office) Jan 2013 

Page 252

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/standards-matter-thirteenth-report-of-the-committee-on-standards-in-public-life


Page 225 

• Openness - Holders of public office should be as open as possible about all the 
decisions and actions that they take. They should give reasons for their decisions and 
restrict information only when the wider public interest clearly demands. 

• Honesty - Holders of public office have a duty to declare any private interests relating 
to their public duties and to take steps to resolve any conflicts arising in a way that 
protects the public interest. 

• Leadership - Holders of public office should promote and support these principles by 
leadership and example 

 
3. The Principles in Practice 
 
3.1 The next section (Part Two) builds these principles into a Code of Conduct for employees. 

It is a condition of employment that employees read, understand and adhere to this Code. 
Failure to adhere to this Code can lead to under the Council's disciplinary policy and could, 
in some cases. lead to legal action. 

3.2 This Code cannot cover every eventuality and is not an exclusive or exhaustive list of 
acceptable conduct at work. If you are unsure whether particular conduct or behaviour is 
acceptable at work, you must seek guidance from your line manager. 

 
Part 2 
Code of Conduct 
 
4. Our behaviour and conduct 
 
4.1  As officers of the Council we must be courteous and professional at all times with both 

residents and colleagues.  
4.2 We also as employees have a responsibility to fully comply with the requirements of our 

contracts of employment including maintaining standards of attendance, conduct and 
performance. 

4.3 If we fall short of the required standards actions can be taken in accordance with the 
Council's agreed procedures which could affect our continued employment.   

 
5. Our professional image 
 
 Personal appearance 
 
5.1 As officers of the council it is essential that we maintain an appropriate professional image 

which reflects our standing as public servants. This means that office based workers are 
generally expected wear conventional business dress.  

5.2 Some workers who work outdoors or in front facing customer service roles may be 
expected to wear a specific uniform to wear as part of their role.  

5.3 Those working directly with client groups may dress more casually when in these roles, but 
would be expected to wear business dress when attending office based meetings or when 
not "in the field".  

 
 Drugs, alcohol & smoking 
 
5.4 The Council operates a zero tolerance approach to alcohol and illegal drugs to minimise 

risks to safety and to ensure that work performance is not adversely affected.  

Page 253



Page 226 

5.5 Employees cannot consume any alcohol when due to start work, during working hours and 
during rest / meal breaks.  

5.6 Illegal drugs must not be used or brought into the workplace.  
5.7  Smoking at work or on council premises (including council vehicles and those on hire to 

the council) is prohibited and employees who breach this will be subject to disciplinary 
action. The same restrictions apply to agency workers and contractors. 

5.8 Where employees wish to smoke, they can do so during their main meal break (but not 
during any scheduled or unscheduled breaks) and must do so away from council premises, 
grounds and vehicles.   

5.9 Although the use of e-cigarettes is not unlawful, their use at any Council workplace is not 
permitted and this falls within the definition of ‘smoking’ for Council employees. 

5.10 Support available to stop smoking or to deal with issues relating to alcohol and drugs is set 
out in the relevant polices.  

 
 Communications 
 
5.11 It is important that we maintain a professional image in our communications with 

residents and partners. Attention to detail in our written communications and publications 
makes all the difference and the corporate branding and style are very important and must 
be followed.  

5.12 Our residents are entitled to receive prompt and helpful responses to their queries 
whether in person, by telephone, letter or email or social media. 

 
6. Our Organisational Reputation 
 
6.1 Integrity, objectivity and honesty are three of the Nolan principles which help us to 

maintain the trust and confidence placed in us by our residents. 
 
6.2 There are many situations where officers of the Council have to pay special attention to 

ensure we meet our duties as holders of public office and these are detailed below. 
 
 Accepting and refusing gifts and hospitality 
 
6.3 It is really important that as public sector workers we are seen to be impartial at all times 

and not open to any inducement or undue influence. This means that we have to be 
particularly careful in relation to any gifts that we are offered. This can happen when a 
resident receives good service and wants to say thank you, or at particular times of the 
year, such as Christmas, when suppliers may send small gifts as part of their corporate 
seasonal gift giving. 

 
6.4 To help ensure that we achieve the right balance this guidance has been developed. 
 
 Conflicts of interest and declaring these 
 
6.5 Conflicts of interest can potentially arise in a variety of situations and a simple rule of 

thumb is "if in doubt declare it". Examples of situations where a conflict can arise are set 
out below, with distinctions between actions required. 

 
 
 

Page 254



Page 227 

 Financial interests 
 
6.6 The Council enters into a huge number of contractual arrangements with suppliers and 

businesses, some very large and some small. There are some very important rules in 
relation to how these contracts are let and managed.  

6.7 If as employees of the Council you have any financial interest in an existing contract or one 
that is being proposed it must be declared it as part of your conditions of employment.  

6.8 Additionally, if your spouse, partner, relative or friend has financial interest in such a 
contract you must also declare that. This is so that we can take steps to ensure there can 
be no misunderstandings, or incorrect perceptions, that your position can or has 
influenced any decisions in relation to this contract. 

6.9 These declarations must be made to the Head of Legal Services using the relevant form 
and should also be declared to your line manager. 

 
 Non-Financial interests 
 
6.10 You don’t have to have a financial connection to a business for a conflict of interest to 

potentially arise. If you are connected in any capacity to a body or organisation which 
works with the Council then you should declare this in writing to your manager to ensure 
that the matter can be considered and discussed and steps agreed to maintain your and 
the Council's reputation.  

 
 Family members & Personal relationships 
 
6.11 As a large organisation which recruits a large numbers of staff, many from within the 

Borough, it is inevitable that family members will be employed within the Council. To 
ensure there are no conflicts arising from this there are some basic ground rules that we 
must all follow. 

6.12 Family members (this includes those in personal relationships) should not be involved in 
the line management, appointment, promotion, discipline or any other employment 
decision relating to another family member. 

6.13 All candidates for roles in the council are asked to declare any personal or family 
relationships at application stage to maintain our principle of open and fair recruitment. 

6.14 It is also understood that personal relationships can be formed between employees at 
work. Where this happens you must declare the relationship so that any current or future 
working arrangement can be considered to ensure that there is no management line or 
other conflict.  

 
 Other Employment 
 
6.15 Taking on additional employment or running a business is another area where a conflict 

could arise with our Council employment. To be sure there is no conflict you will need to 
seek permission to take on other employment, and you must declare if you are running 
business. In terms of being granted permission to take on additional work, consideration 
will be given to your current role, your grade and the nature of the work you are seeking to 
do.  

6.16 In all of the situations listed above your line manager will discuss potential conflicts with 
you and make a note of the discussion held and the arrangements or actions that have 
been agreed to manage the situation.  

 

Page 255



Page 228 

7. Our responsibilities outside work 
 
 Personal opinion 
 
7.1 It is important that we ensure that our personal views and opinions cannot be 

misconstrued as representing the Council's views, so it is important that you do not 
promote your position as a Council officer in your private and personal life.  

7.2 If you are asked to speak to the press in your capacity as a Council officer then you must 
obtain permission from your Director and seek advice from the Corporate 
Communications who will provide professional guidance on how to handle the enquiry. 

7.3 If you speak as private individual on any matter with the press or other media then you 
must not associate yourself with the Council or say anything that could be misconstrued 
as representing the views of the Council.  

7.4 If you are a trade union representative and you speak to the press on a trade union matter 
- then you must make very clear that you speak as a trade union representative and not as 
a Council employee. 

 
 Social media 
 
7.5 The increased role of social media in our personal lives means that our views and opinions 

can reach a very wide audience. When using social media accounts in your personal life 
you should not at any time discuss matters relating to the Council, our residents or our 
policies. You should not identify yourself overtly as a Council officer and bear in mind that 
your friends are likely to be aware of your employment status.  

7.6 If using more business oriented social media, such as LinkedIn, then you will naturally 
identify our employment status, this is of course acceptable, but please ensure that you 
are accurate, using your correct job title and that any successes you cite are genuinely 
your own work. Staff should refer to the ICT Acceptable Usage Policy. 

 
8. Our relationships with elected Members  
 
8.1 Whilst officers and elected members are both holders of public office, our roles are 

responsibilities are quite distinct. It is important that we understand what this means in 
practice and comprehensive guidance on this is set in the Protocol for Member & Officer 
Relations. 

8.2 This guidance is an essential part of any new Council officer's induction and managers 
should make new entrants aware of the guidance at the earliest opportunity and be on 
hand to offer support and advice. 

8.3 Soliciting elected members in relation to employment matters is strictly against our code 
of conduct for employees. Whilst there is nothing to prevent officers mixing socially with 
elected members, particularly in an informal work context, we must always strive to 
maintain our political impartiality and be aware of how such social contact may be 
perceived.  

 
9. Political impartiality  
 
9.1 As well as showing political impartiality when dealing with elected members, which applies 

to all officers, there are a number of posts in council that are classed as "politically 
restricted". This means that if you are employed in one of these posts you are not allowed 
to stand as candidate for Local Council, Parliamentary or European elections, hold office 

Page 256



Page 229 

in a political party, canvass at elections or speak or write in public on matters of party 
politics.  

9.2 The list of politically restricted posts is maintained by the Head of Democratic services, 
and if you are appointed to one of these posts you will be advised of the restrictions.  

9.3 For other officers, not subject to these restrictions, it is important that you do not carry 
out any political activity in a way that might lead the public to think you are acting as a 
Council employee which could represent a conflict of interest with the stated aims of the 
Council. 

 
10. Our relationship with colleagues 
 
 Respect for others, dignity at work and preventing bullying and harassment 
 
10.1 Employees of the council must at all times act in manner which displays respect for 

difference and treat colleagues and residents in accordance with their needs. 
10.2 We expect everyone in the Council to work together in a mature and professional manner 

and show respect for each other. As an employer the Council takes its responsibilities 
towards protecting employees from unacceptable behaviour, including bullying and 
harassment in the work place very seriously.  

10.3 Our Bullying and Harassment Policy sets out how we approach this and what you should do 
if you feel you are being subjected to unacceptable behaviour in the workplace, and how 
we deal with this. 

 
 Dealing with conflict and differences 
 
10.4 Of course conflict and differences in opinion can arise from time to time, and in the 

majority of cases these can be resolved through open and constructive communication. 
Where this doesn’t prove possible the Council has a Grievance Policy which employees can 
utilise.  

 
 Whistle blowing - matters of public interest 
 
10.5 There are a variety of ways that employees can raise concerns that they may have in 

relation to the interests of the Council and residents. The most appropriate of these is to 
raise the matter with your line manager, Head of Service or Corporate / Executive Director. 
Where this is not appropriate and the matter is serious enough to be considered 
potentially in the public interest, then the Council does have a confidential reporting 
procedure which can be used. The aim of this procedure is to ensure that those raising 
these concerns in this way feel confident in doing so, and that those who do so in good 
faith and be assured that their concerns will treated seriously and that they are protected 
in their actions.  

 
 Preventing fraud and corruption 
 
10.6 The Council takes a zero tolerance approach to fraud and corruption whether it is 

attempted internally or externally.   
 
 
 
 

Page 257



Page 230 

 
11. Our obligations to our residents 
 
 Confidentiality 
 
11.1 Our residents are at the heart of everything we do. As Council officers we have a duty to 

ensure that the trust residents place in us is respected. This means that we have a duty to 
ensure confidentiality in all of our dealings with our residents and in all of our dealings with 
council contractors and suppliers. Council officers are often privy to confidential personal 
information as well as commercially sensitive information which should not be disclosed 
to others. Breaching confidentiality is a very serious matter and employees who do so be 
dealt with robustly by the Council.  

 
 Looking after data 
 
11.2 As well as knowing a great deal about some of our residents we also have a lot of records 

and data which we are obliged to collect. The Data Protection Act governs how we use this 
data and how it is held and all Council employees must be aware of the requirements. Our 
information governance polices set out your responsibilities in this area and can be found 
here. 

 
12. Looking after and using Council assets and resources 
 
 ICT equipment and telephones 
 
12.1 All Council employees are supplied with the ICT equipment that they require to do their role 

and these range from desktops in the office to laptops, tablets and smart phones. Our staff 
have a responsibility to use this equipment only in accordance with the Council's policies. 
Reasonable personal use of ICT equipment and systems is permitted provide it does not 
interfere with your work and it is being used only in accordance with the policy mentioned 
above.  

 
 Copyright 
 
12.2 “Intellectual property”, (software, ideas, documents etc) created during employment 

belong to the Council. All files, materials, the media upon which they are located and all 
software programmes or packages which are utilised or developed solely for or in 
connection with the job shall remain Council property. 

 
13. Summary 
 

 This Code of conduct sets out our general responsibilities as Council employees and is 
supplemented by a wide variety of polices many of which are referred to in this document. 
Not every policy is mentioned and it is important to remember that our contract of 
employment requires that we abide by all Council polices. Additionally we expect all 
employees to fully comply with statutory requirements and best practice including Health 
& Safety at Work, the Equality Act and other relevant legislation.  

 
 
 

Page 258



Page 231 

 
Part 3 
Disciplinary Code for Employees 
 

1. You are required to comply with the council’s code of conduct and this disciplinary code. 
Failure to do so will lead to appropriate disciplinary action being taken.  

  
2. The examples provided below are not exhaustive and may be more or less serious 

according to the particular circumstances. 
 
3. Gross misconduct is a single act of misconduct that is serious enough by itself to breach 

your contract with us. Summary dismissal for gross misconduct is justified at the first 
offence.  Examples of gross misconduct include: 
• Theft or fraud, including falsification of any document for personal advantage. 
• Causing loss, damage or injury through negligence or intent. 
• Physical violence (except in legitimate self defence), intimidation with threats of 

violence, bullying or harassment. 
• Maltreatment or sexual misconduct of any service user in the council’s care. 
• Unlawful discrimination or harassment. 
• Pursuance of grievances with little or no substance that are pursued against others. 
• Any serious breach of health and safety regulations. 
• Deliberate damage to the council’s property, including neglect of misappropriation of 

safety equipment. 
• Acts that could be subject to criminal proceedings. 
• Failure to provide satisfactory documentation as evidence of permission to work in the 

UK, upon request. 
• Deliberately or by omission failing to maintain registration/and or accreditation with 

your professional body, when required to do so for your post. 
• A serious breach of the employee code of conduct. 
• A serious breach of your professional code of practice, if applicable.   
• Attempted use of official position for private advantage or dishonest or improper use 

of information obtained in the council’s employment. 
• Carrying out unauthorised private work during hours when contracted to work for the 

council or during periods of sickness absence. 
• Soliciting or accepting gifts or gratuities other than those of a token value. 
• Lobbying councillors regarding an application for employment with us. 
• Unauthorised use of or access to information in breach of the Data Protection Act or 

any other legislation. 
• Breaches of the council’s ICT policy. 
• Unauthorised communication or disclosure of confidential information to the media 

(including by way of social networking), or to any person not entitled to receive it. 
• Deliberately accessing offensive, pornographic or obscene material whilst at work or 

through the use of the council’s hardware. 
• Failure to carry out a reasonable and legitimate instruction. 
• Incapability at work brought on by alcohol or drugs. 
• Any act that could bring the council into disrepute or lead to a loss of trust and 

confidence in you. 
• Any acts that take place outside of work that call into question your suitability in your 

post. 
 

Page 259



Page 232 

4. Misconduct is not as serious as gross misconduct and will not warrant dismissal without a 
previous warning. In the case of misconduct, you will receive at least one written warning 
before a decision to dismiss is made.  Examples of misconduct include: 
• Offensive, abusive or disruptive behaviour (not including unlawful discrimination). 
• Failure to account properly for or to make a prompt and true return of any money or 

property that comes into your possession during the course of duty. 
• Knowingly or through neglect making a false, misleading or inaccurate oral or written 

statement in respect of official business. 
• Deliberate involvement of councillors on staffing issues including conditions of 

service, rather than or in addition to the use of established channels. 
• Making reckless or defamatory allegations against others. 
• Sleeping on duty (except where this is expressly permitted). 
• Failure to report a material fact that has a bearing on your contract of employment. 
• Failure to discharge obligations in line with a statute, council policy or contract of 

employment without sufficient cause. 
• Unauthorised absence from work including any act calculated to delay a return to work.   
• Arriving late for work without sufficient cause. 
• Failure to report absence from work and the reason for such absence. 
• Failure to provide a medical certificate or self certificate with appropriate reasons for 

absence when required to do so. 
• Failure to attend for a medical appointment arranged by the council without 

reasonable cause. 
• Failure to carry out any instructions of a medical advisor appointed by the council. 
• Bad timekeeping including taking unauthorised or excessive breaks. 
• Negligent, careless or wilfully inadequate standards of work. 
• Unjustifiable waste of council materials, equipment or resources. 
• Failure to report any loss or damage to any property of the council within your area of 

responsibility. 
• Unauthorised use of council vehicles. 
• Unauthorised use of any council facilities for private purposes. 
• Use of waste council material without express authority, including waste food. 
• Use of council labour, materials, equipment or resources for private purposes. 
• Failure to comply with accident reporting procedures. 
• Dangerous or reckless behaviour involving risk of injury or any conduct likely to 

diminish safety standards. 
• Breaches of the smoking policy.  

 
5. It should also be borne in mind that the examples of misconduct given above may be 

regarded as gross misconduct in certain circumstances, and vice versa, according to the 
seriousness of the offence and the nature of your job. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 260



Page 233 

Chapter 24 - Planning Code of Conduct 
 
This Code sets out the guidance Elected Councillors should follow when they are 
involved in, or making decisions relating to planning matters. 
 
Introduction 
 
1. This Planning Code of Conduct for Members has been prepared in accordance with advice 

provided in the Local Government Association’s “Probity in Planning – the role of Members 
& Officers” together with guidance contained in Audit Commission papers and Public 
Interest Reports. It draws on the Model Code produced by the Association of Council 
Secretaries and Solicitors in consultation with the District Audit Service, the Local 
Government Ombudsman and Standards for England. The aim of this Planning Code of 
Conduct for Members is to ensure that when exercising their planning judgment, both 
Members and officers can be seen to be open and transparent in the decision making 
process. 

 
2. The role of a Member of the planning authority is to make planning decisions openly, 

impartially, with sound judgment and for justifiable planning reasons. The role of a Member 
on a Planning Committee involves a balance between representing the needs and 
interests of constituents and the community with the need to maintain impartial and 
sound decision making on what can be highly controversial proposals. 

 
3. The Planning Code of Conduct for Members applies at all times when any Member is 

involved in the planning process. This includes taking part in decision making meetings of 
the Planning Committees and on less formal occasions, such as meetings with officers or 
the public and other consultative meetings. It applies equally to planning enforcement 
matters or site specific policy issues as it does to planning applications. The Planning 
Code of Conduct for Members (this Code) is both complementary and additional to the 
Members’ Code of Conduct. 

 
4. Members and officers should read this Code thoroughly and apply themselves to it 

consistently. If Members have any doubts about the application of this Code they should 
seek early advice, preferably well in advance of any meeting, from the Monitoring Officer 
or the Head of Democratic Services. 

 
Relationship to Members’ Code of Conduct 
 
5. Members are reminded that this Code is designed primarily for Members of the Planning 

Committees and Members who, for whatever reason, find themselves involved in the 
planning process. The Code is supplemental to the Members’ Code of Conduct found at 
Part 3, Chapter 21 of the Council’s Constitution. 

 
6. Members should first adhere to the Members’ Code of Conduct and thereafter apply this 

Code together when involved in the planning process. If Members do not abide by this Code 
they may put the Council at risk of proceedings on the legality or maladministration of the 
related decision; and put themselves at risk of either being named in a report made to the 
Standards Committee or Council or, if the failure is also likely to be a breach of the 
Members’ Code of Conduct, a complaint being made to the Standards Committee. 

Page 261



Page 234 

 
Development proposals and interests  
 
7. The Localism Act 2011 and the new Members’ Code of Conduct place requirements on 

Members about the registration and declaration of their interests and the consequences 
of having such interests. These must be followed scrupulously and Members should review 
their interests regularly. Ultimate responsibility for declaring an interest rests individually 
with each Member. 

 
Pecuniary Interests  
 
8. A Member will have a disclosable pecuniary interest if it is one which is specified by The 

Relevant Authorities (Disclosable Pecuniary Interests) Regulations 2012 and the interest is 
the Member’s, his/her spouse’s or civil partners, or is the pecuniary interest of some party 
with whom the Member is living with as husband or wife, or as a civil partner. 

 
The following fall within the definition of pecuniary interests: 
 
 Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on for profit or gain; 
 Any payment or provision of any other financial benefit (other than from the relevant 

authority) made or provided within the relevant period in respect of any expenses incurred 
by a Member in carrying out his/her duties as a Member, or towards the election expenses 
of a Member.   
This includes any payment or financial benefit from a Trade Union within the meaning of 
the Trade Union and Labour Relations (Consolidation) Act 1992(3);  

 Any contract which is made between the relevant person (or a body in which the relevant 
person has a beneficial interest) and the relevant authority –  

(a) under which goods or services are to be provided or works are to be executed; and  
(b) which has not been fully discharged;  

 Any beneficial interest in land which is within the area of the relevant authority;  
 Any licence (alone or jointly with others) to occupy land in the area of the relevant authority 

for a month or longer;  
 Any tenancy where to the Member’s knowledge –  

(a) the landlord is the relevant authority; and  
(b) the tenant is a body in which the relevant person has a beneficial interest;  

 Any beneficial interest in securities of a body where –  
(a) that body to the Member’s knowledge has a place of business or land in the area of 

the relevant authority; and  
(b) either –  

i) the total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 or one hundredth 
of the total issued share capital of that body or  

ii) if the share capital of that body is of more than one class, the total nominal 
value of the shares of any one class in which the relevant person has a 
beneficial interest exceeds one hundredth of the total issued share capital 
of that class.  

 
9. In accordance with Section 30 of the Localism Act 2011, the Member must, within 28 days 

of taking office as a Member, notify the Council’s Monitoring Officer of any disclosable 
pecuniary interest.  

 

Page 262



Page 235 

10. If a Member is present at a Planning Committee meeting and has a disclosable pecuniary 
interest in any matter to be considered at a meeting, the Member must disclose the 
interest to the meeting if the interest is not registered in the Council’s register of 
interests.  

 
11. If the interest is not entered in the Council’s register of interests and is not the subject of 

a pending notification, the Member must notify the Council’s Monitoring Officer of the 
interest within 28 days of the date of the disclosure.  

 
12. The Member must not, unless he or she has been granted a dispensation by the Standards 

Committee, –  
(a) participate, or participate further, in any discussion of the matter at the meeting, 

or  
(b) participate in any vote, or further vote, taken on the matter at the meeting.  

 
13. If a Member, without reasonable excuse, fails to comply with the requirements set out in 

the above paragraphs, he/she commits a criminal offence.  It is therefore imperative that 
if a Member is uncertain whether or not he/she has a disclosable pecuniary interest, that 
appropriate advice is sought from an officer in Legal / Democratic Services.  

 
14. Members should also consider whether they have any non-pecuniary interests in relation 

to a matter to be considered at a Planning Committee meeting which they should declare. 
For example, see paragraph 49.  

 
General roles of Members and officers 
 
15. Members and officers have different, but complementary roles. Both serve the public. 

Officers are responsible to the Council as a whole, whilst Members are responsible to both 
the Council and the electorate. 

 
16. Officers advise Members and the Council. Officers carry out the daily functions of the 

Council’s business in accordance with council, cabinet or committee decisions or under 
powers delegated to them pursuant to the Constitution. Officers are governed by the 
Officers’ Code of Conduct contained at Part 3, Chapter 23 of the Constitution. In addition, 
planning officers, who are Members of the Royal Town Planning Institute (RTPI), are 
subject to a professional code of conduct and breaches may be subject to disciplinary 
action by the RTPI. Similarly, officers who are solicitors are subject to regulation by The 
Law Society. 

 
17. Members are bound by the Members’ Code of Conduct contained in Part 3, Chapter 21 of 

the Constitution. Breaches of the Members’ Code of Conduct can result in a Member being 
reported to the Monitoring Officer of the Council and/or the Standards Committee. 

 
18. Mutual trust, respect and understanding between Members and officers are the keys to 

achieving effective local government. A successful relationship between Members and 
officers can only be based upon mutual trust and understanding of each other’s positions. 
This relationship, and the trust that underpins it, must never be abused or compromised. 

 
 
 

Page 263



Page 236 

Fettering discretion in the planning process 
 
19. Section 25 of the Localism Act 2011 came into force on 15 January 2012 and this provision 

makes it clear that a decision maker is not to be taken to have had, or to have appeared to 
have had, a closed mind simply because such person had done anything directly or 
indirectly that indicated what view the decision-maker took, or would or might take, about 
the subject matter and that it was relevant to the decision required.  

 
20. This provision applies to all local authorities in England and Wales and is still subject to the 

following legal principles: 
 

 Members must continue to declare interests whenever they arise at meetings they 
attend. 

 Planning Committee Members must, when making decisions, take into account all 
relevant material planning considerations.  

 The case law on bias remains unaffected by Section 25 and Members will therefore 
need to approach all decision-making with an open mind.  

 Members should take into account all relevant considerations and discount 
irrelevant considerations in accordance with the Wednesbury principles of 
reasonable decision making.  

 
21. Given that the law on bias has remained unchanged by the Localism Act, the safest course 

for Planning Committee Members is to avoid making public statements ([including 
expressing views in for example, e-mails( as to their support for or opposition to any 
application which would give the impression that they had made up their minds before the 
formal consideration of the application at the Committee meeting.  

 
22. If a Member has made such a statement, then they must be satisfied that they can still 

consider the application with an open mind and are prepared to take into account any new 
information or new arguments in favour of or against the proposed development before 
the decision is made. If they cannot be so satisfied, then they should refrain from taking 
any part in the decision.  

 
23. Members should not use any political group or other meeting prior to meetings of a 

Planning Committee to determine how a Member or group of Members will vote on agenda 
items. 

 
The party whip 
 
24. Members cannot accept an instruction from anyone to determine an application in a 

particular manner; they must determine the issue on its merits. Accordingly, whilst they 
may accord appropriate weight to the views of other Members, whether expressed in the 
committee meeting or in prior discussions, they must determine the application on its 
merits and should not take into account any factor which they are not prepared to state in 
open committee. Therefore, it is inappropriate for any party group to instruct its Members 
to vote in a particular way on an application or to apply any sanction to any Member who 
votes contrary to the group’s collective views. 

 
 

Page 264



Page 237 

Contact with developers, applicants and objectors 
 
25. Members should refer those who approach them for planning, procedure or technical 

advice to officers. 
 
26. Members should not agree to any formal meeting with applicants, developers or groups of 

objectors where it is possible to avoid it. Where a Member feels that a formal meeting 
would be useful in clarifying the issues relating to a planning matter, they should never 
seek to arrange that meeting themselves but should request the Corporate / Executive 
Director of Place to organise it. The officer(s) will then ensure that those present at the 
meeting are advised from the start that the discussions will not bind the authority to any 
particular course of action, that the meeting is properly recorded on the application file 
and the record of the meeting is disclosed when the application is considered by the 
Planning Committee. 

 
27. In dealing with approaches on planning matters Members should: 
 

• follow the rules on lobbying5;  
• consider whether or not it would be prudent in the circumstances to make notes 

when contacted; and  
• report to the Corporate Director of Place any significant contact with the applicant 

and other parties, explaining the nature and purpose of the contacts and your 
involvement in them and ensure that this is recorded on the planning file.  

 
28. In addition in respect of presentations by applicants / developers Members should: 
 

• not attend a planning presentation unless an officer is present and/or it has been 
organised by officers;  

• ask relevant questions for the purposes of clarifying their understanding of the 
proposals;  

• remember that the presentation is not part of the formal process of debate and 
determination of any subsequent application; this will be carried out by the 
appropriate Planning Committee;  

• be aware that a presentation is a form of lobbying and Members must not express 
any strong view or state how they or other Members might vote.  

 
Access to planning officers 
 
29. Officers are required to manage council services in accordance with the policy and 

instructions adopted by elected Members through formal Cabinet/committee decisions. 
Like all other officers of the Council, planning officers are appointed to serve the Council 
as a whole and not any political group. 

 
30. Any Member wishing to discuss a particular planning matter with a planning officer should 

make an appointment with the relevant officer through formal reception arrangements 
(reception desk or Director/Service Head's PA). The request for such a meeting may be 
refused if the officer considers it may lead to a breach of any code of conduct, or prejudice 
the proper and effective impartial assessment of an application, or it is otherwise 
reasonable to refuse an appointment. Where an appointment has been refused the 

 
5 see paragraphs 39-45 below 

Page 265



Page 238 

Member concerned may request that the matter may be reviewed by the Corporate 
Director of Place, whose decision shall be final. 

 
31. The Council is expected to make a decision on all applications within statutory timescales. 

This is not always possible, particularly for applications that are to be considered by 
committee. Applications are always included on the agenda of the first available Planning 
Committee after completion of the officer's report so that a decision can be taken in the 
shortest possible time. 

 
32. Planning applications must be dealt with in a timely manner in accordance with statutory 

guidance and Members should not request officers to delay the determination or 
assessment of particular applications for their own personal or political convenience or 
following lobbying by applicants, agents/advisers or other interested parties. 

 
Material considerations 
 
33. The emphasis in determining applications is upon a plan led system. Section 54a of the 

Town & Country Planning Act, 1990 requires all planning applications to be determined by 
reference to the Local Development Framework (LDF), if material to the application, and 
any other material considerations. If the LDF is material to the application then the 
statutory position is that the application should be determined in accordance with the LDF 
unless material considerations indicate otherwise. 

 
34. Material considerations include national planning guidance in the form of Government 

Circulars, Planning Policy Guidance Notes, Planning Policy Statements, Non Statutory 
Development Control Guidelines and case law. 

 
35. Examples of material considerations are:- 

• appearance and character of development; 
• traffic generation, highway safety and parking; 
• overshadowing, overbearing, overlooking and loss of privacy; 
• noise disturbance and other loss of amenity; 
• layout and density of buildings; 
• relevant planning policies. 

 
36. Matters which are not material considerations include:- 
 

a) boundary disputes, covenants or other property rights; 
b) personal remarks; 
c) reduction in property values; 
d) loss of private view. 

 
37. The personal circumstances of an applicant for planning permission are not generally a 

material consideration because they do not relate to the character or use of the land. 
However, when considering applications which include an applicant’s home or the effect 
of the development on neighbouring homes, Members should have regard to Article 8 
Schedule 1 of the Human Rights Act, 1998 which states:- 
“1. Everyone has the right to respect for his private and family life, his home and his 

correspondence. 

Page 266



Page 239 

2. There shall be no interference by a public authority with the exercise of this right 
except such is in accordance with the law and is necessary in a democratic society in 
the interests of national security, public safety or the economic well being of the 
country, for the prevention of disorder or crime, for the protection of health or morals, 
or for the protection of the rights and freedom of others.” 

 
38. What constitutes a material consideration is a matter of law. The weight to be attached to 

the consideration is a matter of planning judgment for the decision maker having regard 
to the planning evidence. 

 
Lobbying of and by Members 
 
39. Lobbying is a normal and perfectly proper part of the political process. Members of the 

public, applicants or local interest groups will often seek to influence a decision through 
an approach to their ward Member.  

 
40. The Nolan Committee’s Third Report states: 

“It is essential for the proper operation of the planning system that local concerns are 
adequately ventilated. The most effective and suitable way that this can be done is via 
the local elected representatives, the Members themselves” (para 288) 

 
41. Any Code of Conduct which fails to take account of the realities of the 

political/representative process will not carry credibility with experienced elected 
Members. 

 
42. Lobbying can, unless care is taken, lead to the impartiality and integrity of a Member being 

called into question. Despite the removal of the rules concerning pre-determination, when 
being lobbied, Members, and particularly Members of the Planning Committees, should 
take care not to express an opinion which may be perceived as indicating that they have 
already made up their mind on a particular matter before having had the benefit of 
considering the evidence and arguments both for and against the proposal. Members of 
the Planning Committees should exclude themselves from any such discussions at the 
earliest opportunity. 

 
43. In such situations, Members should refer those who approach them for planning, 

procedure or technical advice to officers and suggest to the lobbyists that they write to 
the Corporate Director of Place in order that their views can be included in the officer 
reports prepared for the Planning Committees or for determination under delegated 
powers. Even if such lobbying does not give rise to a declarable interest, Members of the 
Planning Committees should declare any lobbying to which they have been subject. 

 
44. Where a Member receives information (including plans, data, correspondence etc) in 

respect of an application, they should pass it onto the Corporate Director of Place as soon 
as practicably possible so that it can be taken into account and included in the report on 
the application. 

 
45. Members should ensure that it is made clear to any lobbyists that they will only be in a 

position to reach a final decision on any planning matter after they have heard all of the 
relevant arguments and looked at the relevant evidence during the sitting of the relevant 
Planning Committee. 

Page 267



Page 240 

 
Applications submitted by Members or officers 
 
46. Proposals to their own authority by serving and former Members and officers and their 

close friends and relatives can easily give rise to suspicions of impropriety if not handled 
properly. Proposals can take the form of either planning applications or development plan 
proposals. This advice also relates to enforcement matters. 

 
47. It is perfectly legitimate for such proposals to be submitted. However, it is vital to ensure 

that they are handled in a way that gives no grounds for accusations of favouritism. 
Accordingly a Member or an officer making an application should follow the procedures 
set out below: 
(a) if a Member or an officer submit their own proposal to the Council which they serve, 

they should take no part in its processing or the decision making process; 
(b) Members who act as agents/consultants for people pursuing a planning matter 

with the authority should take no part in its processing or the decision making 
process; 

(c) the Member or officer concerned in (a) or (b) should inform the Monitoring Officer 
of such proposals no later than the date on which formal proposals are submitted. 

 
48. For the sake of transparency in decision making, where any Member or officer or former 

Member or former officer is involved in a planning or related application to the Council, this 
shall be referred to the Corporate Director of Place, as soon as possible who shall decide 
whether or not the application should be referred to the appropriate Planning Committee, 
or determined in the usual way under delegated powers if the application is in accordance 
with development plans and all other material planning considerations. In respect of 
former Members or former officers this requirement shall apply for a period of four years 
following their departure from the Council. 

 
49. Members of the Planning Committee must consider in accordance with the Code of 

Conduct for Members whether the nature of any relationship with the person (either a 
Member or an officer) submitting the planning application requires that they make a 
declaration of interest and if necessary also withdraw from the meeting. 

 
Applications submitted by the Council 
 
50. Proposals for a Council's own development can also give rise to suspicions of impropriety. 

Whilst it is perfectly legitimate for such proposals to be submitted to and determined by 
the Local Planning Authority, it is vital to ensure that they are handled in a way that gives 
no grounds for accusations of favouritism. Accordingly, proposals for a Council's own 
development will be treated no differently from any other application. 

 
Site visits 
 
51. Members should try to attend site visits organised by the Council where possible. 

However, a site visit should not be requested unless Members feel it is strictly necessary 
because: 

• particular site factors are significant in terms of the weight attached to them 
relative to other factors or the difficulty of their assessment in the absence of a 
site inspection; or  

Page 268



Page 241 

• there are significant policy or precedent implications and specific site factors need 
to be carefully addressed.  

 
52. Information gained from site visits should be reported back to the Planning Committee, so 

that all Members have the same information. The visit should be treated only as an 
opportunity to seek information and to observe the site. During the visit Members should 
ask the officers at the site visit questions or seek clarification from them on matters which 
are relevant to the site inspection. 

 
53. During the visit Members should not hear representations from any other party, [with the 

exception of the ward Member(s) whose address must focus only on site factors and site 
issues]. If approached by the applicant or a third party, Members should advise them that 
they should make representations in writing to the authority and direct them to or inform 
the officer present. Members should exercise caution when expressing opinions or views 
to anyone. 

 
54. Members should not enter a site which is subject to a proposal other than as part of an 

official site visit, even in response to an invitation, as this may give the impression of bias 
unless: 

• the Member feels it is essential to visit the site other than through attending the 
official site visit; and 

• the Member has first spoken to the Corporate Director of Place about their 
intention to do so and why (which will be recorded on the file); and  

• the Member can ensure that they will comply with these good practice rules on site 
visits.  

 
Public speaking at meetings 
 
55. The Constitution6 provides for a representative of a petition with 20 or more signatures of 

borough residents to address a committee meeting for up to five minutes on the subject 
of the petition. Members of the Committee may ask questions of the petitioners for up to 
three minutes. Where the petition is opposing a planning application and is being reported 
to a Planning Committee, the applicant or their agent may address the Committee for up 
to five minutes in support of the application. Time limits are subject to Chairman’s 
discretion where there are multiple petitions. 

 
56. Members of the Planning Committees should not allow Members of the public or other 

Members of the Council to communicate with them, or act in a way which gives the 
perception that this is happening, during the Committee’s proceedings (orally or in writing) 
other than through the scheme for public speaking or as a Member making 
representations on behalf of constituents, as this may give the appearance of bias. 
Members should not frame questions so as to permit additional time for an individual 
speech by a Member of the public. 

 
Pre-application discussions 
 
57. Discussions between a potential applicant and the Council prior to the submission of an 

application can be of considerable benefit to both parties and is encouraged by 
organisations such as the Local Government Association and the National Planning 

 
6 Petition Scheme, Part 1, Chapter 3 of the Constitution 

Page 269



Page 242 

Forum. A Member should not normally be involved in discussions with a developer or agent 
when a planning application is imminent or has been submitted but remains to be 
determined. Potentially, these negotiations could be interpreted, particularly by objectors 
to a proposal, as part of a lobbying process. 

 
58. Where Members need clarification about an application which may be dealt with through 

appropriate pre-application discussions (for example, in the case of a large scale 
development, where it is desirable for there to be a full understanding of the Council’s 
planning and economic objectives), the request should be made to the Corporate Director 
of Place. 

 
59. In order to avoid the potential for criticism or challenge, pre-application discussions 

generally should follow the guidelines below. Subsequent discussions should also be in 
accordance with the following guidelines: 

 
(a) officers should make it clear from the outset that the discussion will not bind the 

Council to making a particular decision and that any views expressed are personal 
and provisional; 

(b) any advice given should be consistent and in accordance with the LDF. Officers 
should agree, prior to any meeting, on a consistent interpretation of LDF policies; 

(c) a contemporaneous note of the meeting should be prepared by the council officer 
attending wherever possible and a copy sent to all parties for their agreement; 

(d) the final version of the note of the meeting should form part of the planning file 
should a planning application subsequently be received and thereby be open to 
public inspection. 

 
Decision making at Planning Committees 
 
60. In making decisions on planning matters Members should: 

 
• ensure that, if they request a proposal to go before the Planning Committee rather than 

be determined through officer delegation, that their reasons are recorded and 
repeated in the report to the Committee; 

• come to meetings with an open mind and demonstrate that they are open-minded; 
• comply with section 54A of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 and make 

decisions in accordance with the LDF unless material considerations indicate 
otherwise; 

• come to their decision only after due consideration of all of the information reasonably 
required upon which to base a decision. If they feel there is insufficient time to digest 
new information or that there is simply insufficient information before them, request 
that further information. If necessary, defer or refuse;  

• not vote or take part in the meeting’s discussion on a proposal unless they have been 
present to hear the entire debate, including the officers’ introduction to the matter; 

• have recorded the reasons for the Committee’s decision to defer any proposal; 
• make sure that if they are proposing, seconding or supporting a decision contrary to 

officer recommendations or the development plan that they clearly identify and 
understand the planning reasons leading to this conclusion/decision. These reasons 
must be given prior to the vote and be recorded. Members must be aware that they may 
have to justify the resulting decision by giving evidence in the event of any challenge.  

Page 270



Page 243 

 
Planning appeals 
 
61. Appeals by applicants against the decisions of the Council, and which are heard by an 

Inspector, are open to the public and Members are able to attend. Members are 
encouraged to do so, as many have found them to be a good learning experience. This part 
of the Code is concerned with Members who wish to participate in these appeals. 

 
62. If Members wish to attend a public inquiry or informal hearing as ward Members they are 

free to do so. It is strongly recommended that they discuss their participation with the 
Corporate Director of Place or the Deputy Director, Planning & Regeneration to ensure that 
they are aware of the process and that they do not act in a manner which may expose the 
Council to a claim of costs. 

 
63. A Member cannot attend an appeal on behalf of the Planning Committees. The decision of 

the Committee will be documented in the minutes and the case officer will present the 
Council's case on its planning merits in accordance with the Committee's decision. The 
Inspector is required to determine the appeal on its planning merits and therefore all 
representations should be so directed. Where the appealed decision was contrary to the 
officer recommendation, officers are generally able to present the Council's case in a 
satisfactory manner. On the rare occasions where this may not be possible, the case will 
be presented by a planning consultant employed by the Council. 

 
Member training on planning 
 
64. Members may not participate in decision making at meetings of the Planning Committees 

unless they have attended the mandatory planning training sessions prescribed by the 
Council on probity and planning. This includes Members who are acting as a substitute for 
regular Members of these committees. 

 
65. All Planning Committee Members (and substitutes) should endeavour to attend any other 

specialised training sessions provided, since these will be designed to extend their 
knowledge of planning law, regulations, procedures, codes of practice and development 
plans, which will assist them in carrying out their role properly and effectively. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 271



Page 244 

Chapter 25 - Members’ ICT Code of Practice 
 
This Code of Practice sets out the standards and expectations of Elected Members 
when using the Council’s ICT equipment and resources. 
 
Introduction 
 
The use of Information and Communications Technology (ICT) is now integral to supporting the 
role of an elected Member of a local authority. The Council provides all Councillors with electronic 
facilities, which includes computer hardware and software, access to the internet and e-mail. It 
is therefore essential that there is clarity not only about what equipment is available and how 
technical support is provided but also how technical innovation is dealt with and the manner in 
which the equipment, which is provided out of public funds, is used. This usage policy outlines 
proper use of the facilities and the Members’ responsibilities in using it. It should be read in 
conjunction with the Members’ Code of Conduct and the Protocol for Member and Officer 
Relations which complement this policy and contain relevant guidance and requirements. 
 
The purpose of this policy is to; - 

 protect the security and integrity of the Council’s computer facilities; 
□ clarify the issues and give guidance about the use of the Council’s equipment, including 

computer and telephone facilities; and 
□ in doing so, protect Members who use the Council’s computer facilities. 

 
All Members of the Council have signed a written undertaking to observe the Council’s Members’ 
Code of Conduct (the Code). A Member must comply with the Code whenever he/she is acting in 
an official capacity. 
 
There is a particular provision within the Code which provides that a Member must, when using or 
authorising the use by others of the resources of the authority, ensure that such resources are 
not used improperly for party political purposes (particularly during the period between the 
publication of a Notice of Election and an election day itself) and they must have regard to any 
applicable Local Authority Code of Publicity made under the Local Government Act 1986.  
 
This policy applies to all Members of the Council and applies to the use of any council 
communication equipment or facilities, including computer or telephone. 
 
Council equipment and facilities – This includes any items of Council communications hardware, 
such as computer equipment or telephones, or software such as e-mail and internet use. 
 

CIT – Corporate Information Technology 
ICT – Information and Communication Technology 

 
Use of Council resources 
 
General principles for the use of Council resources are that: 
 

□ public resources (i.e. equipment, facilities, staff time etc) may only be used in 
accordance with the Code;  

Page 272



Page 245 

□ You must be able to defend the use of Council resources – if you feel you cannot, 
you are probably misusing them; 

□ There is a general de minimis exception – by which is meant usage which would 
otherwise be contrary to this document, but is so small in extent, and 
inconsequential in its effect, that a reasonable person, knowing all the facts, would 
take the view that it should not be thought of as included in what is being controlled, 
prohibited or otherwise included with this guidance; 

□ if in doubt, refer to the Code; 
□ always apply common sense – it is a good barometer of what is likely to be 

acceptable, and what is not; 
□ always seek advice before doing something you feel may be on the margins. 

 
ICT Policy 
 

1)     Computer and telephone facilities are an essential and integral part of everyday working 
life and the Council’s computer facilities are widely accessible and will increase in the 
future. 

 
2) This policy is applicable to internal and external transactions using the Council’s computer 

facilities or accessing the council’s systems using other equipment either in the workplace 
or in any other location. 

 
3) Members must ensure that they have the skills necessary to use Council computer 

systems before doing so and advice can be obtained from the Head of Democratic 
Services on the availability of suitable training. 

 
4) High standards of conduct and probity are as relevant to the use of the Council computer 

facilities as they are to all other aspects of work and Members must conduct themselves 
in line with all appropriate Codes. For example, the relevant provision of the Members 
Code is set out above. Unlawful or improper computer usage may expose the Council 
and/or the individual Member to significant legal liabilities and negative publicity and a 
complaint to the Standards Committee. Breach of this policy may result in referral to the 
relevant Party Whip with a recommendation for withdrawal of access to certain computer 
facilities and may lead to action in line with the Code. 

 
5) This document details the parameters of acceptable use and deals with the following 

issues: - 
a. Access to the Council’s computer systems 
b. Authority to express views 
c. Monitoring computer and telephone usage 
d. Confidentiality, security and accuracy of data 
e. Guidance on copyright, legal and contractual issues  
f. Network efficiency 
g. Personal use of the Council’s computer facilities 
h. Inappropriate use, prohibited sites and offensive material 
i. Other use 

 
 
 
 

Page 273



Page 246 

Access to the Council’s Computer Systems 
 

(a) The Council will provide access to and use of various computer facilities as may be 
determined from time to time. Although the Council wishes to encourage Members 
to gain and improve their skills, personal understanding, knowledge and 
development is a secondary consideration. 

(b) Where a Member is not available, (e.g. due to sickness absence or leave) and access 
to data is required, the relevant party whip will be advised. 

(c) In cases where there is a need to investigate any potential breaches of this policy 
appropriate advice must be sought from the Head of Democratic Services, the 
Head of ICT and the Head of Legal Services.  

 
Authority to Express Views 
 
Members using Council computer facilities including e-mail and the internet must act in 
accordance with the Code and ensure that these facilities are used in connection with council 
business. They must not be used for any purpose other than those directly concerned with official 
Council business, or the work of elected Members. ‘Official Council business’ means matters 
relating to a Member’s duties as an elected councillor; as a member of the executive, a 
committee, board, sub-committee or panel; or as a Council representative on another body or 
organisation. The e-mail facility provided should be used by Members to engage in 
correspondence relevant to their role with other Members, officers, other public bodies, their 
constituents, the public in general and to encourage citizens to contact them when appropriate. 
 
Monitoring Computer and Telephone Usage 
 

(a) Use of the Council’s computer and telephone facilities is regularly monitored to 
ensure that the standards within this policy are adhered to, probity maintained and 
potential breaches of codes identified.   

 (b) Software systems are in place that monitor and / or record all usage, including every 
web site visited, chat, newsgroup, e-mails, and file transfers into and out of internal 
networks. Usage patterns will be monitored to ensure that council resources are 
being properly utilised. 

(c) The Council reserves the right to inspect any files stored in all areas of its network 
and equipment to assure compliance with this policy. This includes the local hard or 
removable (such as CDs or USB sticks) drives of any machine used by Members. All 
computer transactions and data within the Council’s computer systems or obtained 
by accessing the Council’s systems using other equipment either in the workplace, 
at their home or in any other location in working time or in their own time belong to 
the Council. The Council has the absolute right to monitor, inspect or use all 
transactions and data in any appropriate proceedings at any time, without notice. 
Personal data is not exempt. 

(d) The provisions of the Human Rights Act 1998 will be observed by the Council when 
monitoring computer and telephone usage. 

(e) If there are any concerns as to whether the contents of these paragraphs are not 
being complied with, they will be referred to the Head of Democratic Services in the 
first instance. 

 
 
 

Page 274



Page 247 

Confidentiality, Security and Accuracy of Data 
 

(a) The Council is legally responsible for all information stored in its computer systems 
or transmitted by it and for any improper, inadvertent or negligent disclosure. This 
principle applies even if Members store information in the computer systems which 
is not related to their role as Council Members. Security of data is of primary concern 
and security measures are in place to ensure the confidentiality of data held by the 
Council, including data on clients, members, staff, property and also that which could 
be commercially sensitive.  

(b) Members must co-operate with all security measures and arrangements, and can be 
held accountable for any breaches of security or confidentiality. 

(c) User IDs and passwords maintain individual accountability for computer access and 
must be kept secure, confidential and not inappropriately disclosed. Document 
passwords and read only restrictions should also be used where appropriate.  

(d) Members must not disclose passwords or give access to unauthorised users, and are 
responsible for changing their passwords if they suspect that an unauthorised 
person may be aware of their password. 

(e) All external e-mails sent will automatically include a confidentiality and disclaimer 
notice. 

(f) Members must take care to address e-mails and files correctly to avoid sensitive 
information being sent or widely distributed to inappropriate individuals or 
organisations. 

(g) Much of the data held by the Council on individuals is covered by Data Protection 
legislation. Disclosure of this information, even unintentionally, can be in breach of 
the Data Protection Code of Practice. Members should ensure the accuracy of data 
that they are responsible for storing, updating or transmitting, and must not amend 
or alter e-mails they receive. Files containing sensitive or confidential Council data 
that are transferred across the Internet must be encrypted. 

(h) Members are advised that auto-forwarding of emails to personal address is 
discouraged, however should a Councillor still wish to do so they must ensure they 
are registered as a data controller with the Information Commissioner's Office. It 
should be further noted that the individual Member is responsible for the security of 
that data and the data destruction protocols. 

(i) Members may use their own equipment to access emails and other data, however, 
this is only permitted if the device has the Council's security facility installed. 

(j) Systems to protect the safety and security of the Council’s networks and additional 
devices have been and will continue to be installed. Members must not attempt to 
disable, defeat or circumvent any Council security facility. 

(k) Modems can provide an intruder with access to the Council’s network. Therefore any 
computer used for independent dial-up or leased-line connections must not be part 
of the Council’s network, unless explicitly authorised by the Head of ICT. Connections 
to the Internet using modems from network connected computers are specifically 
prohibited. To ensure security it may be necessary to prevent machines with 
sensitive data or applications from connecting to the Internet, or for certain users to 
be prevented from using certain facilities such as file transfers. 

(l) To prevent unauthorised use Members should not leave computers unattended for 
long periods when switched on and should use document passwords and screen 
savers for confidentiality if they leave their machine unattended for short periods. 
Internet connections will be automatically disconnected after a period of inactivity. 

Page 275



Page 248 

(m) It is inappropriate to reveal confidential Council information, customer data, trade 
secrets, and any other material covered by existing Council security policies and 
procedures into public forums such as chats and newsgroups. Members releasing 
protected information, whether or not the release is inadvertent, may be in breach 
of existing data security policies and procedures and the Data Protection Act 2018.  

 
Copyright, Legal and Contractual Issues 
 

(a) Members must conduct themselves honestly and appropriately when using the 
Council’s computer facilities in line with other business dealings, copyright, software 
licensing rules, property rights, privacy and prerogatives of others. 

(b) Downloading and copying data and software for Members’ own or work use or 
sending the works of others to third parties without permission can infringe 
copyright. 

(c) Although downloaded data from the Internet may be allowed for individual use 
copyright may be breached if e-mailed or if the data is incorporated into a Council 
document. The copyright position should always be checked and the appropriate 
permissions or acknowledgements sought. In the case of subscription services 
Members should ensure that the appropriate licences are obtained. 

(d) Downloaded software must be used only under the terms of its licence, and should 
be added to the appropriate inventory records. Software or files downloaded via the 
Internet into the Council network become the property of the Council. Members must 
arrange to have such software properly licensed and registered where required. To 
ensure personal protection from any problems software should only be downloaded 
after permission has been received from the Council’s Head of ICT. Software 
downloaded without permission may be deleted automatically. 

(e) Members must safeguard council publications covered by copyright. The Council 
retains the copyright to any original material posted to any forum, newsgroup, chat 
or World Wide Web page by any Member in the course of their duties. To ensure 
personal protection from any problems Members must not upload any software 
licensed to the Council or data owned or licensed by the Council without explicit 
authorisation from the Council’s Head of ICT responsible for the software or data. 

(f) Transactions through these facilities must be treated in the same way as other 
transactions on the Council’s headed paper. 

(g) The use of computer facilities can lead to contractual obligations in the same way as 
oral or other written forms of transactions. There are limitations as to whether in 
some cases these transactions can constitute valid legal agreements. Members 
should therefore ensure that they do not exceed their powers to enter into contracts 
or authorise expenditure. If Members are uncertain of the position, they should 
contact the Head of Legal Services or Head of Democratic Services for advice. 

(h) Computer records should not be relied on where there is a legal requirement for other 
record keeping to take place. Adequate records of computer transactions on behalf 
of the Council need to take place either through archiving, or other electronic or non-
electronic back up methods. Where appropriate, confirmation of receipt of 
important e-mails should be gained which may be disclosed in litigation. If in doubt 
about the legal position, once again, advice from the Head of Legal Services must be 
sought. 

 
 

Page 276



Page 249 

Network Efficiency 
 
(a) Members must regularly delete or archive files no longer required or needed for 

immediate access. 
(b) Any file that is uploaded or downloaded must be scanned for viruses before it is run 

or accessed. In general this should be achieved through the use of memory resident 
or network virus checking software. Any files, including files received as e-mail 
attachments, should not be imported without first checking for viruses using 
approved software. If in doubt Members must consult the Council’s Head of ICT via 
the Helpdesk number (6556). 

(c) Unnecessary or unauthorised e-mail and Internet usage causes network and server 
congestion, slows other users, takes up work time, consumes supplies and ties up 
printers and other shared resources. 

(d) Where possible Members should schedule communications-intensive operations 
such as large file transfers, video downloads, mass e-mailing for off-peak times. 

(e) Video and audio streaming and downloading technologies represent significant data 
traffic that can cause local network congestion. Video and audio downloading should 
be avoided where possible. 

(f) See also e-mail guidelines. 
 
Personal Use 

 
(a) Whilst ICT equipment supplied by the Council is intended primarily to be used for 

council purposes, provided there is no cost to the Council or any liability for the 
Council arising from its use for secondary purposes, it is a matter for each individual 
Councillor as to whether or not they use it for other purposes. If Councillors do use 
ICT equipment for other purposes, they must satisfy themselves that this secondary 
use is acceptable and appropriate. 
 
Examples would be personal e-mail correspondence, researching hobbies, 
downloading audio files etc… and should be contained within ‘de minimis’ description 
referred to in the ‘Use of Council Resources’ Section of this Policy 
 

(b) The Council is not liable for any problems arising out of the purchase of goods or 
financial transactions by Members on a personal basis using the Council’s computer 
facilities. 

 
Inappropriate Use, Prohibited Sites and Offensive Material 

 
(a) Members must not use computer facilities to access or send transactions that are, 

libellous, harassing and defamatory or cause offence to an individual and their dignity 
or contain offensive comments based on, for example, gender, race, age, sexuality 
or disability or religious belief. 

(b) False statements, or information, which adversely affects a person’s, or an 
organisation’s, reputation must not be made.   

(c) Members will be liable for any statements that are not sanctioned by the Council and 
which may breach equalities or indeed other legislation. 

(d) Members must not access or participate in chat rooms, newsgroups, list servers, e-
mail subscription services or other new information sharing technologies unless they 

Page 277



Page 250 

have the documented express permission of the Head of ICT or nominated 
representative. In cases of any doubt advice must be sought from ICT. 

(e) Members must not deliberately access or deliberately carry out search procedures 
that result in access to inappropriate Internet sites or material. This may include 
pornographic, racist or other sites that are not appropriate for members of a public 
authority to use Council equipment or software to access. Members must not store, 
view, print or redistribute any inappropriate document or graphic file.  

(f) To ensure that Members are, as far as practicable, protected from inappropriate and 
offensive sites, software has been introduced to block access to such sites. 

(g) If a Member accidentally connects to a site that contains inappropriate or offensive 
material that has not been blocked, they must disconnect from that site immediately 
using the “Home” button on the web browser. Members must then immediately cease 
to use the search that produced the material. 

(h) No Member may use council facilities knowingly to download or distribute pirated 
software or data, entertainment software or games, or to play games against 
opponents over the Internet. 

(i) No Member may use the Council’s computer facilities to deliberately propagate any 
virus, worm, Trojan horse, trap-door program code or any other harmful programs. 

(j) Members must not amend transactions received. 
(k) Members using the council computer facilities must identify themselves honestly, 

accurately and completely and must not impersonate any other person particularly 
when in chat rooms or newsgroups, or when setting up accounts on outside 
computer systems. 

 
Other use 
 

(a) Most Councillors are elected on a party political platform and the organisation of local 
authorities into political groups is recognised in law.  

(b) It is legitimate to use the ICT equipment provided for activities which are pursuant to 
the conduct of the Council’s business including the organisation of group meetings, 
conducting correspondence including that with political parties which arises 
because of a Councillor‘s membership of and/or role within the Council or responding 
to requests for information. 

(c) Members are not permitted to use any resources, including ICT resources, provided 
by the authority for party political purposes (see paragraph 4 above), especially in the 
period between the publication of a Notice of Election and the election date, known 
as the ‘purdah’ period. Party Political uses would include: 
• advocating support for the candidacy of one candidate or political party as 

opposed to another during an election period, 
• soliciting support from electors 
• preparing a party newsletter for party members or for members of the public. 
• Preparing or maintaining databases of party supporters or mailing lists to be used 

for eliciting support for a party or candidate 
 
ICT Equipment provided to Members 

 
(ii) The Council will provide modern computer equipment options for Members to use. 

Similar equipment is also available for use in the Group Office computer rooms. 
 

(iii) All this equipment is fully supported by the ICT Service Desk between 8.00 am and 

Page 278



Page 251 

5.30 pm which can be contacted at ICT Service Desk on 01895 556556 or 
mailto:ICTServiceDesk@Hillingdon.Gov.UK 

 
The equipment provided is designed to last for the life of the Council (i.e. for four years) and be 
capable of handling technological changes such as new or enhanced software that may be 
introduced on Council systems. However, it is recognised that the speed of technological 
innovation means that new hardware and software may become available which might assist 
Members in connection with Council business. Any request for hardware or software additional 
to that provided generally to Members will be determined by the Head of Democratic Services 
(with technical input from the Head of ICT) after consultation with the Cabinet Member for 
Corporate Services, or Leader of the Council, in accordance with the following criteria: 
 

• will it assist in the conduct of the Council’s business? 
• is it consistent and compatible with the Council’s technical standards? 
• is it relevant to a particular role carried out by Members? 
• can the cost be managed within existing budget provision? 

 
Responsibilities 
 
The lead officer for Members’ ICT is the Head of Democratic Services with technical advice and 
guidance from the Head of ICT. The Leader of the Council has general oversight of the operation 
of these guidelines. 
 
E-Mail Guidelines for Members 
 
(a) E-mails enable clear communication, especially for remote sites, disparate workgroups, 

flexible working arrangements and interdepartmental / organisational partnerships.   
(b) E-mails should not be used as a deliberate means of avoiding personal contact where one 

face to face discussion can avoid an exchange of numerous e-mails. 
(c) Limit the number of copies to those that are necessary.   
(d) Do not unnecessarily broadcast information widely. Constant bombardment of individuals 

by irrelevant or unsolicited e-mail is time wasting. 
(e) E-mails should be checked regularly or where this is not possible arrangements should be 

made for them to be redirected to Democratic Services. 
(f) Reply promptly to all e-mail messages requiring a reply.  Where a prompt, detailed, 

response is not possible, send a short e-mail acknowledging receipt and giving an 
estimate of when you will provide a detailed response. 

(g) Do not unnecessarily print out and store hard copies of e-mails. 
(h) Do not either write in capitals as this can be perceived as shouting, or adopt a more 

aggressive tone in e-mails than you would in a face to face discussion and abide by the 
corporate standards for written communication.   

(i) E-mail and the Internet provide an immense and unprecedented way to communicate 
council messages. If authorised to use them, it is important to maintain clarity, 
consistency and integrity of the Council’s corporate image and policy. 

(j) Do not attach long files or include graphics and logos if this is not necessary. 
(k) Members must regularly delete or archive files no longer required or needed for immediate 

access.   
(l) Summary checklist 

• Is e-mail the best way to communicate this message? 
• Think before you write. 

Page 279

mailto:ICTServiceDesk@Hillingdon.Gov.UK


Page 252 

• Use the spell check facility 
• Think before you print. 
• Only copy in people who you would be prepared to talk to about the subject. 
• Re-read before you send. 
• Delete or electronically file/archive e-mail as soon as it is dealt with. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 280



Page 253 

Chapter 26 - Members Allowance Scheme 
 
This is a Scheme for the allowances paid to elected Councillors and co-opted members 
of the London Borough of Hillingdon It is adopted annually in accordance with Local 
Authorities (Members Allowances) England Regulations 2003 No. 1021 (as amended).  
 
This is the Scheme agreed for 2022/23. 
 
 
Basic Allowance 
 
For 2022/23 an allowance of £12,014 will be payable to all Councillors and will be paid in equal monthly 
instalments. The basic allowance includes intra borough travel and subsistence costs.  
 
Special Responsibility Allowances 
 
Special responsibility allowances of the following amounts shall be paid in equal monthly instalments 
to Councillors holding the following responsibilities: 
 

  (£) 
1 Leader of the Council 58,700.29 
2 Deputy Leader of the Council 49,447.58 
3 Chief Whip of Largest Party 23,725.26 
4 Cabinet Member  41,351.55 
5 Chairman of Select Committee  23,725.26 
6 Chairman of Planning Committee 23,725.26 
7 Chairman of Licensing Committee  23,725.26 
8 Chairman of Standards Committee 3,343.46 

9 Standards Committee Independent Person £500 per 
meeting 

10 Chairman of Audit Committee* 3,180.83 
11 Champion 6101.08 
12 Council representative on Adoption and Permanency Panel 13,373.87 
13 Cabinet Assistant 9,252.71 
14 Leader of 2nd Party 23,725.26 
15 Chief Whip of 2nd Party 6101.08 
16 2nd Party Lead on Select Committee  6101.08 

 
* Where a non-Councillor is Chairman or Vice Chairman a co-optees’ allowance is payable as set out in the 
Scheme under section 9. 

 

Page 281



Page 254 

Limit on Payment of Special Responsibility Allowances 
 
Individual Councillors may not claim a special responsibility allowance for more than one position 
for which they qualify. 
 
Renunciation 
 
Councillors may elect to forego any of their entitlement to an allowance under the scheme by 
giving written notice to the Corporate Director of Finance. 
 
Part-Year Entitlements 
 
(a) This paragraph regulates Councillors’ entitlement to allowances where the scheme is 

amended during the year or where an individual ceases to be a Councillor or accepts or 
relinquishes a position of special responsibility. 

 
(b) If an amendment to this scheme is made during the year to which it refers and changes the 

amount which a Councillor may claim in basic allowances the annual entitlement shall be 
calculated using the following method: - 

 
Annual 
entitlement to 
basic 
allowance  

= 
Days at 
unamended rate 
divided by 365 

X 

Annual 
payment at 
unamended 
rate 

+ 
Days at amended 
rate divided by 
365 

x Annual payment at 
amended rate 

 
(c) Where the term of office of a Councillor begins or ends part way through the year the annual 

entitlement to basic allowance shall be calculated using the following method: 
 

Annual entitlement to basic 
allowance = Days as a Councillor divided by 365 X Annual rate of allowance 

 
(d) Where this scheme is amended during the year to which it refers the annual entitlement to 

basic allowance of Councillors beginning or ending their term of office part way through the 
year shall be calculated using the following method: 

 
Annual 
entitlement to 
basic 
allowance  

= 

Days as a 
Councillor during 
unamended 
scheme divided 
by 365 

X 

Annual 
payment at 
unamended 
rate 

+ 

Days as a 
Councillor during 
amended scheme 
divided by 365 

x Annual payment 
at amended rate 

 
(e) Where Councillors hold positions of special responsibility during part of the year their 

annual entitlement to special responsibility allowance shall be calculated using the 
following method: 

 
Annual 
entitlement for 
special 
responsibility 
allowance 

= 

Days holding 
position of special 
responsibility 
during unamended 
scheme divided by 
365 

X 

Annual 
payment at 
unamended 
rate 

+ 

Days holding position 
of special 
responsibility during 
amended scheme 
divided by 365 

X 

Annual 
payment at 
amended 
rate 

 

Page 282



Page 255 

Out of Borough Travelling and Subsistence Allowances 
 
Councillors shall be entitled to claim for out of borough travelling allowances incurred in 
undertaking approved duties as agreed in advance by the Council. 
 
The out of borough car mileage allowance for Councillors shall be paid at the same rate as those 
paid to officers for the Standard Mileage User Allowance. 
 
The amounts paid for out of borough subsistence shall be in accordance with the maximum levels 
laid down from time to time by the Ministry for Housing, Communities and Local Government, but 
claims may only be made for approved duties. 
 
Dependent / Carers Allowance 
 
A dependent / carers allowance shall be payable at the National Minimum Wage for Adults hourly 
rate based on the following criteria: 
 
• payments should be subject to a maximum weekly payment, equivalent to seven-and-a-half 

hours of care per week; 
• the maximum rate should be set locally to reflect local costs, in accordance with social service 

departments levels; 
• payment should be claimable in respect of children aged 15 or under or in respect of other 

dependants where there is medical or social work evidence that care is required; 
• only one weekly payment should be claimable in respect of the household of each Member, 

except in special circumstances to be judged by the Council’s Standards Committee; 
• the allowance should be paid as a reimbursement of incurred expenditure against receipts; 
• the allowance should not be payable to a member of the claimant’s own household and; 
• any dispute as to entitlement and any allegation of abuse should be referred to the Council’s 

Standards Committee for adjudication. 
 
Co-optees’ Allowances 
 
Where a co-optee and non-Councillor is the Chairman of the Audit Committee, an annual 
entitlement allowance of £3,180.83 may be paid. This will be paid on a pro-rata basis if the 
appointment of the co-optee begins or ends otherwise than at the beginning or end of a year. 
Where a co-optee is an Independent Person on the Standards Committee an entitlement 
allowance of £500 may be paid per meeting. Where a co-optee is one of the three statutory 
education co-optees on the Executive Scrutiny Committee, an annual entitlement allowance of 
£445.80 may be paid. This will be paid on a pro-rata basis if the appointment of the co-optee 
begins or ends otherwise than at the beginning or end of a year. These allowances will cover 
expenses, such as travel and subsistence, related to the duties of the postholder. 
 
Claims and Payments 
 
(a) All claims for out of borough travelling and subsistence and carers allowances must be 

submitted within two months of the date of the approved duty to which they relate, made on 
the standard form as used by officers and returned to the Head of Democratic Services. 

(b) Payments shall be made in respect of basic and special responsibility allowances subject to 
sub-paragraph (c) below in Instalments of one twelfth of the amount specified in this 

Page 283



Page 256 

scheme on or before the 15th of the month direct to each Member’s bank or building society 
account. 

(c) Where the payment of allowances in one-twelfth instalments would result in a Councillor 
receiving more than he or she is entitled to because of a part year effect (as defined in 
paragraph 9 above) the payment shall be restricted to the annual entitlement. 

 
Withholding Members’ Allowances 
 
Where there has been an adjudication, which suspends or partially suspends a Councillor from 
office following a breach of the Code of Conduct, the Council may withhold all allowances paid to 
that Councillor with immediate effect. 
 
Records of Allowances and Publicity 
 
In accordance with the 2003 regulations a detailed record will be kept of the name of the recipient 
and the amount and nature of each payment made. This will be available for public inspection at 
all reasonable times or copies supplied following the payment of a reasonable fee. 
 
As soon as is reasonably practicable after the end of the municipal year to which the scheme 
relates the total sum paid to each recipient in respect of basic allowances, special responsibility 
allowance, dependant carers allowance and out of borough travelling and subsistence allowance 
will be published on the Council’s website and local newspaper. 
 
Independent Remuneration Panel 
 
Hillingdon Council has had regard to the recommendations made by the Independent Panel for 
the Remuneration of Councillors in London in developing its Members’ Allowances Scheme. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 284



Page 257 

Glossary 
 
As the Council's Constitution has evolved over time, often based on detailed legislation 
and regulations, the wording in places can be complex. To help, a useful glossary of 
some of the terms used in this Constitution is available here: 
 
 

Budget All the financial resources allocated to different services and projects 
within departments or Cabinet portfolios. 

Cabinet The Council’s top leadership team, comprising portfolio-holding 
Councillors, including the Leader of the Council, responsible for 
carrying out most of the local authority’s functions. 

Call-in A mechanism, which allows an overview & scrutiny committee or 
‘Select Committee’ in Hillingdon to examine, and challenge, an 
executive decision before it is implemented. 

Chapters Functional sections of this Constitution setting out the processes 
and rules that are followed governing the Council’s business. 
 

Chief Finance  
Officer 

The s151 officer, and the officer responsible for the administration of 
the financial affairs of the Council; also known as the Corporate 
Director of Finance. More details are in Part 2, Chapter 12. 
 

Chief Officers The most senior Council staff – see Part 2, Chapter 12. 

Confidential 
Information 

Information either given to the Council by the Government on terms 
which forbid its public disclosure or which cannot be publicly 
disclosed by Court Order. 

Constitution This document here. It is an important document setting out how the 
Council operates, how decisions are made and all the procedures that 
have to be followed. 

Co-optee/Co-opted 
Member 

A non-voting, non-Councillor appointed to serve on a 
Committee/Sub-Committee in an advisory capacity. 

Executive Term used to describe the collective role of the Leader, Cabinet & 
individual Cabinet Members. 

Exempt Information Information falling into one of a number of categories set out in 
Section 100 (A) and Part 1 of the Local Government Act 1972 (as 
amended) which usually cannot be publicly disclosed – see the Rules 
on access to information in Part 3, Chapter 17. 

Forward Plan A schedule of all the Key Decisions the Cabinet and Cabinet Members 
expect to take over the coming months and year. It also includes 
many non-key decisions for further transparency. 

 

Page 285



Page 258 

Head of Paid Service The most senior officer, with overall responsibility for the 
management and operation of the Council; also known as 
the Chief Executive. 
 

Joint Committee A body appointed under Section 101 of the Local Government Act 
1972, that enables the Council to jointly undertake functions with 
another body. These are set out in Part 2, Chapter 13. 
 

Key Decision A decision by the Cabinet or Cabinet Member, which is likely either to 
incur significant expenditure/make significant savings in excess of 
approved budgets or to have a significant impact on local 
communities. The criteria used to is set out in Part 2, Chapter 5. 

Monitoring Officer The officer charged with ensuring that everything that the Council 
does is fair and lawful, detailed further in Part 2, Chapter 12. 
 

Overview & Scrutiny Statutory bodies, which are called ‘Select Committees’ in Hillingdon 
that provide support and advice to the Cabinet by contributing to the 
review and development of policy; holding them to account by 
questioning, challenging and monitoring their performance. Details 
are set out in Part 2, Chapter 6. 
 

Policy Framework The plans and strategies, which have to be adopted by the full Council 
and in accordance with which the Cabinet have to operate. These are 
set out in Part 2, Chapter 4. 

Rules Detailed rules, which govern how the Council operates and how 
certain decisions are taken. These are set out in Part 3. 

Protocols Codes of Practice, which set out how, for example, various elements 
of the Council, are expected to interact with each other. These are 
set out in Part 3. 

Quorum The minimum number of Councillors who have to be present before a 
meeting can take place. 

Standards Committee A Committee, with independent members, responsible for promoting 
and maintaining high standards of conduct by Councillors and 
considers written allegations that a Councillor has failed to comply 
with their Code of Conduct. 

Corporate /  
Executive Director 

The most senior officers, after the Chief Executive, each of whom is 
responsible for Council Directorates or a number of service areas. 

Virement Moving funds from one area of expenditure to another, e.g. from 
project to project or service to service. 

 
 
If you would like any further information about the Constitution, please contact 
Democratic Services at democratic@hillingdon.gov.uk or by telephone: 01895 250636 
 

Page 286

mailto:democratic@hillingdon.gov.uk


Page 259 

Officer Scheme of Delegations 
– Annex 
 
 
 
To be updated and approved by full Council in due course – links with Part 2, Chapter 12. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 287



This page is intentionally left blank



COMMITTEE MEMBERSHIP 2022/2023

Annual Council – 12 May 2022

ORDINARY COMMITTEES

FINANCE AND CORPORATE SERVICES SELECT COMMITTEE: 7 (4-3)
CONSERVATIVE LABOUR
Riley (Proposed Chairman) Mathers (Lead) 
Lewis (Proposed Vice-Chairman) Garg
Banerjee Mand
Bhatt

HEALTH AND SOCIAL CARE SELECT COMMITTEE: 7 (4-3)
CONSERVATIVE LABOUR
Denys (Proposed Chairman) Nelson (Lead) 
Corthorne (Proposed Vice-Chairman) Basit
Chamdal (Reeta) Burles
Chapman

RESIDENTS’ SERVICES SELECT COMMITTEE: 7 (4-3)
CONSERVATIVE LABOUR
Bridges (Proposed Chairman) Farley (Lead) 
Sullivan (Proposed Vice-Chairman) Gardner
Gohil Punja
Smallwood

PROPERTY, HIGHWAYS AND TRANSPORT SELECT COMMITTEE: 7 (4-3)
CONSERVATIVE LABOUR
Burrows (Proposed Chairman) Money (Lead) 
Chapman (Proposed Vice-Chairman) Kaur
Ahmad-Wallana Garelick
Bennett

CHILDREN, FAMILIES AND EDUCATION SELECT COMMITTEE: 7 (4-3)
CONSERVATIVE LABOUR
Makwana (Proposed Chairman) Sweeting (Lead) 
Chamdal (Roy) (Proposed Vice-Chairman) Gill
Bhatt Judge Dhot
Smallwood

Other Voting Members (for education related items only):
Parent Governor (2-5) Vacant
Church of England Diocesan Representative Vacant
Roman Catholic Diocesan representative Anthony Little

SUBSTITUTES FOR SELECT COMMITTEES ARE ALL COUNCILLORS EXCEPT THOSE IN 
THE CABINET

Page 289

Agenda Item 10



COMMITTEE MEMBERSHIP 2022/2023

Annual Council – 12 May 2022

MAJOR APPLICATION PLANNING COMMITTEE: 7 (4-3)
CONSERVATIVE LABOUR
Tuckwell (Proposed Chairman) Dhot 
Higgins (Proposed Vice-Chairman) Garelick
Bennett Gill
Davies

BOROUGH PLANNING COMMITTEE: 7 (4-3)
CONSERVATIVE LABOUR
Higgins (Proposed Chairman) Sansarpuri 
Tuckwell (Proposed Vice-Chairman) Mand
Choubedar Singh
Gohil

(ALL PLANNING COMMITTEE MEMBERS AND ALL THAT HAVE RECEIVED APPROPRIATE 
PLANNING TRAINING TO BE SUBSTITUTES FOR BOTH COMMITTEES)

PENSIONS COMMITTEE: 5 (2-3)
CONSERVATIVE LABOUR
Banerjee Mathers (Proposed Chairman)
Goddard Burles (Proposed Vice-Chairman)
 Islam
Substitutes Substitutes
Ahmad-Wallana Abby
Higgins

APPOINTMENTS COMMITTEE: 5 (3-2)
CONSERVATIVE LABOUR
Edwards (Proposed Chairman) Curling
Bianco (Proposed Vice-Chairman) Mathers
O’Brien
Substitutes Substitutes
All remaining Cabinet members Farley

Money
Sweeting

Page 290



COMMITTEE MEMBERSHIP 2022/2023

Annual Council – 12 May 2022

REGISTRATION & APPEALS COMMITTEE: 5 (3-2)
CONSERVATIVE LABOUR
Burrows (Proposed Chairman) Money
Riley (Proposed Vice-Chairman) Sweeting
Corthorne
Substitutes Substitutes
All Cabinet members All Labour Members except Group Leader, 

Deputy Leader and Chief Whip

SUBSTITUTES ON THIS COMMITTEE MAY COMPRISE CABINET MEMBERS FOR THE 
PURPOSES OF BEING MEMBERS OR SUBSTITUTE MEMBERS OF THE THREE SUB-
COMMITTEES, BUT NO CABINET MEMBERS SHOULD SIT AS MEMBERS OF THE MAIN 
REGISTRATION AND APPEALS COMMITTEE

***********************************

OTHER COMMITTEES / PANELS
(OUTSIDE THE OVERALL CALCULATION BUT ALLOCATED ON THE BASIS OF OVERALL 
POLITICAL BALANCE

STANDARDS COMMITTEE: 5 (3-2)

Non-voting Independent Person:
To be appointed at next Council

AUDIT COMMITTEE: 5 (3-2)
Independent Member:
John Chesshire (Chairman)

CONSERVATIVE LABOUR
Lewis (Proposed Vice Chairman) Burles
Chamdal (Reeta) Abby
Denys
Substitutes Substitutes
Bhatt Mathers
Riley

NO MEMBER OF CABINET MAY SIT ON AUDIT COMMITTEE.

CONSERVATIVE LABOUR
Riley (Proposed Chairman) Gill
Bridges (Proposed Vice-Chairman) Nelson
Denys
Substitutes Substitutes
Tuckwell Mathers

Page 291



COMMITTEE MEMBERSHIP 2022/2023

Annual Council – 12 May 2022

LICENSING COMMITTEE: 10 (6-4)
CONSERVATIVE LABOUR
Chamdal (Roy) (Proposed Chairman) Farley
Davies (Proposed Vice-Chairman) Gardner
Ahmad-Wallana Lakhmana
Choubedar Nelson-West
Lewis
Sullivan
N.B. NO SUBSTITUTES ALLOWED FOR LICENSING COMMITTEE

LICENSING SUB-COMMITTEE (2-1)
The sub-committee to comprise three Members of the Licensing Committee (2 Conservative and 
1 Labour) selected on a rota basis from the membership of the Licensing Committee. Meetings of 
the Sub-Committee must be chaired by the Chairman of the Licensing Committee, when 
available.

APPOINTMENTS SUB-COMMITTEE: 3 (2-1)
CONSERVATIVE LABOUR
Bianco Curling 
Edwards
Substitutes Substitutes
All remaining Cabinet members Mathers

APPEALS SUB-COMMITTEE (SENIOR OFFICER): 3 (2-1)
CONSERVATIVE LABOUR

Membership to be appointed by Group Leaders as required.

GRIEVANCE SUB-COMMITTEE (SENIOR OFFICER): 3 (2-1)
CONSERVATIVE LABOUR

Membership to be appointed by Group Leaders as required.

Page 292



COMMITTEE MEMBERSHIP 2022/2023

Annual Council – 12 May 2022

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD: Outside of the overall calculation and subject to the 
Local Authority (Public Health, Health and Wellbeing Boards and Health Scrutiny) Regulations 
2013.

(as amended at full Council July 2021):

The membership of the Board shall comprise:

1) Cabinet Member for Health and Social Care - Co-Chairman
2) Cabinet Member for Children, Families & Education
3) LBH Chief Executive
4) LBH Corporate Director, Social Care and Health
5) LBH Director, Public Health
6) Hillingdon Health and Care Partners Managing Director - Co-Chairman
7) NWL CCG - Hillingdon Board representative
8) NWL CCG - nominated lead
9) Central and Northwest London NHS Foundation Trust - nominated lead
10) The Hillingdon Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust Chief Executive
11) Healthwatch Hillingdon - nominated lead
12) Royal Brompton and Harefield NHS Foundation Trust - nominated lead
13) Hillingdon GP Confederation - nominated lead

Co-Chairmen

The Board shall be co-chaired by the Cabinet Member for Health and Social Care and the 
Managing Director of Hillingdon Health and Care Partners. The Vice Chairman of the Board 
shall be the Cabinet Member for Children, Families & Education. Only one Co-Chairman may 
chair a meeting, and this will be determined at the start of each meeting. Should both Co-
Chairmen be unavailable to chair, the meeting will be chaired by the Vice Chairman.

Page 293



This page is intentionally left blank



Democratic Services

www.hillingdon.gov.uk

Select Committee
Annual Report

2021 - 2022

Page 295

Agenda Item 11



Page 296



 
 

 
Select Committee Annual Report 2021/22   
 
 

Introduction 
 
This has been another robust year for overview and scrutiny in Hillingdon. In May 2021, the Council 
established all new select committee arrangements to undertake this statutory responsibility, which 
more closely mirrored Cabinet Member portfolio and also service areas within the Council: 
 

 
 
In summary, the purpose of these committees is to: 
 

• Assist in the development of Council policy;  
• Question and evaluate the actions of the Cabinet before and after decisions are taken; 
• Have the power to make reports and recommendations on such matters; 
• Scrutinise, externally, local health services and crime and disorder reduction. 

 
In the midst of the recovery phase of the COVID-19 global pandemic, Councillors on the select 
committees returned to physical meetings but contact with witnesses still continued with a hybrid 
approach - both in person and virtually, delivering a more accessible and modern approach to scrutiny. 
 
Councillors have continued to perform their role monitoring and reviewing both council and external 
services in the best interests of Hillingdon residents. The committees have conducted 4 major policy 
reviews this year have which have raised important recommendations to move services and the 
Borough forward. This year there has been excellent witness and service user participation 
throughout. 
 
This annual report provides an opportunity to note the breadth of activity and achievements of 
overview and scrutiny in Hillingdon during the 2021/22 Municipal Year. Such focus will, no doubt, 
continue as the committees start work following the local elections. On behalf of the Committee 
Chairmen, this annual report is commended to Council on 12 May 2022. 

Page 297



 
 

 
Select Committee Annual Report 2021/22   
 
 

How select committees work 
 
Select committees are responsible for monitoring council services and recommending changes to 
Cabinet on a range of areas to shape future policy direction, along with the statutory call-in 
power. Another key arm of these arrangements is the External Services Select Committee. This 
Committee is responsible for holding to account and reviewing those services provided by other public 
agencies, primarily the local NHS and Police services. 
 
All committees undertake their role through a multi-year work programme of activities which may 
include single meeting or in-depth policy reviews on specific topics of community and resident 
importance. These reviews provide the opportunity to directly engage with resident stakeholders, 
local interest groups and experts to help shape local public services in Hillingdon. 
 
Committees are able to request information reports on particular matters of resident interest, which 
are ably reviewed through the valuable insight of local councillors. Committees also provide comments 
on reports to Cabinet for decision and input into Cabinet’s annual budget proposals before they are 
approved by Council each year. These committees, therefore, play a vital role in ensuring that the 
Council continues to provide high quality, value-for-money services, putting Hillingdon residents first. 
 
The Council’s corporate parenting responsibilities are also an integral part within Hillingdon’s overview 
and scrutiny arrangements. The Corporate Parenting Panel actively engages young people in the 
development of council services, ultimately with a direct line to the decision-making Cabinet. 
 
All select committee meetings are broadcast live on the Council’s YouTube channel to increase 
democratic awareness of overview and scrutiny. Along with live broadcasting, Democratic Services 
also provides the professional support and advice to councillors on the select committees. 
 
 
 

Constitutional compliance 
 
Budget and Policy Framework 
 
Select committees are required to be consulted on any budget and policy framework document 
prepared by the Cabinet for consultation. During 2021/22, the Environment, Housing & Regeneration 
Select Committee considered the Housing Strategy twice, helping shape the final document adopted 
by full Council. Select committees also were part of the statutory consultation on the Cabinet’s budget 
proposals for 2022/23 and provided comments on it. 
 
Councillor Calls for Action 
 
Under the Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007, select committees can 
consider 'Councillor Calls for Action' submissions. These powers enable any councillor to ask for a 
discussion at the relevant committee on a local issue where all other methods of resolution have been 
exhausted.  Democratic Services can confirm that no such Calls for Actions have been requested and 
thereby considered during 2021/22. 
 
 
 

Page 298



 
 

 
Select Committee Annual Report 2021/22   
 
 

Protocol on Scrutiny & Cabinet relations during 2021/22 
 
Following the publication of Statutory Scrutiny Guidance in 2019, Councillors reviewed the overview 
and scrutiny arrangements and adopted a new Protocol on Scrutiny & Cabinet relations, setting out 
how these two key arms of the Council’s governance arrangements work well together. The Statutory 
Scrutiny Officer can report there has been general compliance with this protocol during the 2021/22 
Municipal Year. 
 
Scrutiny call-ins during 2021/22 
 
Select committees (other than the External Services Select Committee) have a statutory duty to 
scrutinise  executive decisions that have been taken but have not yet been implemented. This acts as 
the statutory ‘checks & balances’ upon decisions taken by the Cabinet and Cabinet Members. This 
action is widely known as the ‘call-in’ power, where during a period of 5 working days after an executive 
decision is taken, it may be called-in by the relevant select committee to be considered further, and 
ultimately referred back to the Cabinet or Cabinet Member to reconsider. 
 
During 2021/22, this process was undertaken using a new Scrutiny call-in App, accessible on computer 
and mobile devices. The App enables a councillor on the relevant select committee to request a call-in 
of a particular decision online, where an automated email is then sent to other committee members to 
agree, or not, to the call-in request.  
 
Should a majority of the committee agree with the request via the App, then this is deemed a valid call-
in, Democratic Services are automatically alerted, and the Cabinet or Cabinet Member decision is 
immediately put on hold. If this happens, then the matter is formally considered by the committee and 
referred to Cabinet, if required, to be reconsidered.  
 
During 2021/22, there were 3 call-in requests, but upon not reaching a majority there was no valid call-
in of any Cabinet or Cabinet Member decision. 
 
Urgent decisions 
 
Chairmen of the four-service based select committees have a constitutional prerogative of being able 
to decide whether to waive the pre-decision publication period and/or the post decision scrutiny call-
in period (as described in the section above). This is where a decision is deemed urgent by the Cabinet 
or Cabinet Member and any delay would prejudice the Council’s or the public’s interest or could lead to 
an [increased] risk of damage to people or property, in accordance with the Council’s Constitution.  
 
Such waivers are exceptional and carefully considered. When approved by the relevant chairman, this 
enables a decision to be implemented quicker and often with immediate effect, so the Council can be 
responsive in residents’ best interests. These are constitutionally known as ‘urgency’ or ‘special 
urgency’ decisions through the formal executive decision-making process depending on the necessity 
of the matter in question. 
 
During 2021/22, there were 8 such decisions where the relevant select committee chairman exercised 
this constitutional prerogative in the affirmative.  
 

 
Page 299



 
 

 
Select Committee Annual Report 2021/22   
 
 

Corporate, Finance & Property 
Select Committee 

 
 
Councillors on the committee: 

 
Richard Mills (Chairman) 
Vanessa Hurhangee (Vice-Chairman) 
Farhad Choubedar 
Raymond Graham 
Richard Lewis 
Tony Eginton (Opposition Lead) 
Lindsay Bliss 

 
Lead Officer: Liz Penny, Democratic Services 
 
 

 
 

Remit  
 
The Committee is responsible for the policy overview role for a broad array of Council services. These 
include strategic internal functions, such as finance, property, partnerships, human resources, 
democratic services, legal services, ICT and economic development. Further responsibilities also 
include community engagement, local commerce and job creation, equalities, energy use and carbon 
reduction. The Committee has undertaken one in-depth review this year and has also monitored a 
number of service areas as set out below. 
 
Review into Performance Monitoring and Reporting  

 
Noting the importance of effective monitoring of performance to ensure the delivery of good quality 
services to meet the needs of residents, the Committee elected to conduct a comprehensive review 
of Performance Monitoring and Reporting within Hillingdon Council. This review investigated the 
Council’s current arrangements in the use of data to manage operational delivery and drive service 
improvements and sought to: 
 

• compare and contrast arrangements in Hillingdon with peer authorities and other public 
organisations and to understand areas of good practice and further improvement and 
developments required;  

• Investigate short-medium term improvements in data reporting and presentation to decision-
makers, e.g., Corporate Management Team / Cabinet Members / Select Committees; and  

• provide Members with an insight into the future of data collection and reporting, along with 

Page 300



 
 

 
Select Committee Annual Report 2021/22   
 
 

associated technology and its practical application for decision-making. 
 
The Committee noted that, whilst Hillingdon was required to gather data for the purposes of statutory 
returns (including in Adult Social care, Children's Services and Housing) - the primary purpose of data 
collection was to ensure the Council was appropriately discharging its responsibilities and to aid future 
service development.  
 
Suggested areas identified for improvement included: 
  

• Use and sharing of data across the authority 
including Members 

• Use of up-to-date tools for managing data and 
performance 

• Utilisation of dashboard reporting 
• Presentation and data visualisation 
• Use of predictive analytics to help shape 

strategic change. 
 
During the Committee’s information gathering sessions, a wide range of views was sought, including 
those of Hillingdon Council senior officers and external experts. Based on the evidence received it was 
apparent that the service had generally been performing very well. Resultant recommendations 
therefore focused on how to make further improvements to ensure consistency in data reporting to 
key decision-makers - CMT, Cabinet Members and Select Committees - whilst noting the importance 
of presenting data in a user-friendly manner. The Committee also agreed that an important next step 
would be to consider bringing in new tools and ways of working.  
  
It was anticipated that the implementation of the recommendations set out in the report would ensure 
the provision of user-friendly, timely, reliable and cost-effective performance monitoring and 
reporting systems across the Council, which would in turn assist in measuring Council performance, 
driving strategic decisions and meeting the needs of local residents.   
 
This review was presented to, and approved by, Cabinet in February 2022. 
 
 

Monitoring activity 
 
Annual Complaints Update 
  
The Committee received a comprehensive report on Resident Complaints and Enquiries within its 
remit, noting the trends and providing appropriate feedback to officers. The Committee was informed 
that these numbers suggest the complaints procedure continues to work well. 
  
 
 
 
 

Page 301



 
 

 
Select Committee Annual Report 2021/22   
 
 

Engagement with the Armed Forces 
 
The Committee was presented with an update on the Council’s Engagement with the Armed Forces.  
  
Members heard that Hillingdon had the largest 
number of serving Armed Forces personnel of all 
the London Boroughs and there were an 
estimated 8000 veterans living in Hillingdon, 
along with 855 war pensioners. The London 
Borough of Hillingdon had signed the Armed 
Forces Community Covenant in June 2012 and 
Cllr Sir Ray Puddifoot MBE had become the new 
Armed Forces Champion on 14 January 2021. 
Armed Forces Day was celebrated annually in the 
Borough.  
 
Members were informed that, given the disadvantage often faced by Service personnel in accessing 
public services, Hillingdon Council provided additional priority in its Social Housing Allocation Policy. 
The Council had invested £6m in the Education and Visitor Centre at the historic Battle of Britain 
Bunker on the former RAF Uxbridge site. Moreover, local Normandy Veterans were supported in 
making several trips to the Normandy beaches and had been awarded the Civic Medal of the Borough 
in recognition of their wartime contributions. The Council also supported the work of the Polish Air 
Force Memorial Committee and had jointly funded the cleaning of the Grade 2 Polish War Memorial in 
conjunction with the Polish Embassy. 
  
It was confirmed that Remembrance Sunday events across the Borough and a Two Minute Silence 
Ceremony on the Civic Centre Forecourt were held annually. The Council had also compiled a detailed 
record of the background behind every named individual on WW1 war memorials in Hillingdon, 
publishing the results as a book ‘We will remember them' which was displayed in each of the Borough’s 
libraries. 
 
Budget Review and Cabinet’s Budget Proposals  
  
As a statutory consultee to the Cabinet’s 2022/23 budget proposals published in December, the 
Committee reviewed and supported the proposals within its remit. The Committee also agreed a co-
ordinated response on behalf of the other three Select Committees to Cabinet. During the year, the 
Committee also received an update on the 2021/22 budget.  
 
Disability Access in Public Buildings 
 
Members were advised that the Equality Act 2010 was further supported by the Equality Duty which 
required public bodies to consider the needs of all individuals. It encouraged public bodies to 
understand how different people would be affected by their activities and recognised that disabled 
people’s needs may be different from those of non-disabled people. Officers had liaised with the LBH 
Principal Access Officer who carried out accessibility assessments and reported that all Council sites 
visited were fundamentally accessible and raised no concerns in terms of satisfying the Equality Act 
2010. 
 

Page 302



 
 

 
Select Committee Annual Report 2021/22   
 
 

Data Protection  
 
Members received an update on how the Council ensured full compliance with the General Data 
Protection Regulation (“GDPR”) and the Data Protection Act 2018. It was confirmed that the Council did 
everything possible to ensure that there was a robust data protection regime in place across the whole 
spectrum of its services. To date, the Council’s data protection policies and practices had ensured that 
it was able to satisfactorily address any challenges which had arisen. It was confirmed that training 
was ongoing with all staff required to undertake an annual GDPR electronic training module.   
 
Members heard that the Hillingdon Information Assurance Group (HIAG) comprising senior 
representatives from all Council departments met on a quarterly basis to discuss any information 
governance issues. HIAG had authority to implement any changes that were necessary to ensure full 
compliance with the legislation. In addition, HIAG was responsible for sharing best practice across the 
Council and ensuring that lessons were learnt from data protection breaches and other problematic 
cases. 
 
Digital Connectivity Strategy   
 
The Committee received an update regarding the Council’s Digital Connectivity Strategy, approved by 
the Cabinet. The strategy sought to ensure the Council was ‘investor ready’ to capture the national 
progress of digital technologies and infrastructure locally to ensure that Hillingdon was a place with 
great digital connectivity for residents and local businesses to thrive. It was recognised that Digital 
Connectivity was increasingly becoming an important consideration in domestic and business location 
choices. Current data for the Borough was showing the level of Full Fibre at 5%, compared to the 
average of 13% in West London. Some residents were being impacted with slow and capped speeds 
due to old infrastructure, which had been highlighted by the pandemic. 
  
As more residents and local businesses operated from a home environment, good connectivity was 
vital for their daily tasks, but this was also placing huge burdens on the current infrastructure. By 
uplifting the current copper connections to Full Fibre, this would enable ultra-fast broadband so that 
residents could work, shop, learn and entertain without limitations. Members heard that Hillingdon’s 
proposed Digital Connectivity Strategy was the enabling vehicle by which the Council would seek to 
achieve these aims for the Borough working with partners and the private sector. 
 
Cyber Security  
 
A confidential update on Hillingdon Council’s 
Cyber Security was provided to the Committee 
detailing the security systems, controls, 
measures and policies in place to prevent 
unauthorised access and attacks to the Council’s 
IT networks and systems and to protect residents' 
data.   
 
These controls and policies had proved to 
government, via annual audits and submissions, 
that they were sufficiently rigorous to allow the 
Council to interact with the Public Services 
Network (PSN). 

Page 303



 
 

 
Select Committee Annual Report 2021/22   
 
 

Repairs and Maintenance 
 
The Committee received a report regarding the Council’s repairs and maintenance. It was confirmed 
that responsive repairs and maintenance of the Council’s residential housing were undertaken by the 
in-house Repairs Service supported by several specialist contractors and suppliers. 
  
Members heard that the Repairs Service had a Direct Labour Organisation (DLO) of 44 trades operative, 
plus works planners, supervisors and managers who dealt with 35,000 - 40,000 repair requests 
annually. Responsive repairs were supported by several approved term contractors who undertook 
larger and/or specialist repairs such as roofing, drainage, plumbing, fencing, building, plastering and 
ground works. 
  
The Committee was advised that the Repairs Service also managed the re-servicing and repair of all 
void housing properties, delivered via two term contractors. Moreover, it delivered repairs and 
maintenance to the Council’s corporate buildings stock and carried out minor disability adaptations 
and minor fabric remedial works associated with fire safety risk assessments. 
 
Website Performance and Improvement 
 
The Committee received a report which 
provided an overview of the Council’s website 
provision together with details of the ongoing 
development of the website platform and 
associated resident contact initiatives via the 
Council’s Business Improvement Delivery 
(BID) transformation programme. 
 
Councillors were informed that, as part of the 
Digital Transformation project, the ICT team, 
in collaboration with the Contact Centre, the 
Corporate Communications team and GOSS 
Interactive, are utilising web forms, the web platform, modules and technologies, to continue to 
modernise and standardise the look and feel of the Council’s website, transform its processes, reduce 
unnecessary complexity and improve the overall take-up and online experience for residents.  
 
Members heard that the Council’s website served two main purposes; it provided information to 
residents and enabled them to transact with the Council, for example by making a payment, ordering 
recycling bags or reporting an incident. The quality of information provided on the website was 
ensured through a content management process while transactions were completed using the My 
Hillingdon Account or through third-party applications and portals. The Committee was interested to 
learn that, since 16 June 2021, 39,057 users had registered a new My Hillingdon Account, equivalent to 
40% of the residential properties within the Borough. Since this date 46,533 incidents had been 
recorded through a My Hillingdon Account, 77% of which had been directly raised by residents online, 
significantly reducing the need for the contact centre to record incidents. In addition, My Hillingdon 
Account enabled assisted digital support for those residents who require telephone assistance to 
complete a request. 
  
There were currently 211 separate self-service ‘report it’ functions and over 300 online forms providing 
residents with 24/7 service. 

Page 304



 
 

 
Select Committee Annual Report 2021/22   
 
 

Ways in which the Council helps Local Small Businesses  
 
Members received an update on the work undertaken and the opportunities that existed going forward 
for Hillingdon Procurement Team to support local businesses. The Committee was advised that, whilst 
there were no direct legal requirements to support local business, a wider perspective of value needed 
to be considered in the procurement of goods, works and services. Historically, the Council had taken 
a more focussed view of value for money based on direct costs and market dynamics. The present 
Administration had shown a keen interest in expanding that perspective where it could be 
demonstrated to deliver some of the following benefits:  
  

• Support the recovery from Covid and stimulate prosperity in local areas through the direct or 
indirect investment in jobs, training, plant, community etc.  

• Relieve pressure on other Council services as employment grows and wealth increases in 
Borough. 

• Reduce commercial property voids contributing to a nicer area and promoting business rate 
growth.  

• Support net carbon zero ambitions by reducing travelling time from out of Borough providers 
and contractors commuting into Hillingdon. 

• Encourage successful businesses to tender for work outside of the Borough and further 
promote success of Hillingdon business. 

 
It was recognised that there would be risks and challenges involved in supporting local businesses and 
a pragmatic approach was key; however, Members heard that there had been a number of success 
stories to date. Over the coming months, there would be a continued operational, tactical and strategic 
drive to further develop the Council’s support for local businesses.  
 
Grants to Hillingdon’s Local Voluntary Organisations  
 
The Committee was informed that Hillingdon Council had been a proud supporter of the Borough’s 
voluntary sector for many years. The core grant programme ensured that Hillingdon had a vibrant and 
thriving voluntary sector providing support, guidance and services for local residents. The Council 
sought to maximise the benefits from investment in the Borough's voluntary sector to encourage 
activity that supported residents, reduced demand on Council services and provided value for money.   
  
Members heard that the ongoing commitment of significant financial support to the Borough's 
voluntary sector had served to sustain a wide range of voluntary sector activity.  The certainty of core 
funding provided a platform for many groups to expand activity, diversify to meet new demands, 
pursue new initiatives and bid for additional external funding.   
  
Energy Efficiencies in the Civic Centre 
 
An update on the initiatives the planned works, repairs and maintenance teams 
were exploring to reduce the carbon footprint of the Civic Centre and actions 
that supported the Council’s overall Climate Action Plan was received by the 
Committee. In terms of energy saving initiatives implemented to date, 
Members heard that LED lighting had been retrofitted to the first and second 
floors of the Civic Centre building. Moreover, LED lighting had been installed in 
the car park – all lamps in the Members, Basement and Mezzanine car parks 
were now LED – and 6 Electric Charging Points had been installed. Additional 

Page 305



 
 

 
Select Committee Annual Report 2021/22   
 
 

sustainability interventions were under consideration including the installation of cavity wall and roof 
insulation, photovoltaics across southeast and southwest roof areas, refurbishment / upgrading of 
ventilation systems, replacement of chillers and cooling tower with air sourced heat pumps or a full 
system replacement incorporating “air to air” and water source heat pumps with hot water stores, full 
system pipework and electrical system replacement. 
 
Corporate Communications 
 
The Committee heard that communications across a range of external channels played a key part in 
the effective delivery of services and priorities, and ensured that residents, businesses, the Council’s 
workforce, partners and other stakeholders (including the media) were well informed about the work 
the Council did and the services it provided. High quality and timely communications were imperative 
in building a positive reputation that the Council was putting residents first.  
  
The Council’s core external communications channels, were:  
  

• Hillingdon People – the Council’s Residents’ Magazine 
• Media relations 
• Publications  
• Social media 
• Other marketing/advertising materials   
• Website. 

 
In terms of social media, Members were interested to learn that, since 2018/19 the Council’s Facebook 
followers had increased by 88%, Twitter followers had gone up by 4.87% and those who followed the 
Council on Instagram by 227%.  
 
Past Review Update: Voluntary Sector Response to the Covid-19 pandemic  
  
The Committee received an update on the 
recommendations approved by Cabinet in June 2021. 
Members were informed that progress was being made in 
respect of all the recommendations. However, it was noted 
that, since completion of the review, the focus for action 
with Voluntary and Community Sectors (VCS) had shifted 
from emergency food provision and support towards 
encouraging greater take up of vaccines and working within 
communities to ensure health messages were clear and 
understood.  
  
Members heard that foodbanks continued to see demand but at lower levels than during the 
compulsory lockdown periods.  Former operating models had been reintroduced, such as referrals to 
foodbanks by partners for collection of emergency food, rather than delivery.  
  
The community hub had evolved to respond to new challenges in supporting residents most in need. 
The Council had announced its core grants programme 2022/23 in December 2021; this programme 
reflected the Committee’s recommendation 3, that VCS be supported to deliver services and to provide 
support and guidance for groups to increase resilience.   
 

Page 306



 
 

 
Select Committee Annual Report 2021/22   
 
 

Families, Health & Wellbeing 
Select Committee 

 
 
Councillors on the committee: 
 
Philip Corthorne (Chairman)  
Heena Makwana (Vice-Chairman) 
Judith Cooper 
Becky Haggar 
Paula Rodrigues 
Kerri Prince (Opposition Lead) 
Jan Sweeting 
 
Mr Tony Little (Education Co-opted Representative –  
Roman Catholic)  
 
Lead Officer: Anisha Teji, Democratic Services 
 
 

Remit 
 
The Families, Health and Wellbeing Select Committee is responsible for undertaking the overview and 
the scrutiny role in relation to Children’s Services (including Corporate Parenting), Adult Social Work, 
Safeguarding, Provider and Commissioned Care, SEND, Public Health, Health Integration/Voluntary 
Sector, Education, Children and Families Development and Green Spaces, Sport and Culture.  
 
In addition to monitoring performance of services over the year, considering the Budget and receiving 
several scrutiny reports, the Committee undertook an in-depth review into the Council offer of 
Assisted Living Technologies (ALT).  
 
 

 Corporate parenting – championing children 
 
Corporate Parenting is a significant responsibility for the Committee and also for all our Elected 
Members who are all ‘Corporate Parents’. Therefore, all Members have a duty to safeguard the best 
interests of our Looked After Children and Care Leavers.  
  
The Corporate Parenting Panel, established by the previous Social Care, Housing and Public Health 
Committee in March 2019, provides for greater integration of Corporate Parenting within the Council’s 
governance arrangements. The purpose of the Corporate Parenting Panel is to champion Corporate 
Parenting across the Council by directly engaging with our Looked After Children and Care Leavers, 

Page 307



 
 

 
Select Committee Annual Report 2021/22   
 
 

and directly involving them in the democratic and decision-making process, working alongside them 
to monitor services and improve outcomes.  
  
The Panel has reviewed a wide range of topics over the last year, including annual reports from 
Independent Reviewing Officers; the LAC Health Team; the Virtual School; and the Fostering and 
Adoption Service. The Panel has heard presentations from young people in relation to needs, services 
and feedback from the Care Leavers Conference; the Kids in Care Awards (KICA); and a summary ‘Quiz 
of the Year’. These have been well received by the Panel as they have enabled direct engagement with 
young people, who have also co-chaired Panel meetings.  
 
The Committee Chairman and Vice Chairman have regularly attended the Corporate Parenting Panel 
keeping them up to date on the work of the Panel. The Vice Chairman often provided the Committee 
with detailed updates of what took place at the Panel’s meetings ahead of when the minutes were 
made available to the Committee.  
 
The Panel’s work programme has been tailored to include thematic topics, such as Safeguarding, and 
Health & Education. Moving out of the pandemic, the Corporate Parenting Panel has explored ways the 
COVID-19 pandemic has impacted the way services are now delivered to children and young people.  
 
The Corporate Parenting Panel consists of Councillor Nick Denys (Chairman), Heena Makwana and Kerri 
Prince. The Panel includes young people, service officers, fostering, nursing and virtual school 
representatives. 
 
During this municipal year, in addition to the work of the Corporate Parenting Panel,  the Committee 
also heard directly from officers when it received a refresher report on the Overview of Corporate 
Parenting Responsibilities. This proved to be a valuable and informative reminder to the Committee 
about the role of Councillors being Corporate Parents. The Committee have ensured that this focus 
continues after the local elections with the new Councillor intake and Member training plans. The 
Committee has also importantly covered lessons learned from abuse cases from other local 
authorities and how they are being applied to Hillingdon's approach to chid safeguarding.       
 
 

Review into adult and community education 
 
In 2020/21, the (now retired) Residents, 
Education and Environmental Services Policy 
Overview Committee (REESPOC) carried out a 
review into adult and community education 
within Hillingdon. The final report detailed the 
information received throughout the review 
and the Committee’s subsequent findings and 
recommendations. The report was passed to 
the Members of REESPOC for comment, and 
endorsed by the former Chairman, Councillor 
Wayne Bridges. 
 
Following the move to Select Committees in 
May 2021, the report was submitted to the 

Page 308



 
 

 
Select Committee Annual Report 2021/22   
 
 

Families, Health and Wellbeing Select Committee for endorsement to Cabinet. This report was 
endorsed by the Committee on 26 October 2022 and recommendations approved by the Cabinet. 
 
A key recommendation was to re-brand the service and be named ‘ACE’. 
 
 

Review into the Council’s Offer of Assisted Living Technologies  
 
In June 2021, the Committee commenced its review on 
examining the Council’s offer of Assisted Living 
Technologies (ALT), technology innovation and 
potential opportunities to create a more tailored and 
beneficial service experience for our residents 
enabling them to maintain independent lives. 
 
The Committee met with a wide range of stakeholders 
including different service providers, various 
technology providers and service users. Member 
discussions were informed by the observations made 
at the site visit to one of the Borough’s extra care 
settings. The Committee was able to gain a real 
understanding into the thoughts and experiences of 
people that most relied on ALT such as people with 
learning disabilities, people with dementia and children 
and young people though its virtual headset session 
(see pictures).  As part of the review, a survey was sent 
to a variety of residents within Hillingdon ranging to 
people already in receipt of services to parents and 
carers in receipt of direct payments.  
 
The survey was extremely insightful and, most importantly, identified areas that worked well, areas of 
development and how support could be provided to our residents and their families and carers.  
 
Arising from this review, the Committee made recommendations around strengthening collaborative 
working, developing training, improved communications and the development of a strategy.  With 
these recommendations, it was hoped that there will be more opportunities available to support 
residents to live more independently and at home for longer.  what opportunities may exist to create a 
more autism-friendly service experience for residents. 
 
The findings and recommendations arising from the review were considered by Cabinet in April 2022. 
 

Monitoring activity  
 
COVID-19 
 
During 2021/22 the Committee received important updates from the Council regarding coronavirus 
and the latest position and advice from Public Health England. The Committee was informed of the 
initiatives that had been brought in as a result of the Covid 19 pandemic.  

Page 309



 
 

 
Select Committee Annual Report 2021/22   
 
 

 
More recently the Committee received a verbal update from the Consultant in Public Health. The 
update set out how the Council was working with residents, businesses and partner organisations to 
prevent and control the spread of the Covid-19 virus now that the national restrictions had ended.  
 
Public Health Integrated Service Contracts  
 
 An update was provided to the Committee on the following commissioned Public Health contracts:  
 
•         Universal 0-19 Healthy Child Programme  
•         Integrated Sexual and Reproductive Health  
•         Integrated Community Substance Misuse (Drugs and Alcohol) 
•         Stop Smoking  
 
In respect of the four contracts, the Committee heard about current public health funding, what each 
service was commissioned to deliver, contract performance, improvements, future plans for 2022/23 
and post covid changes.  
 
Carers’ Strategy  
 
The Committee received an update on the implementation of the 2018-21 Carers Strategy and the 
detailed action plan. Members welcomed this opportunity to ask officers questions on the local 
services provided, including areas working well and also challenges. The Committee resolved that 
reporting on the delivery of the strategy should be annual and precede the annual progress report to 
Cabinet. The Committee reviewed the reports, questioned officers about performance and submitted 
useful comments to the Cabinet. 
 
Safeguarding and Mental Health Services  
 
Each year, the Committee receives the Hillingdon Local Safeguarding Children Board Annual Report 
and Safeguarding Adult Board Annual Report providing comments on them to the Cabinet. This year 
the Committee received an update on the Children’s Safeguarding and Partnership which detailed the 
work undertaken and evidence about the standard to which the agencies responsible for safeguarding 
children and adults had performed.  
 
Semi Independent Living  
 
The Committee received an overview of semi-independent living 
arrangements for young people aged 16 – 25 years commissioned 
by the London Borough of Hillingdon’s Children and Young 
People’s Social Care service. The Committee was able to question 
officers and was pleased to hear about the Young Inspectors 
programme and its proactive approach.  
 
Better Care Fund – Learning Disabilities/ Autism  
 
As part of its monitoring function, the Committee explored the 
delivery of the Better Care Fund scheme entitled Integrated Care 

Page 310



 
 

 
Select Committee Annual Report 2021/22   
 
 

and Support for People with Learning Disabilities and Autism. The Better Care Fund was a national 
initiative intended to deliver integration between health and social care to improve outcomes for 
residents.  This was a good opportunity for Members to question officers on how the roll out of scheme 
was going and any learning practices.  
 
Youth Services  
 
Members considered a report on Youth Services and heard about the wide range of services and events 
for young people in Hillingdon.  A programme of activities delivered is also targeted at young people to 
support their transition into adulthood, where they can discuss concerns, seek confidential, impartial 
advice and take part in fun activities, which for some young people will be a diversion.   
  
The youth services the Council provides and those operating independently of the council deliver a 
range of life-long benefits and outcomes for those young people taking part, including: 
  

• Keep young people healthy and active 
• Enable young people to develop and learn new skills 
• Support young people to play an active part in the community 
• Keep young people safe and well 

  
Over the last decade or so, the focus and interests of young people has evolved and their needs, social 
requirements and how they engage with the wider community has changed.  There are now the risks 
of knife crime, child exploitation, bullying and peer pressure that young people face. The Committee 
reviewed the reports, questioned officers about performance and welcomed an update on the matter 
later in 2022.  
 
Early Years Provision  
 
Members were presented with an update following the BID review and subsequent staffing restructure 
of the Child and Family Development Service, incorporating the Council’s directly managed Early Years 
provision and the Children’s Centre programme. The  Committee heard that the revised staffing 
restructure provided the required resources and leadership to modernise the Early Years and 
Children's Centre services, increase the capacity of the frontline teams and enabling the service to 
take a more commercial approach to Early Years provision. 
 
Th report also highlighted the work underway to evolve the children’s centres delivery offer in line with 
national agendas of The Best Start for Life and Family Hubs. Members asked questions and added this 
item to the work programme to hear an update on this area in the future.  
 
Promoting Health Lifestyles Sports and 
Physical Activity 
 
The Committee was provided with an overview of the 
Sport and Physical Activity Team programmes and 
activities in 2021 and the forthcoming Hillingdon Sport 
and Physical Activity Strategy was highlighted.  
 
The Sport and Physical Activity Team’s programme 
offers a wide range of places for participation,  such as 

Page 311



 
 

 
Select Committee Annual Report 2021/22   
 
 

community halls,  sport clubs,  young  people’s  centres,  libraries, open  spaces and parks.   It was 
believed that by providing opportunities for everyone to participate in sport and physical activity, the 
Council was encouraging healthy lifestyles which will in turn make Hillingdon an even more attractive 
place to live and work.  Work with residents, sports clubs and specialists, National Governing Bodies 
for Sport, local partners and services was underway to ensure that the Council was providing the 
opportunities to participate that reflected local needs.  
 
School Places 
 
The Committee receives quarterly updates on the provision of school places to pupils. This enables 
Members to also review headline pupil projections at both primary and secondary levels, aligned with 
the Council’s School Expansion Programme. Members noted that, in previous years, the Council had 
successfully offered every child a school place and understood that work was underway regarding 
places for September 2022. 
 
Educational attainment of our young people 
 
An annual report is presented each year to Members detailing trends in the academic standards of 
pupils within the Borough. The Committee commended the updated format and comprehensive nature 
of the report, and the work of the officer team during the course of this unprecedented and challenging 
period of the pandemic working to raise the standards and quality of education in Hillingdon.  
 
The Committee welcomed the establishment of a 
partnership model with schools and the opportunity 
it brings to drive improvements across the sector in 
Hillingdon.  
 
Improvements in attainment of looked after 
children, the reduction of schools at risk of 
underperformance, and the development of mental 
health support capacity in schools were welcomed. 
The Committee noted the approach to ongoing 
challenges in areas such as exclusions, attendance, 
NEETs and welcomes efforts to continue to raise 
standards. 
 
Schools Admissions Criteria 
 
The Committee heard that Hillingdon Council had a statutory responsibility to secure sufficient early 
years and school places for children resident in Hillingdon.  A review of admissions to reception school 
places at Hillingdon schools over the last four years evidence that there is a residual risk that our 
current admissions criteria may no longer serve the purpose of reducing the risk of applicants not 
receiving a school placement.  As a local education authority, the Council planned for sufficient school 
places and efficient use of resources.   
 
Following review and discussions with relevant community primary schools, the Council proposed 
consultation changes to the Published Admissions Numbers (PANs) for relevant schools to address the 
findings of the review to provide continuing access for residents to their local school and improve 
stability of pupil numbers and budgets. The Committee had an opportunity to put forward comments 

Page 312



 
 

 
Select Committee Annual Report 2021/22   
 
 

for Cabinet’s consideration. The consultations have now concluded, and PANs have been reduced by 
Cabinet.  
 
Special Educational Need and Disability (SEND) provision within Hillingdon 
 
The Committee heard about the Special Educational Need and Disability (SEND) provision within 
Hillingdon and the support available for children and young people with Special Educational Need (SEN) 
Support. This report was presented following the completed transformation of the SEND and Inclusion 
Service and response of the service in light of COVID-19.  
 
Despite the on-going financial pressures over the past few years, compounded by the challenges of 
COVID-19, the transformational work had continued to develop at pace, with more education settings 
now accessing pre-statutory pathways. The service is now starting to realise some of the benefits 
from the foundations being put in place to support early intervention with an increase in children and 
young people accessing pre-statutory support.  
 
Whilst an increase in early intervention is being evidenced, there are still systemic funding pressures 
in SEND which are being challenged locally and nationally. The Committee was keen to add this item 
back on the work programme to hear about progress in the future.  
 
Elective Home Education  
 
The Committee was provided with an overview of the Elective Home Education Policy and an update 
on the new policy implementation. Over the last two years there has been significant fluctuation in the 
numbers of parents choosing to electively home educate their children. These numbers are now 
starting to reduce to those seen pre-pandemic. 
 
Budget Review and Cabinet’s Budget Proposals  
  
As a statutory consultee to the Cabinet’s 2022/23 budget proposals, published in December 2020, the 
Committee reviewed the proposals within its remit and submitted comments to the Corporate, 
Finance and Property Select Committee. During the year, the Committee also received an update on 
the 2021/22 budget planning report. 
 
Annual Complaints Update 2020/21 
 
The Committee received a comprehensive report on Resident Complaints and Enquiries within its 
remit, noting the trends and providing appropriate feedback to officers.  
 
Ukraine Refugee Update  
 
The Committee received a verbal update on the Ukraine refugee situation in Hillingdon. It was reported 
that a resident could apply to be a sponsor though the national website, they would then have to 
undergo Home Office checks and, if they were approved, they would then need to undergo further local 
authority checks. The London Borough of Hillingdon carried out anti-fraud, housing, DBS and welfare 
checks on both the sponsor and arriving families. The Council had commissioned the charity Trinity to 
support arrivals to settle into the Borough and help make applications for housing, welfare and access 
to employment. Members welcomed the initiatives put in place to support new arrivals in these 

Page 313



 
 

 
Select Committee Annual Report 2021/22   
 
 

incredibly difficult times. Members were pleased to see the multi-agency approach that had been 
adopted to manage the refugee situation.  
 
Making the Council More Autism Friendly (1 year on) 
 
The Committee heard that the Social Care, Housing and Public Health Select Committee completed a 
report on “Making the Council more autism-friendly” in April 2021.  
 
The outcome of the report included 8 recommendations to Cabinet that were made by the Committee. 
The recommendations were around adopting a practical cooperate standard checklist, training for 
frontline staff, improving online accessibility, seeking Autism Accreditation, development of e 
learning training, reviewing processes in place and creating strong partnership relationships. 
Members heard about the progress of each of the recommendations and future plans were highlighted.  
 
It was noted that the National Autistic Society was not currently accepting applications for 
accreditation and the Autism Friendly Award had also been closed to applications. Services will 
continue to review the accessibility of the national accreditation and apply when it is available.  
 
The Committee was keen to hear about further progress in the future and thanked officers for their 
work thus far, particularly in light of the pandemic. Members were also pleased to hear about the 
Autism Partnership Board and how it was a valuable resource in allowing feedback and learning to be 
shared between different partners and agencies.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 314



 
 

 
Select Committee Annual Report 2021/22   
 
 

Environment, Housing & 
Regeneration Select Committee 

 
 
Councillors on the committee: 
 
Wayne Bridges (Chairman) 
Alan Chapman (Vice-Chairman) 
Allan Kauffman 
Alan Deville 
Nicola Brightman 
Scott Farley 
Janet Gardner 
 
Lead Officer: Neil Fraser, Democratic Services 
 
 
 
 

Our remit 
 
This Committee is responsible for the policy overview role for a diverse range of Council services 
central to residents’ quality of life. Our remit extends to climate change and air quality, highways, 
transport, footpaths, green spaces, planning, waste and recycling, sport and leisure, housing, and 
beyond. The Committee has undertaken a major review this year into improving engagement with 
Council tenants and leaseholders.  
 

Review into improving engagement with tenants & leaseholders 
 
In November 2020, the Government published its draft ‘Charter for Social Housing Residents’ White 
Paper, which set out the actions central Government will take to “ensure that residents in social 
housing are safe, are listened to, live in good quality homes, and have access to redress when things 
go wrong.” 
 
The Select Committee therefore approved, as its first review, the topic of how to improve feedback 
from residents of social housing, in order to support the work of the Council’s landlord function to help 
shape and update its approach to tenant and leaseholder engagement under the terms of this new 
Charter. Through all information gathering, the Committee was mindful of the need to find cost-
effective, workable solutions, and the recommendations subsequently endorsed by cabinet were 
selected as prudent, effective actions to grow engagement and fulfil the terms of the Charter. 
 
The Committee recommended that officers should develop a 3-year Engagement Strategy and 
Delivery Plan, in consultation with a selection of tenants, leaseholders, service managers and 
stakeholders. The strategy is to consider the common barriers to resident engagement, hard to reach 

Page 315



 
 

 
Select Committee Annual Report 2021/22   
 
 

groups, BMEs, single parents and young people, and is to be an evolving document with elements of 
further feedback, monitoring and review. It was recommended that this is to be delivered over three 
years, fulfilling regulatory requirements of social housing providers. 
  
It was recognised that the strategy should avoid a 
‘one size fits all’ approach but instead should tailor 
its strategy to resident needs, together with their 
willingness or availability to become involved. It is 
accepted that many of the residents willing to 
engage with the Council are retirees who have more 
free time, so the Strategy should therefore carefully 
consider how to engage with people with more 
limited time, tailoring engagement actions to fit with 
their own availability. 
 
Key interaction methods identified include various 
assemblies and group meetings, direct contact via ‘Meet the Manager’ sessions, increased digital 
engagement including enhancements to the Council’s website to ensure accessibility, and 
collaboration on the service’s annual report. It was noted that the COVID-19 pandemic has inevitably 
steered engagement with residents towards digital / on-line approaches and this should be considered 
when developing the strategy and delivery options.  
 
Alongside this new Strategy and Delivery Plan, the Committee recommended that officers engage with 
the Council’s Corporate Communications team to review how best to further raise awareness of the 
options for engagement available to Hillingdon’s Council tenants and leaseholders.  
 
Regarding the Better Neighbourhood Fund, the Committee determined that the Fund was delivering 
positive outcomes for residents but suggested that officers review new ways to seek resident input 
into how the fund is allocated to projects through better consultation as part of the 3-year plan. 
 
On the understanding that resident feedback, though the STAR survey and other methods outlined, 
would continue throughout the 3 years, it was recommended that the Committee receive further 
update reports at regular intervals on how the strategy was being delivered and what feedback was 
being captured and used by services. 
 
Cabinet approved the recommendations from the Committee’s review in February 2022. 
 

Monitoring activity 
 
Strategic Climate change Action Plan - Consultation and Updates 
 
In June 2021, the Committee received a report detailing the Council’s draft Strategic Climate Action 
Plan, as part of the consultation process prior to the strategy’s formal submission for adoption by 
Cabinet in July 2021. The Committee was advised that the Council had made three corporate 
commitments as part of the Plan: 
 

1. To lead and inspire the Borough’s residents, businesses and schools to reduce their own carbon 
emissions; 

2. To become carbon neutral by 2030; and 

Page 316



 
 

 
Select Committee Annual Report 2021/22   
 
 

3. To achieve 100% clean energy across the Council’s services by 2030. 
 

Measures to achieve these commitments included adoption of a carbon neutral approach with a 
reduction in the use of fossil fuels, the purchase of green energy, and carbon offsetting measures. 
Figures demonstrating the Council’s efforts to reduce its carbon emissions through the purchasing of 
green energy and fuel showed a 42% reduction in emissions since 2009. 
 
The Committee made comments for inclusion within the report to Cabinet, before receiving an update 
on the progress of the Strategic Plan in January 2022, where it confirmed that since the Strategy’s 
formal adoption, officers were undertaking briefings with the Corporate Management, Senior 
Management, and Departmental Service Manager teams, with a view to steering future actions through 
their incorporation into service plans. Cabinet’s proposed budget had made provision for funding of 
£25m over 5 years to address climate change, though officers continued to review other potential 
sources of funding, such as the Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL). 
 
Future actions under consideration included decarbonising the Borough’s top 25 buildings, 
incorporating solar arrays, flood mitigation, and investment in the Council’s fleet of vehicles, to move 
away from the use of traditional fossil fuels. Forthcoming capital works included construction of new 
school buildings and other large-scale projects, with energy efficiency and consideration of 
environmental impact (such as emissions/heat loss etc.) built into the development plans through 
adherence to the current building regulations. This included the use of government funds when 
constructing new Council housing stock, and officers were working to embed such considerations 
within private housing stock. 

 
The Committee was reminded that, following a 
motion at the Council meeting in November 2021, 
the Borough’s young people would be included in 
the developing action plan, via partnership 
working with schools, Social Care, the Corporate 
Parenting Panel, and Looked After Children, 
among others, to embed climate change 
awareness and actions at an early age (including 
within school curriculums).  
 

 
Housing Strategy Development and Consultation 
 
The Committee received a report detailing progress made in preparing the draft Housing Strategy 
2021/22 to 2025/26, including the timetable for delivery, the current policy environment and key 
challenges, emerging strategic direction, and priorities and consultation plans.  
 
The policy and legislative context for housing had a focus on addressing fire safety and other health 
and safety concerns, housing conditions, social housing landlord’s relationships with tenants and 
leaseholders, climate change and environmental concerns, domestic abuse, and changes to planning 
such as permitted development rights, the new London Plan and reforms set out in the planning white 
paper and the forthcoming planning bill. 
 
Proposed housing strategy priorities related to Place Shaping, increasing access to affordable homes, 
improving housing standards, support for the Charter for Social Housing Residents, and supporting 
independent living, together with addressing climate change and normalising service delivery 

Page 317



 
 

 
Select Committee Annual Report 2021/22   
 
 

following the pandemic. Place Shaping involved Housing Services contributing to ensuring inclusive, 
greener and sustainable places across a wide range of services which included collaboration between 
health, social care and housing sectors. The Council’s Health and Wellbeing Strategy was currently 
under development and would be informed by housing issues identified following the pandemic, such 
as overcrowding. 
 
The Council’s need for affordable housing remains, but the profile of the homes needed has changed, 
with an increased demand for family housing. Housing Standards in the Council stock would be a key 
element of the Council’s Housing Revenue Account Business Plan, which would include compliance 
with new building safety requirements. Regarding meeting the Borough’s need for more 3 and 4 bed 
homes, the Committee was informed that officers worked closely with planning officers, developers 
and housing associations to promote housing that would meet such needs as identified by strategic 
market assessments. Implementation of the strategy would include continuing to explore further 
innovation in this area. 
 
Homelessness was expected to rise following the ending of the ban on evictions, which would increase 
pressure on the homelessness prevention service. Improvements to housing services would include 
improved joint working with social care, Domestic Abuse Housing Alliance (DAHA) accreditation, 
further support for older people, and support for residents with autism or dementia. 
 
A further update was received in September 2021, detailing the results of the wide consultation 
process undertaken. Themes from the responses received included concerns regarding: 
 

• measurable targets; 
• local strategic approaches; 
• communication with community 

groups; 
• sustainability and infrastructure to 

accompany development (e.g., 
provision of schools, GPs, etc); 

• affordable housing; 
• time on the housing register before 

rehousing; 
• prices of houses versus flats; 
• overcrowding; 
• communication with tenants prior to 

their moving in; 
• the Council’s role as leader and its responsibility to support landlords and tenants; 
• unsustainable debt and concerns regarding Universal Credit; 
• support for independent living, with a focus on differently abled or older residents; and 
• support for mental health, debt, and drug and alcohol dependency  
• work towards  DAHA accreditation is seen as positive. 

 
The Committee thanked officers for their work on the strategy and was pleased to see that the wide 
consultation had resulted in meaningful responses. The Committee requested that the report to 
Cabinet include a key focus on bringing empty homes back into use, potentially linked with the 
Council’s Buy Back scheme, building relationships with key stakeholders such as housing associations, 
and downsizing/upsizing tenancies where required. The Strategy was subsequently endorsed by 
Cabinet in November 2021, before approval at Full Council in January 2022. 
 

Page 318



 
 

 
Select Committee Annual Report 2021/22   
 
 

Revised Statement of Community Involvement - Consultation 
 
The Committee was informed that, as the Local Planning Authority, Hillingdon was required to review 
its Statement of Community Involvement (SCI) every 5 years. The Committee was requested to 
comment on the proposed SCI ahead of the report to Cabinet, and the Statement was subsequently 
agreed for adoption by Cabinet in October 2021. 
 
New Planning Polices – Proposed Planning Reforms in England 
 
The Committee received a report detailing proposed planning reforms in England, and the concerns 
expressed regarding those proposals, following the government’s white paper published in August 
2020. 
 
The proposals centred around the ‘three pillars of change’ and which aimed to overhaul the outdated 
planning system, streamline the process to deliver homes faster, protect valued green spaces, and 
build beautiful homes. 
 
The consultation on these proposals opened on 06 August 2020, and Hillingdon Council had submitted 
a response, approved by Cabinet in October 2020, detailing concerns relating to the potential negative 
impact of the changes on residents, businesses, and other service users. A government response to 
the consultation was not expected until Autumn 2021. 
 
Recycling in Hillingdon 
 
The Committee received a report 
regarding recycling within Hillingdon, 
detailing food waste recycling, 
recycling roadshows, recycling within 
flats, and partnership working with the 
NHS. The Committee was informed 
that the service had recently won an 
award for its work to process clinical 
waste, such as used needles. 
 
The processing of food waste was 
confirmed to result in electricity as well 
as fertilizer material, and the use of 
food waste bags was being promoted 
during all interactions with residents.  The changes to the processing of Dry Mixed recycling (DMR) to 
reduce waste contamination had resulted in significantly lower costs to the Council. 
 
In terms of waste statistics, overall refuse being collected had risen, with a household recycling rate 
of circa 44%. This was felt to be a very positive number, though work remained to increase this further. 
As part of further promotion, a video on the subject of ‘what happens to your waste’ was being 
produced to help inform residents and promote good recycling behaviours. 
 
 
 
 

Page 319



 
 

 
Select Committee Annual Report 2021/22   
 
 

The Impact of COVID-19 on the Borough’s Green Spaces 
 
The Committee was provided with an update on the work of Green Spaces to address the impact of 
COVID-19 on the Council’s parks and open spaces during 2020-21. 
 
The importance of the Borough’s parks and open spaces to resident mental health and physical 
wellbeing during the pandemic and periodic lockdowns was acknowledged. Throughout the pandemic, 
parks and open spaces had remained open, and had seen a significant increase in visitors. To address 
the challenges that came with such an increase, staff numbers had also been increased to provide 
additional litter picking efforts alongside the installation of further bins and commercial waste units. 
 
Opportunities for residents to take part in sport had continued as restrictions allowed, and Green 
Spaces had worked closely with various sporting associations including the Lawn Tennis Association, 
the Football Association, and the English Cricket Board to ensure equipment and locations were 
suitable for safe use. A new booking process for tennis courts had been introduced, sporting 
equipment such as goals and pitch markings had been provided, and further work was underway 
regarding a bid for funding for artificial wickets and practice nets. Children’s playgrounds had been 
made available once restrictions had been lifted. 
 
Ruislip Lido was seen as a key attraction for the Borough, and an important site for residents 
throughout the pandemic. To promote visitor and resident safety, and reduce traffic congestion, a 
one-way system around the Lido had been introduced alongside a limit on visitors on site at any one 
time. Additional staff were also on site to manage the increased number of visitors and their impact, 
including the increase in dog fouling, while a consultation was underway with nearby residents 
regarding potential parking measures. 
 

The work to enhance green spaces and promote 
environmental benefits had continued, including an 
increase in the planting of trees, plants and 
wildflowers, and floral displays, alongside 
innovations regarding maintenance and selection to 
promote better survival rates and biodiversity. 
Partnerships and advice had been sought with Trees 
for Cites, as well as Trees for Streets and Plantlife. 
Hillingdon had once again been granted the highest 
number of Green Flags nationally, retaining its title 
as the UK’s greenest borough.  
 

Homelessness in Hillingdon 
 
The Committee received a report detailing homelessness within Hillingdon. Performance figures for 
Hillingdon versus other London boroughs showed Hillingdon to be performing well, and it was expected 
that other boroughs would contact Hillingdon requesting the sharing of best practice.   
 
Rough sleepers in Hillingdon had seen a reduction, with the lowest ever number recorded in November 
2021.  A monthly count, compiled through officer walks, the use of CCTV, and partnership working was 
being conducted, which provided a snapshot of rough sleeper numbers on a given night. 
 
Officers were working with Heathrow Airport/Travel Care, Transport for London, the Police, the Home 
Office and other partners in order to help encourage rough sleepers or the homeless to enter 

Page 320



 
 

 
Select Committee Annual Report 2021/22   
 
 

accommodation. Work was also ongoing with landlords to extend tenancies and avoid making 
residents homeless in the first instance. A number of separate options were available to former 
members of the armed services who had since become homeless. It was confirmed that an emergency 
service was available 24/7 for residents to contact the Council out of hours.  
 
Houses of Multiple Occupation 
 
The Committee received a report detailing Houses of Multiple Occupancy (HMOs) within Hillingdon. It 
was confirmed that, as of December 2021, there were approximately 650 licensed HMOs within 
Hillingdon, with 172 new applications processed since April 2021.  
 
The Committee considered the processes for inspection of HMOs and enforcement action within 
Hillingdon, and were advised that best practice was being highlighted to landlords, with enforcement 
action available to address untidy gardens, antisocial behaviour, fly-tipping etc. The service 
maintained a rolling programme of inspections, alongside responding to specifically reported issues. 
 
The various licensing schemes across West London were highlighted, with options for Discretionary 
and Selective licensing confirmed as being under consideration for future adoption within Hillingdon. 
The Tenancy Deposit Scheme was referred to and confirmed to be under review, incorporating regular 
engagement with landlords, including through the Landlord Forum. 
 
Empty Properties in Hillingdon 
 
The Committee received a report providing information on empty homes within the Borough, with 
current figures for empty properties, how Hillingdon applied incentives to fill these properties by way 
of increased tax, and how the Council was looking to update its strategy to further address the issue, 
all highlighted. A review of how other London authorities were addressing the issue within their own 
boroughs would also be used to inform Hillingdon’s updated strategy. 
 
Officers advised that the ability for the Council to repair damaged homes and bring them back into use 
was at times complicated by insurance claims, together with the significant level of disrepair seen at 
some properties (e.g., fire damage)., The Council was focussing on addressing void Council homes, and 
the average time homes were unoccupied was seen to be reducing. It was likely that some empty 
homes in the private sector were due to absent, foreign and other investors. 
 
Redevelopment of High Streets following the COVID-19 
pandemic 
 
The Committee received a report detailing the work undertaken by the 
Council to help regenerate the Borough’s High Streets following the 
COVID-19 pandemic. The Committee was advised of the various actions 
taken by officers, with events and promotions designed to incentivise 
increased footfall and promotion for local businesses. These included 
Town Centre improvements via the use of grant funding for the 
‘Welcome Back’ initiative, including the trial of temporary public realm 
changes, the installation of ‘parklets’ to help restaurants/cafes 
maximise available outdoor seating and ensure patron safety, temporary 
street furniture hire, and themed events such as the Christmas Lighting 
Programme, arts and crafts festivals, and family food days.  

Page 321



 
 

 
Select Committee Annual Report 2021/22   
 
 

 
Additional funding from the GLA and central government had been used in Hillingdon to commission 
research on residents and their use of the High Street, with the research to be evaluated and used to 
inform further actions to promote the High Street moving forward.  
 
Regulatory actions throughout the pandemic had included visits and inspections, enforcement action 
for those in breach of pandemic restrictions, risk assessments, support and guidance for activities, 
and the processing of licences and permissions for street markets and events. As restrictions had 
eased, the service had moved to carrying out a programme of catch-up inspections, as well as fact-
finding and advice for the promotion of local businesses. 
 
Officers advised that the events and activities were trials, to be evaluated and iterated upon. Feedback 
was recognised as important for identifying improvements, and where available, resident associations 
and groups such as the Hayes Town Partnership were being consulted regarding potential events.   
 
Update on previous reviews: Littering and Fly-Tipping 
 
The Committee regularly monitors the implementation of recommendations resulting from past 
reviews.  
 
On the review into Littering and Fly-Tipping commissioned by the former Residents, Education and 
Environmental Services Policy Overview Committee in 2019/20, the Committee received an update on 
the implementation of the recommendations resulting from that review. 
 
The Committee was advised that all recommendations had either been fully implemented or were in 
various stages of implementation. Exceptions included actions that had been reviewed but that had 
been deemed unfeasible (such as reference numbers for individual bins), or actions that had been 
delayed due to the pandemic (such as liaising with schools). 
 
The Committee was advised that litter picking activities were active in all wards, though resources 
were aligned to areas of greatest need. Regarding littering and fly-tipping hotspots, these were plotted 
onto maps following repeated reports, and used to identify areas requiring action. Moving forward, 
street cleansing teams were to be fitted with real-time tracking software which would allow further 
analysis and actions. 
 
Regarding prosecution of offenders, it was highlighted that this was lengthy process that required 
specific evidence to secure a successful prosecution, such as catching an offender ‘in the act’. Waste 
officers were in regular contact with the Council’s Legal team on such matters. It was accepted that 
some residents were unwilling to identify offenders, possibly for fear of reprisals. The service was 
endeavouring to encourage such reporting through resident engagement at roadshows, social media, 
etc. to drive such behaviours.  
 
The Committee placed on record its thanks to officers for their work on this matter. 
 
Budget Review and Cabinet’s Budget Proposals  
  
As a statutory consultee to the Cabinet’s 2022/23 budget proposals published in December, the 
Committee reviewed the proposals within its remit and submitted comments to the Corporate, 
Finance and Property Select Committee. During the year, the Committee also received an update on 
the 2021/22 budget. 

Page 322



 
 

 
Select Committee Annual Report 2021/22   
 
 

Annual Complaints Update 2020/21 
  
The Committee received a comprehensive report on Resident Complaints and Enquiries within its 
remit, noting the trends and providing appropriate feedback to officers. 
 
Annual Community Infrastructure Levy Reporting 
 
The Committee received a report detailing the Council's Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL), a charge 
which allows the Council to raise funds from developers undertaking new building projects, and which 
supports the financing of infrastructure costs across the Borough.  
 
In line with regulatory requirements, a detailed annual report on CIL total income and expenditure is 
required to be published on the Council’s website by 31 December each year, in respect of the previous 
financial year. 

CIL monies were confirmed to be distinct from S106 monies, in that they were not site specific and 
could be used for wider improvements across the Borough. The neighbourhood proportion of CIL 
spend (minimum 15%) were spent through the Council’s Chrysalis programme, driven by requests from 
residents and/or Ward Councillors.  

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 323



 
 

 
Select Committee Annual Report 2021/22  Page 28 
 
 

Public Safety & Transport 
Select Committee 

 
 
 
 

Councillors on the committee: 
 
Keith Burrows (Chairman)  
Teji Barnes (Vice Chairman) 
Kuldeep Lakhmana 
Richard Lewis 
Colleen Sullivan 
Jan Sweeting (Opposition Lead) 
Steve Tuckwell 

 
Lead Officer: Steve Clarke, Democratic Services 
 
 
Our remit 

 
2021/22 was the inaugural year for the Public Safety & Transport Select Committee. The Committee is 
responsible for scrutinising the Council’s work areas under the Public Safety & Transport Cabinet 
Portfolio, in addition to Council-wide enforcement activities. The Select Committee’s overview and 
scrutiny remit includes the Council’s Licencing Policies and Procedures, Community Safety and 
Community Cohesion, the Council’s CCTV operations, Traffic, Transportation, Highways, Parking and 
Local Safety Schemes. 
 
The Committee has undertaken one in-depth review this year and has also monitored a number of 
service areas. This is summarised below. 

 
Review into Electric Vehicles, EV infrastructure and future policy 
directions for the Borough 

 
The primary purpose of the Select Committee’s first major review was to support the Council in 
developing its future policies to account for EVs and to highlight how Hillingdon may need to adapt to 
the ongoing and growing societal shift from Internal Combustion Engine (ICE) vehicles to EVs. 
 
Driven by climate change and recent government mandates to manoeuvre away from fossil fuel-based 
transportation, interest in providing low and zero emission vehicles has thrived in the 21st century. The 
number of newly registered, fully electric EVs in the UK between 2006 and 2010 was just 1,096; this has 
risen to 190,727 in 2021 alone. Spurred on by this, the Select Committee agreed that its first major 
review should be a forward-looking exploration of Electric Vehicles and EV infrastructure in Hillingdon. 

Page 324



 
 

 
Select Committee Annual Report 2021/22  Page 29 
 
 

In addition to the Council’s own zero-carbon commitment and climate emergency declaration, the 
review tied in with related deadlines set by central government such as the proposed ban on the sale 
of new petrol and diesel cars and vans in the UK from 2030. 
 
Through witness sessions with 
Council officers, Electric Vehicle 
Charge Point (EVCP) Operators, a 
Hillingdon resident and the Cabinet 
Member for Public Safety & 
Transport, the Select Committee 
received information as to the 
current EV charging landscape 
across the Borough. Members were 
informed that, as things stood, the 
Borough’s charging infrastructure 
would be insufficient for future 
needs; where one in 16 new cars 
registered in London were EVs in 
2019, one in eight new cars registered 
in the capital were EVs in 2021.  
 
In response to the growing need, the Council has progressed a contract with a partner to supply, install 
and maintain EV charging points in public car parks and to establish a scalable EV charging 
infrastructure across the Borough and the Committee welcomed this move. The Select Committee 
sought to monitor the implementation of this contract going forward through its scrutiny activities. 
 
Although it was noted that a mixture of government and private sector measures would be needed to 
support the general longer-term transition from Internal Combustion Engine (ICE) vehicles to EVs, in 
order to keep on top of the growing public demand for EV charging infrastructure, the Select 
Committee understood that the Council would need to play more of an enabling role and to put 
measures in place soon to help ensure that a robust charging offer was in place. 
 
The Select Committee found the current level of engagement with residents regarding the prospective 
implementation of EV infrastructure to be lacking. Members felt that the need for residents to have 
access to consistent information and to have their expectations managed regarding the provision of 
EV charge points in their area was vital; it was suggested that a standard operating procedure for when 
residents expressed interest in a prospective on-street charging point could be introduced to avoid 
any confusion and a mechanism allowing residents to suggest locations for publicly available EVCPs 
should be developed. The Council’s website was seen as an integral tool for improving resident 
engagement and a useful platform for displaying any necessary information on the implementation of 
EV infrastructure in Hillingdon, both under the Council’s purview and infrastructure installed by the 
private sector. 
 
The primary motive for the impending societal shift towards EVs is climate change and the need to 
reduce our reliance on fossil fuels. The Select Committee felt that the Council’s Strategic Climate 
Action Plan was an important instrument in outlining the necessary actions the Council should take in 
playing its part to reduce fossil fuel use and sought to endorse strategic objective C8.6 – “To develop 
an electric vehicle charging action plan that will commit to increasing the availability of electric 
charging points across the Borough”. The Select Committee were also encouraged to hear of plans to 
replace all diesel-powered vehicles 3.5T and smaller within the Council’s own fleet with EVs ahead of 

Page 325



 
 

 
Select Committee Annual Report 2021/22  Page 30 
 
 

the 2030 ban on the sale of new petrol and diesel powered cars. 
 
This review was presented to Cabinet in March 2022, the final report was well received, and all of the 
Select Committee’s recommendations were accepted. 
 

Monitoring activity 
 
Annual Complaints Update 2020/21 
  
The Committee received a comprehensive report on Resident Complaints, Compliments and Members 
Enquiries within its remit, noting the trends and providing appropriate feedback to officers. The 
Committee was informed that these numbers suggest the complaints procedure continues to work 
well. 
 
Members’ attention was drawn to the detail around Ombudsman investigations which had concluded 
in 2020/21. It was highlighted that many of the cases were closed by the Ombudsman without a formal 
investigation due to insufficient evidence. Members highlighted that residents may not always know 
what is meant by insufficient evidence and suggested that having the information available online as 
to what may constitute sufficient evidence would be useful, particularly where residents are 
disappointed with the Ombudsman’s choice not to investigate and believe that they had supplied 
sufficient evidence. 
  
Trading Standards, Environmental Health & Licensing 
 
The Committee received a comprehensive overview of the Council’s Environmental Health Service, 
Trading Standards Service and Licensing Service. 
 
Under Environmental Health it was noted that the team’s public health and disease control duties had 
been an integral part of the Council’s response to the Covid-19 pandemic whilst continuing to conduct 
around 1,600 food hygiene inspections per annum amongst other responsibilities. A number of recent 
successes were highlighted including an ongoing gas 
safety compliance project whereby the team would be 
checking the safety of gas installations within 
approximately 1,000 commercial kitchens; this project was 
introduced following a commercial kitchen gas explosion in 
the neighbouring borough of Ealing. 
 
Within the Trading Standards Service, the Committee were 
informed of some recent successes relating to the Trading 
Standards team including the seizure of 60,000 counterfeit 
cigarettes and 20kg of counterfeit rolling tobacco hidden in 
boxes labelled as children’s toys and other paraphernalia. 
 
In relation to the Council’s Licensing Service, an overview 
was given with regard to the service’s responsibility for 
licensing a variety of activities across hospitality, 
entertainment, retail, close contact and animal businesses. A recent success was highlighted whereby 
a two-and-a-half-year legal battle to bring criminal charges to two individuals for the unlicensed 

Page 326



 
 

 
Select Committee Annual Report 2021/22  Page 31 
 
 

breeding and sale of dogs and cats from a house in West Drayton had resulted in fines in excess of 
£340k, £280k of which came to the Council to cover expenses. 
 
It was also highlighted that the Covid-19 pandemic had impacted this work area significantly, the 
Licensing Service and the Food Health and Safety Team had been leading the enforcement and 
compliance operation to ensure that business were operating in accordance with all Coronavirus and 
lockdown restrictions. Further to this, since lockdown restriction had started to ease in April 2021, the 
Council had offered a range of support to businesses to reopen and was working on a programme of 
events in town centres in an effort to welcome residents back to the High Street. 
 
Budget Review and Cabinet’s Budget Proposals  
  
As a statutory consultee to the Cabinet’s 2022/23 budget proposals published in December, the 
Committee reviewed the budget proposals within its remit. Initially, a general budget planning report 
was presented to the Committee in July as part of the early stages of the budget setting process. 
Following this, in January 2022, the Select Committee received a more detailed report including a 
breakdown of the budget proposals for services within the Select Committee’s remit. The Committee 
commended officers on the well-constructed budget proposals despite the uncertainty posed by the 
Covid-19 pandemic and felt encouraged by the continued investments in many works’ programmes. 
Members accepted that an increase in fees and charges was not ideal but when benchmarked against 
neighbouring local authorities, Hillingdon provided more affordability for residents. 
 
Parking Services 
 
The Committee received a presentation from the Parking 
Services Team highlighting the service’s key role in ensuring 
road safety and keeping congestion clear. 
 
Members were encouraged by the work undertaken by the 
Parking Services team who administered and processed 
around 16,000 residents parking permits per year. The Team 
also operated the Council’s 33 car parks, including all on-
street pay and display areas. Further to this, the Team 
processed the older persons Brown Badge Scheme, of 
which there currently were around 13,500 brown badge 
permits on issue. 
 
Community Cohesion 
  
The Select Committee scrutinised the work of the Council’s Stronger Communities Team which sought 
to: 
 

- Provide a strategy and policy lead on community cohesion, integration and preventing violent 
extremism (the Prevent Strategy). 

- Advise and give guidance on community cohesion, integration and preventing violent 
extremism across the Council. 

- Give guidance and support to external partners 

Page 327



 
 

 
Select Committee Annual Report 2021/22  Page 32 
 
 

- Hold a community engagement and community development role in relation to community 
cohesion and integration and building stronger communities. 

- Take a leading coordination role towards partnership working related to community cohesion, 
integration and preventing violent extremism in the Borough. 

 
Core aspects of the Stronger Communities Team’s work lay in establishing relationships with the 
Borough’s diverse communities, building trust and enabling partnership working. This was carried out 
through the Prevent Partnership who tackle the causes of radicalisation and respond to the ideological 
challenge of terrorism; safeguard and support those most at risk of radicalisation through early 
intervention, identifying them and offering support; and enable those who have already engaged in 
terrorism to disengage and rehabilitate. It was highlighted that Hillingdon was not designated an area 
of priority by Prevent. 
 
Transportation 
 
The Committee received a detailed presentation regarding the Council’s Transport Planning & Town 
Centre Projects work areas. 
 
The Committee discussed at length the ongoing financial burden experienced by Transport for London 
as a result of the Covid-19 pandemic, it was highlighted that TfL’s revenue stream had been extremely 
impacted by the pandemic and the Mayor of London had been seeking funding from central 
Government to keep TfL operating. Unfortunately, as a consequence of this, the funding received by 
all London Boroughs from TfL had either been withdrawn or deferred; and discussions were ongoing 
with TfL as to the level of funding that could be expected going forward. 
 
Topics such as the ‘Safe Drive, Stay Alive’ courses, the prospective wider impact that the Borough may 
experience as a result of the newly opening Elizabeth Line, and selection criteria for the Council’s Town 
Centre Improvements Programme were scrutinised by the Committee. 
 
Members discussed what actions the Council could take in steering HGV’s away from high streets and 
smaller residential streets. A number of the logistics and distribution depots in the Borough were 
serviced by larger depots which meant large HGVs were regularly using the Borough’s road network. 
Members were told that the Council would be re-joining the London Lorry Control Scheme (LLCS) 
administered by London Councils; the London-wide scheme is aimed at striking the right balance 
between the freight needs of London and residents’ right not to be unduly disturbed. 
 
Highways 
 
A comprehensive presentation was delivered to the 
Committee by the Council’s Highways Team. The extent of 
the work undertaken by the team included: 
 

- Road and pavement maintenance (700km of roads 
and 905km of pavements) 

- Streetlighting – 31,200 streetlights and other 
illuminated street furniture 

- Highways structures – 260 bridges and structures 
- Road Drainage – 34,000 road gullies 
- Street Works Coordination 

Page 328



 
 

 
Select Committee Annual Report 2021/22  Page 33 
 
 

- Highways Insurance Claims 
- Highways Design and scheme delivery 

 
With regard to streetlighting in the Borough, Members were informed that a Borough-wide column 
replacement programme was in progress following a Borough-wide LED upgrade completed in 2019. It 
was noted that the streetlighting columns in the Borough were old and deteriorating, any columns 
deemed a risk would be prioritised for replacement. 
 
Anti-Social Behaviour 
 
During a transition period for the Council’s Anti-Social Behaviour & Enforcement Team, the Select 
Committee received a detailed presentation and scrutinised the changes that would be taking place to 
the service. With a move towards proactive prevention in the first instance rather than reactive 
enforcement, the team would move towards a geographical patch-based model, allowing officers to 
dedicate their resource to designated wards and areas and build a relationship with local Ward 
Councillors and give officers an improved understanding of the complexities of their specific area. This 
new model of working would be rolled out in a phased approach. 
 
The Committee heard how enforcement would still be a key part of the service particularly where early 
intervention methods may not be achieving results. 
 
With regard to fly-tipping, Members discussed whether the clearance of instances of fly-tipping by the 
Council could set a precedent for repeat offenders. It was noted that the speed of the response was 
the top priority for public health reasons, each incident was plotted and where trends were formed and 
evidence found, action could be taken against perpetrators. 
 
Fines and Prosecutions Data 
 
Members received a report from the Anti-Social Behaviour and Enforcement Team detailing the 
process surrounding the issuance fixed penalty notices and the various types of offences which can 
be dealt with by authorised officers. The Committee also received information as to how these 
offences are addressed when an alleged offender is under 18 years of age. 
 
The impact of Covid on the footfall around the Borough saw a decline in the issue of fixed penalty 
notices and changes in the types of offences committed.  
 

Road and Footways Resurfacing 
 
The Committee were informed that the Highways 
department had a forward planning programme of roads 
and footways that were scheduled to be resurfaced. 
This was based on a “worst-first” approach to asset 
management, identifying the worst condition roads and 
developing a one-year programme of resurfacing and 
reconstruction. In 2021/22 there were 44 roads and 66 
footways scheduled to be resurfaced. The 2022/23 
forward planning programme was under development 

with the department having commissioned a condition survey, the data from which would identify the 
roads and footways for resurfacing and categorise the proper surface treatment. 

Page 329



 
 

 
Select Committee Annual Report 2021/22  Page 34 
 
 

 
The Select Committee received confirmation that preparation would begin on a new 5-year work 
programme which would include both major resurfacing and preventative maintenance from 2022/23 
onwards. This would be the first step towards long-term programme development for roads and 
footways resurfacing. 
 
Abandoned Vehicles 
 
A report was received by the Committee with regard to abandoned vehicle data in the Borough. 
Members heard how the Anti-Social Behaviour and Enforcement Team processes and classifies 
reports of abandoned vehicles and where appropriate, works with partner authorities in the 
investigation and collection of vehicles. 2021 had seen 1,209 reports of abandoned vehicles from 
residents and Councillors. 
 
  

Page 330



 
 

 
Select Committee Annual Report 2021/22  Page 35 
 
 

External Services 
Select Committee 

 
                                
Councillors on the committee: 
 
Nick Denys (Chairman) 
Devi Radia (Vice Chairman) 
Simon Arnold 
Darran Davies  
Heena Makwana  
Peter Money (Opposition Lead) 
June Nelson  
 
Lead Officer: Nikki O’Halloran, Democratic Services 
 
 
Remit 

 
The External Services Select Committee has a broad remit to scrutinise all non-Hillingdon Council 
organisations whose actions affect residents.  This means monitoring those bodies outside the 
Council that provide public services to us.  The Committee scrutinises the performance of these 
bodies and undertakes in-depth reviews and witness sessions on topics. It also undertakes the health 
scrutiny role as required by the Health & Social Care Act 2001 and acts as the Crime and Disorder 
Committee as defined in the Crime and Disorder (Overview and Scrutiny) Regulations 2009.   
  
The Committee held witness sessions on the following topics during the last year: 
 

Scrutiny activity 
 
Hillingdon Hospital Trust Regulatory Performance: The road to improvement 
  
The CQC inspected Hillingdon Hospital in August 2020 (and returned in September 2020) in response 
to concerns around infection, prevention and control at the hospital.  At that time, the CQC rated 
Hillingdon Hospital overall as 'Inadequate’ and conditions were placed on its licence.  This came on top 
of CQC inspections in 2015 and 2018 that both concluded that the Trust was underperforming and 
required improvement.  Following a CQC inspection in May 2021, the Trust had hoped to have conditions 
removed from its licence.  As specific services had been inspected in relation to infection prevention 
and control (where there had been some improvements) but not rated, Surgery and Urgent & 
Emergency Care continued to be rated as ‘Inadequate’, leaving the Hospital’s overall rating as 
‘Inadequate’.  The Trust continued to put measures in place to address the issues raised in the CQC 
reports and Members look forward to seeing the results.   

Page 331



 
 

 
Select Committee Annual Report 2021/22  Page 36 
 
 

  
During the pandemic, the Trust had not been able to achieve the 4-hour standard target for seeing the 
sickest patients presenting at A&E, achieving around 50% against the 70%-80% target.   There had 
also been a backlog in elective care with 47 patients having waited for 104 weeks which the Trust was 
working to reduce.  Action was also being taken by the Trust to reduce the cancer services waiting 
times.   
  
Crime and Disorder in Hillingdon: Safer Hillingdon Partnership performance 
  
As part of its powers under the Crime and Disorder (Overview and Scrutiny) Regulations 2009, the 
Committee held two evidence sessions with representatives from the Safer Hillingdon Partnership 
(including the local police and fire brigade leadership) to discuss local safety.  As it was an area of 
interest to the Committee, Members heard about the work of the Safer Schools Team (SST) that 
worked with secondary schools in the Borough to tackle safeguarding issues and take diversionary and 
preventative action.  As well as setting up two clubs in Hillingdon to break down barriers and build 
relations with young people, the team had been working with police cadets to undertake test 
purchases of alcohol from off licence premises.  
 

The summer of 2021 had proved busy 
for the Metropolitan Police Service 
(MPS).  It moved to 12 hour shifts to 
cope with the increase in demand on 
the service, such as the bank holiday 
weekend and Extinction Rebellion 
protests.  The shift to autumn saw the 
launch of a campaign to advise 
residents on how to protect their 
homes from burglary as the days got 
shorter.   Although there had been 
reductions between 2019 and 2021 in 
the number of offences overall 
(burglary, robbery, gun crime, knife 
crime, shoplifting, etc), concern was 

expressed that there had been an increase in domestic abuse, rape and sexual offences.  Hate crimes 
had also increased by 20% (March 2022) and it was acknowledged that further investigation was 
needed to understand this increase.   Ask Angela (which provided a secret code for women to find help 
if they were feeling unsafe on a night out) had been relaunched, targeted resources had been made 
available and other initiatives were being introduced to help women feel safe.   
 
Professional standards and community confidence 
 
Insofar as professional standards were concerned, it was recognised that there had been 
unacceptable behaviour and language used by a minority of officers in the MPS which needed to be 
addressed. Every officer in the West Area BCU had received two briefings to identify what was 
acceptable behaviour and to set out how unacceptable behaviour should be challenged. Following the 
Danny Morgan report, changes had been made to how the police dealt with property and to declarable 
associations with journalists and individuals with a criminal record.   
  

Page 332



 
 

 
Select Committee Annual Report 2021/22  Page 37 
 
 

Following the Child Q safeguarding report, further work was being undertaken with regard to stop and 
search procedures to ensure that all officers were aware of the correct procedure.  A community 
monitoring group had been set up in Hillingdon to look at the stop and search process and to monitor 
performance.  Improved stop and search supervision had been put in place to make the process more 
rigorous and a briefing had been provided to all police officers locally.  The MPS was keen to consult 
with young people about the stop and search process to understand how they felt. The MPS was aware 
that it needed to continue to try to engage with these young people and maximise the opportunities 
for residents to question the police directly.  It was hoped that broadening the outreach, a continued 
visibility and a willingness to listen / act on feedback (‘you said/we did’) would build the community’s 
confidence and trust in the police.   
  
Since it was introduced in May 2018. around 17,000 Hillingdon residents had signed up to the Online 
Watch Link (OWL) Network which sends out targeted digital messages to subscribers in a specific 
geographical area.  The OWL Network linked with Hillingdon Neighbourhood Watch which was able to 
provide information about CCTV and crime prevention.  Residents were also able to sign up to CCTV 
Watch which was estimated to save the MPS around £½m-£1m per year.   
 
The Committee raised concerns that, if there was no police presence following the report of low-level 
crimes (which could resonate into violent crimes), how could residents be confident that there would 
be a response to reports of higher-level crimes.  As there were not enough police officers to send out 
to each report of crime, the MPS had to prioritise its resources.   
 
The Safer Hillingdon Partnership (SHP) Board had commissioned a review of the SHP in the Autumn to 
identify better ways of working in partnership.  The review also looked at: how data could be enriched 
and better used to help shape priorities; and how engagement with Safer Neighbourhood Boards, Ward 
Panels and Neighbourhood Watch could be improved.  It was anticipated that the Committee would 
receive an update at its meeting in September once the results had been collated.  In the meantime, 
the SHP priorities from 2021/2022 would be rolled into 2022/2023 as the reduction of violent crimes 
was likely to continue to be a priority for the police. 
 
Licensing  
 
There were a number of challenges faced in Hillingdon with regard to licensing in relation to things that 
were outside of the local authority’s control.  Hillingdon had a very effective Pub Watch scheme in place 
which provided a consistent and transparent approach to collaboration.  Although partners could help 
pubs to set up a Pub Watch, the trade would be responsible for organising and maintaining the group.  
The scheme enabled member premises to communicate with each other and with the Civic Centre 
CCTV room via radios and had provided the Council with an invaluable network through which it had 
been able to disseminate information about restrictions during the pandemic.  Benefits to the 
publicans included a reduction in undesirable activity on their premises and the “banned from one, 
banned from all” approach often curtailed inappropriate behaviour.  Although there was no similar Pub 
Watch scheme for off licences, a Bet Watch scheme was in operation in Hayes.   There was no data 
recorded in relation to anti-social behaviour incidents that were directly related to licenced premises. 
 
Concern was expressed that there were times when the licence holder did not comply with the 
requirements, despite early intervention having been undertaken.  A stepped approach was used 
which meant that this situation would be escalated but that sufficient evidence needed to be collected 
to prove beyond reasonable doubt that a crime had taken place.  The principle in granting a licence was 
similar to that of a driving licence - applicants had to demonstrate a level of knowledge and once 

Page 333



 
 

 
Select Committee Annual Report 2021/22  Page 38 
 
 

granted, would get to keep their licence if they adhered to the rules.  Any action taken to address any 
flouting of the rules needed to be proportionate. 
 
Members also heard from the London Fire Brigade about the home safety visits being undertaken.  The 
visits had been publicised on the side of fire appliances, on banners at the station, and via social media, 
podcasts and television adverts.  Referrals could be made by the householder, local authority, 
relatives, etc, and could be made over the phone or through the website (high risk and vulnerable 
residents had been prioritised).   
 
The Fire Brigade 
 
A new service had been initiated in the Borough whereby the Fire Brigade provided small business 
premises with advice, guidance and support (unannounced visits were also undertaken to ensure that 
these small premises met the fire safety regulations).  The Fire Brigade also undertook regular visits 
to blocks of flats to ensure that sufficient mitigation measures were in place and fire officers had 
attended virtual meetings with these tenants to deal concerns about fire safety.  This preventative 
action had helped to reduce the number of fires in Hillingdon from around 700 in 2018 to just over 500 
in the last year.   
 
Since the start of the pandemic in March 2020, fire stations had been unable to welcome any members 
of the public inside.  Now that restrictions had been lifted, the Uxbridge station was starting to open 
up to the public again with an open day organised for May 2022 and plans being developed to hold a tea 
party during the festive period.   
 
Hillingdon Hospital Redevelopment: Delivering modern health care for residents 
  
The current Hillingdon Hospital is an old building with parts of the estate built in the 1930s as 
emergency wartime accommodation.  Some of the older wards have become unsafe and have been 
closed to protect patients and staff.  81% of the hospital building will require major repair or 
replacement soon.  This is the impetus that is pushing for a full redevelopment of Hillingdon Hospital 
to happen as soon as is possible. 
  
At a national level, investment in new 
hospitals is run by the New Hospitals 
Programme team (“the team”), jointly based at 
the Department of Health and Social Care and 
NHS England.  Last year, the team allocated 
Hillingdon Hospital one of eight available 
places in the New Hospitals Programme 
(NHP).  A team at the Hillingdon Hospital Trust 
is working to deliver a rebuilt hospital that will 
provide the same range of services that are 
currently available at the hospital, but in a high 
quality, 21st century state of the art building.  
In designing this, the Trust will continue to work with system partners to improve the integration of 
care across Hillingdon. To inform the development process, engagement events had continued to take 
place with residents, staff and other stakeholders, both online and in person.  Areas for further 
engagement would include dementia friendly facilities, access for different disabilities, layout of 
waiting areas and reception areas and staff facilities. 

Page 334



 
 

 
Select Committee Annual Report 2021/22  Page 39 
 
 

  
The Committee held an evidence session with the team at the Trust in charge of securing, designing 
and delivering the new hospital building.  The project involved a three-stage business case process: 
Strategic Outline Case (SOC); Outline Business Care (OBC); and Full Business Case (FBC). The SOC had 
been completed and development of the OBC had started in late 2020 and was expected to be finalised 
and taken through internal governance processes in May / June 2022.  Subject to Trust Board approval, 
this would then be ready for submission to regulators - the submission date would be subject to 
agreement with the NHP team.  As it was anticipated that the project would be in a stronger position if 
the OBC was completed with planning approval already in place, it was likely that the planning 
application would be submitted in the spring.   
 
Decant plans were already in place and a number of service moves would be undertaken so that the 
build site was completely isolated from the working hospital entrances and the site was ready to be 
built on once the funding had been agreed.  Although the funding had not yet been agreed, the nuance 
had now changed to ‘when’ the new hospital would be built, rather than ‘if’. 
 
Members were advised that there would be no change to the services that would be delivered from the 
new hospital but that they would be delivered differently as they would be more joined up with things 
like mental health services and social care.  It would be important to ensure that the hospital was part 
of the local system of care rather than a stand-alone entity so that patients could avoid going there if 
the services provided by different partners were synergised.   
 
Mount Vernon Cancer Centre Review: Improving cancer care for our residents 
  
The NHS in the East of England and in North London is working together to review the services at Mount 
Vernon Cancer Centre (MVCC).  MVCC is run by East and North Hertfordshire NHS Trust and delivered 
from Mount Vernon Hospital which is managed by The Hillingdon Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust 
(THH).  It is a standalone cancer centre and primarily serves a population of over 2 million people in 
Hertfordshire, South Bedfordshire, North West London and Berkshire.  The patient pathways involve a 
large number of other hospitals and arrangements with several other NHS trusts. 
  
The review team have recommended the full relocation of the Mount Vernon Cancer Centre to the 
Watford Hospital site, with enhanced local access to services where possible.  To secure capital to 
fund the project, an expression of interest has been submitted for the new cancer centre to be 
considered as one of the eight new hospital schemes that will be added to the Government’s health 
infrastructure plan with a decision expected in the spring of 2022.  Following feedback from Hillingdon 
residents about increased travel times during the focus group activity, blood tests have already been 
made available in primary care settings closer to home (where possible) and it is proposed that a 
chemotherapy centre be established at Hillingdon Hospital. 
 
Quality Matters: State of Local Health Services  
  
Each year, there is a statutory requirement for all providers of NHS healthcare services to produce a 
Quality Account: an annual report to the public about the quality of services delivered and submitted 
to the Secretary of State for Health and Social Care by 30 June each year.  As well as The Hillingdon 
Hospitals NHs Foundation Trust, the Committee scrutinises the work of the North West London CCG, 
Central and North West London NHS Foundation Trust, Royal Brompton and Harefield NHS Foundation 
Trust and London Ambulance Service.  Providers are asked to consider three aspects of quality – 
patient experience, safety and clinical effectiveness - and have a legal duty to send their Quality 

Page 335



 
 

 
Select Committee Annual Report 2021/22  Page 40 
 
 

Account to the overview and scrutiny committee (OSC) in the local authority area in which the provider 
has a registered office.  
  
Hillingdon’s External Services Select Committee reviews these reports annually and provides a 
statement indicating whether Members believe that the report is a fair reflection of the healthcare 
services provided.  This statement is then included verbatim in the final published version of the 
report.     
  
Children’s Dental Services: Improving Children’s Oral Health  
  

On 21 May 2015, the Council’s Social Services, 
Housing and Public Health Policy Overview 
Committee presented a report to Cabinet on 
children’s oral health.  Given that children’s oral 
health continues to be a matter of concern both 
nationally and at a local level, at its meeting on 9 
October 2019, the External Services Select 
Committee received an information report and 
heard from witnesses in relation to this topic.  In 
light of the evidence received, it was agreed that 
the Committee would undertake a review of dental 
services in the Borough; specifically focussing on 
service provision for children and young people and 

the effectiveness of preventative measures taken by partners in relation to caries and other oral health 
issues.  The Committee’s report and nine recommendations were endorsed by Cabinet at its meeting 
on 14 October 2021. 
  
Members discovered that, in London, about 1 in 4 five year olds have tooth decay with an average of 
four teeth affected.  In 2017/18, this resulted in about 7,000 children in London under 10 years old having 
one or more teeth extracted in hospital because of tooth decay.  In that same year in Hillingdon, more 
than double the number of 5-9 year olds were admitted to hospital for dental decay than for tonsillitis.   
  
The review heard from key witnesses and considered how partners could work together to help 
improve residents’ oral health, in particular the oral health of children in the Borough.  Because of the 
restrictions associated with the Covid-19 pandemic, Members embraced new methods of investigation 
through virtual means.  Through a range of informal information gathering sessions and formal witness 
sessions, the Committee gained an understanding of the nature and extent of action that was being 
taken in the Borough to address poor oral health in children.  Considering all factors, the Committee 
has made recommendations to build on the positive work already being undertaken by partners and to 
ensure that there is oversight of the progress made.   These recommendations were:  

1. That the Cabinet Member for Health and Social Care write to the Department of Health and 
Social Care / Secretary of State for Health and Social Care, The Rt Hon Sajid Javid MP, to request 
that a proportion of the Soft Drinks Industry Levy (SDIL) be ringfenced for dental health 
initiatives; 

2. That the North West London Clinical Commissioning Group (NWL CCG) be asked to liaise with 
NHS England regarding the collection and carry forward of any unused Units of Dental Activity 
(UDAs) in Hillingdon within the year for redistribution to local dental related action programmes 
/ initiatives such as fluoride varnishing in schools;  

Page 336



 
 

 
Select Committee Annual Report 2021/22  Page 41 
 
 

3. That the Cabinet Member for Health and Social Care liaise with pan London counterparts to 
encourage the fluoridation of water supplies across London;  

4. That the Council’s Early Years team liaise with private and local authority run nurseries (as well 
as school nurseries and Children’s Centres) in Hillingdon to encourage routine supervised 
brushing after meals; 

5. That the North West London Clinical Commissioning Group be asked to liaise with dentists 
locally to agree a way that children under the age of 11 can be guaranteed an appointment; 

6. That the Corporate Director of Social Care & Health be asked to ensure that health visitors 
provide new mothers with information about free NHS dental services and brushing kits at their 
first contact and ask the Royal College of Paediatrics and Child Health to include oral health 
information in the Personal Child Health Record (‘red book’);   

7. That Corporate Director of Social Care & Health ensure that training be made available for 
health professionals such as health visitors and school nurses on the promotion of good oral 
health;   

8. That the Families, Health and Wellbeing Select Committee receives annual updates from Public 
Health on the performance of dental health services commissioned by the NHS in Hillingdon; 
and   

9. That the Health and Wellbeing Board oversee a comprehensive communications and education 
plan on oral health coordinated by a Children & Young People’s Dental Health task and finish 
group. 

 
Journalism & Local Democracy: Promotion and engagement 
 
The Committee held an evidence session with Brunel University, which ran journalism courses and 
published the monthly local Hillingdon Herald newspaper each month, and a freelance journalist from 
OnLondon to discuss the role of journalism in the promotion of local democracy.  Members heard that 
the Hillingdon Herald news team included around 15 Masters students, 25 third year students, 20 
second year students and 20 first year students.  The print run for the third issue of Hillingdon Herald 
in December 2021 was likely to be around 20,000 and would be put out on new stands in libraries across 
the Borough as well as being distributed to various faith venues.   
 
The journalism course provided at Brunel University includes a number of units directly related to local 
governments as it is thought that councils are the ‘bread and butter’ of journalism.  These units covered 
capital and revenue expenditure, the different council structures, electoral processes, roles and 
responsibilities to give students an understanding of the role of Councillors.  The Committee 
suggested that the local government element of the Brunel University journalism course include a 
section on “if not me, then who” to introduce the concept of public service. The importance of the need 
to check every fact had been impressed on the students and the Committee heard how printed news 
needed to survive as an alternative to the increasing availability of click bait journalism.  
 
The Committee regularly looked at a range of interesting issues and the Council routinely released 
information about a range of topics and journalists were able to publicise these issues to residents in 
a potentially more accessible language.  It was suggested that hyper local websites, newsletters and 
newspapers such as Hillingdon Herald could help with information dissemination and public 
engagement. Scope might also eb available for local newspapers to pool resources with groups such 
as Residents Association and community groups to collate local wisdom on specific issues.  OnLondon 
covered a range of issues that might span more than one borough but did not provide coverage of local 
breaking news issues.   
 

Page 337



 
 

 
Select Committee Annual Report 2021/22  Page 42 
 
 

GPs: Online Consultations and Phlebotomy 
 
The online consultation system was currently going through the re-procurement process. Although 
GPs in NWL and Hillingdon had been using online consultations for 3-4 years, each practice had had to 
develop and transform its own procedures and online consultation facility to meet patients’ needs 
during the pandemic and patients were now being asked to provide feedback on their experience of 
online consultations, both good and bad.  It was recognised that not everyone liked online 
consultations and that some patients did not like using the telephone to contact their surgery.  
Members were reassured that patients would still be able to see a GP face-to-face if requested as 
about 50% of the appointments being delivered online (34% of the eConsult contact had been in 
relation to admin assistance rather than medical issues).  Investigations were underway with regard to 
the introduction of a digital triage that was translated into other languages. 
 
The Committee received an update following a 
previous meeting where they had been advised that 
changes were being made to the provision of the 
phlebotomy service to make it more accessible to 
residents.  The transfer of phlebotomy services to 
general practice had been well received by residents 
as every practice now had a practice-based 
phlebotomist.  Consultation would be undertaken 
with the practices and a detailed engagement plan 
was being finalised.  In July and August 2022, patient 
feedback would be sought in relation to the benefits 
and impacts of the service changes.  Once analysed, 
this feedback could inform any necessary changes needed to improve the service. 
 
HHCP & ICP: Improving patient outcomes, developing joined up models of care and 
delivering NWL ICS priorities 
 
The Committee held an evidence session with representatives from Hillingdon Health and Care 
Partners (HHCP) which comprised a range of organisations (including The Hillingdon Hospitals NHS 
Foundation Trust (THH), Hillingdon GP Confederation, Central and North West London NHS Foundation 
Trust (CNWL) and H4 All) who had been working together for approximately two years under an alliance 
agreement.  In addition to these partners, HHCP worked very closely with London Borough of Hillingdon 
(with regard to work such as Joint Health and Wellbeing, older adults and children and young people) 
and North West London Clinical Commissioning Group (NWL CCG).   
 
HHCP had developed three strategic aims which had stemmed from the Joint Health and Wellbeing 
Strategy: improving outcomes for Hillingdon residents; delivery of sustainable, person-centred, joined 
up models of care aligned to the new hospital plans; and delivery of the NWL Integrated Care System 
(ICS) priorities through local models.  The national health and social care policy was now focussing on 
integration at ‘place’ level (e.g., Hillingdon Borough) which meant stronger partnerships in local places 
between the NHS, local government and primary care and the development of strategic 
commissioning with a focus on outcomes.   
 
The direction of travel for integrated care had been set out at a system (NWL) and place level.  This 
would include establishing shared outcomes and priorities at a local level alongside national 
commitments and effective local leadership with governance in place by spring 2023 with a single 

Page 338



 
 

 
Select Committee Annual Report 2021/22  Page 43 
 
 

individual accountable for shared outcomes working with partners.  HHCP had been working with NWL 
ICS to shape and align to the governance that would be required for spring 2023.   
 
Population data and engagement work undertaken across health and social care had started to build 
on partners’ joint understanding of communities to develop the offer to residents.  Supportive and 
effective relationships were being strengthened across all partners with shared outcomes and joint 
ownership but each of the partners retained its sovereign identity.  Instead of teams working around 
existing structures and processes to try to join care up, individuals were now being put at the centre 
of their health and wellbeing, with proactive plans in place and services structured around residents 
and their needs.  To support this, the grounding for all of the Hillingdon hospital development work had 
been at a place level to ensure that the new hospital was able to house the new system of care that was 
being developed.   
 
North West London Joint Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee  
 
At the Council meeting on 18 November 2021, Members agreed to join the North West London Joint 
Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee (NWL JHOSC) which had originally been set up to respond to 
the NHS review, ‘Shaping a Healthier Future’.  The JHOSC currently comprised representatives from 
the boroughs of Brent, Camden, Ealing, Hammersmith and Fulham, Harrow, Hounslow, Kensington & 
Chelsea, Richmond, Wandsworth and Westminster.  It met with representatives of NHS North West 
London to consider matters concerning health care that are subject to consultation.  With changes 
proposed in the Health and Care Bill, it was thought that now would be an opportune time for the 
Council to join the JHOSC and, as such, Council appointed Councillor Nick Denys (as the Chairman of 
the External Services Select Committee) as the Council's representative.

 
  

Page 339



 
 

 
Select Committee Annual Report 2021/22  Page 44 
 
 

Participation & witnesses 
 
Councillors on select committees actively seek to involve residents, 
interest groups, experts, private and public organisations in the policy 
reviews and scrutiny activity their respective Committees undertake. 
Strong witness testimony has provided, and continues to provide, 
added verifiable value to the Committee's findings presented 
ultimately to the Cabinet for approval.   2021/22 was no exception, with 
the following voluntary groups, organisations, private sector 
companies, groups or specific witnesses engaging in this important 
aspect of Hillingdon's governance process: 
 
 

1. Brunel University (various 
stakeholders) 

2. Central and North West London NHS 
Foundation Trust  

3. Harlington Hospice / Michael Sobell 
Hospice  

4. Healthwatch Hillingdon  
5. Hillingdon GP Confederation  
6. Hillingdon Health and Care Partners  
7. Hillingdon Local Dental Committee 
8. Hillingdon Neighbourhood Watch 
9. IBI Group (Global Architecture & 

Engineering Firm) 
10. London Ambulance Service NHS 

Trust  
11. London Fire Brigade 
12. MD Key Intelligence (Business 

Intelligence) 
13. Metropolitan Police Service (West 

Area Basic Command Unit) 
14. NHS England / NHS Improvement 
15. North West London Clinical 

Commissioning Group / North West 
London Integrated Care System  

16. OnLondon (Online News) 
17. Public Health England  
18. Royal Brompton and Harefield NHS 

Foundation Trust  
19. The Hillingdon Hospitals NHS 

Foundation Trust  
20. Whitington Health NHS Trust 
21. Hillingdon Parent Carer Forum 
22. Hillingdon Autistic Care and Support 

23. Adult Learners 
24. London Borough of Ealing - Adult 

Education Service Manager 
25. London Borough of Hammersmith 

and Fulham - Adult Education 
Service Manager 

26. Hillingdon Foodbank 
27. UB7 Foodbank 
28. Hillingdon Mind 
29. Age UK, Hillingdon, Harrow & Brent 
30. Carers Trust Hillingdon 
31. Hillingdon Youth Council 
32. Children in Care Council 
33. Parent and Carer Group 
34. Hillingdon MIND 
35. H4All 
36. Alzheimer's Society 
37. Carers Trust 
38. Hillingdon Autistic Care Services 

(HACS) 
39. Hillingdon Carers Partnership 
40. Comfort Care Services 
41. Buddi (ALT provider) 
42. Appelo (ALT provider) 
43. Tunstall (ALT provider) 
44.  Secretary of the Hillingdon 

Association of Council (Domestic) 
Leaseholders  

45. Tenant representatives 
46. Resident perspective on Electric 

Vehicle Infrastructure 
47. Qwello GmbH (EV company)

Page 340



 
 

 
Select Committee Annual Report 2021/22  Page 45 
 
 

Evidence gathering 
 
In additional to verbal testimony, the following methods and technologies were also used to gain 
insight and evidence during 2021/22: 
 

• User survey – Assisted Living technology 
• Virtual reality headsets for a user’s experience 
• Site visits to extra care settings – Assisted Living Technology  
• Informal chats in a comfortable setting to encourage honest and open communications 
• Hybrid committee meetings steamed live using Microsoft Teams & YouTube Live, permitting 

witnesses to attend from as far as Germany. 
• Informal briefing meetings with witnesses to gather evidence 
• Online surveys and questionnaires 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Democratic Services  
London Borough of Hillingdon 

Council AGM – 12 May 2022 

Page 341



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Declarations of Interest
	3 Election Results 2022, Political Groups on the Council and Calculation of Political Balance
	9 Report of the Head of Democratic Services
	PROPOSED CONSTITUTION - 12 MAY 2022
	PART 1 – Governance & Local Democracy
	Chapter 1 - About the Constitution
	Purpose of the Constitution

	Chapter 2 – Democratic Governance
	Electoral arrangements
	Elections and Councillors’ Term of Office
	Electoral Wards and Names of Councillors elected
	Eligibility to stand as a Councillor
	Political Control and Administration

	Elected Councillors
	Roles of councillors
	Councillors Rights, Conduct and Responsibilities
	Councillor membership and attendance at committees
	Restrictions on membership of committees
	Champions

	Council governance and meetings
	Open local government
	The Full Council
	The Leader and Cabinet
	Council Committees
	Health and Wellbeing Board
	Other bodies
	Current governance structure of the Council

	The Mayor
	Election of Mayor
	Chairing meetings of Full Council
	Appointment of Deputy Mayor
	Mayor and Deputy Mayor on committees

	Council Staff
	Management Structure


	Chapter 3 - Resident participation
	Rights and responsibilities
	Residents’ rights & participation in democracy
	Complaints
	Residents’ responsibilities

	Resident Petitions (Petition Scheme)
	Introduction
	What is a petition and who can submit one?
	Personal data in petitions
	What is a valid petition?
	What information should be in a petition?
	Petitions received under the valid number
	Paper petitions
	Electronic Petitions
	Combining paper and electronic petitions
	Multiple Petitions on the same topic
	Petitions received during an Election Period
	How the Council responds to a valid petition
	Cabinet Member Petitions
	Planning Petitions & Speaking Rights
	Licensing Petitions
	Petitions to another appropriate Council Committee
	Petitions requesting a referendum

	Public Question Time
	Reporting & digital engagement at meetings
	Reporting on proceedings
	Press and Media attending
	Attending remotely to speak
	Broadcasting of meetings



	PART 2 - How decisions are made & scrutinised
	Chapter 4 - Full Council
	About the Full Council
	Decisions to be made by the Full Council
	Budget and policy framework documents
	Other decisions reserved to the Full Council

	Budget and Policy Framework Procedure Rules
	Consideration of budget and policy framework documents
	Amendments to the Council budget mid-year
	Conflict Resolution Procedure - policy framework documents & budget proposals

	Council Procedure Rules & Standing Orders
	SO 1 - Annual Meeting of the Council
	SO 2- Ordinary Meetings
	SO 3 - Extraordinary Meetings
	SO 4 - Appointment of Substitute Members of Committees
	SO 5 - Time and Place of Meetings
	SO 6 - Notice of and Summons to meetings
	SO 7 - Chairman of meeting
	SO 8 - Quorum of Full Council
	SO 9 - Duration of meeting
	SO 10 - Questions from the Public
	SO 11 - Questions by Members
	SO 12 - Motions on Notice
	SO 13 - Motions without Notice
	SO 14 - Rules of Debate
	SO 15 - Adjournment Debate
	SO 16 - Call-in of decisions contrary to budget and policy framework
	SO 17 - Conflict Resolution Procedure
	SO 18 - Previous Decisions and Motions
	SO 19 - Voting
	SO 20 - Minutes
	SO 21 - Discussion of Officers and matters affecting persons employed
	SO 22 - Record of Attendance
	SO 23 - Exclusion of the Public
	SO 24 - Members Conduct during Council meetings
	SO 25 - Disturbance by the Public
	SO 26 - Suspension and amendment of these Council procedure rules
	SO 27 - Remote or virtual meetings


	Chapter 5 – Executive decision-making
	About the Leader and Cabinet
	Election of Leader
	Appointment or dismissal of Cabinet Members
	Appointment of Cabinet Assistants
	Size of the Cabinet
	Current Cabinet membership, names and portfolios assigned
	Restrictions on other Councillors

	Principles of executive decision-making
	Delegation of executive functions
	Changes to executive powers
	Acting within the Policy and Budget Framework
	Officer Advice, Reports and Briefings
	Consultation
	Conflicts of Interest
	Local choice functions delegated to the Executive

	How Cabinet meetings operate
	Where and where?
	Attendance at and speaking at Cabinet meetings
	Quorum of a Cabinet meeting
	The Chairman
	The agenda

	Key decisions & Public Notice of them (Forward Plan)
	Definition of Key decisions

	Cabinet decision-making
	Responsibilities of the Cabinet
	How Cabinet decisions are made
	Decisions to be taken by the Cabinet collectively
	Limits on Cabinet decision-making

	Cabinet Member decision-making
	Budget
	Service Planning and Delivery
	Land and Property
	Tenders and Contracts
	Partnerships and Consultation
	Miscellaneous
	How decision-making by Cabinet Members operates

	Leader of the Council
	Service portfolio
	Strategy and policy
	Decision-making powers
	Urgent decision-making
	Leader’s Emergency Power
	Civic and Ceremonial
	Leader’s appointments & Borough Advocates

	Deputy Leader of the Council
	Cabinet Member for Finance
	Cabinet Member for Property, Highways & Transport
	Cabinet Member for Children, Families and Education
	Cabinet Member for Health & Social Care
	Cabinet Member for Residents’ Services
	Cabinet Member for Corporate Services

	Chapter 6 – Select Committee arrangements
	About the Select Committees
	Councillor Membership and attendance
	Co-opted Members & Education Representatives
	Quorum
	Chairmen and Vice-Chairman

	Role and Remit
	General Terms of Reference
	Councillor Call for Actions
	Finance & Corporate Services Select Committee
	Residents Services’ Services Select Committee
	Property, Highways & Transport Select Committee
	Health & Social Care Select Committee
	Children, Families, & Education Select Committee
	Corporate Parenting Panel
	Task and Finish Review Panels
	North West London Joint Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee

	How Select Committees operate
	Meetings and Multi-Year Work Programmes
	Special meetings and cancellation of meetings
	Requests from Council / Cabinet to review specific matters
	Policy Review and Development
	Principles of undertaking reviews
	Reporting to Cabinet (or Council)
	Formal comments to Cabinet and consultations
	Additional rights to information
	Informal attendance at meetings
	Formal duty to attend by officers
	Officer Support

	Call-in Procedure Rules
	Referral of call-in to Full Council
	Waiver of call-in period for urgent or special urgency decisions
	Matters that cannot be called-in

	Protocol on Overview & Scrutiny and Cabinet Relations

	Chapter 7 - Planning Decisions
	Planning Committees
	Borough Planning Committee
	Major Applications Planning Committee
	Membership, Training & Conduct
	Quorum

	Decisions by Planning Committees
	Ward Councillor Call-in to Planning Committee:
	Decisions not reported to a planning committee

	Decisions made by Planning Officers
	Decisions on High Speed 2 (HS2)

	Chapter 8 - Licensing Decisions
	Licensing Committee
	Terms of Reference
	Membership, Training and Frequency
	Quorum

	Licensing sub-committee
	Membership
	Quorum
	Operation and Protocols

	Delegation of Licensing Functions
	Licensing Act 2003 – Ward Councillor Call-in
	Gambling Act 2005
	Gambling Act 2005 – Ward Councillor Call-in
	Other licensing functions exercised


	Chapter 9 - Pensions decisions
	Pensions Committee
	Membership
	Quorum
	Terms of Reference

	Pensions Board
	Membership
	Terms of Reference

	Officer pensions delegations

	Chapter 10 - Administrative Decisions
	Registration and Appeals Committee
	Membership
	Quorum
	Terms of Reference
	Related registration and Appeals decisions taken by officers

	Appointments Committee
	Membership
	Quorum
	Terms of Reference
	Appointments Sub-Committee

	Procedure to appoint and dismiss senior officers
	Staffing decisions by the Chief Executive

	Audit Committee
	Membership
	Quorum
	Terms of Reference
	Formal duty of senior officers to attend

	Standards Committee
	Membership
	Terms of Reference
	Quorum
	Complaints against Councillors
	Standards Committee Procedure Rules
	Hearing Procedure


	Chapter 11 - Health and Wellbeing Board
	Membership
	Operation
	Sub-Committees and Working Groups
	Quorum
	Terms of Reference
	Additional Rules for Board meetings

	Chapter 12 – Responsibilities and Delegations to Officers
	Head of Paid Service & Chief Executive
	Chief Financial Officer & Corporate Director of Finance
	Deputy Chief Finance Officer
	Duty to Provide Sufficient Resources to Chief Financial Officer

	Corporate Director of Place
	Corporate Director of Central Services
	Executive Director of Adult Services & Health
	Director of Public Health

	Executive Director of Children & Young People’s Services
	Executive Director of Education & SEND
	General Delegations to Chief Executive and Corporate / Executive Directors
	Monitoring Officer
	Deputy Monitoring Officer
	Duty to Provide Sufficient Resources to Monitoring Officer

	Head of Democratic Services
	Head of Human Resources
	Other Statutory Officers
	Data Protection Officer
	Senior Information Risk Owner (SIRO)
	Scrutiny Officer

	Exercising officer delegations

	Chapter 13 - decision-making with external bodies
	Arrangements to Promote Well-Being
	Joint arrangements
	Transfer of non-executive functions to another body
	Contracting Out
	Delegation to and from other Local Authorities


	OFFICER
	SUB-COMMITTEE
	COUNCIL / CABINET
	OFFICER
	SUB-COMMITTEE
	COUNCIL / CABINET
	PART 3 - How the Council operates & is accountable
	Chapter 14 - Rules relating to this Constitution
	Reviewing and revising the Constitution
	Duty to Monitor and Review the Constitution
	How to make changes to the Constitution
	Interpretation of the Constitution
	Publication of the Constitution
	Change in the form of executive arrangements

	Suspension of the Constitution
	Limit to Suspension
	Rules Capable of Suspension
	Procedure to suspend Rules


	Chapter 15 - Rules when making decisions
	Principles of Decision-making
	Decision-Making Functions & Responsibilities
	Decisions reserved to the Full Council
	Executive Decisions and Key Decisions
	Decision Making by Select Committees
	Decision-making by Council officers
	Bodies that are non-decision making and with no delegated powers

	Execution of decisions
	Financial, Contract and Property decisions
	Authentication of Documents
	Common Seal of the Council


	Chapter 16 - Rules for committee meetings
	SO 1 - Chairmen and Vice-Chairmen
	SO 2 - Appointment of Sub-Committees
	SO 3- Order of Business
	SO 4 - Adjournment
	SO 5 - Quorum
	SO 6 - Record of Attendance
	SO 7 - Attendance and councillors speaking at meetings
	SO 8 - Reports, supplementary reports or addendums
	SO 9 - Voting
	SO 10 - Special meetings, cancellations and arrangements
	SO 11 - Rules of debate
	SO 12 - Proceedings of committees
	SO 13 - Closure of meetings / time limit
	SO 14 - Disturbance at meetings
	SO 15 - Suspension of Standing Orders
	SO 16 - Resignation from committees
	SO 17 - Any Other Business
	SO 18 - Remote or virtual meetings

	Chapter 17 - Rules on access to information
	Scope
	Additional rights to information
	Rights to attend meetings
	Notice of meetings
	Access to agenda and reports before a meeting
	Supply of documents
	Access to minutes and other reports after a meeting
	Background papers
	Summary of the public’s rights
	Exclusion of Access by the Press and Public to meetings
	Exclusion of Access by the Public to Reports
	Application of these rules to the Cabinet
	Procedure before Taking Key Decisions
	Private meetings of the Cabinet
	General Exception to give advance notice of key decision
	Special Urgency procedure
	Reporting to Council on decisions
	Record of Cabinet & Cabinet Member decisions
	Decisions that are not key decisions
	Select Committee Access to Documents
	Additional rights of access to Members

	Chapter 18 - Rules on procurement
	SO 1 - Compliance
	SO 2 - Ethics & Probity
	SO 3 - Decision-making process
	SO 4 - Invitations to Tender
	SO 5 - Custody, Receipt & Opening of Tenders
	SO 6 - Acceptance of tenders and approval of them
	SO 7 - Execution of Contracts
	SO 8 - Contract Extension and Variation
	SO 9 - Purchase Orders & Government Procurement Cards
	SO 10 - Local Authority Maintained School Procurement
	SO 11 - Exemptions from these Rules
	Emergency Contract Delegation

	Chapter 19 - Rules on land and property
	SO 1 - Compliance
	SO 2 - Approval of Major Disposals
	SO 3 - Dealing with tenders and offers
	SO 4 - Disposals and Acquisitions by Auction
	SO 5 - Approval of Property Transactions other than major disposals
	SO 6 - Approval of land and property matters
	SO 7 - Exemptions to these Rules
	SO 8 - Execution of property matters
	Emergency Land & Property Delegation

	Chapter 20 - Rules on financial matters
	Compliance & Status
	Financial Management
	Financial Planning
	Risk Management and Control of Resources
	Systems and Procedures
	External Arrangements

	Chapter 21 - Members’ Code of Conduct
	General Provisions
	Registering and declaring pecuniary and non-pecuniary interests

	Chapter 22 - Protocol on good Member and Officer relations
	Roles, responsibilities and expectations
	The working relationship
	Visits to front-line services
	Requests and Members’ Enquiries
	Correspondence
	Officers attending Party Group meetings and advice
	Employment matters
	Raising a matter on behalf of a family member
	Social contact
	Close personal relationships
	Conduct and performance
	Support Services and ICT to Members

	Chapter 23 - Officers’ Code of Conduct
	Principals of Behaviour
	Code of Conduct
	Disciplinary Code for Employees

	Chapter 24 - Planning Code of Conduct
	Relationship to Members’ Code of Conduct
	Development proposals and interests
	Pecuniary Interests
	General roles of Members and officers
	Fettering discretion in the planning process
	The party whip
	Contact with developers, applicants and objectors
	Access to planning officers
	Material considerations
	Lobbying of and by Members
	Applications submitted by Members or officers
	Applications submitted by the Council
	Site visits
	Public speaking at meetings
	Pre-application discussions
	Decision making at Planning Committees
	Planning appeals
	Member training on planning

	Chapter 25 - Members’ ICT Code of Practice
	Use of Council resources
	ICT Policy
	Access to the Council’s Computer Systems
	Authority to Express Views
	Monitoring Computer and Telephone Usage
	Confidentiality, Security and Accuracy of Data
	Copyright, Legal and Contractual Issues
	Network Efficiency
	Personal Use
	Inappropriate Use, Prohibited Sites and Offensive Material
	Other use
	ICT Equipment provided to Members
	E-Mail Guidelines for Members

	Chapter 26 - Members Allowance Scheme
	Basic Allowance
	Special Responsibility Allowances
	Limit on Payment of Special Responsibility Allowances
	Renunciation
	Part-Year Entitlements
	Out of Borough Travelling and Subsistence Allowances
	Dependent / Carers Allowance
	Co-optees’ Allowances
	Claims and Payments
	Withholding Members’ Allowances
	Records of Allowances and Publicity
	Independent Remuneration Panel


	Acceptance of tender for appointment of consultants *
	Glossary
	Officer Scheme of Delegations – Annex
	Blank Page
	Blank Page


	10 Committee Allocations and Membership 2022/2023
	11 Select Committees' Annual Report
	Select Committee Annual Report Cover
	Blank Page

	Select Committee Annual Report 2021-22




